LR8450 LR8450-01



Instruction Manual

MEMORY HILOGGER





Read carefully before use. Keep for future reference.



Apr. 2024 Revised edition 7 LR8450A964-07

Contents

7

Introduction1	
About the Notations Used in This Manual3	
How to Use This Manual6	

1 Settings and Operation

1.1	Performing Basic Operations	8
	Instructions	8
	Value entry method	9
	Text entry method	10
	Entering text with the keyboard	13
1.2	Registering Wireless Modules	14
	Deregistering the Wireless Modules	17
1.3	Setting Measurement Conditions	18
	Measurement module data refresh	
	intervals	22
1.4	Configuring Input Channels	25
	Measuring voltage	28
	Measuring temperature	
	(with thermocouples)	30
	Measuring temperature	
	(with resistance temperature detectors).	33
	Measuring humidity	34
	Measuring resistance	35
	Measuring strain	36
	Measuring CAN signals	38
	Measuring current	38
	Integrating pulses	40
	Measuring rotational speed	42
	Measuring logic signals	45
	Treatment of data that exceeds the	
	measurable range	46
1.5	Configuring CAN Settings	47
	Configuring CAN Unit settings	47
	Configuring user frame transmission	50
1.6	Configuring the Waveform	
	Display	54
	Configuring the display of the vertical	
	axis	54
	Other display settings	58
1.7	Using the Scaling Function	60
	Scaling settings during integration	
	measurement	63
	Configuring the scaling of the U8556/	
	LR8536 Current Module	64
	Configuring the scaling of the U8554/	
	LR8534 Strain Unit	65
1.8	Entering Comments	66
	Title comments	66
	Channel comments	67
	Module identifiers	68
1.9	Configuring Channels in a List	69
	Copying channel settings	74
	Configuring channel settings at once	75
	Aligning waveforms' zero positions	76

1.10	Performing Zero Adjustment78
1.11	Checking Input Signals
	(Monitor Function)80
1.12	Starting and Stopping
4.40	Measurement
1.13	Observing Waveforms
	Cage (scale) display
	Numerical value display
	Moving waveforms (scrolling) 92
	Scroll bar (waveform display position) 94
	Enlarging and shrinking the waveform
	horizontally
	Waveform search95
	Jump function (changing the display
	position)97
1.14	Using the A/B Cursors98
	Reading values from the waveforms98
	Specifying a waveform range100
1.15	X-Y Compositing101
	Performing X-Y compositing during
	measurement
	Performing X-Y compositing after
	measurement
	Configuring X-Y compositing
	values 105
1 16	Configuration Navigator
1.10	(Ouick Set) 108
	Wireless module registration guide 108
	Strain dade connection duide 109
	External connection guide
	Action during communication error 111
	Loading setting conditions
1.17	Measurement Data113
	Synchronization and time lag113
	If an outage occurs during
	measurement113
	If communicates with a wireless module
	are disrupted114
	Measured data acquired during
	communications disruption114
0	/
2	Trigger Function 115
21	Trigger Meanings 117
2.1	Enabling the Trigger Function 110
۷.۷	Shared settings 110
2.3	Analog Triggers, Pulse Triggers,

Index

1 2

Applying Triggers Based on External Sources	
Activating a Trigger at a Set	
Interval	134
Interval triggers	134
Forcibly Activating the Trigger.	
Example Trigger Settings	137
	Applying Triggers Based on External Sources Activating a Trigger at a Set Interval Interval triggers Forcibly Activating the Trigger . Example Trigger Settings

139

3 Saving and Loading Data

3.1	Data That Can Be Saved and	
	Loaded	140
3.2	Formatting Media	143
3.3	Saving Data	145
	Auto save (real-time save)	146
	Manual saving	
	(selective saving, immediate saving).	153
	Selective save operation	156
	Saving settings to the instrument's	
	internal backup memory	159
3.4	Loading Data	161
	Auto-setup function	163
3.5	Managing Data	164
	Switching media (drives)	164
	Moving between levels (folders)	165
	Deleting data	166
	Renaming files and folders	167
	Copying data	168
	Sorting files	169
	Updating file information	170
3.6	Acquiring Data with a Computer	
	(PC)	171
	Connecting the USB cable	171
	Activating USB drive mode	172
	Canceling USB drive mode	173
	0	-

4 Alarm (Alarm Output) 175

4.1	Configuring Alarms	176
	Setting shared alarm conditions for all	
	channels	176
	Configuring channel-specific alarm	
	settings	179
	Configuring CAN settings	184
4.2	Checking Alarms	186

5 Marking Functionality 189

5.1	Assigning Event Marks during	
	Measurement19	90
5.2	Assigning Event Marks with an	
	External Signal19	91

5.3	Assigning Event Marks When	
	Alarms Occur	192
5.4	Searching for Event Marks	193
5.5	Reviewing Events in CSV Data.	194

6 Numerical and Waveform Calculations 195

6.1	Performing Numerical	
	Calculations	196
	Configuring numerical calculations	198
	Real-time numerical calculations	
	(automatic calculations)	201
	Numerical calculations after	
	measurement (manual calculations)	202
	Partial numerical calculations	203
	Numerical calculation formulas	204
6.2	Performing Waveform	
	Calculations	206
	Configuring calculations on the	
	calculation list screen	211
	Copying calculation formulas	212
	Configuring waveform calculation	
	settings at once	213

7 Configuring System Settings

Configuring Settings	216
Controlling the System	220
Setting the time	220
Synchronizing the time	221
Initializing (resetting) the system	223
System configuration	224
Performing a self-check	227
	Configuring Settings Controlling the System Setting the time Synchronizing the time Initializing (resetting) the system System configuration Performing a self-check

8 External Control (EXT. I/O)

~~~
229

215

8 1	Configuring Voltage Output	
0.1	(VOUTPUT)	231
8.2	Configuring Alarm Output	
	(ALARM)	232
8.3	Configuring Sync Input/Output	
	(SYNC) Terminals	234
8.4	Configuring External Input/Output	
	(I/O) Terminals	236
	External trigger input	238
	Trigger output	239
	Simultaneously starting measurement	
	using external triggers	241

# 11

Δ

5

6

8

9

## 9 Communicating with a Computer (PC) 243

9.1 9.2	Using the Logger Utility Configuring and Establishing a	245
	USB Connection	246
	Installing the USB driver	246
	Connecting the instrument to the	
	computer with a USB cable	248
93	Configuring and Establishing a	
	LAN Connection	250
	Configuring the computer's network	
	settings	253
	Configuring the instrument's LAN	
	settings	254
	Connecting the instrument to a	
	computer with a LAN cable	258
94	Lising Wireless Modules	
0.4	(I P8450 01 Oply)	261
	Configuring and Establishing a	201
		261
0.5	Porforming Pomoto Operation	201
9.5		005
	Using the HTTP server	265
	Connecting to the HTTP server	265
	Remote control using a browser	267
	Starting and stopping measurement	268
	Displaying measured values	269
	Entering comments	270
	Remote version update	271
0.0		272
9.6	Acquiring Data Using the FTP	
	Server	273
9.7	Sending Data Using the FTP	
	Client	277
	Example computer FTP server	
	settings	278
	Configuring automatic sending of data	293
	Sending a test file	296
	Checking FTP communications status	297
9.8	Sending Emails	298
	Configuring email transmission	299
	Sending a test email	302
	Checking the email transmission	
	status	303
	Email authentication	304
9.9	Controlling the Instrument with	
	Communication Commands	305
9.10	Sending Measurement Data	
	Using XCP on Ethernet	306
	Configuring input channels	306
	Creating an A2L file	306
	Configuring the ECU measurement and	'
	calibration software	307

9.11	Linking the instrument with	
	GENNECT Cloud	308
	Logging in to your GENNECT Cloud	
	account	310
	Liploading measured values	211
	Demotoly controlling the instrument	211
	Remotery controlling the instrument	
	Optionaling measurement files	312
	Setting the clock	313
	Downloading the version-up file	313
10	Specifications	315
		0.0
10.1	Basic Specifications	315
	L R8450/L R8450-01 Memory	
	HiLogger	
10.2	Plug-in Module Specifications	331
10.2	18550 Voltage/Temp Unit	
	18551 Universal Unit	
	18552 Voltage/Temp   Init	344
	18553 High Speed Voltage Unit	350
	18554 Strain Unit	352
	LI8555 CAN Unit	355
	18556 Current Module	
10.3	Wireless Module Specifications	363
10.5	P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	262
	LR0550 Wireless Voltage/Temp Offic	270
	LR0531 Wireless Universal Unit	
	LR0552 Wireless Voltage/Temp Offic	
	Linit	295
	Unit	200
		202
	LR0555 Wireless CAN Unit	205
10.4	Creating of Other Options	
10.4	Specifications of Other Options	401
	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter, Z3231	10.1
	Wireless LAN Adapter	401
	Z5040 Fixed Stand	401
	Z2000 Humidity Sensor	402
11	Kana and a share and	

### 11 Knowledge and Information

Measuring Temperature.....403

Measuring Strain ......404

Range.....410

Digital filter characteristics ......411

Tension and compression on a singleaxis404Bending stress406Torsional stress407Converting values to stress408Auto-balancing408Correcting for wiring resistance409Correcting for gage factor409

11.3 Wireless Module Communications

11.1

11.2

11.4

403

10

# ndex

11.5	Noise Countermeasures	412
	Noise contamination mechanisms	412
	Example noise countermeasures	414
11.6	Scan Timing	418
	U8550, U8551, LR8530, and LR8531.	419
	U8552 and LR8532	420
	U8553 and LR8533	421
11.7	Filenames	422
11.8	Text Format	423
11.9	File Size	425
11.10	Settings after Initialization	
	(System Reset)	426
11.11	Maximum Recording Times	429
11.12	Application	
	Measurement	430
	Recording instrumentation signals (4-2	0
	mA)	430
	Measuring power consumption using	
	pulse output from a watt-hour meter	433
11.13	Input Circuit Schematics	436
11.14	Data Handling During	
	Communications Disruption	439
	Waveform display and data	
	handling during	
	communications disruption	439
	Synchronization and time lag in	
	acquired data (During Communication	S
	Disruption)	440
	Iriggers	441
	Alarms	442
	Saving data onto the storage media	442
	Numerical calculation	442
	Resetting waveform calculations	442
	Logger Litility	443
11 15	Data Handling	440 AAA
11.10	Displaying the Certification	
11.10	Number	116
11 17	Mouse Operation on the	
11.17	Wayoform Scroop	447
11 10	Fror Mossages and EAO	447 770
11.10	Error messages	440 //Q
	FAO (Frequently Asked Ouestions)	<del>44</del> 0 ⊿58
	The (Trequently Asked Questions)	100
<b>.</b>		
inae	X	461

## Introduction

Thank you for purchasing the Hioki LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger. To ensure your ability to get the most out of the instrument over the long term, please read this manual carefully and keep it available for future reference.

The LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger adds wireless LAN functionality to the LR8450.

The instrument comes with the following documentation. Please refer to these resources as necessary in light of your specific application. Please review the separate "Operating Precautions" before using the instrument.

Туре	Manual contents	Printed edition	DVD edition
Operating Precautions	Information to ensure safe use of the instrument	~	_
Precautions Concerning Use of Equipment That Emits Radio Waves	Precautions relating to use of equipment that emits radio waves, countries in which the instrument has been certified, etc.	~	_
Quick Start Manual	Operating precautions, connection methods, and basic operation	~	~
Instruction Manual (this manual)	Detailed information about functionality and operation; specifications and related knowledge	_	~
Logger Utility* ¹ Instruction Manual	Information about how to install and use the computer application	_	~
Communications Commands ^{*2} Instruction Manual	Explanation of communications commands for controlling the instrument	_	~
CAN Editor ^{*3} Instruction Manual	Explanation of how to install and use the CAN Unit PC application	_	~

*1: For information about how to install and use the Logger Utility computer application, see "Logger Utility Instruction Manual" on the included DVD (application disc).

- *2: The instrument can be controlled by a LAN- or USB-connected computer (PC). For information about the communications commands used to control the instrument, see "Communications Commands Instruction Manual" on the included DVD (application disc).
- *3: For information about how to install and use the CAN Editor PC application, see "CAN Editor Instruction Manual" on the included DVD (application disc).

#### Intended audience

This manual has been written for use by individuals who use the product or provide information about how to use the product.

In explaining how to use the product, it assumes electrical knowledge (equivalent of the knowledge possessed by a graduate of an electrical program at a technical high school).

#### Trademarks

- Microsoft, Excel, Internet Explorer, Microsoft Edge, Visual Basic, and Windows are trademarks of the Microsoft group of companies.
- Google Chrome is a trademark of Google, Inc.

#### Screen font

• The typefaces included herein are solely developed by DynaComware Taiwan Inc.

## About the Notations Used in This Manual

#### Safety notations

This manual classifies seriousness of risks and hazard levels as described below.

A DANGER	Indicates an imminently hazardous situation that, if not avoided, will result in death of or serious injury to the operator.
	Indicates a potentially hazardous situation that, if not avoided, could result in death of or serious injury.
	Indicates a potentially hazardous situation that, if not avoided, could result in minor or moderate injury.
IMPORTANT	Indicates information or content that is particularly important from the standpoint of operating or maintaining the instrument.
$\land$	Indicates a high-voltage hazard. Failure to verify safety or improper handling of the instrument could lead to electric shock, burns, or death.
$\bigcirc$	Indicates an action that must not be performed.
	Indicates action that must be performed.

### Symbols on equipment

	Indicates the need for caution or the presence of a hazard. For more information about locations where this symbol appears on instrument components, see "Operating Precautions" in the Quick Start Manual, warning messages listed at the beginning of operating instructions, and the document entitled "Operating Precautions" that comes with the instrument.
	Indicates an instrument that has been protected throughout by double insulation or reinforced insulation.
Ċ	Indicates whether the power is on or off.
<u> </u>	Indicates the ground terminal.
	Indicates direct current (DC).
$\sim$	Indicates alternating current (AC).

#### Notations related to standards compliance

X	Indicates compliance with the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Directive in EU member nations.
Li-ion	Indicates that the instrument is targeted for recycling under the Act on the Promotion of Effective Utilization of Resources.
CE	Indicates that the instrument complies with standards imposed by EU directives.

### Other notations

Tips	Indicates useful advice concerning instrument performance and operation.
*	Instructs the reader to see below for additional information.
V	Indicates the default setting. When initialized, the instrument will revert to this value.
(p. )	Indicates the page number to reference.
Bold	The names of control keys are printed in bold.
[]	The names of user interface elements on the screen are enclosed in brackets ([]).
Windows	Unless otherwise noted, the term "Windows" is used generically to refer to Windows 7, Windows 8, Windows 10, and Windows 11.
S/s	For the instrument, the number of times the analog input signal is digitized is indicated in samples per second (S/s). Example: 20 MS/s (20 megasamples per second) signifies 20×10 ⁶ samples per second.

#### Accuracy labeling

#### **Current modules**

The instrument's accuracy is expressed by defining limit values for errors as a percentage of the reading and in terms of digits.

Reading (displayed value)	Indicates the value displayed by the instrument. Limit values for reading errors are expressed as a percentage of the reading (% of reading or % rdg).
Digit (resolution)	Indicates the minimum display unit (in other words, the smallest digit that can have a value of 1) for a digital measuring instrument. Limit values for digit errors are expressed using digits ( <i>dgt</i> ).

#### Combination of a current module and current sensors

The instrument's accuracy is expressed using a combination of the formats shown below:

- By defining limit values for errors using the same units as measured values.
- By defining limit values for errors as a percentage of the reading.

#### **Current sensors**

The instrument's accuracy is expressed by defining limit values for errors as a percentage of the reading and a percentage of the full scale.

Reading (displayed value)	Indicates the value displayed by the instrument. Limit values for reading errors are expressed as a percentage of the reading (% of reading or % rdg).
Full scale (Rated current)	Indicates the rated current. Limit values for full-scale errors are expressed as a percentage of full scale (% of full scale or % f.s.).

#### Modules other than current modules

The instrument's accuracy is expressed by defining limit values for errors using the same measurement units as measured values.

## How to Use This Manual



# **Settings and Operation**



1

This chapter introduces basic settings and instrument operation.

Before starting measurement, you must set measurement conditions such as recording interval and range. You must also configure input channel settings such as input signal types and ranges.

.8
.14
.18
.25
.47
. 54
.60
.66
.69
.78
.80
.81
.82
.98
.101
.108
.113



## 1.1 Performing Basic Operations

### Instructions



- **1** Press the SET key to display the settings screen.
- **2** Select the main tab you wish to configure with the Left Arrow and Right Arrow keys.

Unit Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System

You can also switch among the main tabs using the **SET** key. You can move the focus among sub tabs by pressing the **ENTER** key. You can return the focus to the main tab by pressing the **ESC** key.

**3** Select the sub tab whose settings you wish to configure with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys

You can move the focus to the settings area by pressing the **ENTER** key. You can return the focus to the sub tab by pressing the **ESC** key.

**4** Select the setting you wish to configure with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and then press the ENTER key.

The available settings will be displayed.

**5** Select an option with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the ENTER key. The setting will be accepted.

#### IMPORTANT

Unless otherwise directed, do not press multiple keys simultaneously. The instrument could exhibit unintended behavior.

#### (Tips) Key lock

You can prevent accidental or unintended operation by enabling the key lock feature to disable key operation.

See "Key lock (disabling keys)" in the Quick Start Manual.



## Value entry method

This section describes how to enter values.

#### Numerical value entry window

Unit	Measu re Channe I	Trigger Alarm Calculation System
Individual	Value 🔤	Channel
Unit 1	< 1/1 >	Unit 1 🔽 U1-1 🔽 🗹 Measu rement
Unit 2	U1-1 -0. <u>000</u>	
llnit 2	U1-2 -0. 004 Max	: 9.9999E+09 Min: -9.9999E+09
	U1-3 - C	
Unit 4	$U1-4 -0.0^{15}$	
Pulse	U1-5 -0 003 7	
	11-6 -0.003	
		7 Zero position 50 %
	01-9 -0.001 +	Cancel
	U1-10 -0. 000-5-	Unit Unit
	U1-11 <b>-0. 00060V</b>	Slope 1
	U1-12 <b>0. 00000</b>	Offset 0
	U1-13 -0. 00015V	
	U1-14 0. 00005V	Comment Temperature of terget
	U1-15 <b>0. 00210V</b>	Numerical threshold 0
🕅 🖼 29. 8GB		24 OFF @ 2020-02-05

Clear	Clears the value.
BS	Deletes one digit (backspace).
←	Moves left one digit.
$\rightarrow$	Moves right one digit.
ОК	Accepts the value.
Cancel	Closes the window without entering a value.

**1** Select the desired value with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and then press the ENTER key.



The selected value will be entered.

**2** Select the SI prefix.

P, T, G, M, k, ...[,], m, μ, n, p, f

The open box "__" indicates a blank space.

**3** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected. Alternatively, press the START key. The window will close, and the value will be entered.

Unit

## Text entry method

This section describes how to enter comments and filenames. You can enter single-byte alphanumeric and characters only.

#### Text entry window



- **1** Select a character with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and press the ENTER key.
- **2** Press the START key (OK). Alternatively, or press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected. The text entry window will close.

When saved in text format, some characters are saved using alternative characters as follows:

Character used on the instrument	Saved character
2	^2
3	^3
μ	~u
Ω	~o



#### Text entry

You can perform the operations listed below by choosing the operation on the screen and pressing the **ENTER** key.

Operation on screen	Corresponding key	Description						
ОК	START	Accepts the character.						
Cancel	ESC	Closes the window without entering any text.						
Clear	FILE	Deletes all entered text.						
BS	•	Deletes the previous character (backspace).						
DEL		Deletes the next character (delete).						
<<	••	Moves the cursor to the left.						
>>		Moves the cursor to the right.						
List	WAVE	Allows you to choose words from the registered words in the instrument.						
Hist	SET	Allows you to choose words from the words previously entered.						

You can also use the corresponding key to perform the same operation.

#### **Repetitive words**

You can choose words, such as test, research, and temperature, from the list.

ana	lysi	s													
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9						test
Α	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	Κ	L	М	N	0	research
Ρ	0	R	S	T	U	۷	W	X	Y	Z					analysis
а	b	с	d	е	f	g	h	i	j	k	I	m	n	0	inspection
р	q	r	S	t	u	v	w	x	у	z					
1	"	#	\$	%	å	•	(	)	*	+	-	,		1	instrument
:	;	<	=	>	?	0	]	1	]	1		{		}	
2	3	μ	Ω												
А		•			0K			Car	ncel			Cle	ear		observation
	<<				BS			D	EL			>	>		
Max.	lax. 40 characters														

#### Editing the repetitive word list

You can edit the repetitive word list.

The list can contain up to 20 words.

Enter the words you wish to register into a text file and have the instrument read the file. When reading the file, the instrument will overwrite the existing words.

Initializing the instrument cannot recover the factory-default word list.

Referring to the example described below, create a text file. Save the created file onto the SD Memory Card or the USB Drive to have the instrument read the file.

- Format: text file
- · Filename: any name available
- Extension: .txt or .TXT
- Encoding: UTF-8
- · Number of words to be registered: Up to 20



Description example	Description
#HIOKI_FIXED_FORM	Write at the first line of the file. The instrument can recognize the file as a word list file.
#TitleComment Word 1 to Word 20	Write a word list for title comments. Up to 40 characters
#ChannelComment Word 1 to Word 20	Write a word list for channel comments. Up to 40 characters
#UnitID Word 1 to Word 20	Write a word list for module identifiers. Up to 16 characters
#ScalingUnit Word 1 to Word 20	Write a word list for units of measurement used for the scaling. Up to 7 characters
#FileName Word 1 to Word 20	Write a word list for filenames. Up to 8 characters



## Entering text with the keyboard

You can connect a keyboard to the instrument's USB connector and use it to interact with the screen interface and enter alphanumeric text.

#### Comments

- **1** Press the space bar while the comment field has focus.
- The cursor will flash, and the software will switch to input mode.
- **2** Enter alphanumeric text.
- **3** Press the Enter key.

The text will be accepted.

#### Numbers

**1** Press the space bar while a numerical input field has focus.

The numerical value entry window will open.

Max:	9. 9999E+09	Min:	-9. 9999	E+09
1				•
			0K	
			Cancel	

- 2 Enter a value.
- **3** Press the Enter key to accept the value and then press the Enter key while [OK] is selected.

The numerical value entry window will close.



Remote 2

Remote 3

Remote 4 Remote 5 Remote 6 Remote 7

91

Search

## **1.2 Registering Wireless Modules**

The LR8450-01 is capable of communications with not only plug-in modules but also wireless modules.

Before use, you need to register wireless modules in the LR8450-01. You can register up to seven wireless modules in the LR8450-01.

Please make sure that the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter has been attached to the wireless module.

See "2.8 Preparing for Wireless Modules" in the Quick Start Manual.

SET	>	Unit													
	Unit		Meas	ure	Channe I	Tri	gge r		Alarm	(	Calcu	ılati	on	Sys	tem
		Model	СН		Name	Serial	No.	Status	Updat	te	Fil	ter	Uni	t ide	entifie
	Unit 1	U8550	15ch	Voltag	je/Temp	100000	019		Auto	•	20. E	kHz	ABCD	FGHI	JKLMNO
	Unit 2	U8551	15ch	Univer	sal	100000	)117		Auto	-	20. 8	8 kHz			
	Unit 3	U8553	5ch	High s	peed voltage	100000	)314		Auto	-	1. (	) kHz			
	Unit 4	U8554	5ch	Strain	1	Select	how	to reg	ister	-	1	5 Hz			
	Remote 1					O Lis	t me1	thod							

O Auto connect method

Next

Cancel

#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Search] is selected.

The window prompting you to select the registration method will be displayed.

**2** Select the registration method.

List method [∅]	Allows you to choose wireless modules from the list of the modules available for registration.
Auto connect method	Allows you to use the keys on wireless modules to register.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key while [Next] is selected.

The wireless module registration will start.

According to the registration method, follow the instructions.

- List method (p.15)
- Auto connect method (p.16)

#### (Tips) Wireless module registration guide

Following the instruction from the **[Wireless unit registration guide]**, you can register the wireless modules. It is recommended to follow the instructions from the configuration navigator (Quick Set) when you register the modules for the first time.

See "Wireless module registration guide" (p. 108).



#### List method

The list will show the connectible wireless modules so that you can choose the modules you wish to register.

## **1** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] on the search window is selected.



Settings and Operation

The instrument will start to search for the connectible wireless modules.

#### **2** Confirm the connectible wireless modules.

The [Registrable units] list will appear on the right pane.

The **[Units to register]** list containing the wireless modules already registered will appear on the left pane.

- [Unit 1] to [Unit 4]: plug-in modules (cells are left blank when modules not attached)
- [Remote 1] to [Remote 7]: wireless modules

Un	Units to	registe	er		9	21	Regi	strable units			٦ (
		Mode I	Serial No.	Unit i	dentifier	->	<-	Model#Serial No.	Unit i	dentifier	
Unit	Unit 1	U8550	100000019	ABCDEFG	HIJKLMNOP		<-	R8530#200337733			
Unit	Unit 2	U8551	100000117				1	R8532#100100223			
Unit	Unit 3	U8553	100000314				<-	R8534#200419087			
Unit	Unit 4	U8554	100000422				<-				
Remot	Remote	1 LR8532	100100223			Х	<-				
Remot	Remote	2				Х	<-				
Remot	Remote	3				Х	<-				
Remot	Remote	4				Х					
Remot	Remote	5				Х	3				
Remot	Remote	6				Х	<-				
Remot	Remote	7				Х	<-				
							<-	1/1 ->			
						S	earch	Auto 0		Cancel	
Searc	h Delete	1						4			
so 1.9	GB									24 OFF 1 ch	2020-05-28 19:22:34

#### **3** Select [<-] for the modules you wish to register, and then press the ENTER key.

The selected wireless module will appear in the **[Units to register]** on the left pane. By repeating this step, display all of the modules you wish to register in the **[Units to register]** list.

#### **4** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The registration will be executed, and the wireless modules will be displayed on the module list screen.

Unit		Meası	re Channel Trigger Alarm Cald		lculation	S	ystem								
	Model	СН	M	lame	Serial	No.	Statu	JS	Update	)	Filter	Unit	identifi	er	
Unit 1	U8550	15ch	Voltage/Temp		10000019				Auto		🔽 20. 8 kHz A		GHIJKLMN	0P	
Unit 2	U8551	15ch	Jniversal		100000	117			Auto	-	20. 8 kHz				
Unit 3	U8553	5ch	ligh speed voltage		100000	314			Auto	•	1.0 kHz				
llnit 4	118554	5ch	Strain		100000	422			Auto	-	15 Hz				
Remote 1	LR8532	30ch	Voltage/	/Temp	100100	223	? <mark>.</mark>		Auto	-	20. 8 kHz				
nemote 2															
Remote 3				Re	egistei	red	virele	ss	module	es					

When your press the **ENTER** key while **[Search]** is selected, the search will be performed again. When you press the **ENTER** key while **[Auto]** is selected, the modules will be displayed on the **[Units to register]** list beginning at the top.



Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System

#### Auto connect method

Allows you to use the keys on wireless modules.

Perform this method for connecting the instrument and the wireless module on a one-to-one basis. Attempting to perform this method for a multiple-piece connection will cause an error, disabling the auto-connect registration for several minutes.

#### **1** Press and hold the AUTO key of the wireless module for 3 s or longer.

#### The **CONNECT** LED will blink.

Once the registration completes, the wireless module's **CONNECT** LED will light up.



**2** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] on the search window is selected.

Search		
	Execute	Cancel

The message [Executing] will appear on the window.

#### Tips If the instrument was not able to search for the wireless modules You can check the communications status on the configuration navigation (Quick Set).

See "Action during communication error" (p. 111).



## **Deregistering the Wireless Modules**

You can deregister the wireless modules.

You can register up to seven wireless modules in the LR8450-01. If required, deregister the unwanted wireless modules.

ModelCHNameSerial No.StatusUpdateFilterUnit identifierUnit 1U85015ch Voltage/Temp10000019Auto20.8 kHzABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPUnit 2U855115ch Universal100000117Auto20.8 kHzABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPUnit 3U85535ch High speed voltage100000314Auto1.0 kHzUnit 4U85545ch Strain100000422Auto15 HzRemote 1LR853230ch Voltage/TempDelete20.8 kHzRemote 322ExecuteCancel20.8 kHzRemote 4444444Remote 5555555Remote 6455555Remote 7555555Remote 755555Remote 755555Remote 755555Remote 755555Remote 755555Remote 755555Remote 75555Remote 75555Remote 75555Remote 75555Remote 7555Remote 7555Remote 7555<	Unit		Measu	ure Channel	Trigger	A	larm	Ca	lculation	n System	
Unit 1       U8550       15ch       Voltage/Temp       100000019       Auto       20.8 kHz       ABCDEFGH1JKLMN0P         Unit 2       U8551       15ch       Universal       100000117       Auto       20.8 kHz         Unit 3       U8553       5ch       High speed voltage       100000314       Auto       1.0 kHz         Unit 4       U8554       5ch       Strain       100000422       Auto       15 Hz         Remote 1       LR8532       30ch       Voltage/Temp       Delete       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz         Remote 2       2       2       Remote 1       Execute       Cancel       20.8 kHz         Remote 3       2       2       Remote 1       Execute       Cancel       20.8 kHz         Remote 4       2       2       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz         Remote 5       2       2       2       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz         Remote 6       2       2       2       2       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz       20.8 kHz         Remote 7       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2       2		Model	СН	Name	Serial No.	Status	Updat	e	Filter	Unit identifie	er
Unit 2       U8551       15chUniversal       100000117       Auto       20.8 kHz         Unit 3       U8553       5chHigh speed voltage       100000314       Auto       1.0 kHz         Unit 4       U8554       5chStrain       100000422       Auto       15 Hz         Remote 1       LR8532       30chVoltage/Temp       Delete       20.8 kHz         Remote 2         20.8 kHz         Remote 3         Execute       Cancel         Remote 4              Remote 6               Remote 7	Unit 1	U8550	15ch	Voltage/Temp	100000019		Auto	•	20. 8 kHz	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNO	Р
Unit 3       U8553       5ch High speed voltage       100000314       Auto       1.0 kHz         Unit 4       U8554       5ch Strain       100000422       Auto       15 Hz         Remote 1       LR853230ch Voltage/Temp       Delete       20.8 kHz         Remote 3       2       Execute Cancel       20         Remote 4       2       2       2       2         Remote 5       5       2       2       2       2         Remote 6       2       2       2       2       2         Remote 7       2       2       2       2       2	Unit 2	U8551	15ch	Universal	100000117		Auto	•	20. 8 kHz		
Unit 4       U8554       5ch Strain       100000422       Auto       15 Hz         Remote 1       LR8532 30ch Voltage/Temp       Delete       20.8 kHz         Remote 2       2       2       Remote 1       20.8 kHz         Remote 3       2       Remote 1       20.8 kHz         Remote 4       2       2       2       2         Remote 5       2       2       2       2         Remote 6       2       2       2       2         Remote 7       2       2       2       2	Unit 3	U8553	5ch	High speed voltage	100000314		Auto	-	1. 0 kHz		
Remote 1       LR8532 30ch Voltage/Temp       Delete       20.8 kHz         Remote 2	Unit 4	U8554	5ch	Strain	100000422		Auto	-	15 Hz		
Remote 2     Remote 1       Remote 3     Secure Cancel       Remote 4     Secure Cancel       Remote 5     Secure Cancel       Remote 6     Secure Cancel       Remote 7     Secure Cancel	Remote 1	LR8532	30ch	Voltage/Temp 👩	Delete			•	20. 8 kHz		
Remote 3     Struct     Cancel       Remote 4     Image: Cancel     Image: Cancel       Remote 5     Image: Cancel     Image: Cancel       Remote 6     Image: Cancel     Image: Cancel       Remote 7     Image: Cancel     Image: Cancel	Remote 2			4	✓ Remote 1	<u>.</u>					
Remote 4         Image: Constraint of the second secon	Remote 3			3	Exe	cute Ca	ncel				
Remote 5         Image: Second se	Remote 4										
Remote 6         Image: Constraint of the second secon	Remote 5										
Remote 7	Remote 6	5									
	Remote 7	'									
		1									
<b>1</b>	Control	Delete	ה								
	Search	Derete	J								
<b>1</b> Search Delete	1. 9GB									24 OFF 💼	202

#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Delete] is selected.

The window prompting you to select the modules you wish to deregister will be displayed.

2 Select the check box of the modules you wish to deregister.

You cannot select any plug-in modules.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] is selected.

The instrument will deregister the selected wireless modules.

```
You can use the wireless module to deregister.

Press and hold the RESET key for 5 s or longer while the wireless module's CONNECT LED is

blinking. The module will be deregistered.

While the CONNECT LED remains on, which indicates that the wireless module is

communicating with the LR8450-01, you cannot deregister using the module. Please use the

communicating LR8450-01 to deregister the wireless module.
```

## **1.3 Setting Measurement Conditions**

This section describes how to configure settings such as the recording interval and recording time. Settings cannot be changed while measurement is in progress. Stop measurement and then change the settings.

You can select the recording method.

Continuous recording	Sets the recording time setting to <b>[Continuous]</b> . Recording will continue until you press the <b>STOP</b> key. Recording can be stopped with a trigger. See "Stop triggers" (p. 119).
Time-specified recording	Sets the recording time setting to <b>[Specified time]</b> . The setting indicates the amount of time for which to record (the recording length). Recording will stop once the set time has elapsed. Recording can be stopped before the set time elapses with the <b>STOP</b> key or a trigger.
Repeat recording	Sets the repeat recording setting to <b>[ON]</b> . Recording will resume after stopping (due to stop trigger conditions or the completion of recording for the set recording time). Recording will repeat until you press the <b>STOP</b> key. If the repeat recording setting is <b>[OFF]</b> , recording will stop after one iteration.



Settings and Operation



#### **1** Enter a title comment in the [Title comment] field (optional).

See "Title comments" (p.66).

#### **2** Configure the [Start] and [Stop] settings.

You can start measurement at the specified time and date. Once measurement has started, recording will start based on the trigger settings.

You can stop measurement at the specified time and date. Recording will stop when measurement stops.

Between the times measurement starts and stops, recording will start and stop based on the trigger conditions.

- Measurement start: The instrument has started measurement and is waiting for a trigger.
- Recording start: A trigger has occurred, and the instrument has started recording.

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation
Record					
Auto save	Title comment				
Manual save					
Display	Start	Time	2021-02-08	09:00	٠
Settings	Stop	Time	2021-03-08	17:00	

Start	Manual [⊠]	Starts measurement based on the <b>START</b> key or external I/O.					
	Time	Starts measurement at the specified time and date. YYYY-MM-DD HH:MM The instrument will transition to the waveform screen at START key input and wa until the specified time and date to start measurement. If the specified time and date have already passed when the START key is pressed, the instrument will start measurement immediately.					
Stop	Manual [⊠]	Stops measurement based on the START key or external I/O.					
	Time	Stops measurement at the specified time and date. YYYY-MM-DD HH:MM Pressing the STOP key during measurement will cause the instrument to stop measurement, even if a stop time has been set.					



Unit

#### 3 Under [Recording mode], select type of recording.

Normal ^Ø Data is recorded in synchronization with the internal clock.

The setting cannot be changed from [Normal].

#### 4 Under [Recording interval], select the data capture interval.

Example: Choosing [10 ms] will cause data to be captured at a 10 ms interval (100 times per second).

1 ms[⊠]*¹, 2 ms^{*1}, 5 ms^{*1}, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s, 20 s, 30 s, 1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 20 min, 30 min, 1 h

*1: Setting available only when using a module with data refresh intervals including 1 ms. (when there is at least one U8553, U8554, U8556, LR8533, LR8534, or LR8536 module for which measurement is enabled). The number of channels that can be used will be restricted based on the recording interval and auto save settings as well as whether any CAN Units are connected. For details, see "Auto save (real-time save)" (p.146).

#### 5 Under [Repetitive recording], choose whether to repeat recording operation.

OFF ^Ø	Stops recording after one iteration.
ON	Repeats recording operation. Measurement will stop when you press the <b>STOP</b> key.

#### Under [Recording time], set the amount (length) of time for which you wish to record data. 6

Specified time	Records for the set amount of time. (Max. 500 days) Days, hours, minutes, seconds
Continuous [⊠]	Recording will continue until you press the <b>STOP</b> key. Measurement can also be stopped with a trigger. See "Stop triggers" (p.119).

If you select [Specified time], the maximum time and data count will be displayed. The maximum amount of time that you can record varies with the number of channels in use and the recording interval. If you select [Continuous], measurement will continue while deleting past data from the internal buffer memory if the maximum capacity of the internal buffer memory is exceeded. It is recommended to use auto saving since deleted data cannot be recovered.

See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 146).

#### 7 Under [Alarm source], choose whether to record the alarm source channel during alarms.

When using an alarm, you can save information about alarm source channels (channels that caused alarms).

OFF [∅]	Does not save information about alarm source channels.
ON	Saves information about alarm source channels. Contents to be saved will differ depending on the data type. See "11.8 Text Format" (p.423).

Configure the setting as necessary since saving the alarm source channel will cause the file size to increase. Alarm source information cannot be saved for CAN channels.



#### **8** Under [Synchronous operation], select the primary or secondary (as necessary).

Multiple instruments can be synchronized for measurement.

"8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234)

One instrument can be assigned to serve as the primary instrument, and up to four instruments can be assigned to serve as secondary instruments.

The synchronization signal from the primary instrument is received by the secondary instrument, which then operates in synchronization with the primary instrument's sampling clock.

OFF ^Ø	Do not perform synchronous operation.
Primary	Uses this instrument as the primary instrument (one instrument only).
Secondary	Uses this instrument as a secondary instrument.

# When the recording time is set to [Specified time] and repeat recording is set to [ON]

Internal processing will take some time (downtime) between the time that recording stops after the specified amount of time has elapsed and the start of the next recording operation. Recording is not performed during this time.





You can record without any downtime by setting the recording time to **[Continuous]** and enabling auto saving and file splitting. Saved data files can be segmented using the desired time segment.

## Measurement module data refresh intervals

This section describes how to set the data refresh interval for each measurement module separately from the instrument's recording interval.



SET	>	Unit

A list of connected modules will be displayed.

- [Unit 1] to [Unit 4]: Plug-in modules
- [Remote 1] to [Remote 7]: Wireless modules

Unit	N	leasi	ıre	Channe I	Trigger	A	larm 🚺 C	alcu 2i on	System	
	Model	СН		Name	Serial No.	Status	Update	Filter	Unit identifier	]
Unit 1	U8550	15ch	Volta	ge/Temp	100000019		Auto	20. 8 kHz	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOP	
Unit 2	U8551	15ch	Unive	rsal	100000117		20 ms 💌	6. 94 kHz		
Unit 3	U8553	5ch	High :	speed voltage	100000314		1 ms 🗖	50 kHz		
Unit 4	U8554	5ch	Strain	າ	100000422		1 ms 🗖	120 Hz		
Remote 1	LR8532	30ch	Volta	ge/Temp	100100223	🧟 🕂	Auto	20. 8 kHz		
Remote 2										
Remote 3										
Remote 4										
Remote 5										
Remote 6										
Remote 7										
						,				
Search	Delete									
🗊 1.9GB									24 OFT 🗟 濱	2020-05-28 19:29:14

#### **1** Under [Update], select the data refresh interval.

Auto [™], 1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s

Ordinarily, this setting should be set to [Auto]. When you choose [Auto], the shortest data refresh interval will be set for each module based on the recording interval.

When you wish to set a data refresh interval other than **[Auto]**, a data refresh interval longer than the recording interval can be set. When the recording interval is set to 10 ms or longer, the data refresh interval cannot be changed from **[10 s]**.

The available data refresh interval settings vary with the modules in use and the wire break detection setting.

Wire break detection	U8550, U8551, LR8530, LR8531	U8552, LR8532	U8553, U8554, U8556, LR8533, LR8534, LR8536	U8555, LR8535
OFF	From 10 ms* ¹	From 20 ms* ²	From 1 mo* ⁴	From 10 mo *4*5
ON	From 20 ms* ¹	From 50 ms* ³	FIOIII I IIIS	FIOITI TO THS

*1: Settings start at 100 ms when using a Pt1000 with the U8551 or LR8531.

*2: When using 15 or fewer channels, the 10 ms setting is available.

*3: When using 15 or fewer channels, the 20 ms setting is available.

*4: No wire break detection function is available.



*5: For the U8555/LR8535, the maximum number of channels that can be set varies as indicated in the following table based on the data refresh interval.

U8555, LR8535 data fresh intervals	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms or longer
Maximum number of channels that can be set	50	100	250	500

• When the data refresh interval is set to a value other than [Auto], it is recommended to use longer times.

- This will allow you to reduce the digital filter's cutoff frequency to eliminate low-frequency noise. • You can eliminate power supply frequency noise by setting the data refresh interval so that the
- [Filter] setting is 50 Hz or 60 Hz.

#### **2** Under [Filter], check the filter's cutoff frequency.

The filter's cutoff frequency will change depending on the data refresh interval setting. Check the cutoff frequency that is displayed for each module.

#### Relationship between the data refresh interval and the recording interval

- Measurement modules send data to the instrument once each data refresh interval.
- The instrument receives data from measurement modules once each recording interval.
- Even if a measurement module's data refresh interval is short, it will not be possible to record waveform peaks if the instrument's recording interval is long.

	Data refre	sh interval	Recording interval		
	Short	Long	Short	Long	
Strength of the power supply frequency filter	Weak	Strong	_	_	
Data volume	_	_	More data	Less data	
Waveform peaks	Easier to capture*	More difficult to capture	Easier to capture*	More difficult to capture	

*: If the data refresh interval and recording interval are short.

- For the U8550 to U8553 and LR8530 to LR8533 modules, the longer the data refresh interval, the lower the digital filter cutoff frequency, yielding more effective noise rejection. For more information about cutoff frequencies, see the section about each module's digital filter in "10.2 Plug-in Module Specifications" (p.331).
- To maximize the effectiveness of the digital filter, configure the **[Power frequency filter]** setting according to the power supply frequency in the region where the instrument is being used. See "7.1 Configuring Settings" (p.216).
- For modules whose data refresh interval is longer than the recording interval, the first two data points will be continuous, and there will be a delay.



#### Example setting

What you want to do	Data refresh interval	Recording interval
Record a signal that's changing quickly (electrical signal, etc.)	Shorter	Shorter
Record a signal that's changing slowly (temperature, etc.)	Longer	Longer
Record fast and slow signals at the same time	Shorter for modules used to measure fast signals Longer for modules used to measure slow signals	Shorter

Since you can set the data refresh interval separately for each module, the instrument can be used as follows:

- For module 1, set the data refresh interval to 2 s so that you can eliminate power supply noise and reduce the effects of noise when performing temperature measurement using thermocouples.
- For module 2, set the data refresh interval to 10 ms so that you can record battery voltage fluctuations.
- For module 3, set the data refresh interval to 1 ms so that you can record changes in control signals at the maximum speed.
- Set the instrument's recording interval to 1 ms, reflecting the shortest data refresh interval. The instrument will record data from modules 1 through 3 every 1 ms.

If the instrument's recording interval is shorter than a module's data refresh interval, the same value will be recorded for that module's data.

Example: If the recording interval is 1 ms and the data refresh interval is 1 s, 1000 pieces of data all of which have the same value will be recorded.

For more information about the module identifier, see "Module identifiers" (p.68); about the filter of U8554 and LR8534 Strain Unit, "Measuring strain" (p.36).

#### Data refresh interval of pulses

Pulse data will be refreshed at the data refresh intervals.

The data refresh interval of pulses will automatically be set depending on input types.

	Data refresh interval			
Integration	Integration			
Rotational speed	r/s or r/min (Smoothing: 1 s)	10 ms		
	r/min (Smoothing: 2 s to 60 s)	50 ms		

• The data refresh interval setting does not affect pulse counting processes.

• Even if the data refresh interval of pulses is equal to that for the measurement module, these data will not simultaneously be refreshed when the recording interval is shorter than the data refresh interval.



Settings and Operation

## 1.4 Configuring Input Channels

Configure input channels for voltage measurement, temperature measurement, etc.

If the module configuration changes, the channel settings may be initialized. Confirm the settings.
Channel Un-m (plug-in module), Rn-m (wireless module) The letters <i>n</i> and <i>m</i> represent a module number and a channel number, respectively.

Selects the type of measurement target.

Voltage, thermocouple, humidity, etc.

Sets the magnitude of the input signal.

Set the waveform color, scaling, and comments as necessary.

These settings can be configured either on each channel's individual settings screen or on the settings list screen for multiple channels.

#### Setting method

Input

Range

- **1** Set the main tab to [Channel].
- **2** Select the settings screen on the sub tab.
  - [Individual]

IMPORTANT

- Configure the settings on the individual settings screen for each channel.
- [Unit 1] to [Unit 4]: plug-in modules, [Remote 1] to [Remote 7]: wireless modules Configure the settings on the settings list screen for each module.
   [Ruleo]
- [Pulse]
  - Configure the settings on the settings list screen.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key.

The focus will move to the settings area.

You can return the focus to the sub tab by pressing the ESC key.

- **4** Select the setting you wish to configure with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys.
- **5** Press the ENTER key.

The available settings will be displayed.

Measure

Channel

**6** Select the desired setting with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the ENTER key.

The setting will be accepted.

Calculation

System

Trigger — Alarm —

#### Individual settings screen

A settings screen will be displayed for each channel.

Under [Channel], select the module and channel to configure*¹.

Configure the range and display for the selected channel.

A waveform monitor*² is shown on the left side of the screen. You can also switch the display format to show numerical values.

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Wave 💌 10 s	▼ Gauge	- Channel —	_		_	
Unit 1	0. 005	: : : <b>U1-1</b>	Unit 1	U1-1	Measurement		
Unit 2	0. 004		_ Input ——	Volta			
Unit 3	0. 003		Range	10 mV	ye <u>·</u>		
Unit 4			Measurable	range -10m	to 10m		
Remote 1	0. 002						
Remote 2	0. 001		_ Dieplay				
Pulse	0		Position	Zoom 2	x 1 🔽 Ze	ro position	50 %
			Num of dec	imal places	3		
	-0. 001		Scaling				
	-0. 002		Decimal	▼ Ratio	🔻 Unit		
	-0.003		SI	ope 1			
			Off	set O			
	-0. 004						
	-0.005		Comment	_			
	U1- 1 0. 0	06	Numerical	threshold 0			
562. 8MB						@ 🗟 🔁	2020-11-06 13:52:30

- *1: Does not apply to CAN Units. For CAN Units, selecting a channel number on the individual settings screen and pressing the **ENTER** key will open the "Individual Settings" window.
- *2: When [Synchronous operation] is set to [Primary] or [Secondary], the waveform monitor will not operate.

#### Waveform monitor

- You can select waveforms and figures.
- You can change the time per horizontal-axis division. See "Other display settings" (p.58).
- You can toggle gages between on and off.



#### Settings list screen

This screen displays a list of settings for each module. For more information about the settings list screen, see "1.9 Configuring Channels in a List" (p.69).

The following settings can be configured on the settings list screen:

- Measurement on/off
- Waveform display colors
- Input, display, scaling, comment, and numerical value calculation settings (Available settings depend on the type of module.)
- Zero-adjustment (U8554 and LR8534: auto balancing)
- Detection of connected current sensors (for U8556 and LR8536)

Select a channel number and press the **ENTER** key to display the individual settings window. You can also configure settings on the individual settings window.

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Сору	Input	•				Zero adjust
Unit 1	V	]	Range	Input			
Unit 2	U1-1 🗸	V Voltage	1 V				
Unit 3	U1-2 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
Unit 4	U1-3 🗸	V Voltage	1 V				
Pulse	U1-4 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-5 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-6 🗾	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-7 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-8 🗾	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-9 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-10 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-11 🗸	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-12 🗸	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-13 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-14 🗸	V Voltage	1 V				
	U1-15 🔽	V Voltage	1 V				
SD 158 29.8GB						<b>2</b> 4 0	F @ 2020-02-05

Individual settings window (close with the ESC key)

	Waveform 💌	Channel	
In	0. 5	Unit 1 🔽 <mark>U1-1 🔽</mark> 🗹 Measurement 📃	st
Un	0. 4	r Input	
Un		Voltage 💌	
Un	0. 3	Range 1 V 💌	
Un	0. 2		
Pu	0 1		
		Display —	
	0 <del></del>	Position Zoom x 1 Zero position 50 %	
	-0. 1	Num of decimal places 3	
	-0.2	Scaling	
	0. 2		
	-0. 3	Offset 0	
	-0. 4		
	-0.5	Comment Temperature of terget	
		Numerical threshold 0	
SD		CIOSE	⁾⁵

## Measuring voltage

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring voltage.

You can use [Input] on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.)

Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, U8553, U8554, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532, LR8533, LR8534





- Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box.
   Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- **2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [×] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

**3** Set the input type to [Voltage].

For the U8553 and LR8533, the setting cannot be changed from [Voltage].

**4** Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the measurement target. The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

(For the U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8530, LR8531, or LR8532)

10 mV ^{III}, 20 mV, 100 mV, 200 mV, 1 V, 2 V, 10 V, 20 V, 100 V, 1 to 5 V

(For the U8553 or LR8533 High Speed Voltage Unit)

100 mV ^{III}, 200 mV, 1 V, 2 V, 10 V, 20 V, 100 V, 1 to 5 V

(For the U8554 or LR8534 Strain Unit)

1 mV ^{III}, 2 mV, 5 mV, 10 mV, 20 mV, 50 mV, 100 mV, 200 mV



#### **5** (For the U8554 or LR8534 Strain Unit)

#### Under [Filter], select the cutoff frequency.

Auto ^{III}, 120 Hz, 60 Hz, 30 Hz, 15 Hz, 8 Hz, 4 Hz

See the table in "Measuring strain" (p.36) for a list of cutoff frequencies when [Auto] is selected.

#### When measuring instrumentation devices

- When measuring a 4-20 mA current, connect a 250  $\Omega$  resistor between the positive and negative input terminals.
- See "Connecting voltage cables and thermocouples" in the Quick Start Manual.
- The [1-5 V] range is convenient when measuring output from 4-20 mA instrumentation devices.
- The [1-5 V] range is a range in which the lower and upper limits of the [10 V] range's display range are automatically set to 1 V and 5 V, respectively. If you wish to change the upper and lower limit values, use the [10 V] range.
- The Strain Unit does not support 4-20 mA current measurement.



You can use the scaling function to convert measured voltage values to the desired values. See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).

Channel

SET

## Measuring temperature (with thermocouples)

> Individual

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring temperature using thermocouples.

You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532

	Measure	Channe I	Trigger Alarm Calculation System
Individual	Wave 💌 10 s	💌 Gau	
Unit 1	100	<b>U</b>	Unit 1 🔽 U1-1 🔽 Measurement
	90		3 Input5
Jnit 3	80		Range 100 °C Burn out OFF
		, <del>- 1</del>	
Remote 1	70		Measurable range -100°C to 100°C
	60		Dianlay
	50 _		Position Zoom x 1 Zero position 0 %
	40		
	30 _		OFF
	20 _		
	10	ļ	
	0		Comment
	U1- 1 76. 4	l8°C	Numerical threshold 0
30 562. 5MB			(III) (IIII) (III)

- Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box.
   Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- **2** Select the waveform display color.

× (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [Tc].
- 4 Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the temperature being measured.

The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

100°C ^{III}, 500°C, 2000°C

B thermocouples cannot be selected for the 100°C and 500C° ranges. When using B thermocouples, set the range to 2000°C first.

5 Under [Type], select the type of thermocouple you're using.

K [⊠], J, E, T, N, R, S, B*, C

*: **[B]** can be selected when using the 2000°C range. See "Measurable temperature range" (p.31).
# **6** Under [Burn out], select whether you wish to detect wire breaks.

OFF ^Ø	Does not detect thermocouple wire breaks. Values will vary when a thermocouple experiences a wire break.
ON	Detects thermocouple wire breaks when measuring temperature using thermocouples. The numerical value display and cursor value will be indicated as <b>[BURNOUT]</b> when a wire break occurs. Calculated values and saved data are treated as 327.66°C (100°C f.s. range), 1638.3°C (500°C f.s. range), or 3276.6°C (2000°C f.s. range). There are limits on the data refresh interval that can be set. See "Thermocouple wire break detection" (p.32).

# 7 Under [RJC], select the type of reference junction compensation to use.

INT [∞]	Performs reference junction compensation inside the measurement module. Use this setting when the thermocouple (or compensation lead wire) is connected directly to the instrument. The measurement accuracy is determined by adding the temperature measurement accuracy to the reference junction compensation accuracy.
EXT	Does not perform reference junction compensation inside the measurement module. Use this setting when connecting an external zero junction compensation device (0°C ice water, etc.). The measurement accuracy is defined by the temperature measurement accuracy alone.

## Measurable temperature range

The measurable temperature range depends on the type of thermocouple being used.

Thermocouple	Measurable temp	erature range
К	-200°C to	1350°C
J	-200°C to	1200°C
E	-200°C to	1000°C
Т	-200°C to	400°C
N	-200°C to	1300°C
R	0°C to	1700°C
S	0°C to	1700°C
B*	400°C to	1800°C
С	0°C to	2000°C

*: **[B]** can be selected when using the 2000°C range. Temperatures from 0°C to 400°C will be displayed even if **[B]** is selected, but accuracy will not be guaranteed.

Unit

# Thermocouple wire break detection

- The system checks for wire breaks by applying a minuscule current at the date refresh intervals when measuring temperature using thermocouples.
- Measured values are not affected since wire breaks are detected when measurement is not being performed.
- If the data refresh intervals are the same, setting [Burn out] to [ON] will result in less effective noise rejection since it results in a cutoff frequency that is higher than the [OFF] setting. Check "Digital filter" of each module in "10.2 Plug-in Module Specifications" (p.331) for the cutoff frequency.
- If the thermocouple resistance exceeds roughly the next value, the system will determine that a wire break has occurred.

Thermosounie	Range				
mermocoupie	100°C f.s.	500°C f.s.	2000°C f.s.		
К	260 Ω	5400 Ω	2940 Ω		
J	470 Ω	4150 Ω	200 Ω		
E	1530 Ω	5970 Ω	9290 Ω		
Т	220 Ω	5440 Ω	5440 Ω		
Ν	520 Ω	1470 Ω	590 Ω		
R	50 Ω	40 Ω	890 Ω		
S	50 Ω	80 Ω	1300 Ω		
В	-	-	2090 Ω		
С	220 Ω	910 Ω	3090 Ω		

When using a long thermocouple with [Burn out] set to [ON], use a thick-diameter wire to avoid false wire break detection.



# Measuring temperature (with resistance temperature detectors)

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring temperature using resistance temperature detectors.

You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) Applicable modules: U8551, LR8531

#### Channe I Gau Channel Wave ▼ 10 s Measure 2 Unit 1 ▼ U1−1 nput 🗕 Туре Pt100 -RTD Wiring method 3-wire 100 °C Range Measurable range −100°C to 100°C Display ▼ Zoom x 1 🔽 Zero position 0 % Position Scaling 0FF Comment Numerical threshold 0 U1- 1 91. 32°C 562. 4MB

- **1** Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box. Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- 2 Select the waveform display color.

> Individual

Channel

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

SET

>

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [RTD].
- **4** Under [Type], select the type of resistance temperature detector you're using.

#### Pt100 ^{III}, JPt100, Pt1000

When **[Pt1000]** is selected, the **[10 ms]**, **[20 ms]**, and **[50 ms]** data refresh interval settings will not be available.

# **5** Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the temperature being measured.

The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

100°C ^{III}, 500°C, 2000°C

**6** Under [Wiring method], select a the wiring method of the resistance temperature detector.

3-wire [☑]	3-wire resistance temperature detector
4-wire	4-wire resistance temperature detector



# Measuring humidity

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring humidity with the optional Humidity Sensor.

You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8531

Applicable sensor: Z2000 Humidity Sensor



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Wave 🛨 10 s	Gav 🥣	- Channel —			_ 🥥	
Unit 1	100		Unit 1	U1−1	Measu rement		
Unit 2	90		_ Input		+v =		
Unit 3	80		Range	100 %r	h 🔻		
Unit 4			Measurable	range 5% rh t	to 95% rh		
Remote 1	70						
Remote 2	60		_ Display				
Pulse	50 _		Position	▼ Zoom x 1	Ze ro	position	0 %
	40		Scaling —				
	30		0FF	<b>•</b>			
	20						
	10						
	0		Comment				
	U1- 1 89.	1%	Numerical	threshold 0			
562. 4MB						@ îch 🔁	2020-11-06

- Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box.
   Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- **2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

## **3** Set the input type to [Humidity].

There is no range setting (the setting cannot be changed from the 100% RH range). The measurable range will appear.



# Measuring resistance

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring resistance.

You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) Applicable modules: U8551, LR8531



- Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box.
   Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- **2** Select the waveform display color.

× (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [Resistance].
- **4** Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the resistance being measured.

The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

10 Ω [⊠], 20 Ω, 100 Ω, 200 Ω

#### IMPORTANT

When measuring an inductive load such as winding resistance, the instrument's response may not be able to keep up, preventing accurate measurement. If you encounter this issue, increase the data refresh interval. As a general rule, inductors of up to 100 mH can be measured with a data refresh interval of 100 ms.



# Measuring strain

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring strain or vibration with a strain gage or strain gage-type converter. You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.)

Applicable modules: U8554, LR8534





- Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box.
   Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.
- **2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [×] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [Strain].
- **4** Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the measurement target. The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

1000 με ^Ø, 2000 με, 5000 με, 10000 με, 20000 με, 50000 με, 100000 με, 200000 με

The instrument expresses strain in terms of micro epsilon ( $\mu\epsilon$ ).



## **5** Under [Filter], select the cutoff frequency.

#### Auto ^{III}, 120 Hz, 60 Hz, 30 Hz, 15 Hz, 8 Hz, 4 Hz

When **[Auto]** is selected, the low-pass filter's cutoff frequency will automatically be set as described in the following table based on the set data refresh interval:

Data refresh interval	Cutoff frequency	Data refresh interval	Cutoff frequency
1 ms	120 Hz	200 ms	4 Hz
2 ms	60 Hz	500 ms	4 Hz
5 ms	30 Hz	1 s	4 Hz
10 ms	15 Hz	2 s	4 Hz
20 ms	8 Hz	5 s	4 Hz
50 ms	4 Hz	10 s	4 Hz
100 ms	4 Hz		·

# 6 On the [Wave+Set] screen, press the ENTER key while [Auto-bal] is selected on the bottom right of the screen.

Auto-balancing will be performed for all channels of the Strain Unit.

- Perform this step under the following conditions:
- Turn on the instrument and wait 30 minutes.
- Connect a strain gage or strain gage-type converter to the module; however, do not apply any loads, including vibration.
- Connect the B and D inputs terminals with one another when measuring voltage.

Auto-balancing cannot be performed while measurement is in progress. Key operations are ignored while auto-balancing is in progress.

Auto-balancing can also be performed using the [Auto-balance] Auto-balance button on the top right of the channel list screen. Press the ENTER Executable CH key to display the settings window. 🗸 U3-1 Select the check boxes for the channels for which you wish to ✓ U3-2 perform auto-balancing. Then press the ENTER key while [Execute] **√**U3-3 ✓U3-4 is selected. ✓U3-5 Press the ENTER key while [All] is selected to select or cancel Execute Cancel auto-balancing for all channels at once. See "1.9 Configuring Channels in a List" (p.69).

Perform auto-balancing again in the following circumstances:

- When the input types have changed
- When the range has changed
- When module connections have changed
- · When the strain gage or strain gage-type converter has changed
- · When the instrument's power has been cycled
- When the instrument's settings have been initialized
- When the ambient temperature has changed abruptly (when the zero position may have drifted)

If auto-balancing fails, check the following:

- Is the strain gage or strain gage-type converter in a no-load state?
- Is the strain gage or strain gage-type converter connected properly?
- ٠

a a a



# Measuring CAN signals

For more information, see the "CAN Editor Instruction Manual" on the included DVD. Applicable modules: U8555, LR8535

# **Measuring current**

This section explains how to configure settings on the individual setting screen when measuring current.

You can use **[Input]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) Applicable modules: U8556, LR8536



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger Alarm Calculation System
Individual	Wave 💌 10 s	Gau 🥣	
Unit 1	500		
Unit 2	450		Input
Unit 3 Unit 4	400		Range 500Arms 5
Pulse	350		Input Mode RMS 6 Filter OFF 7
Turse	300		Measurable range 0. 0Arms to 00. 0Arms
	250 _		Position Zoom x 1 Zero position 0 %
	200		- Scaling
	150		OFF
	100	<b>U1-1</b>	
	50		
	0		Comment
	U1- 1 91 6	6A rms	Numerical threshold 0
			● 06-29-2023 1ch 11:17:04

**1** Select the module (Unit) and channel to configure and select the check box. Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.

**2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to perform measurement but not to display the waveform and value on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [Current].
- 4 (When the connected current sensor is different from the one displayed on the settings screen)

On the settings list screen, press the ENTER key while [Detect Connected Sensors] is selected on the top right of the screen.

Operation of the instrument is not guaranteed when the CT7631, CT7636, or CT7642 AC/DC Current Sensor is used.

The CT7631, CT7636, and CT7642 are detected as the CT7731, CT7736 and CT7742, respectively.

- **5** Under [Range], select the measurement range as appropriate for the measurement target. The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.
- **6** In the [Input Mode] list, select an option for input mode.



## **7** Select ON or OFF under [Filter].

Setting **[Filter]** to **[ON]** enables the low-pass filter. Low-pass filter frequency characteristics



#### 8 On the settings list screen, press the ENTER key while [Zero adjust (CT)] is selected.

Zero adjustment, which corrects input levels to zero, is performed for all channels of the current modules.

Execute zero adjustment under the following conditions:

- · After at least 30 minutes has elapsed since the instrument was turned on
- · With current sensors connected to measurement targets and a module, at no load

Zero adjustment does not work for RMS value mode of the CT7812 and CT7822 AC/DC current sensor.

When you press the ENTER key, the settings window will appear.

Select the check boxes for the channels for which you wish to execute zero adjustment, and then press **ENTER** while **[Execute]** is selected.

When **ENTER** is pressed while **[All]** is selected, you can collectively select or deselect channels for which zero adjustment is to be executed.

See "1.9 Configuring Channels in a List" (p.69).

Perform zero adjustment again in the following cases:

- · When the range is switched
- · When the connections of modules are changed
- · When the connection of current sensors are changed
- When the instrument is turned off and on again
- · When the instrument settings are reset
- When the ambient temperature changes suddenly (the zero position may drift)

When the zero adjustment fails, check the following:

- The current sensors are not connected to measurement targets or measurement targets are not working.
- · The current sensors are correctly connected



# Integrating pulses

Channel

SET

You can perform measurement by integrating the pulse count from an integrating wattmeter, flow meter, or similar device.

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when performing integration measurement.

You can use the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.71.)

External control terminals: PULSE 1 to PULSE 8 (pulse input)

Individual

	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation		
Individual	Wave 💌 10 s	💌 Gau 📶	Channel —		_		
Unit 1	5000	<b>U</b>	Pulse	P1 🔽	Measurement		
Unit 2	4500		- Input	Count		<b>^</b>	5
	4000		Range	1000 Mc	Th reshol	d 1 V 🔻	6
	4000	·····   4	Count mode	Additio	n 💌 Filter	OFF	i 🎽 🛛
	3500		Timing	Start	Reset	0FF	18
	3000		Measurable	range Uc_to_i	GC		V
Pulse			Upper/Lowe	Upper 5k	Low	er 0	
	2500						
	2000		Sealing				
	1500		OFF	-			
	1000						
	500						
	0		Comment				
	P1.0c	P1	Numerical t	hreshold 0			
ลึก) 562. 2MB						1 ch	2020-11-

**1** Select [Pulse], and choose a channel from [P1] to [P8].

Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.

**2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [×] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

#### **3** Set the input type to [Count].

The range cannot be changed from 1000 Mc. The measurable range will appear.

**4** Under [Count mode], select the integration method.

Addition [☑]	Integrates pulse counts inputted from the measurement start point.
Instant	Integrates pulse counts inputted during the recording period. The pulse count will be reset for each recording interval.



# **5** Under [Slope], select the slope to count.

$\uparrow$	Integrates the number of times the pulse switches from low level to high level (rising).
↓	Integrates the number of times the pulse switches from high level to low level (falling).

#### **6** Under [Threshold], select the level used for counting.

1 V [∅]	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to 1.0 V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than 0.5 V as low level.
4 V	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to 4.0 V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than 1.5 V as low level.

# 7 Under [Filter], select whether to use the chatter prevention filter.

Set to [ON] to prevent false counting due to chatter in mechanical contact (relay) output.

OFF ^Ø, ON

#### **8** Under [Timing], select when to reset counting.

Start ^Ø	Resets the count to zero at the start of measurement.
Trigger	Resets the count to zero at the start of measurement and at which a trigger activates. The values acquired before the reset are recorded for the trigger point.

### **9** Under [Reset], select the operation to perform when the integrated value overflows.

OFF [∅]	Stops counting.
ON	Resets the count value and resumes counting from zero.

Tins	• You can use the scaling function to convert the integrated pulse count into the measurement
(iip)	target's physical properties (Wh, VA, etc.) and display the result.
	See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).
	• The upper limit that can be measured is 1,000,000,000 pulses. If the possibility exists that this
	limit may be exceeded, it is recommended to perform measurement with the integration mode

set to [Instant] and integrate the pulses later using Excel or other software.

Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation

Unit

System

SET

# Measuring rotational speed

Channel

> Individual

This section describes how to measure the pulses output by a rotary encoder, tachometer, or similar device.

The instrument counts the number of pulses per second and calculates the rotational speed.

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring rotational speed.

You can use the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.71.) External control terminals: PULSE 1 to PULSE 8 (pulse input)



**1** Select [Pulse], and choose a channel from [P1] to [P8].

Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.

**2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform or numerical values on the screen.

**3** Set the input type to [RevSpd].

#### **4** Under [Range], select the count base time.

The measurable range of the selected range will be displayed.

r/s [⊠]	Counts the number of pulses per second and calculates the rotational speed. (Number of revolutions per second)
r/min	Counts the number of pulses per module of time specified with the <b>[Smoothing]</b> setting and calculates the rotational speed. (Number of revolutions per minute)

**5** Under [Pulse/rev], enter the number of pulses per revolution output by the encoder or tachometer.

1 ^{II} to 1000



## **6** Under [Slope], select the slope to count.

$\uparrow$	Integrates the number of times the pulse switches from low level to high level (rising).
↓	Integrates the number of times the pulse switches from high level to low level (falling).

## 7 Under [Threshold], select the level to count.

1 V [∅]	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to 1.0 V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than $0.5$ V as low level.
4 V	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to $4.0$ V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than $1.5$ V as low level.

#### **8** Under [Filter], select whether to use the chatter prevention filter.

Set to [ON] to prevent false counting due to chatter in mechanical contact (relay) output.

OFF ^Ø, ON

**9** Under [Smoothing], enter the smoothing processing time (when [Range] is set to [r/min]).

1 s [⊠] to 60 s

## Principal of rotational speed measurement

Under the following conditions, the integration pulse count is internally updated at a data refresh interval of 10 ms:

- When the range is [r/s]
- When the range is [r/min] and smoothing is set to [1 s]

The rotational speed at time t [s] is calculated by dividing the pulse count from (t - 1) to t [s] by the number of pulses per revolution.

$$r (r/s) = \frac{\text{Integrated pulse count at } t [s] - \text{ integrated pulse count at } (t - 1) [s]}{\text{Number of pulses per revolution}}$$

$$r/s: \text{ Rotational speed per second}$$

$$r (r/min) = \frac{\text{Integrated pulse count at } t [s] - \text{ integrated pulse count at } (t - 1) [s]}{\text{Number of pulses per revolution}} \times 60$$

$$r/\text{min: Rotational speed per minute (with smoothing set to [1 s])}$$

Example: Number of pulses per revolution = 4 Integrated pulse count at 1 s = P1 = 1000 c Integrated pulse count at 2 s = P2 = 2000 c The rotation speed at t = 2 s ( $r_{t=2}$ ) can be calculated as follows:  $r_{t=2} = (2000 - 1000) / 4 = 250$  r/s

When the range is set to [r/min] and smoothing is set to  $t_0$  [s], the integrated pulse count is internally updated at a data refresh rate of 50 ms.

The rotational speed at time t [s] is calculated by dividing the pulse count from  $(t - t_0)$  to t [s] by the number of pulses per revolution and multiplying the result by 60.

$$r (r/min) = \frac{lntegrated pulse count at t [s] - integrated pulse count at (t - t_0) [s]}{Number of pulses per revolution} \times \frac{60}{t_0}$$



## When the range is [r/min]

If the time t [s] is less than  $t_0$  (time specified with the smoothing), the displayed rotational speed will be the actual rotational speed. (However,  $t_0$  is equal to or more than 2 s.) If an unintentional trigger activates, set the smoothing time at 1 s.

#### Example when $t_0 = 5 s$

The rotational speed recorded value will spend  $t_0$  [s] from the start of measurement to increase. Even if the inputted rotational speed remains constant, the smoothing process will cause the recorded data to show an increase after the start of measurement until  $t_0$  [s].





# Measuring logic signals

Channel

> Individual

SET

>

This section describes how to configure settings on the individual settings screen when measuring logic signals.

You can use the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.71.) External control terminals: Pulse input terminals P1 to P8

	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	n System	
Individual	Wave 💌 10 s	🚽 Gar 📶	Channel –	_			
			Pulse	<u>▼</u> P1	Measu rement	<b>J 2</b>	
			[ Input				
					Th rashald	1.V	
					Filter	OFF	
					5		
			Display -				
			0				
			Comment				
		:					
562 1VP	LIH					 @	2020-11-06

**1** Select [Pulse], and choose a channel from [P1] to [P8],

Measurement will not be performed for channels whose check boxes are not selected.

**2** Select the waveform display color.

#### × (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to measure the channel but not to display its waveform on the screen.

- **3** Set the input type to [Logic].
- **4** Under [Threshold], select the level to count.

1 V [∞]	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to $1.0$ V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than $0.5$ V as low level.
4 V	Treats voltages that are greater than or equal to $4.0$ V as high level and voltages that are greater than or equal to 0 V but less than $1.5$ V as low level.

#### **5** Under [Filter], select whether to use the chatter prevention filter.

Set to [ON] to prevent false counting due to chatter in mechanical contact (relay) output.

OFF ^Ø, ON

# Treatment of data that exceeds the measurable range

Regardless of the measurement target, measured values that exceed the measurable range are treated as over-range values, resulting in a display of either **[+OVER]** or **[-OVER]** on the numerical value display and for A/B cursor values.

Treatment of such values in saved data and calculation results is described in "11.15 Data Handling" (p.444).

The screen will display a waveform saturated by the value described in "11.15 Data Handling" (p.444).



When using wire break detection in thermocouple measurement, values are treated as follows:

- When there is a wire break or the thermocouple's measurable range is exceeded in the positive direction, the value is treated as a wire break (BURNOUT).
- When the thermocouple's measurable range is exceeded in the negative direction, the value is treated as (-OVER).



# 1.5 Configuring CAN Settings

This section describes how to check settings sent from the CAN Editor and configure CAN Unit settings, user frame transmission, and measured value output mode output settings from the LR8450.

Unit	Measure		2	Innel Trig	99 <b>3</b>	Alarm	Cá	alculation	n System	
ord ┨	Unit 3		Recei	ve mode		Port s	etti	ings	7	App I y
o save									8	ID searc
		000	trope	mincion						
tings 5	- User fr	ame	Port	Timing	Periodic	Send inte	rval	Frame		
	1	V	1	Start	ON		1	8		
	2		2	Stop	0FF		1	1		
	3	$\mathbf{\nabla}$	1	Start trigger	0FF		1	1		
	4		2	Alarm	0FF		1	1		
	5		1	Manual	0FF		1	1		
	6									
	7									
	8									

- **1** Select a CAN Unit that is connected to the LR8450 (up to four can be connected).
- 2 The operating mode is displayed for each CAN Unit.

Receive mode [⊠]	In this mode, each unit can receive CAN frames for up to 500 channels per unit. In addition, user CAN frames can be sent while operating in receive mode.
Measured value output mode	Converts LR8450 measured values into CAN frames and outputs them.

## **3** Press the ENTER key while [Port settings] is selected.

The port settings dialog box will be displayed. See "Configuring port settings" (p.49)

- **4** The title set with the CAN Editor will be displayed.
- **5** (If operating in [Receive mode])

#### User frames will be sent to the CAN bus.

Measure

Channel

Trigger

Alarm

Calculation

System

See "Configuring user frame transmission" (p. 50).



#### **6** (If operating in [Measured value output mode])

Select whether to output measured values under [Measured value output].

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Record	Unit 4 💌	Measured val	ue output mode	Port s	ettings		Apply
Auto save	Title						
Manual save	Measured val	ue output	ON				
Display							
Settings							
CAN							
🗊 2. OGB						🛜 🎅	

Settings controlling measured value output are configured with the CAN Editor. On the LR8450, you can select whether to output measured values overall.

OFF	Disables CAN Unit measured value output.
ON ^ℤ	Enables CAN Unit measured value output.

**7** Send the CAN Unit settings from the LR8450 to the CAN Unit with [Apply]. Even if you don't send the settings, they will be sent when measurement starts.

### **8** Press the ENTER key while [ID search] is selected.

The instrument will search IDs received by the target CAN Unit and display a dialog box.



# **Configuring port settings**

Unit	Measure	Channel	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Record	Unit 3 🔻	Receive mode		Port s	ettings		Apply
Auto save							ID search
Manual save		De st 0		Л			
Display	Port	Port2	3	4			
Settings	2 Interfa	ce CAN FD	🔽 🔽 Te	erminator 🔽 A	СК		
CAN		CAN/ CAN FD	(arbitration)	CAN FD(data)		_ I	
	Baud ra	te 500 kB	aud 🔻	2.0 MBaud 🔻	1		
	Sampling	g point	80.0 %	80.0 %			
			80.0 %	80. 0	%		
	Ľ						
						Close	
50 2. OGB						📚 🤇	2021-11-08

**1** Select the CAN Unit's port.

# **2** Select the interface.

CAN	CAN mode (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant)			
CAN FD ^{III} CAN FD mode (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant)				
CAN FD(non-ISO)	CAN FD (non-ISO) mode (not ISO compliant)			

# **3** Select the [Terminator] check box.

Places CAN_H and CAN_L in an open state.
Inserts a 120 $\Omega$ terminal resistance between CAN_H and CAN_L.

# **4** Select the [ACK] check box.

Does not send ACK frames from the CAN controller. The instrument will not be able to send user frames or operate in measured value output mode.
Sends ACK frames from the CAN controller.

#### **5** Under [Baud rate], select the CAN communications speed.

CAN/	CAN/CAN FD arbitration phase communications rate			
CAN FD (arbitration)	50 k, 62.5 k, 83. 3 k, 100 k, 125 k, 250 k, 500 k [⊠] , 800 k, 1000 k [Baud]			
CAN FD (data)	CAN FD data phase communications rate 0.5 M, 1.0 M, 2.0 M [⊠] , 2.5 M, 4.0 M, 5.0 M [Baud]			

## **6** Under [Sampling point], set the display sampling point.

CAN/ CAN FD (arbitration)	50.0% to 95.0%, 80.0% ^{II}
CAN FD (data)	<b>50.0%</b> to <b>95.0%</b> , <b>80.0%</b> [∅]

The figure displayed underneath the sampling point is the value that will actually be used based on the configured settings.

# Configuring user frame transmission

When operating in receive mode, you can send user-defined CAN frames to the CAN bus. This section describes how to select the frames to send to the CAN bus and the timing at which they will be sent.



1	1 to 8	Displays the user frame number. Eight conditions can be configured per unit. Pressing the <b>ENTER</b> key after selecting a user frame number will open a dialog box of detailed settings. See "Detailed settings for user frame transmission" (p.51).			
2	☑ , ☑	Selects whether to send the user frame for each set of conditions.			
3	Port	Indicates the port.			
4	Timing	Displays the transmission timing.			
5	Periodic	Indicates whether the frame will be sent periodically.			
6	Send interval	Indicates whether the frame will be sent periodically.			
7	Frame	Displays the number of frames that will be sent.			





# Detailed settings for user frame transmission

- **1** The user frame number is displayed.
- **2** Select whether to send the frame.
- **3** Select the CAN port from which to send the frame.

Port1 ^{II}, Port2

**4** Under [Timing], select when to send the frame.

Start [∅]	Starts transmission when measurement starts.			
Stop	Send just one frame when measurement stops. <b>Periodic</b> : Off; <b>Frame</b> : fixed to 1; <b>Delay</b> : disabled			
Start trigger	Starts transmission when the start trigger is activated.			
Alarm	Starts transmission when an alarm occurs. Select the target alarm number.			
	All ALM ^{II} , ALM1 to ALM8			
Manual	Starts transmission based on user input for the CAN frame transmission dialog box shown on the <b>[Wave+Set]</b> waveform screen. (p.53)			

**5** Under [Periodic], select whether to send the frame periodically after sending all frames.

OFF ^{III}, ON

**6** Under [Send interval], select the interval at which to periodically send the frame.

1 ^{I I} to 9999 (×10 [ms])

7 Under [Frame], select the number of frames to send.

1 ^I to 8

## **8** Under [Type], select the type of frame.

CAN Standard [☑]	Standard ID (0h to 7FFh) CAN frame
CAN Extended	Extended ID (0h to 1FFFFFFh) CAN frame
CAN Standard	Standard ID (0h to 7FFh) CAN FD frame
CAN FD Extended	Extended ID (0h to 1FFFFFFh) CAN FD frame

# **9** Under [ID], set the send ID to use when sending the configured content as a hexadecimal value.

0h to 7FFh	CAN Standard, CAN Standard	
0h to 1FFFFFFh	CAN Extended, CAN FD Extended	

## **10** Set the [DLC].

The DLC (data length code) indicates how many bytes of data will be sent.

The setting range for the CAN DLC is 0 to 8 bytes. For CAN FD, the number of data bytes is defined as follows if the DLC is 8 or greater.

DLC	CAN (byte)	CAN FD (byte)	DLC	CAN (byte)	CAN FD (byte)
0	0	0	8	8	8
1	1	1	9	8	12
2	2	2	10	8	16
3	3	3	11	8	20
4	4	4	12	8	24
5	5	5	13	8	32
6	6	6	14	8	48
7	7	7	15	8	64

# **11** Under [Data], enter the data to send using the send ID frame as a hexadecimal value.

An input box with the length specified with the DLC will be displayed. Enter 1 byte of data in the box.

0h to FFh

**12** Under [Delay], set the delay time to use when sending the frame.

```
0 <sup>III</sup> to 9999 (×10 [ms]) Frame 1
```

1 ^I to 9999 (×10 [ms]) Frame 2 and subsequent frames





# CAN frame transmission when using manual send timing

When measurement starts, **[CAN frame transmission]** will be displayed on the **[Wave+Set]** waveform screen.

**1** Press the ENTER key while [CAN frame transmission] is selected.

A dialog box will be displayed.

- **2** Send the frames whose user frame number checkboxes are selected with [Send].
- **3** With [Stop], you can stop sending the frames whose user frame number checkboxes are selected.



Unit

# 1.6 Configuring the Waveform Display

This section describes how to set how waveforms are displayed (display color, display position, zoom factor, etc.).

# Configuring the display of the vertical axis

This section describes how to configure the display in the vertical axis direction.

You can set the waveform display position and zoom factor for each channel on the individual settings screen.

You can use **[Display]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. (See p.69.) There are two methods for setting the display position:

- Setting the zoom factor and zero position
- Setting upper and lower limit values

### Setting the zoom factor and zero position

Set the waveform display position by specifying the zoom factor and zero position (position of 0 V that serves as the reference).

0

The zoom factor will be increased and decreased based on the zero position.

Vertical display range and 0 V display position



When setting the display range with the zoom factor (enlarge/shrink)





SET > Channel > Individual

Channe I Channel Waveform Individual 🔽 U1-1 🔽 🗹 Measurement Unit 1 0.5 Input 0.4 Voltage • -0.3 Range 1 V Display 50 % Zoom 🔽 Zero position Position Num of decimal places 3 Scaling ▼ Ratio 🔽 Unit Decimal Slope 1 -0.3Offset 0 -0.4 Comment -0.5 Numerical threshold 0 U1- 1 0. 104 50 8 29. 8GB 24 OFF @ 2020-02

- **1** Select [Position] in the display settings.
- 2 Under [Zoom], select the waveform display zoom factor.

×1/2, ×1 [∅], ×2, ×5, ×10, ×20, ×50, ×100

When the zoom factor is [x1], the screen's vertical axis display range will be the same as full scale.



## **3** Under [Zero position], set where to place the waveform's zero point (0 V, 0°C, etc.).



The range of available zero position settings will depend on the zoom factor.

4 (When using scaling, or when [Number display format] is set to a value other than [Standard]) Under [Num of decimal places], set the number of decimal places to use for measured values.

0, 1, 2, 3 , 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10



When using scaling, a large number of decimal places, for example 5, may be used. If you wish to reduce the number of decimal places, set [Num of decimal places] to a small value. Example:  $1.23456 \text{ mV} \rightarrow 1.23 \text{ mV}$  (when [Num of decimal places] is set to [2])



Example: Waveform from -5 V to +5 V



With voltage axis zoom factor of 1× Zero position setting range: -50% to 150%



With zero position of 50%



With zero position of 100%



With zero position of 150%



With voltage axis zoom factor of 2× Zero position setting range: -150% to 250%







### Setting upper and lower limit values

You can set the waveform's display range by specifying upper and lower limit values for the screen. Since you can specify any desired range, you can enlarge the waveform to show only the necessary portion.

Setting upper and lower limit values is also useful when using the scaling function.



SET	>	Channel	>	Individual
SET	>	Channel	>	Individual

Unit	Measu re Channe I	Trigger Alarm Calculation System
Individual	Waveform	Channel
Unit 1	0.5	Unit 1 🔽 UI-1 🔽 Measurement
Unit 2	0. 4	- Input
Unit 3 Unit 4	0. 3	Range 1 V
Pulse	0. 2	
	0.1	Display <b>1 2 3</b>
	0	Upper/Lower Vpper 500m Lower -500m
	-0. 1	_ Scaling
	-0. 2	OFF 🔽
	-0. 3	
	-0.4	
	-0.5	Comment
	U1- 1 0. 10890V	Numerical threshold 0
50 USE 29. 8GB		24 OFF 12020-02-06

- **1** Select [Upper/Lower] in the display settings.
- **2** Set the screen's upper limit value in [Upper]. See "Value entry method" (p.9).
- **3** Set the screen's lower limit value in [Lower]. See "Value entry method" (p.9).

# Other display settings

This section describes how to change the display's zoom factor in the horizontal axis direction. This feature allows you to view fine-grained changes by enlarging the waveform or check the overall state by shrinking the waveform.

You can configure the horizontal axis display and set the method used to display vertical axis values.





#### **1** Under [Horizontal axis], select the time per division.

You can select any time settings longer than the recording interval.



Setting a shorter time enlarges the waveform.

Setting a longer time shrinks the waveform.

Since the time assigned to 1 division is a display setting, the recording interval and data refresh interval are unaffected.



#### **Restrictions during measurement**

During measurement, the time per division setting has the upper limit according to the recording interval.

- Recording interval of 1 ms to 5 ms: Settings up to 10 min. will be available.
   If you start measurement after selecting a setting of 20 min. or greater, the setting will be changed to 10 min.
- Recording interval of 10 ms to 50 ms: Settings up to 1 h will be available. If you start measurement after selecting a setting of 2 h or greater, the setting will be changed to 1 h.
- Recording interval of 100 ms to 500 ms: Settings up to 10 h will be available.
   If you start measurement after selecting a setting of 12 h or greater, the setting will be changed to 10 h.



#### If measurement was started from the Logger Utility

When the recording interval is a value from 10 ms to 500 ms, the instrument's **[Horizontal axis]** setting is limited to a maximum value of 10 s while measurement is in progress. (The limit does not apply once measurement has stopped.) The refresh interval for the instrument's waveform rendering is limited to about once every 5 seconds. See "9.1 Using the Logger Utility" (p.245).

**2** Under [Display horizontal axis], select the display format to use for time values (horizontal-axis values) displayed on the screen.

Time ^{III}	Displays the time elapsed since the start of measurement. When using a trigger, the time elapsed since the trigger activation time will be displayed.
Date	Displays the actual time (date and time) every 10 divisions.
Data points	Displays the number of data points since the start of measurement. When using a trigger, the number of data points from the trigger activation time will be displayed.

This setting also applies when displaying time values for waveform data saved in the text format.

# **3** Under [Number display format], select the display format to use for measured values (vertical-axis values).

Standard [⊠]	Displays measured values using the same SI prefix as the range. Example: 0.01234V (when using the 1 V range)
Decimal	Displays measured values as decimals. Example: 0.012V (when the number of decimal places is set to 3)
Exponent	Displays measured values as exponents. Example: 1.234E-02V (when the number of decimal places is set to 3)
Prefix	Displays measured values using an SI prefix. Example: 12.345mV (when the number of decimal places is set to 3)

#### When setting the horizontal axis on the waveform screen



Under **[Horz]**, you can select the time per division. This setting can be changed while measurement is in progress.



# **1.7 Using the Scaling Function**

This section describes how to use the scaling function to convert voltage values measured by the instrument into the measurement target's physical properties (current, temperature, etc.) and then display or record them.

Converted values can be displayed using decimal or scientific notation.



#### **1** Select the scaling display method.

OFF ^{III}	Does not use the scaling function.
Decimal	Displays converted values as decimals.
Exponent	Displays converted values as exponents.

## **2** Select the scaling conversion method.

Ratio [⊠]	Sets the physical quantity (conversion ratio) per 1 V of input signal and the offset.
2-point	Sets converted values for two input signal voltage values.
Sensitivity	Sets the sensitivity constant for a heat flow sensor or actinometer.
Rating	Sets the rated capacity and rated output according to values in the inspection results sheet for the strain gage-type converter. (Available only when the U8554 or LR8534 Strain Unit is used)

The conversion method cannot be selected for pulse integration measurement. See "Scaling settings during integration measurement" (p.63).



#### 3 (When the scaling conversion method is set to [Ratio])

#### Enter the slope and the offset in [Slope] and [Offset], respectively.

Select the numerical value entry item and press the ENTER key to display the numerical value setting window.

See "Value entry method" (p.9).

-9.9999e+09 to +9.9999e+09

#### Example setting

Make measurements using a differential probe with a division ratio of 1/100 and display waveform data as values expressed in units of volts (V):

Unit	V
Slope	100
Offset	0

**4** Enter the post-conversion unit in [Unit] (up to 7 single-byte characters).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

5 (When the scaling conversion method is set to [2-point])

#### Enter the pre- and post-conversion values in [Convert 1] and [Convert 2], respectively.

Select the numerical value entry item and press the ENTER key to display the numerical value setting window.

-9.9999e+29 to +9.9999e+29

#### Example setting

Convert 4-20 mA output from a sensor into 0 to 100 mm. The 4-20 mA output is measured as 1 V to 5 V using a 250  $\Omega$  shunt resistor. Convert a range of 1 V to 5 V into that of 0 mm to 100 mm.

Unit	mm
Convert 1	Convert 1 into 0 (1 V into 0 mm).
Convert 2	Convert 5 into 100 (5 V into 100 mm).

## 6 (When the scaling conversion method is set to [Sensitivity])

#### Enter the sensitivity value in [Sensitivity].

Select the numerical value entry item and press the ENTER key to display the numerical value setting window.

-1.0000e+09 to +1.0000e+09

#### Example setting

Make measurements using a heat flow sensor with a sensitivity constant of 0.02421 mV/W•m⁻² and display waveform data as values expressed in units of watts per square meter (W/m²):

Unit	W/m ²
Sensitivity	0.02421 m (displayed as 24.21 μ)
Offset	0

### 7 (When the scaling conversion method is set to [Rating])

(Available only when the U8554 or LR8534 Strain Unit is used)

#### Enter the rated capacity and rated output in [Capacity] and [Output], respectively.

Set the rated capacity and rated output* ( $\mu$ V/V) according to values in the inspection results sheet for the strain gage-type converter.

Enter the rated capacitance unit as the unit.

Select the numerical value entry item and press the **ENTER** key to display the numerical value setting window.

+1.0000e-09 to +9.9999e+09

Specify the parameters such that the quotient of the rated capacity divided by two times the rated output is less than or equal to 9.9999E+9.

For the rated capacity and rated output, see an inspection record of a strain gauge converter to be used.

*: Some inspection reports may provide the rated output in two representations: the one expressed in microvolts per volt ( $\mu$ V/V) and the other expressed as a dimensionless quantity multiplied by 10 to the –6th power strain (×10⁻⁶ strain,  $\mu$ ε).

In such a case, enter the quantity in microvolts per volt.

#### **Example setting**

If you wish to display measured results obtained using an acceleration sensor with a rated capacity of 20 G and rated output of 1000  $\mu$ V/V as values expressed in units of gees (G):

Unit	G
Capacity	20
Output	1000 (displayed as 1k)

You can use **[Scaling]** on the settings list screen to configure the settings. See "1.9 Configuring Channels in a List" (p.69).

Tips	<ul> <li>Setting the display position (upper and lower limit values) When using the scaling function, configure scaling before setting the upper and lower limit values. See "Setting upper and lower limit values" (p.57).</li> <li>Setting of the number of display digits While using the scaling function, you can set the display digit. (Default setting: three decimal places) See "Configuring the display of the vertical axis" (p.54).</li> <li>Reviewing pre-conversion waveforms When you save waveform data in the binary format, raw data (data prior to the scaling conversion) and scaling settings are recorded. Loading waveform data allows waveforms after the scaling conversion to be displayed. You can review the pre-conversion waveforms if you turn off the scaling setting.</li> </ul>
	the scaling conversion to be displayed. You can review the pre-conversion waveforms if you turn off the scaling setting.



# Scaling settings during integration measurement

You can use the scaling function to convert the integrated pulse count to the measurement target's physical properties (watt hours, volt-amperes, etc.) and then display or record the result. The pulse output device will have predetermined physical quantity that corresponds to 1 pulse or a number of pulses that corresponds to a value of one in the basic units (for example, 1 kWh, 1 L, 1 m³).





**1** Select the scaling display method.

OFF ^Ø	Does not use the scaling function.
Decimal	Displays converted values as decimals.
Exponent	Displays converted values as exponents.

## 2 Enter the post-conversion unit (up to 7 single-byte characters).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

1

Unit

**3** Enter physical quantity per pulse or the number of pulses (example: 1 c = 1 pulse) that corresponds to a value of one in the basic units.

Select the numerical value entry item and press the **ENTER** key to display the numerical value setting window.

The settings that define the physical property per pulse and the number of pulses corresponding to a value of one in the basic units are linked.

#### Example setting

When connecting a watt-meter with 50,000 pulses per kWh and integrating its output

Scaling	Decimal
Unit	kWh
1 kWh	50000 (number of pulses per kWh)

When connecting a flowmeter with 10 L per pulse and integrating its output

Scaling	Decimal
Unit	L
1 pulse	10 (flow rate [L] per pulse)

# Configuring the scaling of the U8556/LR8536 Current Module

You can use the scaling function to convert measured current values to 1-phase 2-wire power values. Let *V* denote the voltage,  $\lambda$  the power factor, *I* the current, the power can be expressed by  $W = V \times \lambda \times I$ 

Power scaling	4
Input	Power factor
100	x 0.8
	5 OK Cancel

- **1** Choose between two scaling display options: [Decimal] and [Exponent].
- **2** Select [Ratio] as the scaling conversion method.
- **3** Press the ENTER key while [Power] is selected.

The power scaling screen is displayed.

**4** Enter the voltage V and the power factor  $\lambda$  in the [Input] and [Power factor] boxes, respectively.

#### Example setting

For a voltage of 100 V, a power factor of 80%

Input	100
Power factor	0.8

## **5** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected

The slope, offset, and unit (W) is automatically set.



# Configuring the scaling of the U8554/LR8534 Strain Unit

#### Strain gage-type converter

You can use values on the Strain gage-type converter's inspection record to convert the converter's output into physical quantities.

Two methods are available: using a calibration factor^{*1} and using rated capacity and rated output. If all these values are listed, either method can be used.

#### When an inspection record provides a calibration factor

#### Example setting

To display waveform data measured using a strain gauge converter having a calibration factor of 0.001442 G /1 ×  $10^{-6}$  strain^{*2} as figures in gravities (G) (*2:  $10^{-6}$  strain =  $\mu_{\epsilon}$ )

Scaling	Decimal
Conversion method	Ratio
Unit	G
Slope	0.001442 (Indicated as <i>1.442 m</i> )
Offset	0

*1: Some inspection reports may provide a calibration factor in two representations: the one in per one microvolt per volt (/1 μV/V) and the other in per 1 multiplied by 10 to the -6th power strain (/1×10⁻⁶ strain). In such a case, enter the quantity expressed in per 1 multiplied by 10 to the -6th power strain.

#### When an inspection record provides rated capacity and rated output

See "(When the scaling conversion method is set to [Rating])" (p.62).

#### Strain gage

To convert values measured using strain gages into strain, determine the scaling conversion ratio using the following corrections:

- Output correction based on strain gage configuration
- · Correction based on Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio of an object under measurement

Also, make the following corrections as required:

- Wire-resistance correction
- Gage-ratio correction

See "11.2 Measuring Strain" (p.404).



# **1.8 Entering Comments**

This section describes how to enter measurement titles, channel comments, and module identifiers.

- You can use keyboards connected to either a computer or the instrument to enter comments. • HTTP server
  - See "Entering comments" (p.270).
  - Logger Utility
  - See "9.1 Using the Logger Utility" (p.245).
  - USB keyboard (Only alphanumerics are inputtable)
  - See "1 Entering text with the keyboard" (p. 13).

# **Title comments**

This section describes how to enter a string of text to serve as the measurement title. (Up to 40 single-byte characters)

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

Title comments are displayed at the top of the waveform screen. You can use title comments to identify measurement based on image data when display screenshots are saved.



**1** Select [Title comment] with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and press the ENTER key.

The text entry window will open. See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

2 Enter text and press the ENTER key. The entered text will be accepted.
### Channel comments

This section describes how to enter a string of text for each channel. (Up to 40 single-byte characters)

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

Channel comments are displayed on the screen when the waveform screen is set to [Wave+Value]. Channel comments allow you to identify channels when measuring numerous channels.



# **1** Select [Comment] with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and press the ENTER key.

The text entry window will open. See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

#### **2** Enter text and press the ENTER key.

The entered text will be accepted.

You can use **[Comment]** on the settings list screen to enter channel comments. See "1.9 Configuring Channels in a List" (p.69).

# Module identifiers

This section describes how to enter an identifier (string of text) for each module. (Up to 16 characters)

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

You can use module identifiers to identify modules when using multiple modules.

Unit	,	leasi	ire Char	nne I		r i gge r	Ala	a rm	Cal	culation	System	
Unit No.	Model	СН	Name	Serial	No.	Status	Update	e	Filter	Unit id	lentifier	1_
Unit 1	U8550	15ch	Voltage/Temp	1000000	19		Auto	-	20. 8 kH:	ABCDEFGH	IJKLMNO	1
Unit 2	U8552	30ch	Voltage/Temp	1000002	29		Auto	-	20. 8 kH:	abcdefgh	ijklmno	
Unit 3	U8554	5ch	Strain	1000004	22		1 ms	-	120 Hz			
Unit 4	U8551	15ch	Universal	1000001	17		10 ms	-	20. 8 kH:	z		
Remote 1												1
Remote 2												1
Remote 3												1
Remote 4												1
Remote 5												1
Remote 6												1
Remote 7												
Search	Delete											

**1** Select [Unit identifier] with the Left Arrow, Right Arrow, Up Arrow, and Down Arrow keys and press the ENTER key.

The text entry window will open. See "Text entry method" (p.10).

**2** Enter text and press the ENTER key.

The entered text will be accepted.



....

# **1.9 Configuring Channels in a List**

This section describes how to review module settings on the list.

#### SET > Channel > [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, ...)

#### Settings list screen: [Input]

Un i t	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
1 ividual	Сору	2 Input	<b>T</b>				Zero adjust
Unit 1	16-30>		Range		Input		
Unit 2	U2-1	V Voltage	10 mV				
Unit 3	U2-2 <b>4</b>	🚺 Voltage	10 mV				
Unit 4	U2-3 🗸	V Voltage	10 mV				
Pulse	U2-4 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV				
l'urse	U2-5 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV				
	U2-6 🗸	TC TC	100 °C	К	OFF INT		
	U2-7 🔽	TC TC	100 °C	К	OFF INT		
	U2-8 🗸	TC TC	100 °C	K	OFF INT		
	U2-9 🗸	TC TC	100 °C	T	OFF EXT		
	U2-10 🔽	TC TC	100 °C	T	OFF EXT		
	U2-11 🔽	් Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-12 🔽	🕈 Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-13 🔽	💣 Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-14 🔽	් Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-15 🔽	් Humidity	100 %rh				
50 (SE 29. 8GB							24 OFF 2020-02-06

1 On the sub tab, select the module whose settings you wish to display in the list.

#### 2 Select the item to display.

Input ^{III}, Display, Scaling, Comment, Numerical calc

Settings list screen: [Display]

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Сору	Display					Zero adjust
Unit 1	16-30> 🔽	]	Range		Display		
Unit 2	U2-1 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
Unit 3	U2-2 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
Unit 4	U2-3 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
Pulse	U2-4 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
10130	U2-5 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
	U2-6 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-7 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-8 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-9 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-10 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-11 🔽	S Humidity	100 %rh	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-12 🔽	😽 Humidity	100 %rh	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-13 🔽	😽 Humidity	100 %rh	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-14 🔽	6 [%] Humidity	100 %rh	Position	x 1	0 %	
	U2-15 🔽	6 Humidity	100 %rh	Position	x 1	0 %	
							THE PART OF 1
30 11 29.8GB							24 01 14:55:24

See "1.6 Configuring the Waveform Display" (p.54).

Settings list screen:	[Comment]
-----------------------	-----------

Unit		Channel					
Individual	Сору	Comment	Y				Zero adjust
Unit 1	16-30> 🔽		Range		Comment		
Unit 2	U2-1 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	ABCDEFGHIJ	KLMNOPORSTUVWX	(Z	
Unit 3	U2-2 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	comment			
Unit 4	U2-3 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV	Testing			
Pulse	U2-4 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV				
10100	U2-5 🔽	V Voltage	10 mV				
	U2-6 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C				
	U2-7 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C				
	U2-8 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C				
	U2-9 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C				
	U2-10 🔽	Tc Tc	100 °C				
	U2-11 🔽	🔗 Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-12 🔽	🔗 Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-13 🔽	💍 Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-14 🔽	o [‰] Humidity	100 %rh				
	U2-15 🔽	🔗 Humidity	100 %rh				
-							

See "1.8 Entering Comments" (p.66).

Settings list screen: [Scaling]



See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).

#### Settings list screen: [Numerical calc]



See "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).

### **3** (U8552, LR8532)

- Press the ENTER key while [16-30>] is selected to display CH16 to CH30.
- Press the ENTER key while [1-15>] is selected to display CH1 to CH15.

### **4** Select a channel number and press the ENTER key.

The individual settings window will open, allowing you to configure the settings. Press the **ESC** key to close the window.

	Waveform 💌	Channel	
In	0. 5	Unit 1 🔽 <mark>U1-1 🔽</mark> 🗹 Measurement 📃	st
Un Un	0. 4	Input-	
Un	0. 3	Range 1 V	
Un Pu	0. 2		
	0. 1	– Display –	
	0	Position Zoom x 1 Zero position 50 %	
	-0. 1	Num of decimal places 3	
	-0. 2	Scaling Decimal 🔽 Ratio 💌 Unit	
	-0. 3	Slope 1	
	-0. 4		
	-0. 5	Comment Temperature of terget	
	U1- 1 -0. 000	Numerical threshold 0	
ŝD		Close	⁾⁵

See "1.4 Configuring Input Channels" (p.25).



### Pulse settings list screen



Channel > Pulse

### Settings list screen: [Input]

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	n System	
Individual	Сору	Input	<b>•</b>				
Unit 1		]	Range	In	put	Filter	Reset
Unit 2	P1 🔽	€ Count	1000 Mc	Addition	<u>1 ν</u>	ON Star	t OFF
Unit 3	P2 🔽	€ Count	1000 Mc	Addition	↓ 4 V	0FF Trigg	er ON
Unit 4	P3 🔽	€ Count	1000 Mc	Instant	↑ 1 V	OFF Star	t OFF
Pulse	P4 🔽	Logic			<u>1 V</u>	OFF	
	P5 🔽	Logic			4 V	ON	
	P6	RevSpo	d r/s	1	$\frac{1}{1}$		<u>1 s</u>
	P7 🔽	RevSpo	d r/s	1	$\downarrow$ 4 V		1 s
	P8	G RevSpo	n r/min				
		12	3	4	56	78	9
				-			Ū
SD 138 29.8GB						24 0	F 🗊 2020-02-06

1	$\oplus$	Input type: Integration
	រារ	Input type: Logic
	0	Input type: Rotational speed
2	Input type	Input type
3	Range	When the input type is [RevSpd]: Count reference time
4	Integration mode	When the input type is [Count]: Integration method
	Pulse count	When the input type is [RevSpd]: Number of pulses per revolution
5	Slope	Slope at which to count
6	Threshold value	Level at which to count
7	Filter	Chatter prevention filter
8	Timing	When the input type is [Count]: Timing at which to start counting
	Smoothing	When the input type is [RevSpd]: Processing period for smoothing
9	Reset	Operation to perform when the integrated value overflows

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm C	alculation	System	
Individual	Сору	Display	<b>•</b>				
Unit 1			Range		Displa	y	
Unit 2	P1 🔽	⊖ Count	1000 Mc	Up/Low Lim	100	0	3
Unit 3	P2 🔽	🕀 Count	1000 Mc	Up/Low Lim	5. 0000E+03	0. 0000E+00	3
Unit 4	P3 🔽	⊕ Count	1000 Mc	Up/Low Lim	5k	0	
Pulse	P4 🔽	Ti Logic					
1 4100	P5 🔽	Th Logic					
	P6 🔽	Q RevSpd	r/s	Position	x 1	0%	3
	P7 🔽	RevSpd	r/s	Position	x 1	0%	3
	P8 🔽	C RevSpd	r/min	Up/Low Lim	5k	0	
				1	2	3	4
🗊 📴 29. 8GB						24 OFF	3020-02-06 17:26:25

### Settings list screen: [Display]

1	Display settings	Displays setting method
2	Zoom factor	When the display setting is [Position]: Waveform display zoom factor
	Upper limit value	When the display setting is [Up/Low Lim]: Screen upper limit value
3	Zero position	When the display setting is [Position]: Waveform zero position (0 V, $0^{\circ}$ C, etc.)
	Lower limit value	When the display setting is [Up/Low Lim]: Screen lower limit value
4	Number of decimal places	Number of decimal places for measured values

### Settings list screen: [Scaling]

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
	Сору	Scaling	-				
Unit 1			Method (	Conv settings 1	Conv	settings 2	Unit
Unit 2	P1 🔽	🕀 Dec	1k\h= 50	Pulse	1 pu	se = 20m	k₩h
	P2 🔽	⊕ Exp	1= 1.000	00E+00 Pulse	1 pu	se = 1.0000E+0	0
	P3 🔽	⊕ 0FF					
Pulse	P4 🔽	<u>11</u> 1					
	P5 ✓	<u>៣;</u>			_		_
	P6 ✓	C Exp	Ratio	Slope 1. 0000	E+00 0	ffset 0. 0000E+0	0 A
	P7 🔽	C Dec	2 pt. 0	$\rightarrow 0$		→ 100	
	P0 🔽	C OFF					J
			1				
SD 🔢 29. 8GB						24 OFF	2020-02-06 17:25:51

1	Scaling	Scaling settings



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm Calculation System
	Сору	Comment	<b>v</b>	
			Range	Comment
	P1 🔽	🕀 Count	1000 Mc	ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ
	P2 🔽	⊖ Count	1000 Mc	comment
	P3 🔽	⊕ Count	1000 Mc	TESTING
Pulse	P4 🔽	🔟 Logic		
	P5 🔽	лл: Logic		
	P6 🔽	G RevSpd	r/s	
	P7 🗸	C RevSpd	r/s	
	P8 🔽	RevSpd	r/min	
				1
30 🔛 29. 8GB				[24] OFF ③ 2020-02-06

#### Settings list screen: [Comment]

1	Comment	Comments for individual channels
-		

#### Settings list screen: [Numerical calc]

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Сору	Numerical	calc 💌				
Unit 1			Range	Th reshold			
Unit 2	P1 🔽	⊕ Count	1000 Mc	0			
Unit 3	P2 🔽	⊕ Count	1000 Mc	1. 2500E+00			
Unit 4	P3 🔽	⊕ Count	1000 Mc	1. 25			
Pulse	P4 🔽	IU1¦ Logic					
	P5 🔽	TT: Logic					
	P6 🔽	C RevSpd	r/s	1. 2500E+00			
	P7 🔽	RevSpd	r/s	2. 5			
	P8 🔽	RevSpd	r/min	0			
				1			
50 🔢 29. 8GB						24 OFF 17:30:00	G

1	Threshold value	Threshold value for numerical calculations			
		(Availability, ON time, OFF time, ON count, OFF count)			

Tips Threshold values will be used for numerical calculations. For more information about threshold values, see "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).



# **Copying channel settings**

This section describes how to copy one module's settings to another module.

**SET** > Channel > [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, ...)



**1** Press the ENTER key while [Copy...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

- **2** Under [Original], select the copy source unit and channel.
- **3** Under [Copy items], select the checkboxes for the items you wish to copy.
- **4** Under [Copy to], select the checkboxes for the units and channels to which you wish to copy the settings.
- **5** Select [OK] and press the ENTER key.

The settings will be copied.

All settings of a module will be copied when the source channel is set to **[ALL]**. Pressing the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to cancel the copy operation.



### Configuring channel settings at once

This section describes how to turn the measurement on or off and configure the waveform display color settings for all channels on a module.

Unit	Measu			hanne l	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
	Сору	1	2	Input	•			Į	Zero a
Unit 1					Range	Input			
	U1-1		Ń	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-2		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-3		V	Voltage	1 V				
Pulse	U1-4		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-5		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-6		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-7		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-8		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-9		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-10		V	Voltage	1 V				
	01-11		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-12		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-13		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-14		V	Voltage	1 V				
	U1-15		V	Voltage	1 V				

**1** Select the measurement ON/OFF check box and press the ENTER key.

Each time you press the **ENTER** key, the measurement setting for all channels will toggle between ON and OFF.

#### 2 Select the measurement display color check box and press the ENTER key.

Each time you press the **ENTER** key, the display setting for all channels will toggle between ON and OFF.

# Aligning waveforms' zero positions

This section describes how to align zero positions for displayed waveforms at a specified interval based on channel 1 of the sub tab unit.

Unit Individua Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4 Remote 1 Remote 2 Remote 3 Remote 4	Copy 2 Sets the disp reference cha Reference — CH1 Zero pos Interval	Display lay zero posi nnel. ition	tion at 5	Jar intervals Jignment unit - Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 3 Unit 4 Remote 1 Remote 2 Remote 3 Remote 4	s from the	ancel	Zero adjust
U	3-15 🔲 🚺	Voltage	10 mV	Position	x 1	50 %	
🗑 <b>2.</b> 1GB						ক 1ch 者 者	<b>2</b> 07-30-2021 13:41:36

**1** Press the ENTER key while [Copy...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

- **2** Using the up and down keys, select the [Display] tab.
- **3** Under [CH1 Zero position] under [Reference], set the zero position for the reference channel (CH1).
- **4** Under [Interval] under [Reference], set the interval for uniform alignment.
- **5** Under [Alignment unit], select the checkboxes for the units whose zero positions you wish to align.
- **6** Select [OK] and press the ENTER key.
  - Alignment is only valid for the reference channel and channels whose copy destination channel display setting is [Position].
  - The range for the reference channel's zero position varies with the zoom factor.
  - If [Interval] is negative, zero positions will be shifted from the reference channel's zero position in the negative direction at a set interval; if it's positive, they'll be shifted similarly in the positive direction.
  - Alignment is valid for units with the same number of channels in the same system. U8550 and LR8530 (Voltage/Temp Units, 15 channels of plug-in and wireless modules) U8551 and LR8531 (Universal Units, 15 channels of plug-in and wireless modules) U8552 and LR8532 (Voltage/Temp Units, 30 channels of plug-in and wireless modules) U8553 and LR8533 (High Speed Voltage Units, 5 channels of plug-in and wireless modules) U8554 and LR8534 (Strain Units, 5 channels of plug-in and wireless modules) U8556 and LR8536 (Current Modules, 5 channels of plug-in and wireless modules)
  - If the maximum or minimum value for the zero position is exceeded due to the zoom factor at the time of alignment, the maximum or minimum value will be used.



#### Example settings

#### Setting CH1's zero position to 85% and aligning at a 5% interval

Channel	Waveform zero position
CH1 (initial channel)	85% (reference channel)
CH2	80% (subsequently reducing by 5% per waveform)
CH3	75%
CH4	70%
··· (omitted)	··· (omitted)
CH14	20%
CH15	15%

### Waveform screen before alignment



#### Waveform screen after alignment



# 1.10 Performing Zero Adjustment

This section describes how to correct misalignment of inputs and set the instrument's reference voltage to 0 V.

Perform zero adjustment if the reference voltage is not 0 V with a pair of input terminals shortcircuited.

Execute zero adjustment without inputting any signals. Zero adjustment may not be complete normally with signals input. There is no need to short-circuit the positive and negative terminals of the instrument.

Zero adjustment is performed as follows:



#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Zero-adj] is selected on the waveform screen.

Zero adjustment values are reset when a system reset is performed. Zero adjustment cannot be performed while measurement is in progress.

Tips The internal temperature of the instrument and modules will stabilize once at least 30 minutes has elapsed since they were turned on. Temporal variation can be limited by performing zero adjustment in this state.

The zero adjustment function is disabled for Strain Units (U8554, LR8534) and CAN Units (U8555, LR8535).

To adjust the zero position of Strain Units, use the auto-balancing function.

For more information about auto-balancing, see "Measuring strain" (p.36).

For more information about adjusting the zero position of the current module, see the step 8 in "Measuring current" (p.38).



Un i t	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System
Individual	Сору	Input	•			Zero adjust
Unit 1			Range	Input		
Unit 2	U1-1 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
Unit 3	U1-2 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
Unit 4	U1-3 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
Pulse	U1-4 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
1 4100	U1-5 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-6 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-7 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-8 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-9 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-10 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-11 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-12 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-13 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-14 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
	U1-15 🔽	V Voltage	1 V			
-						
🗊 💼 29. 8GB						24 0F @ 2020-02-06

#### Zero adjustment can also be performed on the settings list screen.



# 1.11 Checking Input Signals (Monitor Function)

This section describes how to check input waveforms to verify that settings such as the range and display range have properly been configured before starting measurement. Press the **MONITOR** key to display waveforms and values on the monitor screen. Data will be displayed on the screen but not saved in the instrument's internal buffer memory or on storage media.

#### (1) Setting the time per division

See the step "Under [Horizontal axis], select the time per division." (p.58).

#### (2) Selecting the module to display

Waveforms for up to 166 channels can be displayed. (Maximum number of channels: 120 analog, 8 pulse, 8 alarm, and 30 waveform calculation)

(3) Turning the gage on or off

You can choose the channels for which to display a gage.

(4) Switching the channels to display (for modules with 16 channels or more)

Values can be displayed for up to 15 channels on one screen.

#### (5) Switching display channels for CAN Units

Up to 125 CAN channels can be displayed at the same time.

100	Horz	(1) (2) (3		
	10 s	🔽 Unit 1 🔽 Gauge		1 / 2
90	U1-1	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-9	91. 54°C
70	U1-2	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-10	<b>91. 54</b> °C
60	U1-3	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-11	<b>91. 54</b> °C
50 _	U1-4	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-12	<b>91. 54</b> °C
40	U1-5	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-13	<b>91. 54</b> °C
20	U1-6	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-14	<b>91. 54</b> °C
10	U1-7	<b>91. 54</b> °C	U1-15	<b>91. 54</b> °C
0	U1-8	<b>91. 54</b> °C		
📆 2.0GB Monitoring				<b>ŠC</b> 10:26:24

The monitor function will terminate when you change the screen display or start measurement.

- The monitor function cannot be used while measurement is in progress.
- The monitor function cannot be used when [Synchronous operation] is set to [Primary] or [Secondary].
- The more characters are displayed, the smaller the character sizes become.

You can use the monitor screen displayed during the trigger standby state to activate trigger forcibly.

See "2.8 Forcibly Activating the Trigger" (p. 136).



# 1.12 Starting and Stopping Measurement



Press the **START** key to start measurement.



Press the **STOP** key to stop measurement.

When the **[Operation error prevention]** setting is **[ON]**, an operation confirmation window will be displayed. Press the **ENTER** key while **[Yes]** is selected to start measurement.

Starting measurement after stopping it will cause the measurement data in the instrument's internal buffer memory to be deleted. Save important data on an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive before starting measurement again.



#### **Measurement operation**





# 1.13 Observing Waveforms

Press the **WAVE** key to display the waveform screen. The waveform screen is displayed at all times while measurement is in progress.

- The screen provides the following functionality:
- Moving (scrolling) waveforms
- · Moving waveforms while measurement is in progress (to check past waveform data)
- Enlarging and shrinking waveforms
- · Reading values from waveforms with the A/B cursors
- Displaying a gage (scale) on the left side of the screen
- · Displaying comments on the right side of the screen
- Confirming the system configurations during measurement (by pressing the SET key).



No.	Name	Description	Reference page
1	Recording interval	Allows you to select the interval at which the instrument captures data from the measurement module.	p.20
2	Horizontal axis	Allows you to select the horizontal axis (time per division).	p.58
3	Trigger mark	Indicates the trigger points.	p.115
4	Screen	Allows you to select the waveform display method.	p.84
5	Event mark	Displays the event number.	p.190
6	Gage	Allows you to configure the gage (scale) displayed on the left side of the screen.	p.88
7	Display selection	Allows you to select the waveforms displayed on the screen (sheet).	_
8	Eject	Allows you to eject external media.	p.152
9	Setting selection	Allows you to select the settings displayed on the right side of the screen.	_



No.	Name		Description	Reference page
10	Channel selection		Allows you to select the channel to configure.	-
11	Measurement		Allows you to turn measurement on or off.	p.28
12	Waveform color		Allows you to select the waveform display color.	p.28
13	Input type		Allows you to select the type of input.	p.25
14	Range		Allows you to select the range.	p.25
15	Display position		Allows you to select the waveform display position.	p.54
16	Zoom factor		Allows you to select the zoom factor in the voltage axis direction.	p.54
17	Zero position		Allows you to set the waveform's display position (zero position).	p.54
18	8 Zero adjustment		Allows you to perform zero adjustment.	p.78
19	Auto-balancing		Allows you to perform auto-balancing (Strain Units only).	p.37
20	Gage B		Indicates the channels and modules displayed using gage B.	
21	Gage A	ge AIndicates the channels and modules displayed using gage A.		p.88
22	Trigger time	rigger time Indicates the time and date at which the trigger was activated.		_
23	Status bar		Displays the time and date, messages, icons ^{*1} , and other information.	-
24	Time value		Displays the time from the measurement start.* ²	_
25	Scroll bar		Indicates the displayed waveform's range and position.	p.94
26	Scroll icon	Ŝcr	The waveform is moved using the <b>SCROLL/CURSOR</b> keys.	p.92
	Cursor icon	đ⊾	The A/B cursors are moved using the <b>SCROLL/CURSOR</b> keys.	p.98
27	Follow		The most recent waveform is always displayed using the auto-scroll function.	-

*1: For more information about icons other than the scroll and cursor icons, see "Screen and icons" in "1.2 Part Names and Functions; Screens" in the Quick Start Manual.

*2: The waveform screen, value screen, and warning screen of the instrument express minute, a unit of time, in terms of the letter *m* instead of *min*.



1

## Waveform display

This section describes how to change the method used to display measured waveforms.

Under [Display], select the waveform display method.

Wave+Set, Wave, Wave+Value, Value, Alarm, XY+Set*, XY+Value*

You can also select the display method with the WAVE key.

Each time you press the WAVE key, the display will cycle to the next display method.

*: Can only be selected when [X-Y Composite] is [ON]

### [Wave+Set]



#### [Wave]







#### [Wave+Value]

#### [Value]

Interval 1	0 ms 💌 Horz 1	min 💌 Displa	ay <mark>Value 🔽</mark>	Gauge All (	CH 💌 Eject
ALI	<b>•</b>				< 1/1 ≥
Ch	21m28.55s	MAX	MIN	AVE	P-P
U1-1	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-2	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-3	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-4	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-5	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-6	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-7	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-8	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-9	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-10	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-11	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-12	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-13	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-14	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
U1-15	0. 44275V	0. 50000V	-0. 50000V	0. 01521V	1. 00000V
💼 2.0GB					<b>1. 24</b> OFF € 2020-05-27

85

1

## [Alarm]

Interva	10 ms	✓ Ho	rz <mark>1 min</mark>	Dis	splay <mark>Alarm</mark>		Gauge	AII C	H 🔽	Eject
Alarn Alarn	m mhold	ON ON Clear	ALM1	ALM2	ALM3	ALM4	ALM5	ALM6	ALM7	ALM8
Buzze	er	ON	OR	OR	OR	OR	OR	OR	OR	OR
Displa	ay alarm	AII 💌		N	lo. 1 Ju	np			Auto scro	II ON
No.	ALM	UNIT-CH		Error	Т	ime of occ	currence	Time	of cancella	tion
1	ALM1	U1-1			0s					
2	ALM2	U1-1			0s					
3	ALM3	U1-1			1.01	0s				
50 2.0	)GB								<b>Čur 24 OFF</b> 157	2020-05-27

### [XY+Set]

Interval 100 ms 💌	Horz 2 h 🔻	Display <mark>XY+S</mark> e	et 🔽	Gauge	AII CH	▼ Eject
[T	itleComment]		Composit	e range <mark>All</mark>	data 💌	Re-rende r
5m			'20−11−3	0 13:05:07.	492 - '20-11-3	0 13:06:13.392
5m 5m			XY	Unit Ch	Comment	
5m			1 🔽	X U1 🔽 1	<b>•</b>	
50m				Y U1 🔽 2		
50m	····· <u>/</u> ·····		2 🖌	X U1 🔽 1		
50m				Y U1 🔽 3	<b>_</b>	
			3 🖌	X U1 🔽 1	<b>_</b>	
			. ——	Y U1 🔽 4	<u> </u>	
			4 🔽	X U1 - 1		
-50m				Y U1 🔻 5		
-50m			5 🔽			
-50m			e 🖂			
-500 -5mi			∘⊻			
-5m			7 🗔			
-5m						
<u>5m</u>		5-	8 🔽	X U1 - 1	<b>T</b>	
Trigger ' 20-11-30 12	3:05:07 492	SIII		Y U2 - 4		
50 📖 15. 4GB	<del>5•05•07. 4</del> 52				Cur 6ch	2020-11-30



### [XY+Value]

Interval 10 ms 💌	Horz 20 ms 💌	Display 🕽	KY+Value	<b>_</b>	Gauge	AII CH	T	Eject
				Inst	Curso	r		Re-rende r
5m 5m								
5m 5m			XY	(СН)			Со	mment
5m			1X (U	1-1)				
5m			1Y (U	1-2)				
5m			2X (U	1-1)				
<b>5</b> mi			2Y (U	1-3)				
			3X (U	1-1)				
			3Y (U	1-4)				
			4X (U	1-1)				
<b>-5</b> mi			4Y (U	1-5)				
-5m			5X (U	1-1)				
-5m			5Y (U	1-6)				
			6X (U	1-1)				
-5m			6Y (U	1-/)				
-5m			7X (U	1-1)				
-5m			7 T (U	1-8)				
-5m		5m	0X (U	1_0)				
			01 (U	1 3)				
50 119. OMB							Scr 1	2020-11-09 ch 15:06:36

1



# Gage (scale) display

This section describes how to display a gage (scale) for any channel on the left side of the screen.

The gage can be used to check the waveform and its values.

Two gages (A and B) can be displayed.

You can choose the channels for which to display a gage. The gage will be shown in the same color as the selected channel.

#### WAVE

Interval 10 ms 🔽	Horz 20 ms	- Display	Wave+Set	Gauge	AII CH	•	Eject
			1	2			
					В		Settings 💌
							U1-1 🔻
							Measu re
							Color
	3	Gaura	FE	<b>,</b>			
			1.1				Voltage -
		Gauge A U	1-1				Range
		Gauge B U	1-2 _				10 mV 💌
			5 Clos	e			
		·····:					<b>D</b> : 1
							Display
							Zoom
							x1 -
							Zero pos.
							50%
- 0. 30s	8	- 0. 20s		- 0. 10s			7.000
						Follow	Zero-adj
50 118. 9MB						Scr 1	2020-11-09 h 15:07:34

- **1** Under [Display], set the display to [Wave+Set], [Wave], or [Wave+Value].
- **2** Press the ENTER key while [Gauge] is selected.

The gage window will open.

**3** Select the number of gages.

#### OFF, 1, 2 [☑]

If you select [1], gage A will be displayed.

- **4** Select the channels for gage A and gage B.
- **5** Press the ENTER key while [Close] is selected.

The window will close.

#### On the [XY+Value] or [XY+Set] screen

For X-Y waveforms, the vertical and horizontal axis upper and lower limit values are displayed. You can select any one of XY1 to XY8 as the X-Y waveform for the gage. Additionally, the vertical axis upper and lower limit values are displayed for X-Y waveforms that are set to the same X channel as the X-Y waveform to which the gage is set.



### Numerical value display

This section describes how to select the numerical value display method.

#### [Value] screen

This screen displays only numerical values.

Interval 1	0 ms Horz 10	Ds <mark>▼</mark> Displ	ay Value 💌	Gauge Unit	1 🔽 k <mark>2</mark> .t
ALL	<b>1</b>				1 / 2
Ch	32. 79s	MAX	MIN	AVE	P-P
U1-1	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-2	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-3	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-4	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-5	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-6	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-7	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-8	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-9	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-10	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-11	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-12	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-13	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-14	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
U1-15	4. 6520mV	4. 6520mV	0. 0000mV	2. 6478mV	4. 6520mV
50 2. OGB					Scr 1ch 2021-11-08

#### **1** Select the value to display.

All	Instantaneous values, maximum values, minimum values, average values, and peak- to-peak values
Instant	Most recent measured value (INST)
Maximum*	Maximum value (MAX) from the start of measurement to the current time
Minimum*	Minimum value (MIN) from the start of measurement to the current time
Average*	Average value (AVE) from the start of measurement to the current time
<b>P-P</b> *	Difference between maximum and minimum value (peak-to-peak value) from the start of measurement to the current time

You can also select the value with the **SELECT** key.

To choose a setting other than **[All]**, press and hold the **SELECT** key to display comments. *: Does not apply to CAN channels.

# 2 Change the channel to display (as necessary) using the button on the top right of the screen (example: [1/2]).

#### [Wave+Value] screen

You can choose any of three types of information to display on the right side of the screen.

(1) Instantaneous: Measured values most recently obtained or shown on the right portion of the waveform screen



- Interval <mark>10 ms</mark> Horz 1 min 🔽 Display <mark>Wave+Value</mark> 🔽 Gauge AII CH • Eject ▼ A, B−A В 0N Vertical 0.8 0.4 Cursor A < 1/1 > • Ch 2m22.19s B-A: 2m16.77s A: U1-1 0. 28905V -0. 683851 0.4 0.2 0. 28905V U1-2 -0. 68385V U1-3 0. 28905V -0. 68385V 0. 2 0.1 U1-4 0. 28905V -0. 68385\ 11-U1-6 0. 28905V -0. 68385V -0. 2 -0.1 0. 28905V U1-9 0. 28905V -0. 68385V U1-10 -0. 68385 0. 28905V -0.6 -0.3 0. 28905V -0. 683851 U1-11 0. 28905V 0. 28905V -0. 6838 U1-12 -0. 8 -0.4 U1-13 -0.5 U1-14 0. 28905V -0. 68385V 5m -0. 683851 Start '20-05-27 14:37:25.335 Follow Frequency 7. 0328mHz 7. 3115mHz 2. OGB Cur 24 OFF 1ch 2020-05-27 16:25:09
- (2) Cursor: A/B cursor values



Interval 10 ms	▼ Horz1min ▼	Display <mark>Wave+V</mark>	alue 🔻	Gauge All CH	l 🔻 Eject
0.5 0.5	· · · ·		Inst	Cursor	Calc
0,4 0,4	$   \land   $		ON	All data 👻 NO	rmaı 🚬
			Calc 1 🗖	Maximum 💌 E	xecute < 1/2 >
0.3 0.3			Ch	Results	Comment
0. 2 0. 2	$\land$		U1-1	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
			UI-2 UI-3	0.50000	
0.1.0.1.		/ 11-1	U1-4	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
0_0_		<u>U1-3</u>	U1-5	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
		1	U1-6	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
-0.1 -0.1			U1-7	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
-0.2 -0.2			UI-8 111-0	0. 50000	
			U1-10	0. 50000	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
-0.30.3		/	U1-11	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
-0.4 -0.4			U1-12	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
			U1-13	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
-0.5 -0.5			U1-14	0. 50000V	ABCDEFGHIJKLMN
	Start 19-11-26 19:56:14	AA6 Follow	01-15	0. 500007	ABCDEFGHTJKLMN
SD USE 29. 8GB	- 5tart 19 11 20 19.50.14.	440		ŝ	€ 24 OF @ 2020-02-07

(3) Numerical calculation: Numerical calculation results

# Moving waveforms (scrolling)

This section describes how to move (scroll) the measured waveform horizontally (along the time axis).

Since waveforms can also be moved while measurement is in progress, you can check past waveforms during measurement.



*1: Switches the SCROLL/CURSOR keys function (waveform movement or A/B cursor movement). You can switch the amount of movement for the SCROLL/CURSOR keys by pressing and holding the SELECT key while you operate them.

#### If you wish to move to the most recent waveform



During measurement, press the **ENTER** key while **[Follow]** (on the bottom right of the screen) is selected or use the jump function to move to the end of the waveform.

You can also press the ►► key while holding the **SELECT** key while the scroll function is selected to move to the end of the waveform.

See "Jump function (changing the display position)" (p.97).

#### If you wish to move to the beginning of the waveform



Use the jump function to move to the beginning of the waveform.

You can also press the **I** key while holding the **SELECT** key while the scroll function is selected to move to the beginning of the waveform.

See "Jump function (changing the display position)" (p.97).



#### WAVE



#### **1** Under [Display], set the display to [Wave+Set], [Wave], or [Wave+Value].

#### **2** Press the SELECT key to display the Scroll icon.

Each time you press the **SELECT** key, the display will switch between the Cursor icon (A/B cursor movement) and the Scroll icon (waveform movement).

For more information about the Scroll icon, see "1.13 Observing Waveforms" (p.82).

#### **3** Press the SCROLL/CURSOR keys to move the waveform.

#### Key operation

••	Moves the waveform left a large amount (10 divisions at a time).	SELECT +	Moves to the beginning of the waveform.
	Moves the waveform right a large amount (10 divisions at a time).	SELECT + >>	Moves to the end of the waveform.
•	Moves the waveform left a small amount (1 division at a time).	SELECT + <	Moves one screen to the left on the waveform (one horizontal frame for the displayed waveform).
•	Moves the waveform right a small amount (1 division at a time).	SELECT + ►	Moves one screen to the right on the waveform (one horizontal frame for the displayed waveform).

If the waveform is less than one screen long, you will not be able to move it.

Internal buffer memory (maximum recording time): Displayable range on screen



Data deletion

# Scroll bar (waveform display position)

A scroll bar is displayed on the bottom of the screen.

You can use the scroll bar to check which part of the entire waveform is being displayed. The width shown on the scroll bar varies with the recording time and horizontal axis display settings.

Overall waveform



## Enlarging and shrinking the waveform horizontally

You can enlarge and shrink the waveform using the horizontal axis display settings. See "Other display settings" (p.58).

When you enlarge the waveform, you can observe detailed variations. When you shrink the waveform, you can quickly ascertain overall variations.



### Waveform search

This section describes how to search a measured waveform for a specific point of interest. This function cannot be used while measurement is in progress.



#### **1** Under [Settings], select [Search].

A number of search-related settings will be displayed.

#### **2** Under [Type], select the search method.

Level	Searches for points that cross the specified level.
Window	Searches for points that lie inside or outside the window defined by the specified upper and lower limit values.
Maximum	Searches for the point at which the maximum value occurs.
Minimum	Searches for the point at which the minimum value occurs.
Maximal	Searches for points at which local maximums occur.
Minimal	Searches for points at which local minimums occur.

### **3** Under [Area], select the search range.

All data	Searches all measured waveforms.
A-B	Searches the range specified with the A/B cursors.

#### **4** Under [Target CH], select the channel to search.

#### 5 (When [Type] is set to [Level])

Under [Level], specify the level to search for.

Under [Slope], select the slope (direction in which the waveform crosses the specified level) to search for.

#### (When [Type] is set to [Window])

Under [Upr/Lwr], specify the upper and lower limit values.

Under [IN/OUT], select the direction in which to search (whether the waveform enters [IN] or exits [OUT] the area defined by the upper and lower limit values).

(Tips)

#### **6** (When [Type] is set to [Level], [Window], [Maximal], or [Minimal])

#### Press the ENTER key while either [<] or [>] under [Execute] is selected.

The search will be performed. If the search returns multiple points, you can move to the next point with [>] or to the previous point with [<].

(When [Type] is set to [Maximum] or [Minimum]) Press the ENTER key while [Search] is selected.

The search will be performed.

An "S" mark will appear at points returned by the search.

You can delete the search results by pressing the **ENTER** key while **[CLR search]** is selected. You can move the A cursor or B cursor position to an "S" mark position by pressing the **ENTER** key while **[A]** or **[B]** under **[Move cursor]** is selected. The screen will switch to the cursor display on the **[Wave+Value]** screen.

See "(2) Cursor: A/B cursor values" (p.90).

You can search logic waveforms according to the [Level] setting.

• With [Slope] set to [1], searches for points that rise from the Low level to the High level.

• With [Slope] set to [], searches for points that fall from the High level to the Low level.

• The [NO DATA] points are excluded from the search targets.



### Jump function (changing the display position)

This section describes how to use the scroll bar to change the waveform's display position (jump function).





#### **1** Under [Settings], select [Jump].

The jump-related settings will be displayed.

#### 2 Press the ENTER key while [Manual] is selected. An arrow (↓) will indicate the current display position on the scroll bar.

**3** Move the arrow to the position you wish to display using the Left Arrow and Right Arrow keys.

#### **4** Press the ENTER key.

The display will move to the specified location.

#### You can also change the display position directly without selecting [Manual].

Start	Moves the display to the beginning of the waveform (the measurement start point or the start of data in the internal buffer memory).
End	Moves the display to the end of the waveform (the measurement stop point).
Cursor A	Moves the display to the position of cursor A.
Cursor B	Moves the display to the position of cursor B.
Trigger	Moves the display to the position of start trigger.



# 1.14 Using the A/B Cursors

This section describes how to read values from the measured waveform using the A/B cursors. You can also use the cursors to specify a range for saving data or performing numerical calculations.

### Reading values from the waveforms

This section describes how to read measured values, times, and time differences between cursors using the A/B cursors.

When using the scaling function, post-scaling values are displayed.



- **1** Under [Display], set the display to [Wave+Value].
- **2** Set the display item to [Cursor].
- **3** Select [ON] under the A/B cursor settings.

The A/B cursors will be displayed on the screen.

When the Cursor icon is displayed, pressing the any one of the **SCROLL/CURSOR** keys will automatically change the setting to **[ON]** even with the A/B cursors set to **[OFF]**.

#### **4** Select the A/B cursor type.

Vertical	<ul> <li>Vertical axis cursors</li> <li>Times at the A/B cursors*</li> <li>Measured values at the intersections of the A/B cursors and the waveform</li> <li>Time lag between the B and A cursors (B-A)*</li> <li>Difference in measured values at the B and A cursors (B-A)</li> </ul>	A B A B B-A
Horizontal	<ul><li>Horizontal axis cursors</li><li>Measured values at the A and B cursors</li><li>Difference in measured values at the B and A cursors (B-A)</li></ul>	B B-A

*: The instrument expresses minute, a unit of time, included in cursor reading values in terms of the letter *m* instead of *min*.



#### **5** Select the information to display.

А, В	A cursor measured value, B cursor measured value
A, B-A	A cursor measured value, difference in measured values at the B and A cursors (B-A)
B, B-A	B cursor measured value, difference in measured values at the B and A cursors (B-A)
A, Comment	A cursor measured value, channel comments
B, Comment	B cursor measured value, channel comments
B-A, Comment	Difference in measured values at the B and A cursors (B-A), channel comments

#### **6** Select the A/B cursor to move.

Cursor A ^{III}	Moves only the A cursor.
Cursor B	Moves only the B cursor.
Sync	Moves the A and B cursors at the same time.

#### 7 Change the channel to display using the button on the top right of the screen (example: [1/2]).

#### 8 Press the SELECT key to display the Cursor icon.

Each time you press the **SELECT** key, the display will switch between the Cursor icon (A/B cursor movement) and the Scroll icon (waveform movement).

For more information about the Cursor icon, see "1.13 Observing Waveforms" (p.82).

#### **9** Press the SCROLL/CURSOR keys to move the A/B cursors.

#### Key operation

••	Moves the cursor left a large amount (10 data points at a time).	SELECT +	Moves the cursor five frames to the left.
	Moves the cursor right a large amount (10 data points at a time).	SELECT + ►►	Moves the cursor five frames to the right.
•	Moves the cursor left a small amount (1 data point at a time).	SELECT +	Moves one screen to the left on the waveform (one horizontal frame for the displayed waveform).
	Moves the cursor right a small amount (1 data point at a time).	SELECT + ►	Moves one screen to the right on the waveform (one horizontal frame for the displayed waveform).

#### **10** Check measured values at the A/B cursors.

- (1) The values the A/B cursors read from waveforms will be displayed.
- (2) Under the table, the frequency calculated from the A/B cursors will be displayed. The frequency is the inverse of the time of period the A/B cursors read.

А, В	Frequency derived from the period between the trigger point and the A cursor, frequency derived from the period between the trigger point and the B cursor
A, B-A	Frequency derived from the period between the trigger point and the A cursor, frequency derived from the period between the A cursor and the B cursor
B, B-A	Frequency calculated from the period between the trigger point and the B cursor, frequency derived from the period between the A cursor and the B cursor
A, Comment	Frequency derived from the period between the trigger point and the A cursor
B, Comment	Frequency derived from the period between the trigger point and the B cursor
B-A, Comment	Frequency derived from the period between the A cursor and the B cursor

You can use numerical calculations to calculate values such as the maximum value, minimum value, and average value for measured waveforms. See "6.1 Performing Numerical Calculations" (p.196).



(Tips

# Specifying a waveform range

This section describes how to specify a waveform range using the A/B cursors. When saving waveform data, you can save only the data in the specified range. You can also specify the range over which to perform numerical calculations. Range specification is performed using the vertical axis cursors.



#### Ranges that can be specified using the A/B cursors

The following settings allow you to specify the range:

- Manual saving: "Under [Range], select the range of data to save." (p. 154)
- Selective save operation: "Under [Range], select the range of data to save." (p. 157)
- Numerical calculation: "Specify the range with the A/B cursors." (p.203)
- X-Y compositing (A-B only): "1.15 X-Y Compositing" (p. 101)

All 🛛	Selects the waveforms for the entire recorded length, without regard to the A/B cursors.
A-B	Selects the waveforms between the A and B cursors.
Start-A	Selects the waveforms from the beginning to the A cursor.
Start-B	Selects the waveforms from the beginning to the B cursor.
A-End	Selects the waveforms from the A cursor to the end.
B-End	Selects the waveforms from the B cursor to the end.



# 1.15 X-Y Compositing

This section describes how to create X-Y composites using any two channels. (You can composite up to eight waveforms.)

You can specify the range for X-Y compositing with the A and B cursors.

You can generate X-Y composites either during or after measurement.

Data only saved in the internal buffer memory can be redrawn (recomposited).

#### SET Calculation XY Composite -

Unit	Measure		Channe I	Trigger		Alarm	1	Calculati	on	System	
Numerical 亻	X-Y Compo	site	ON								
Waveform 2	Composite	rang	e <mark>All data</mark>	-							
XY Composi	Interpola	ition	Line	<b>•</b>							
		<u>A</u> E	2	,	G						
					<u> </u>						
		⊻	X	axis			Y ax	is			
	XY1	⊻ _	Jnit 1	▼ U1-1	-	Unit 1	-	U1-2			
	XY2	⊻	Jnit 1	▼ U1-1	-	Unit 1	-	U1-3			
	XY3	✓	Jnit 1	▼ U1−1	-	Unit 1	•	U1-4			
	XY4	⊻ _	Jnit 1	▼ U1−1	<b>_</b>	Unit 1	-	U1-5	1		
	XY5	✓	Jnit 1	▼ U1−1	-	Unit 2	•	U2-1	1		
	XY6	<b>_</b>	Jnit 1	▼ U1−1	-	Unit 2	-	U2-2			
	XY7	⊻ _	Jnit 1	▼ U1−1	•	Unit 2	•	U2-3			
	XY8	✓ 📕	Unit 1	▼ U1−1	-	Unit 2	•	U2-4	1		
							_				■2020-11-20

1 Under [X-Y Composite], set the X-Y compositing function to [ON].

OFF ^{II}, ON

#### 2 Under [Composite range], select the X-Y compositing range.

All Data [⊠]	Composites the waveforms in their entirety.
A-B	Composites the waveforms between the A and B cursors.

The [A-B] setting lets you specify the range using the A and B cursors.

#### 3 Under [Interpolation], select whether to perform line interpolation.

Dot	Displays measurement data only using points. The order in which values were stored in the instrument's memory will not be clear.
Line ^Ø	Displays waveforms while connecting measurement data with lines in the order in which values were stored in the instrument's memory.

- **4** Select the check boxes for the channels for which you wish to perform X-Y compositing.
- 5 Select the display colors for the X-Y composite waveforms that will be shown on the graph.

#### 6 Select the X- and Y-axis channels for the X-Y composite.

Select units and channels.

Supported channels: Analog, pulse (except logic), waveform calculation, and CAN.



ĺ

# Performing X-Y compositing during measurement

WAVE

Interval 10 ms 💌 Horz 20 ms	20isplay XY+Value	<b>•</b>	Gauge All CH	- Eject
		Inst	Cursor	Re-rende r
5m				
5m				
5m		KY (CH)		Comment
5m	1	( (U1-1)		
5m		Y (U1−2)		
5m	2	((U1-1)		
		r (U1−3)		
	3	((U1-1)		
	3	r (U1−4)		
	4	((U1-1)		
-5m	4	r (U1–5)		
—5m	5	(U1-1)		
-5m	5	r (U1–6)		
—5mi	6	(U1-1)		
-5m	6	Y (U1-7)		
	7	( (U1–1)		
-5m	7	r (U1–8)		
	<u> </u>	( (U1–1)		
5	8	Y (U1-9)		
				▲▶
SD] 119.0MB				Scr 1ch 15:06:36

- **1** Enable the X-Y compositing function on the settings screen and configure the settings as necessary (p.101).
- **2** Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Set] or [XY+Value].
- **3** Start measurement.



. . .
### Performing X-Y compositing after measurement

WAVE

Interval 10 ms 💌	Horz 20 ms	J i splay XY+Value		Gauge All CH	🗾 🗾 Eject
			Inst	Cursor	Re-rende r
5m					
5m 5m					
5m			XY (CH)		Comment
5m		1	X (U1-1)		
5m			Y (U1-2)		
5m		2	X (U1-1)		
bm			Y (U1-3)		
		3	X (U1-1)		
		3	Y (U1-4)		
		4	X (U1-1)		
-5m		4	Y (U1-5)		
-5m			X (UI-I) V (UI-6)		
-5m		0	Y (11-1)		
-5m		6	Y (U1-7)		
-5m		7	X (U1-1)		
-5m		7	Y (U1-8)		
		8	X (U1-1)		
-5m		8 mC	Y (U1-9)		
					A > @ 2020_11_00
SD 119. OMB					Scr 1ch 15:06:36

- **1** Prepare the measurement data.
- **2** Enable the X-Y compositing function on the settings screen and configure the settings as necessary (p.101).
- **3** Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Set] or [XY+Value].
- **4** Press the ENTER key while [Re-render] is selected.

This button is disabled during measurement.

### **Configuring X-Y compositing**

#### WAVE



- **1** Enable the X-Y compositing function on the settings screen (p.101).
- 2 Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Set].

#### **3** Under [Composite range], select the X-Y compositing range.

The **[A-B]** setting lets you specify the range using the A and B cursors.

All data [⊠]	Composites the waveforms in their entirety.
A-B	Composites the waveforms between the A and B cursors.

During the X-Y composing process, the compositing range will be displayed. When you select the **[A-B]** composite-range setting, the A and B cursors' positions will be displayed.

- **4** Select the check boxes for the channels for which you wish to perform X-Y compositing.
- **5** Select the display colors for the X-Y composite waveforms that will be shown on the graph.

#### **6** Select the X- and Y-axis channels for the X-Y composite.

Select units and channels.

Supported channels: Analog, pulse (except logic), waveform calculation, and CAN.

If an X-Y composite waveform already exists, settings changes will not be applied to the waveform immediately.

Setting changes will be applied when you select [Re-render].



### Checking X-Y composite waveform values

This section describes how to read measured values for X-Y composite waveforms by either displaying instantaneous values at the same time as the waveforms or using the C and D cursors.

#### Checking instantaneous values

#### WAVE



- **1** Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Value].
- **2** Set the display item to [Inst].
- **3** Check the measured values.

#### [NO DATA] and [ABORT] messages

The message **[NO DATA]** at the bottom of the X-Y composite waveforms indicates that the rendered X-Y composite waveforms contain no data. If data has been restored, render the X-Y composite waveforms with correct data by re-rendering the graph.

The message **[ABORT]** at the bottom of the X-Y composite waveforms indicates that rendering of the X-Y composite waveforms was canceled.

1

#### Using the trace cursors to check values

### WAVE

Interval 10 ms 💌	Horz 10 s	Display XY+Value	•	Gauge All CH	▼ Eject
				Cursor 2	Re-rende r
10m 50m		□ 21	race	Cursor C - XY1	
100m					
0.5				6 9070mV	D: 0.00s
5		11	(U1-2)	0. 003mV	0, 0000mV
10		2)	((U1-1)	6. 9070mV	6. 8665mV
50		21	(U1-3)	1. 140mV	1. 635mV
٥		3)	((U1-1)	6. 9070mV	6. 8665mV
		31		0. 02mV	0. 02mV
-50		47		0.00070V	0. 800000
-10		5)	(U1-1)	6, 9070mV	6. 8665mV
-5		51	(U1-6)	0. 0002V	0. 0002V
-1		6)	((U1-1)	6. 9070mV	6. 8665mV
-0.5 -100m		61	r (U1-7)	0. 0015V	0. 0010V
-50m			((U1-1)	6. 9070mV	6. 8665mV
-10m		8	(11-1)	6 9070mV	6. 8665mV
-5m		5m 81	(U1-9)	0. 010V	0. 010V
Start '20-11-24 15:3	36:24. 879				
50 115. OMB					Cur 5:37:21

- **1** Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Value].
- 2 Set the display item to [Cursor].
- **3** Select [Trace] under the cursor settings.
- **4** Select the target cursor(s).

Cursor C[™], Cursor D, Sync

You can manipulate the target cursor(s) using the SCROLL/CURSOR keys.

**5** Select the X-Y waveform for which you wish to read values using the trace cursors.

XY1 ^{III} to XY8

**6** Select the display format.

All CH ^{III}, Target CH

- 7 Press the SELECT key to display the cursor icons.
- **8** Press the SCROLL/CURSOR keys to move the C and D cursors.

#### Key operation

••	Moves the cursor left a large amount (10 data points at a time).	SELECT +	Moves the cursor 10000 data points to the left.
	Move the cursor right a large amount (10 data points at a time).	SELECT + ►►	Moves the cursor 10000 data points to the right.
•	Moves the cursor left a small amount (1 data point at a time).	SELECT + <	Moves the cursor 50 data points to the left.
	Move the cursor right a small amount (1 data point at a time).	SELECT + ►	Moves the cursor 50 data points to the right.

**9** Check the measured values at the C and D cursors.

#### Using the horizontal and vertical cursors to check values

### WAVE

Interval 10 ms 🔽 Horz 20 ms	<b>1</b> Display XY+Value	•	Gauge	AII CH	▼ Eject
		Inst	Curso	or <b>2</b>	Re- rende r
	30	oss		- Cursor [	5 c, d <u>6</u>
800	X	Y (CH)	С		D
200		(U1-1)	-19	. 750mV	20. 250mV
110m	2X	(U1-2)	-19	. 750mV	20. 250mV
	2Y	(U1-1)	20	. 000mV	-20. 000mV
	37	(U1-1) (W1)	-19	0. 024	<u>20. 250mv</u> -0. 024
	4X	<b>(9)</b>	-19	. 750mV	20. 250mV
	4Y	(NZ) (U1-1)	-10	0. 028	-0. 028 20. 250mV
-100m	<u>5</u> Y	(W3)		0. 032	-0. 032
-90m	6X	(U1-1)	-19	0. 750mV	20. 250mV
-70m	7X	(W4) (U1-1)	-19	0. 036 . 750mV	20. 250mV
-60m	71	(W5)		0. 04	-0. 04
-50m	50m 8X	(W6)	-19	0. 044	20. 250mV -0. 044
Start '20-11-09 16:43:44.669					▲ ■ ■ 2020-11-09 ■
SD 118. 5MB					Cur h 💒 16:46:56

- **1** Under [Display], set the display to [XY+Value].
- **2** Set the display item to [Cursor].
- **3** Select [Cross] under the cursor settings.
- **4** Select the target direction.

Vertical [™], Horizontal

**5** Select the target cursor(s).

Cursor C ^{III}, Cursor D, Sync

You can manipulate the target cursor(s) using the SCROLL/CURSOR keys.

**6** Select the display format.

C, D  $\ensuremath{^{\bowtie}}$ ; C, D-C; D, D-C; C, Comment; D, Comment; D-C, Comment

- 7 Press the SELECT key to display the cursor icons.
- **8** Press the SCROLL/CURSOR keys to move the C and D cursors.

#### Key operation

<b>44</b>	Moves the cursor left a large amount (10 data points at a time).	
	Move the cursor right a large amount (10 data points at a time).	
•	Moves the cursor left a small amount (1 data point at a time).	
	Move the cursor right a small amount (1 data point at a time).	

**9** Check the measured values at the C and D cursors.

# **1.16 Configuration Navigator (Quick Set)**



- Press the QUICK SET key to display the following guides.
- Wireless module registration guide
- Strain gage connection guide
- External control terminal connection guide
- · Countermeasures against errors in communications with wireless modules
- · Loading setting conditions

### Wireless module registration guide

This section describes how to register wireless modules through the wireless module register guide.



#### **1** Select [Wireless unit registration guide].

#### **2** Press the ENTER key.

The wireless module registration guide will be displayed.



#### **3** Use the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys to select a registration method.

List method	Allows you to choose wireless modules that can be registered from the list.
Auto-connect method	Allows you to use the keys on wireless modules.

#### 4 Press the ENTER key while [Next] is selected.

According to the instructions from the guide, register wireless modules.



### Strain gage connection guide

This section describes how to display the connection diagram for strain gages and the DIP switch configurations.



**3** Select the connection method with the Right Arrow and Left Arrow keys. An explanation for the selected connection method will be displayed.

#### **4** Press the ENTER key while [Quit] is selected.

The guide screen will close.

### External connection guide

This section describes how to display the terminal numbers and signal names of the external control terminal, which is on the left side of the instrument.



#### **1** Select [External connection guide].

#### **2** Press the ENTER key.

A list of external control terminal pin names will be displayed.



### **3** Select the connection method with the Left Arrow and Right Arrow keys.

An explanation of the selected connection method will be displayed.

When the sync input/output terminals (SYNC.IN and SYNC.OUT) are selected Perform the **[Wiring check]** for the SYNC signal (at the bottom right on the screen). If an error is detected, check the connection. See "8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234)

#### **4** Press the ENTER key while [Quit] is selected.

The guide screen will close.



### Action during communication error

This section describes countermeasures against errors in communications between the instrument and the wireless modules.



# **3** Use the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys to select the error type, and then the press the ENTER key.

When a unit is not searchable or cannot be registered, When there is a communication error during measurement, When connection not successful

The menu appropriate for the error type will be displayed.

#### **4** Use the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys to select the menu you wish to confirm.

According to the instructions from the screen, check the confirmation items.

#### When selecting [Check communication environment]

The instrument will indicate the communications congestion level with colors (green, yellow, red). The channel numbers represent [Channel] with the wireless LAN [Mode] setting set to [Wireless unit connection].

See "9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)" (p.261).

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [Quit] is selected.

The guide screen will close.

1

### Loading setting conditions

This section describes how to load setting conditions that have been saved in the instrument's internal backup memory.

	Quick set
	Wireless unit registration guide
	Strain gauge connection guide
	External connection guide
	Action during communication error
1	Load settings data
	Cancel

### **1** Select [Load settings data].

### **2** Press the ENTER key.

A list of setting conditions will be displayed.

. . . . .

		3	Load
			E
			Load
			Load
			Load
11-06 14:18:34			Load
	-11-06 14:18:34	-11-06 14:18:34	-11-06 14:18:34

**3** Press the ENTER key with one of the [Load] buttons for [No. 1] to [No. 5] selected. The setting conditions will be loaded.

See "Saving settings to the instrument's internal backup memory" (p. 159).



## 1.17 Measurement Data

The cautions about measurement data are described as follows.

#### Synchronization and time lag

The instrument and each wireless module have a clock used for sampling data. Plug-in units use the instrument's clock as the basis for sampling.

During measurement, differences in sampling timing will develop gradually between wireless units and plug-in units, and between individual wireless units, because the instrument and wireless units keep time with different degrees of precision.

The instrument periodically corrects for such differences between wireless and plug-in units, and between individual wireless units, even when both wireless and plug-in units are being used.* In the event wireless communications are interrupted, this correction function will activate once communications have been restored to correct for differences in sampling timing between devices.

*: The difference will be about 20 ms with robust wireless communications and more when the networking signal is weak.

If the system fails the synchronization repeatedly for 40 minutes during measurement, the message **[Sync error]** will be displayed in the alarm history.

In this case, the communication state is required to improve.

When the communications between the instrument and the wireless modules recover from disruption, the number of sampled data points can differ between the instrument and each wireless module.

If the numbers of the data points or data sampling times differ between the instrument and each wireless module, the system will recover the data using the number of the data points the instrument sampled and the times when the instrument sampled the data points.

Points where there are differences in the data counts or data sampling times can cause data discontinuity.

See "Synchronization and time lag in acquired data (During Communications Disruption)" (p.440).

#### If an outage occurs during measurement

#### If electric power to only a wireless module is interrupted

- Measured data will contains gaps left during the outage.
- The instrument will draw the horizontal lines along the screen upper end for the data missing parts of waveforms (regarded as NO DATA).
- · When power is restored, the instrument will restart measurement.

# If electric power to only the logger is interrupted (When the instrument does not use the battery power to work)

- The instrument cannot perform measurement.
- No measurement data, even that acquired before the outage occurred, will be retained. Provided that the auto-save is enabled, the data acquired before the outage occurred will be retained on the SD Memory Card or the USB Drive.

See "Preparing for power outages and configuring associated settings" (p. 142).

• Even when electric power is restored, the instrument will not restart measurement. Provided that the start backup or the startup auto-measurement is enabled, the instrument will restart measurement at the time of power failure recovery.



### If communicates with a wireless module are disrupted

Each wireless module is internally equipped with the buffer memory.

If a wireless module cannot communicate with the instrument, which causes a data transmission error, the module will temporarily save the data in its buffer memory.

When communications are restored, the module will resend the data for recovery.

- When a recording interval of between 1 ms and 5 ms is set
  - The system will recover data retained in each module one by one.
- · When the recording interval is set to 10 ms
- The system will recover data retained in multiple modules at once.

The wireless module can retain data with a length of about five minutes in the backup memory. According to the number of modules that need to be recovered, outage duration, and communication environments, the system may not process the recovery fast enough, causing the data to include NO DATA points.

- The system can recover data with a length of up to 230 Mwords, 90% of the instrument's internal buffer memory. When the setting allows the internal buffer memory to save data with a length of 10 minutes, the system can restore data acquired for the last nine minutes.
- When the auto-save is enabled, the recovery process varies according to the save form. See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 146)
   When data has been save in the binary form (.MEM), the system will also recover data being

saved upon completion of data recovery. However, the system cannot recover files that have already been saved after segmented. When data has been save in the text form, the system will save only the recovery data in files under the new name with the characters [_R] added to the end of the auto-save filename. If the media has been replaced with another, the system cannot recover retained data because the media currently inserted contains no data to be recovered.

- If a wireless module is turned off during measurement, the data acquired before the shutdown will be discarded.
- If the instrument is turned off during measurement, the system cannot recover the data retained in the wireless modules.

### Measured data acquired during communications disruption

The instrument will draw the horizontal lines along the screen upper end for the parts of waveforms that cannot be acquired from wireless modules (regarded as NO DATA). A modules' icon with the red frame indicates that the module retains measurement data regarded as NO DATA.



See "Screen and icons" in the Quick Start Manual.

The instrument will halt waveform drawing during communications disruption and the data recovery process in progress.

The instrument will display the string **[NO DATA]** for figure displays and cursor values. See "Waveform display and data handling during communications disruption" (p.439).



# **2** Trigger Function



Triggers provide functionality for starting and stopping measurement based on specific conditions and signals. When a specific condition (a trigger condition) occurs, the trigger is said to activate.

The points at which triggers activate (i.e., the points in time at which trigger conditions are satisfied) are known as trigger points, which are identified by the  $\boxed{\phantom{1}}$  mark.

When a trigger activates, you can start or stop recording. Trigger sources can be selected from among the following:

- Analog triggers (level, window)
- Pulse (level, window)
- Logic triggers (condition, pattern)
- Waveform calculation (level, window)
- CAN (level, window, logic)
- Interval triggers
- External triggers

2.1 Trigger Meaningsp.117
2.2 Enabling the Trigger Functionp. 119
2.3 Analog Triggers, Pulse Triggers, Waveform Calculation Triggersp. 122
2.4 Logic Triggers (Patterns)p.128
2.5 CAN Triggerp.130
2.6 Applying Triggers Based on External Sourcesp.133
2.7 Activating a Trigger at a Set Intervalp.134
2.8 Forcibly Activating the Triggerp.136
2.9 Example Trigger Settingsp.137

The instrument allows the following specific conditions to be set:

Specific condition	Description	Reference page
Start trigger	Starts recording when the trigger condition is satisfied. Example: Start recording when the temperature reaches or exceeds 50°C.	p.119
Stop trigger	Stops recording when the trigger condition is satisfied. Example: Stop recording if a signal falls below 1 V.	p.119
External trigger	Allows you to activate a trigger using an external signal. (I/O 3) Example: Control recording based on the operation of other devices.	p.133
Pre-trigger	Records data before the trigger point. Example: Record a phenomenon that precedes an anomaly.	p.119
Interval trigger	Applies the trigger at a set interval. Example: Record data at one-hour intervals.	p.134
Trigger activation conditions	You can set the conditions under which the trigger will activate. Select AND/OR operation between triggers.	p.120

#### IMPORTANT

- If the trigger function is [OFF], you can start recording by pressing the START key. (Free-run)
- If the trigger function is **[ON]**, the instrument will remain in the "trigger standby" state until the trigger condition is satisfied. Recording will start when the trigger condition is satisfied.
- The "trigger standby" interval will be shown on the monitor screen. See "1.11 Checking Input Signals (Monitor Function)" (p.80).
- During communications disruption, wireless modules cannot judge whether the trigger conditions are satisfied. When the trigger conditions have been satisfied on completion of data recovery following reestablish communications, the trigger will activate.
- When the stop trigger condition is satisfied during data recovery, data points after this point will be regarded as **[NO DATA]**.
  - See "11.14 Data Handling During Communications Disruption" (p.439).
- While the pre-trigger setting is enabled, the recovered data cannot activate the trigger. In addition, data acquired during the trigger standby state cannot be recovered.
- The next trigger will not be accepted while trigger processing remains in progress. Trigger output will be active while trigger processing is in progress. For more information about trigger output, see "Trigger output" (p.239).



# 2.1 Trigger Meanings

This section describes how to set start or stop conditions for measurement. You do so by setting the type of trigger (level, window, or pattern) and the slope (signal rising or falling).

#### **Trigger types**

The following three types of triggers are provided:



*1: For pulse channels, only if the level value is set at zero, the trigger can also activate when the pulse becomes equal to zero while falling.



*2: For pulse channels , only if the lower limit value is set at zero, the trigger can also activate when the pulse becomes equal to zero while falling.
As well, only if the upper limit value is set at zero, the trigger can also activate when the pulse becomes equal to zero while rising.

# 2.2 Enabling the Trigger Function

This section introduces how to start and stop recording using the trigger function.



#### **1** Under [Trigger], set the trigger function to [ON].

#### OFF ^Ø, ON

The trigger function will be set to [ON], and trigger settings will be enabled.

#### **2** Under [Timing], select the operation to perform when the trigger activates.

Start [⊠]	Starts recording when the trigger condition is satisfied (start trigger). Example: Starts recording when the temperature reaches or exceeds 50°C.
Stop	Stops recording when the trigger condition is satisfied (stop trigger). Example: Stops recording if a signal falls below 1 V.
Start & Stop	Starts recording when the start trigger condition is satisfied, and stops recording when the stop trigger condition is satisfied during recording. Example: Starts recording when the temperature reaches or exceeds 50°C and stops recording when the temperature reaches or exceeds 100°C.

#### **3** Under [Pre-trigger], set the time or number of days you wish to record before the trigger.

You can record data before the trigger point (the point in time at which the trigger activates). The ability to record data preceding an anomaly is useful when you need to analyze the cause of an issue.

The pre-trigger will be disabled if the operation to perform when the trigger activates has been set to **[Stop]** under **[Timing]**.

DD, HH:MM:SS

The maximum setting available for the instrument is 99 days.

To continue recording the waveform after the trigger, make the recording time longer than the pre-trigger.



Tips

[OR]

#### **4** Under [Condition], select the condition for activating the trigger.

Set the activation condition between triggers (analog, pulse, logic, waveform calculation, external, and interval) as a logical AND or logical OR operation.

Recording will start immediately (free-run) if all trigger sources are OFF (if no trigger setting has been made).

OR [∅]		The trigger will activate when even one of the trigger conditions is satisfied (edge-sensitive).
	AND	The trigger will activate when all of the trigger conditions are satisfied (level-sensitive).

No trigger can activate when the trigger conditions have already been satisfied at the start of measurement. The trigger will become able to activate when input signals that did not satisfy the trigger conditions have just satisfied.

Example: To apply the trigger when the waveform crosses 0 V from below to above

Trigger: Level trigger Level: 0 V Slope: ↑



Activates the trigger when either one crosses 0 V from below to above.

[AND]



Activates the trigger when either one crosses 0 V from below to above while the other is exceeding 0 V.

#### Difference between pre-trigger standby and trigger standby

When measurement starts, the instrument does not honor any triggers before the amount of time set for the pre-trigger has not elapsed. During this period, the screen will display [Waiting for pre-trigger...]. After the amount of time set for the pre-trigger has elapsed, the instrument will start waiting for the trigger to be satisfied. During this period, the screen will display [Waiting for trigger...].

During pre-trigger standby, the trigger will not activate, even if the trigger conditions are satisfied.





#### Relationship between pre-triggers and recording time

### 2.3 Analog Triggers, Pulse Triggers, Waveform Calculation Triggers

This section describes how to set triggers for individual analog channels, pulse channels, or waveform calculation channels.

The following triggers are available:

- Level triggers
- Window triggers

```
SET > Trigger > [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, ...), [Pulse], or [Waveform calculation]
```



- **1** On the sub tab [Unit n], [Remote n], [Pulse], or [Wave calc], select a module.
- Press the ENTER key while [Un-m] (analog triggers), [Pm] (pulse triggers), or [Wm] (waveform calculation triggers) for the channel you wish to set is selected (m = 1, 2, ...). The channel trigger settings window will open.

#### Analog triggers

Co	Waveform .	Channel Unit 1 Ul-1	
Un Un	0.4	Start	
Un	0. 3	Level 1.5	
Un	0. 2		
Pu Wa	0. 1		
	0	Type Level ▼ ↓ ▼	
	-0.1	Level 500m	
	-0. 2		
	-0.3		
	-0.4		
	-0.5		
	U1- 1 0. 04455V		
ŝ		Close	³⁷



#### **Pulse triggers**

Waveform	Channel -	٦
Un 90 Un 80	Start	
Un 70		
11 00	Stop Type OFF ▼	
40 30		
20		I
0 P1 0. 000kWh	P1	
	Clos	se 37

#### Waveform calculation triggers

6	Waveform -	
Un Un	45	Start
Un Un Pu	35	Level 0
Wa	30 25	Stop Type OFF
	20 15	
	10 5	
	0 W1 0. 1188	
ŝD		Close

See "Level triggers" (p. 124) and "Window triggers" (p. 127).

### **3** Configure the trigger function settings.

You can also configure settings on the list screen without opening the settings window.

When **[Timing]** is set to **[Start]**, a **[Start]** trigger will be set. When **[Timing]** is set to **[Stop]**, a **[Stop]** trigger will be set. When **[Timing]** is set to **[Start & Stop]**, two triggers will be set (one **[Start]** trigger and one **[Stop]** trigger).

For more information about trigger timing, see "Shared settings" (p. 119).

2

Trigger Function

### Level triggers

Level triggers activate when the waveform crosses the specified level (the trigger level). You can set the direction in which the level is crossed (the slope).



SET

Trigger

#### > [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, . . .)



#### **1** Under [Type] for [Start] or [Stop], set the trigger type to [Level].

A level trigger will be used.

#### **2** Select the slope.

The trigger will activate when the level is crossed in the set direction.

↑ 🗹	Activates the trigger when the level is crossed the specified level from below. (Rising)
Ļ	Activates the trigger will activate when the level is crossed the specified level from above. (Falling)

When [Condition] is set to [AND], the system will determine whether the waveform has exceeded the specified level.

#### **3** Under [Level], set the trigger level.

The trigger will activate when the set level (temperature, voltage, etc.) is crossed. When using the scaling function, post-scaling values are displayed.

(When a strain measurement module is used)

The instrument expresses strain in terms of micro epsilon ( $\mu_{\epsilon}$ ). You do not need to enter the SI prefix micro ( $\mu$ ).



#### **Trigger level resolution**

The trigger level resolution (minimum setting width) varies with the range.

Input	Range	Resolution
Voltage	1 mV f.s.	0.001 mV
	2 mV f.s.	0.002 mV
	5 mV f.s.	0.005 mV
	10 mV f.s.	0.01 mV
	20 mV f.s.	0.02 mV
	50 mV f.s.	0.05 mV
	100 mV f.s.	0.1 mV
	200 mV f.s.	0.2 mV
	1 V f.s.	0.001 V
	2 V f.s.	0.002 V
	10 V f.s.	0.01 V
	20 V f.s.	0.02 V
	100 V f.s.	0.1 V
	1 to 5 V f.s.	0.01 V
Temperature (for both	100°C f.s.	0.1°C
ermocouples and resistance	500°C f.s.	0.5°C
, ,	2000°C f.s.	2°C
Humidity	100% RH f.s.	0.1% RH
Resistance	10 Ω f.s.	0.01 Ω
	20 Ω f.s.	0.02 Ω
	100 Ω f.s.	0.1 Ω
	200 Ω f.s.	0.2 Ω
Integration	_	1 c
Rotational speed	5000 r/s	1 r/s
	300,000 r/min.	1 r/min.
Strain	1000 με f.s.	1 με
	2000 με f.s.	2 με
	5000 με f.s.	5 με
	10000 με f.s.	10 με
	20000 με f.s.	20 με
	50000 με f.s.	50 με
	100000 με f.s.	100 με
	200000 με f.s.	200 με

Input		Range	Resolution
Current	077106	50 A	0.01 A
	C17120	5 A	0.001 A
	CT7131	100 A	0.01 A
	077440	5 A	0.001 A
	C17116	500 mA	0.1 mA
	077400	500 A	0.1 A
	C17136	50 A	0.01 A
	CT7044 CT7045 CT7046	5000 A	1 A
		500 A	0.1 A
		50 A	0.01 A
	CT7742	2000 A	0.2 A
		200 A	0.1 A
	077700	500 A	0.1 A
	C17736	50 A	0.01 A
	CT7731	100 A	0.01 A
	077000	20 A	0.002 A
	617822	2 A	0.001 A
	077040	2 A	0.0002 A
	CT7812	200 mA	0.1 mA



### Window triggers

This section describes how to specify a range (window) using upper and lower limit values and then activate a trigger when the waveform moves into or out of that range.

You can activate a trigger either when the waveform enters the range (window IN) or when the waveform exits the range (window OUT).



Window OUT

SET

Trigger

> [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, . . .)



**1** Under [Type] for [Start] or [Stop], set the trigger type to [Window].

A window trigger will be used.

#### **2** Choose between [IN] and [OUT] for the waveform.

<b>IN</b> ^I Activates the trigger when the waveform enters the specified range.	
OUT	Activates the trigger when the waveform exits the specified range.

When [Condition] is set to [AND], the system will determine whether the waveform is inside the specified range.

#### **3** Under [Upper] and [Lower], set the upper and lower limit values, respectively.

The range defined by the upper and lower limit values will serve as the window. When using the scaling function, post-scaling values are displayed.



# 2.4 Logic Triggers (Patterns)

This section describes how to activate triggers with logic triggers.

When the logic signal values (1 and 0) match the trigger pattern (1/0/X), the trigger will activate. This type of trigger can be selected when **[Logic]** has been selected for pulse (P1 to P8) input. See "Measuring logic signals" (p.45).



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
	Сору						
			Start			Stop	
Jnit 2	P1						
	P2						
	P3						
	P4						
ulse	P6						
	P7						
	P8						
9	Logic	0FF	XXXXXXXX		OFF	XXXXXXX	Х
ส) <u>1</u> 968						24 OFF 😤	2020-05-

#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Logic] is selected.

The logic trigger settings window will open.



#### **2** Under [Conditions], select the pattern for activating the trigger.

	Does not use a pattern trigger
011	
OR	Activates the trigger when even one of the trigger patterns matches (edge-sensitive).
AND	Activates the trigger when all of the trigger patterns match (level-sensitive). No trigger can activate when the trigger conditions have already been satisfied at the start of measurement. The trigger will become able to activate when input signals that did not satisfy the trigger conditions have just satisfied.



### **3** Select the P1 to P8 trigger pattern.

0	Activates the trigger when the signal is [0] (low).
1	Activates the trigger when the signal is [1] (high).
X	Excludes from the trigger. The signal will be ignored.



# 2.5 CAN Trigger

This section describes how to select CAN channels for trigger conditions. Up to 100 channels can be specified.



1	1 to 100	100 trigger conditions
2	Un-m Rn-m	<ul> <li>(n = 1, 2,), (m = 1, 2,)</li> <li>Displays the CAN Unit numbers and channel numbers that are currently configured.</li> <li>Pressing the ENTER key will open the "Individual settings" window.</li> </ul>
3	Edit	Indicates that the CAN channel is not selected. Pressing the ENTER key will open the "Individual settings" window. See "CAN trigger individual settings window (Level, Window)" (p. 131).
4	Comment	Displays the CAN channel's comment.
5	Ch type	Displays the CAN channel's type.
6	ID	Displays the CAN channel's ID.
7	Start trigger Stop trigger	Displays the trigger conditions that have been set with the settings dialog box.



Wave V 10 s Gauge	Trigger No 1
Un 90 22 Pu 80 .	CAN Channel Unit 3 I Data 1h Signal comment
Wa         70         3           CA         60         3	-Start
50 -	Level 0
40 30	- Stop
20	Type Window IN V Upper 80
<u>03-10</u>	Close 38

#### CAN trigger individual settings window (Level, Window)

#### CAN trigger individual settings window (Logic)

Co	Wave 🔽 10 s 🔽 Gauge	Trigger No 1	
Un Pu	800m. 2	CAN Channel	0
Wa	600m		
CA	400m.	- Start	
	200m 3		
	0	bit31-16: bit47-32:	
	-200m.	bit63-48:	
	-400m	- Stop	
	-600m.		
	-800m.	bit31-16: bit47-32:	
	-1	bit63-48:	
	U1- 1 0. 000		
ŝD		Close	18

**1** Under [Trigger No], select the trigger number from the 100 trigger conditions.

**2** Under [CAN Channel], set the CAN unit and channel to specify as the trigger condition. The channel type, ID, and comment for the specified CAN channel will be displayed.

**3** Under [Type], select the trigger type.

OFF	Disables the trigger function.
Level	See "Level triggers" (p. 124).
Window	See "Window triggers" (p. 127).
Logic	See "2.4 Logic Triggers (Patterns)" (p.128). Sets the pattern of effective bits (00 to 63) for the CAN channel.



Co	Wave 🔽 1	0 s 💌	Gauge	Trigger No	3						
Un Un	90 -			- CAN Channel Remote 1 💌	1 1	Data 1	lh				1
Pu	80 _				Signal c	omment					0
Wa	70		bit15-0	0 X X X X	X X X X	x x x	X X X	1 0			
CA	60 .		bit31-1 bit47-3	6		·					
	50 _		bit63-4	8							
	40						OK C	ancel	Į		
	30 _			– Stop ——							
	20			Туре	Logic						
	10				bit31-	16:					
	0		R1-6		bit63-	48:					
	R1- 1 (	0									
ŝD										Close	³⁸

### CAN trigger logic settings window



2020-02-0 14:04:32

#### **Applying Triggers Based on External Sources** 2.6

This section describes how to use signals inputted to the terminal I/O 3 to activate triggers.

1 Under [External trigger], set the external trigger function to [ON].

#### OFF ^Ø, ON

The external trigger function will be enabled, allowing you to activate triggers based on signals inputted from external sources.

When [External trigger] is set to [ON], [External input 3] will be set to [Trigger input]. See "External trigger input" (p.238).



# 2.7 Activating a Trigger at a Set Interval

#### Interval triggers

This section describes how to activate a trigger at a set interval.

When you set the interval trigger to **[OR]** or **[AND]**, the repeat recording setting will be set to **[ON]** automatically.

Interval triggers are disabled when using the Logger Utility.





#### **1** Under [Interval trigger], select the interval trigger conditions.

If you wish to give priority to the interval trigger, use the **[OR]** setting. (p. 135) If you wish to give priority to other triggers, use the **[AND]** setting. (p. 135)

OFF ^Ø	Does not use the interval trigger.
OR	Uses the interval trigger based on OR logic.
AND	Uses the interval trigger based on AND logic.

#### **2** Set the interval for the interval trigger.

#### DD, HH:MM:SS

The trigger will simultaneously activate when measurement starts. Subsequently, the trigger will activate at every interval trigger interval.



2

**Trigger Function** 



#### **OR and AND conditions**

# 2.8 Forcibly Activating the Trigger

This section describes how to forcibly activate the trigger during the trigger standby state. You can forcibly activate trigger regardless of the trigger source settings.

100	Horz		Forced trigger
	1 min 💌 A	II CH 🗾 Gauge	< 1/1 >
80	U1-1	27. 69°C U1-9	-0. 008V
70 .	U1-2	-0. 001V U1-10	-0. 008V
60 .	U1-3	-0. 003V U1-11	-0. 008V
50 - UI-2	U1-4	-0. 004V U1-12	-0. 009V
30	U1-5	-0. 005V U1-13	-0. 006V
20	U1-6	-0. 006V U1-14	-0. 004V
10	U1-7	-0. 006V U1-15	-0. 004V
0	U1-8	-0. 007V	
🛐 1.9GB Waiting for trigger			\$cr 24_0FF € 2020-05-28 19:45:06

### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Forced trigger] is selected.

The trigger will activate.

When the instrument is in the trigger wait state, you can forcibly apply a trigger by pressing the **START** key.



# 2.9 Example Trigger Settings

This section introduces some example trigger settings.

What you want to do	See (in table below)
Capture data from the time the <b>START</b> key is pressed until the time the <b>STOP</b> key is pressed.	No. 1
Capture data once for 1 min. starting from when the <b>START</b> key is pressed.	No. 2
Capture data for 1 min. repeatedly starting from when the <b>START</b> key is pressed until 60 min. elapses.	No. 3
Capture data starting when the <b>START</b> key is pressed until the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C.	No. 4
Once the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C, capture data until the <b>STOP</b> key is pressed.	No. 5
Once the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C, capture data until the temperature falls below 300°C.	No. 6
Once the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C, capture data repeatedly until the temperature falls below 300°C.	No. 7
Once the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C, capture data for the next 1 min.	No. 8
Capture data for 1 min. before and after the CH1 measured temperature exceeds 500°C.	No. 9
Capture data from 9:00 am to 5:00 pm on June 17, 2020.	No. 10
Capture data 24 hours every day for one month starting at 9:00 am on June 17, 2020.	No. 11
Capture data from 9:00 am to 5:00 pm every day for one month starting on June 17, 2020.	No. 12
Capture one hour of data at 9:00 am, 3:00 pm, 9:00 pm, and 3:00 am for one month starting on June 17, 2020.	No. 13

No.	Measurement start	Measurement stop	Recording start	Recording stop	Other	
1	Manual	Manual	_	_	_	
2	Manual	Manual	_	Specified time 1 min.	_	
3	Manual	Manual	-	Specified time 1 h	File splitting 1 min.	
4	Manual	Manual Manual –		Stop trigger ↑ 500°C	-	
5	Manual	Manual Manual Start trigger ↑ 500°C		_	_	
6	Manual	Manual	Start trigger ↑ 500°C	Stop trigger ↓ 300°C	_	
7	Manual	Manual	Same as above	Same as above	Repetitive recording	
8	Manual	Manual	Start trigger ↑ 500°C	Specified time 1 min.	_	
9	Manual	Manual	Same as above	Same as above	Pre-trigger 1 min.	
10	Time 2020-6-17 9:00	Time 2020-6-17 17:00	_	_	_	
11	Time 2020-6-17 9:00	Time 2020-7-17 9:00	_	_	File splitting 1 day	
12	Time 2020-6-17 9:00	Time 2020-7-17 9:00	Interval trigger 1 day	Specified time 8 h	Repetitive recording	
13	Time 2020-6-17 9:00	Time 2020-7-17 9:00	Interval trigger 6 h	Specified time 1 h	Repetitive recording	

Example Trigger Settings


# **3** Saving and Loading Data



This chapter describes how to save settings conditions and waveform data on an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive. It also describes how to load previously saved data into the instrument to reproduce it.

3.1 Data That Can Be Saved and Loaded	p.140
3.2 Formatting Media	p. 143
3.3 Saving Data	p.145
Auto save (real-time save)	p. 146
Manual saving (selective saving, immediate saving)	p.153
Selective save operation	p.156
Saving settings to the instrument's internal backup memory	p.159
3.4 Loading Data	p.161
Auto-setup function	p. 163
3.5 Managing Data	p.164
Switching media (drives)	p. 164
Moving between levels (folders)	p. 165
Deleting data	p. 166
Beloting data minimum m	. 407
Renaming files and folders	þ. 167
Renaming files and folders Copying data	p. 167 p. 168
Renaming files and folders Copying data Sorting files	p. 167 p. 168 p. 169
Renaming files and folders Copying data Sorting files Updating file information	p. 167 p. 168 p. 169 p. 170
Renaming files and folders Copying data Sorting files Updating file information <b>3.6 Acquiring Data with a Computer (PC)</b>	p. 167 p. 168 p. 169 p. 170 <b>p. 171</b>
Renaming files and folders Copying data Sorting files Updating file information <b>3.6 Acquiring Data with a Computer (PC)</b> Connecting the USB cable	p. 167 p. 168 p. 169 p. 170 <b>p. 171</b> p. 171
Renaming files and folders Copying data Sorting files Updating file information <b>3.6 Acquiring Data with a Computer (PC)</b> Connecting the USB cable Activating USB drive mode	p. 167 p. 168 p. 169 p. 170 <b>p. 171</b> p. 171 p. 172

3

Unit

## 3.1 Data That Can Be Saved and Loaded

When you save data on an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive, the [HIOKI] folder containing the [LR8450] folder.

will be created.

Files are saved in folders as shown in the following diagram:



*1: When the calculation range is set to [Enable] or [Timed] on the [Time split calculation] screen, a folder named [PART] will be added. Calculation results from the start point to the stop point will be saved in the [ALL] folder, while calculation results for each segment will be saved in the [PART] folder.

*2: Created when saving operation is set such that each calculation is saved in its own file.

#### When saving files without specifying a filename

The following filenames will be used:

<ul> <li>Automatically saved waveform data:</li> </ul>	AUTO****.xxx
• Automatically saved numerical calculation result:	AUTO****.xxx
<ul> <li>Manually saved settings data:</li> </ul>	CONF****.SET
<ul> <li>Manually saved waveform data:</li> </ul>	WAVE****.xxx
<ul> <li>Manually saved numerical calculation results:</li> </ul>	MEAS****.xxx
<ul> <li>Manually saved screen image data:</li> </ul>	SCR*****.PNG
<ul> <li>Manually saved A2L data:</li> </ul>	XCPT****.A2L
[****] represents a number between 0001 and 9999	
[*****] represents a number between 00001 and 999	999.
[.xxx] represents the file's extension (.MEM, .CSV,	.TXT).



✓: Yes; -: No

			Filename⁵		/ing	Loa	ding
Data type	Format	Folder name	(Automatically numbered from 1)	Auto.	Manual	On the instrument	On a computer
Setting conditions	Binary	CONFIG	CONF0001.SET	-	~	✓	-
	Binary		AUTO0001.MEM WAVE0001.MEM	$\checkmark$	~	<b>√</b> * ¹³	$\checkmark$
Waveform data* ¹	Text*2	DATA\(date)* ⁴ Example: 20-01-10	AUTO0001.CSV WAVE0001.CSV * ⁶	~	~	-	✓
	MDF	-	AUTO0001.MF4	$\checkmark$	~	_	<b>√</b> * ⁸
Numerical calculation results	Text*2	MEASUREMENT	AUTO0001.CSV MEAS0001.CSV * ⁷	~	~	-	$\checkmark$
Screen image data	PNG* ³	PICTURE	SCR00001.PNG * ³	-	~	-	$\checkmark$
CAN settings* ⁹	Binary	_	****.CES	-	_	✓	<b>√</b> * ¹⁰
A2L file*11	-	A2L	XCPT0001.A2L	-	~	-	<b>√</b> * ¹²

*1: Save waveform data in the binary format if you plan to load it with the instrument or the Logger Utility. Some measurement setting conditions will be saved along with the waveform data. You can also specify a range of data using the A/B cursors (partial save). When you save waveform data after the scaling conversion in the binary format, raw data (data prior to the scaling conversion) and scaling settings are recorded. Loading waveform data allows waveforms after the scaling conversion to be displayed. You can review the preconversion waveforms if you turn off the scaling setting.

- *2: There is a limit on the number of rows that can be loaded at once when loading CSV data with spreadsheet software.
- *3: PNG format: An image format defined by the ISO/IEC 15948 international standard.
- *4: Date folders ("year-month-day") will be automatically generated in the **[DATA]** folder. When the number of files in a folder exceeds 1000, a new folder will be created. Example: 20-01-10_1000
- *5: For more information about filenames when saving data manually, see "11.7 Filenames" (p.422).
- *6: When a setting other than [Comma] is selected under [Delimiter], the extension will be set to [.TXT]. (p. 150)
- *7: When [Individual calc] is selected, the string representing a calculation number will be appended, as in [MEAS0001_1.CSV] and [MEAS0001_2.CSV].
- *8: Requires commercially available software that can load MDF data.
- *9: File created on a PC (with the CAN Editor) and loaded by the instrument.
- *10: Requires PC application (CAN Editor).
- *11: File saved by the instrument and loaded by another company's PC application.
- *12: Requires ECU measurement and calibration software.
- *13: Files containing data from wireless modules saved by the LR8450-01 cannot be loaded by the LR8450 (which lacks wireless functionality).

#### (Tips) The number of files

It is recommended to store fewer than 1000 files per folder.

You can save more than 1000 files in a single folder, but save times will increase with the file count.

During automatic saving, a new folder will be created when the number of files in a folder exceeds 1000.



#### IMPORTANT

Hioki guarantees the operation of our optional SD Memory Card and USB Drive only. Operation of any other storage media cannot be guaranteed.

#### Preparing for power outages and configuring associated settings

## 



#### ■ Do not use damaged media.

Doing so could prevent processing to close files from completing in the anticipated amount of time, corrupting files.

Measurement data will be lost if power is interrupted during measurement. It is recommended to make the following preparations and settings when measuring data for an extended period of time.

• Use the Z1007 Battery Pack.

When using the optional Z1007 Battery Pack, the instrument will switch immediately to battery power if power from the AC Adapter is interrupted. In this way, measurement can be continued without losing any data.

If the battery's remaining charge declines, the instrument will not be able to save or load data. See "2.2 Installing a Battery Pack" in the Quick Start Manual.

· Set auto saving to [Waveform data].

Waveform data will be saved to an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive while measurement continues.

You can continue measurement in the event of a power outage by using the Z1007 Battery Pack. See "3.3 Saving Data" (p.145).

Tips

It is recommended to use the **[Binary]** (MEM) setting for auto saving. Files saved using the **[Text]** (CSV) setting cannot be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility.

Binary data (MEM files) saved using the **[Binary]** setting can be converted to the text format using the Logger Utility.



## 3.2 Formatting Media

Before using an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive for the first time, format the media.

#### **1** Press the FILE key.

The file list screen on the SD Memory Card or USB Drive will be displayed.

#### **2** Press the FILE key to select the media to be formatted.

Each time you press the **FILE** key, the display will switch between the SD Memory Card and the USB Drive.

SD USB								
🛐 1.3GB / 1.9GB (70%) Eject				Exit VIEW	mode	SELECT	key:	Menu
Name	Size	Туре	Date Modifi	ed				
👜 🚞 НІОКІ		Folder	2020-09-09	13:47:50				
🖻 🚍 LR8450		Folder	2020-09-23	14:12:56				
🕀 💼 CONFIG		Folder	2020-10-13	14:39:58				
📃 🕀 🚞 DATA		Folder	2020-11-06	12:18:32				
🕀 🚞 MEASUREMENT		Folder	2020-09-23	14:12:56				
🗉 💼 PICTURE		Folder	2020-11-06	14:19:42				
🖶 🚞 System Volume Information		Folder	2020-09-09	14:09:20				
📄 📄 FileInfo2. dat	61bytes	dat File	2020-11-06	14:24:14				
577. 2MB						1 ch	2020	0-11-06 23:57

SD	JSB				
🔡 1. 7MB / 15. 5GB	(0%) Eject			Exit VIEW mode	SELECT key: Menu
Name	Size	Туре	Date Modified		
🖻 🚞 HIOKI		Folder	2020-10-27 15:45:40		
🖻 🚞 LR8450		Folder	2020-11-06 14:25:22		
😐 🚞 CONFIG		Folder	2020-11-06 14:25:22		
😐 🚞 DATA		Folder	2020-11-06 14:25:32		
😐 🚞 PICTUR	E	Folder	2020-11-06 14:25:14		
SD 158 15. 5GB					1ch 2020-11-06 1ch 12:34:43

Unit

**3** Press the Down Arrow key to move to the media screen, and then press the SELECT key.

The file operations window will be displayed.

SD USB			
🗊 2.6MB / 1.9GB (0%) Eject		Exit VIEW	mode SELECT key: Menu
Name Siz	ге Туре	Date Modified	
🖕 🚞 HIOKI	Folder	2020-09-09 13:47:50	
🖻 🚞 LR8450	Folder	2020-09-23 14:12:56	
🕀 🚞 CONFIG	Folder	2020-11-17 14:24:12	
	1 09450	-10 10:38:44	
	LR0400	-23 14:12:56	
	Rename Copy	Delete -10 10:18:10	
FileInfo2 dat	84 Media Format	Update -16 16:21:14	
		Close	
📅 1.9GB			@ 1ch 🚬 🔁 2020-11-17 🦯

#### **4** Pressing the ENTER key while [Media Format] is selected.

The confirmation window will be displayed.

#### **5** Press the ENTER key.

The media will be formatted.

#### IMPORTANT

- Format a virgin SD Memory Card and USB Drive with the instrument before the first use of them. Using those formatted with a computer could prevent the real-time saving from keeping up with measurement.
- When formatting an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive, select the FAT/FAT32 format. If you use another format (NTFS, etc.), the instrument will not recognize the device.
- Be sure to back up any important data on SD Memory Cards and USB Drives. When you format an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive, all the saved data will be erased. The formatting operation cannot be undone.



## 3.3 Saving Data

If you wish to automatically If you wish to save data If you wish to choose the save data during immediately when the type of data to save and measurement SAVE key is pressed then save it Auto save Immediate save Selective save Configure settings before starting Set the type of data to save in (Default setting) measurement. advance on the [Manual save] When you press the **SAVE** key, screen. You can save data you can set the type of data to Measurement data will be saved immediately by pressing the SAVE save and then save it. while measurement is performed. key. This function is convenient There is no need to configure Calculation results will be saved when you wish to save certain settings before saving. once measurement has stopped. waveform data or to save data (p.153) (p.146) immediately during monitoring. (p.153) Insert an SD Memory Card or Insert an SD Memory Card or Insert an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive. a USB Drive. a USB Drive. [Measure] screen [Measure] screen [Measure] screen Set [SAVE key settings] to Set [SAVE key settings] to Enable auto saving (p.146). [Quick save] (p.153). [Select & Save] (p.153). Press the SAVE key. Set the type of data to save. (Data cannot be saved while Set the type of data to save. measurement is in progress.) · Waveform data Data can be saved at the same Window Screen images time. · Setting conditions · Waveform data Select the type of data to save. • Numerical calculation results Numerical calculation results Set the save filename. A2L file (Up to 8 single-byte characters) Waveform data Screen images Setting conditions • Numerical calculation results Press the SAVE key. Measurement Press the ENTER key. (Data cannot be saved while measurement is in progress.) Auto saving Saving Saving

Data can be saved using the following three methods:

To save part of a waveform, specify a range using the A/B cursors (vertical) before saving the data. (Partial save functionality is not available when using the auto save function.) See "Specifying a waveform range" (p. 100).

## Auto save (real-time save)

This section describes how to save waveform data (using the real-time save function) to media (an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive) while measurement is in progress.

Numerical calculation results can also be saved to media automatically.

You can also save both waveform data and numerical calculation results automatically.

The following measurement data can be saved automatically:

Saved data	Setting	File extension	Description
Waveform data	Binary format	.MEM	Waveform data will be saved in the instrument's dedicated format (binary format) while measurement continues. Ordinarily, it is recommended to use the [Binary] setting.
	Text format	.CSV, .TXT*	Waveform data will be saved in the text format while measurement continues. Although the data can be loaded using spreadsheet software, it cannot be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility.
	MDF format	.MF4	Waveform data is saved in the MDF (Ver. 4) format while measurement is ongoing. These files can be loaded on a PC using a waveform viewer that supports the MDF format. They cannot be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility.
Numerical calculation results	Text format	.CSV, .TXT*	Numerical calculation results will be saved after measurement stops.

*: If a setting other than [Comma] is selected under [Delimiter] in the [Text format] area, the extension is set to [.TXT].

#### Binary and text format limitations on auto save operation

The number of channels that can be used with auto save operation is limited as shown below based on the save format and recording interval as well as whether any CAN Units are connected.

Savo format	Pocording interval	CAN Unit(s)			
Save ionnat	Recording interval	No	Yes		
	1 ms	Up to 150 channels	Up to 20 channels		
	2 ms		Up to 80 channels		
	5 ms		Up to 150 channels		
	10 ms	No limitations	Up to 700 channels		
	20 ms	·	Up to 1500 channels		
	50 ms or longer		No limitations		
	1 ms to 5 ms	Auto save setting not available			
	10 ms	Up to 60 channels	Up to 100 channels		
	20 ms		Up to 200 channels		
CSV	50 ms		Up to 500 channels		
	100 ms	No limitations	Up to 1000 channels		
	200 ms		Up to 2000 channels		
	500 ms or longer		No limitations		



When the auto-save with the wave data (binary) setting is enabled, the data can be recovered upon recovery of communications with the wireless modules from communications disruption. However, when the segment save is enabled, the system cannot recover data in files that have already been saved after segmented.

The system can recover data acquired until only when the files to be currently being saved was segmented.

When the auto-save with the text format is enabled, the system cannot recover data. The instrument will save the data that were not able to be received due to communications disruption in other files after communications are reestablished. The unreceived data will be saved in a file under the new name with the characters **[_R]** added to the end of the original filename. Example: When the name of the original file is *AUTO0001.CSV* 

The instrument will save the unreceived data in the AUTO0001_R.CSV file. The instrument with no storage media inserted cannot recover data. (p.439)

#### Data protection (When Z1007 Battery Pack is used)

The instrument will stop saving data when the battery starts to run out during auto-save operation (Measurement will continue).

Media crash, which can occur because of system shutdown during saving operation, can be prevented.

When 10 minutes elapse after an AC power recovery, the instrument, which stopped a saving operation, will restart the operation.

#### IMPORTANT

Hioki guarantees the operation of our optional SD Memory Card and USB Drive only. Operation of any other storage media cannot be guaranteed.



Unit	Measure Chanr	nel Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Record Auto save <b>1</b> Manual save-	File name	Add ti	tle comm iqqer da	ent te/time		
Display 2	Media SD card			4		
Settings 3	- Waveform data Format Downsampling Decimation factor Save data Deleting Folder splitting File splitting Split time	Text ON 1 Instant OFF Disable Enable 0 Days 00:10	✓ Fi 72 ✓ Sp ✓ Tex ✓ A 2	umerical calcula ormat ile splitting ime split calcula olit time t format pprox. saveable Days 5 Hours	tion results Text Single file tion Enable 0 Days 000 5 Settings.	:10

#### **1** Enter the filename to use during auto-save operation in the [File name] field (up to 8 singlebyte characters).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

A serial number beginning from 0001 (in increments of one) will be appended to entered file names. Example: Filename: **[ABC]**, Format: binary

ABC0001.MEM, ABC0002.MEM, ABC0003.MEM, . . .

#### Example: Filename: [ABC100], Format: binary

ABC1000001.MEM, ABC1000002.MEM, ABC1000003.MEM, ...

If you do not specify a filename, a filename will be assigned automatically. See "When saving files without specifying a filename" (p. 140).

#### Under [Add title comment], select whether to add a title comment to the filename.

Does not add a title comment to the filename.
Adds the title comment set on the [Record] sub tab to the filename.

If the **[Add title comment]** checkbox is selected, the filename will be as follows: Entered filename_Title comment.MEM

#### Under [Add trigger date/time], select whether to add date and time to the filename.

Does not add the trigger activation date and time to the waveform data filename.
Adds the trigger activation date and time to the end of the waveform data filename.

When the **[Add trigger date/time]** check box is selected, the file is named as below. *Entered filename_191224_235959_0001.MEM* (when the trigger activated at 23:59:59 on December 24, 2019)

#### **2** Under [Media], select the media to give priority when saving data.

#### SD card ^Ø, USB flash drive

When both an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive are inserted, the system will save data on the selected media.

If the selected media is not inserted, the system will save data on the other media.



3

Saving and Loading Data

#### **3** Under [Format] in the [Waveform data] area, select the auto save type.

OFF ^Ø	Does not perform auto-save operation.
Binary	Saves data in the instrument's dedicated format (binary format)
Text	Saves data in text format.
MDF(MF4)	Saves data in MDF format.

#### (When [Format] is set to [Text])

Under [Downsampling], select whether to perform downsampling.

When set to [ON], the size of the saved data file will be reduced.

OFF ^Ø, ON

#### (When **[Downsampling]** is set to **[ON]**) **Under [Decimation factor]**, select the decimation factor.

1/2 ^{II} to 1/100,000

е

Example: If set to [1/5], 1 data point out of every 5 data points will be left.

#### (When **[Downsampling]** is set to **[ON]**) **Under [Save data], select the data thinning method.**

Instant [∅]	Saves the first data point. Example: With a setting of [1/5], only the first of each group of five data points will be saved.
Statistics	Saves statistical data (maximum, minimum, and average values) in addition to instantaneous values (the first data point for each thinning interval). Example: With a setting of <b>[1/5]</b> , the instantaneous, maximum, minimum, and average values will be saved for each set of five data points.

## Under [Deleting], select the type of processing to perform if the media on which data is being saved runs out of space (as necessary).

OFF [∅]	Ends auto-save operation.
ON	Deletes the oldest waveform file and continues auto-save operation. If the system is unable to delete a file, it will stop saving data. Numerical calculation results will not be deleted.

#### Under [Folder splitting], select the timing at which to segment data (as necessary).

The folders in which data is saved can be segmented based on the set period of time.

Disable [⊠]	<ul> <li>Saves in a single folder such files containing data obtained during the amount of time set for recording. The folder will be segmented under the following conditions:</li> <li>When [File splitting] is set to [Disable]: Segments the folder by day.</li> <li>When the number of files in the folder has reached 1000: Switches the save destination over to folders with a sequential number appended to (for example, 19-12-23_0001).</li> </ul>
1 d	Segments folders by day.
1 week	Segments folders by week. A week is defined as lasting from Monday to Sunday.
1 month	Segments folders by month.



Example: If set to [1 week]

When measurement started on Sunday, December 29, 2019, the system will regard Monday, December 23, 2019 as the beginning of the week. The *19-12-23* folder will automatically be created.

Example: If set to [1 month]

When measurement started on December 29, 2019, the system will regard December 1, 2019 as the beginning of the month.

The 19-12-01 folder will automatically be created.

#### Under [File splitting], select the segmentation method (as necessary).

Saved files will be segmented based on the set period of time.

Disable [∅]	Creates one waveform file for each measurement. However, files will be segmented automatically if the file size exceeds 1 GB.
Enable	Segments files by the time specified in <b>[Split time]</b> from the start of measurement when saving waveform data. Under <b>[Split time]</b> , set the time by which to segment files. However, files will be segmented automatically if the file size exceeds 1 GB, even if the split time has not yet been reached.
Timed	Before files are saved, the segment time of the first file will automatically be adjusted so that data is segmented at regular intervals ([Split time]) based on the [Reference time]. (Only the first file will become shorter than the [Split time].) The following message will be displayed at the start of recording until the recording interval is synchronized relative to the reference time, at which point the instrument will enter the measurement start wait state: [Waiting reference].

#### (When [File splitting] is set to [Enable]) Under [Split time], set the time by which to segment files.

Day (0 to 30), hour (0 to 23), min. (0 to 59)

(When [File splitting] is set to [Timed])

Under [Reference time] set the time to use as the reference when segmenting files.

Hour (0 to 23), min. (0 to 59)

Under [Split time], set the interval at which to segment files.

1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 10 min ¹², 15 min, 20 min, 30 min, 1 h, 2 h, 3 h, 4 h, 6 h, 8 h, 12 h, 1 d

When measurement starts, the following message will be displayed until the recording interval is synchronized with the reference time: **[Waiting reference]**.

#### **4** Under [Format] in the [Numerical calculation results] area, select the auto save type.

OFF [⊠]	Does not perform auto-save operation.
Text	Saves data in text format.

#### Under [File splitting], select whether to segment saved files (as necessary).

Single file [∅]	Saves all numerical calculation results in one file.
Individual calc	Creates files segmented by calculation item, in addition to the file containing all of the calculations together. A calculation number is appended to such folders. Example: The filename for calculation No. 5 will be AUTO0001_05.CSV

#### Under [Time split calculation], select whether to segment the numerical calculation.

The setting is the same as the **[Time split calculation]** setting in the numerical calculation. See "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).



3

Saving and Loading Data

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [Settings...] under [Text format] is selected.

The settings window will open.

Text format		
Decimal symbol	Period	<b>•</b> 3
Delimiter	Comma	•
Date format	yy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss.0	🖃 t
1		Close

Under [Decimal symbol], select the symbol to use as the decimal point.

Period Use	ses a period (".") as the decimal point in numerical values.
Comma Use	ses a comma (",") as the decimal point in numerical values.

Both the **[Decimal symbol]** and the **[Delimiter]** settings cannot be set to **[Comma]**. When you set either **[Decimal symbol]** or **[Delimiter]** to **[Comma]**, the other will automatically switch over to a setting other than **[Comma]**. Under **[Delimiter]**, select the symbol to use as the delimiter. The file extension will change depending on the delimiter.

Comma	Uses a comma (",") as the delimiter. (Extension: .CSV)
Space	Uses a space character as the delimiter. (Extension: .TXT)
Tab	Uses a tab character as the delimiter. (Extension: .TXT)
Semicolon	Uses a semicolon (";") as the delimiter. (Extension: .TXT)

You cannot set both [Decimal symbol] and [Delimiter] to [Comma].

#### Under [Date format], select the date format.

This setting is available only with [Display horizontal axis] set to [Date]. (p.58)

yy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss.0 [⊠]	Outputs the date using the following format: 'YEAR (2-digit)-MONTH-DAY HOURS:MINUTES:SECONDS.MILLISECONDS. Dates output in this format will be treated as comments by spreadsheet software. Example: '20-12-01 23:59:59.999
yyyy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss + ms	Outputs the date using the following format, and treats time data less than 1 s (unit: ms) as separate data: YEAR (4-digit)-MONTH-DAY HOURS:MINUTES:SECONDS. Time data less than 1 s in duration will be displayed in a separate column by spreadsheet software. This format is convenient to use when you wish to combine CSV data acquired from different instruments using spreadsheet software. Example: 2020-12-01 23:59:59,999

Depending on the [Date format] and [Date delimiter] settings under [Localization (language)] (p.217), the following formats can also be selected: Same as [yy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss.0] above

yy/MM/dd, yy.MM.dd, MM-dd-yy, MM/dd/yy, MM.dd.yy, dd-MM-yy, dd/MM/yy, dd.MM.yy

Same as [yyyy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss + ms] above

yyyy/MM/dd, yyyy.MM.dd, MM-dd-yyyy, MM/dd/yyyy, MM.dd.yyyy, dd-MM-yyyy, dd/MM/yyyy, dd.MM.yyyy



#### Replacing (ejecting) media during real-time save operation

This section describes how to replace media while real-time saving is enabled. It also describes how to check data on media during extended recording.

#### WAVE



- **1** Press the ENTER key while [Eject] on the top right of the waveform screen is selected. The media exchange window will be displayed.
- **2** Select the media you wish to eject and press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

#### SD card ^{III}, USB flash drive

- **3** Once either [USB flash drive can be safely removed] or [SD card can be safely removed] has been displayed on the screen, eject the media.
  - Waveform data while the media was ejected is written to the instrument's internal buffer memory.
  - When both an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive are inserted, ejecting the media containing data will switch the save destination over to the other media.

#### **4** Insert formatted media.

When you insert media into the instrument, the instrument will save data that has been written to the internal buffer memory to the media, and then resume recording waveform data.

#### IMPORTANT

- If you do not finish the replacement of media within two minutes after pressing the ENTER key with [Eject] selected, the internal buffer memory could run out, resulting in data missing.
- When the media is replaced while real-time save operation is in progress, subsequent data will be saved in a different file.
- If measurement stops while the media is ejected, the data until the point at which measurement stopped will not be saved, even if new media is inserted after measurement stopped.
- If [FTP data auto send] is on, files that have not sent at the time when the ENTER key is pressed with [Eject] selected will not be sent.



## Manual saving (selective saving, immediate saving)

This section describes how to save data using the **SAVE** key. You can select the operation to perform when the **SAVE** key is pressed.

#### IMPORTANT

- Data can be saved while the instrument does not perform measurement has. Data cannot be saved while measurement is in progress.
- Only data saved in the internal buffer memory (the last 256 Mwords) can be saved. Use auto (real-time) saving if you need to save more than 256 Mwords of data. (p. 146)

#### SET > Measure > Manual save



#### **1** Under [SAVE key settings], select the operation to perform when the SAVE key is pressed.

Select & Save [⊠]	Displays the settings window when the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed. Data will be saved after you select what to save.
Quick save	Saves data immediately when the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed. The type of data set with <b>[Type]</b> will be saved.

## 2 Enter the filename to use when saving data in the [File name] field (up to 8 single-byte characters).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

If you do not specify a filename, a filename will be assigned automatically.

See "When saving files without specifying a filename" (p. 140).

For more information about file names and **[Add trigger date/time]**, see **[File name]** of selective save (p. 156).

#### **3** Under [Media], select the media on which to save data.

SD card ^Ø, USB flash drive

#### **4** Under [Type], select the type of data to save.

Waveform [∅]	Saves waveform data.
Screen shot	Saves a screen image. (PNG format)
Settings	Saves the instrument's setting conditions.
Calc results	Saves numerical calculation results.
A2L file	Used by the ECU measurement and calibration software. See "9.10 Sending Measurement Data Using XCP on Ethernet" (p.306).

#### (When **[Type]** is set to **[Waveform]**) Under **[Format]**, select the file format.

Binary [⊠]	Saves data in the instrument's dedicated format (binary format). You will be able to load binary-form data on the instrument and with the Logger Utility.
Text	Saves data in text format. Although you will be able to load text-form data with spreadsheet software, you will not be able to load it on the instrument or with the Logger Utility.
MDF(MF4)	Saves waveform data in the MDF format (Ver. 4). These files can be loaded on a PC using a waveform viewer that supports the MDF format. They cannot be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility.

If **[Text]** is selected, configure the text format settings under **[Settings...]**. See **[Settings...]** of **[Text]** in "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 150).

#### (When **[Type]** is set to **[Waveform]**) Under **[Range]**, select the range of data to save.

AII [∅]	Saves the waveform for the entire recorded length, without regard to the A/B cursors.
А-В	Saves the waveform between the A and B cursors.
Start-A	Saves the waveform from the beginning to the A cursor.
Start-B	Saves the waveform from the beginning to the B cursor.
A-End	Saves the waveform from the A cursor to the end.
B-End	Saves the waveform from the B cursor to the end.

See "Specifying a waveform range" (p. 100).

#### (When [Format] is set to [Text])

#### Under [Downsampling], select whether to perform downsampling.

When set to [ON], the size of the saved data file will be reduced.

OFF ^Ø, ON

#### (When **[Downsampling]** is set to **[ON]**) **Under [Decimation factor]**, select the decimation factor.

#### 1/2 ^{III} to 1/100000

Example: If set to [1/5], 1 data point out of every 5 data points will be left.



#### (When **[Downsampling]** is set to **[ON]**) **Under [Save data], select the data thinning method.**

Instant [⊠]	Saves the first data point. Example: With a setting of <b>[1/5]</b> , only the first of each group of five data points will be saved.
Statistics	Saves statistical data (maximum value, minimum value, and average value). Example: With a setting of <b>[1/5]</b> , the maximum, minimum, and average values will be saved for each set of five data points.

#### (When **[Type]** is set to **[Calc results]**) **Under [File splitting]**, select whether to segment saved files.

Single file [∅]	Saves numerical calculation results in a single file.
Individual calc	Saves numerical calculation results in a different file for each numerical calculation.

If the file containing waveform data exceeds 1 GB in size, it will be segmented into multiple one-gigabyte-sized (roughly) files and then saved.



Unit

### Selective save operation

This section describes how the system works when [Select & Save] is selected under [SAVE key settings].

#### Saving waveform data

**1** Press the SAVE key.

A window will be displayed.



2 Enter the filename in the [File name] field (up to 8 single-byte characters).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

When you enter a file name ending in a letter other than a number, the four-digit number 0001 will be appended to the entered name. This trailing number will increase in increments of one for the subsequent files.

Example: Filename: [ABC], Format : binary

ABC0001.MEM, ABC0002.MEM, ABC0003.MEM, ...

When you entered a file name ending in a number, the trailing number will increase in increments of one for the subsequent files.

Example: Filename: [ABC100], Format: binary

ABC100.MEM, ABC101.MEM, ABC102.MEM, . . .

If you do not specify a filename, a filename will be assigned automatically. See "When saving files without specifying a filename" (p. 140).

#### Under [Add trigger date/time], select whether to add date and time to the filename.

Does not add the trigger activation date and time to the waveform data filename.
Adds the trigger activation date and time to the end of the waveform data filename.

When the **[Add trigger date/time]** check box is selected, the file is named as below. *Entered filename_*191224_235959_0001.MEM (when the trigger activated at 23:59:59 on December 24, 2019)

**3** Under [Media], select the media on which to save data.

SD card ^Ø, USB flash drive

**4** Under [Type], select [Waveform].

Saving and Loading Data

#### **5** Under [Format], select the file format.

Binary [⊠]	Saves data in the instrument's dedicated format (binary format). You will be able to load binary-form data on the instrument and with the Logger Utility.
Text	Saves data in text format. Although you will be able to load text-form data with spreadsheet software, you will not be able to load it on the instrument or with the Logger Utility.
MDF(MF4)	Saves waveform data in the MDF format (Ver. 4). These files can be loaded on a PC using a waveform viewer that supports the MDF format. They cannot be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility.

If **[Text]** is selected, configure the text format settings while **[Settings...]** is selected. See **[Settings...]** of **[Text]** in "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 150).

#### **6** Under [Range], select the range of data to save.

All 🗹	Saves the waveform for the entire recorded length, without regard to the A/B cursors.
А-В	Saves the waveform between the A and B cursors.
Start-A	Saves the waveform from the beginning to the A cursor.
Start-B	Saves the waveform from the beginning to the B cursor.
A-End	Saves the waveform from the A cursor to the end.
B-End	Saves the waveform from the B cursor to the end.

See "Specifying a waveform range" (p.100).

#### (When [Format] is set to [Text])

#### Under [Downsampling], select whether to perform downsampling.

When set to [ON], the size of the saved data file will be reduced.

OFF ^Ø, ON

#### (When **[Downsampling]** is set to **[ON]**) **Under [Decimation factor], select the decimation factor.**

1/2 ^{II} to 1/100000

Example: If set to [1/5], 1 data point out of every 5 data points will be left.

#### (When [Downsampling] is set to [ON])

#### Under [Save data], select the data thinning method.

Instant [⊠]	Saves the first data point. Example: With a setting of <b>[1/5]</b> , only the first of each group of five data points will be saved.
Statistics	Saves statistical data (maximum value, minimum value, and average value). Example: With a setting of [1/5], the maximum, minimum, and average values will be saved for each set of five data points.

#### 7 Press the ENTER key while [Save] is selected.

Waveform data will be saved.



Saving setting conditions, screen images, and numerical calculation results

**1** Press the SAVE key.

A window will be displayed.

Interval 10 ms	🛛 Horz 1 min 💌 Display Wave+Set 💌 Gauge 🛛 All CH 💌	Eject
1 0.5		Settings 💌
0.8 . 0.4 .		U1-1 💌
0.6.0.3.	3 Media SD card ▼	✔ Measure Color
0.4 . 0.2 .	Type Calc results	nput
0. 2 . 0. 1 .	5 File splitting Single file 🔻 ettings	Voltage 💌 Range
0_0_		1 V 💌
-0. 2 -0. 1 -		Display
-0.40.2 -	6 Save Cancel	Position <u>▼</u> Zoom
-0.6 -0.3		x1 🔽
-0.8 -0.4		50%
-1 -0.5		Zo ro odi
[ v] [ v]	5m 10m	Auto hol
B: U1- 2 A: U1- 1	Start 20-02-07 14:20:09. 810 Follow	Auto-bal
SD USE 29. 9GB	cir 29.059 @	2020-02-07

- 2 Enter the filename in the [File name] field (up to 8 single-byte characters). See [File name] in "Saving waveform data" (p. 156).
- **3** Under [Media], select the media on which to save data.

SD card ^Ø, USB flash drive

**4** Under [Type], select the type of data to save.

Settings	Saves the instrument's setting conditions.
Screen shot	Saves the screen at the time the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed (PNG format).
Calc results	Saves numerical calculation results. (This setting is available only when performing numerical calculations.)

#### **5** (When [Type] is set to [Calc results])

Under [File splitting], select whether to segment saved files.

Single file [⊠]	Saves numerical calculation results in a single file.
Individual calc	Saves numerical calculation results in a different file for each numerical calculation.

#### Configure the text format settings while [Settings...] is selected.

See [Settings...] of [Text] in "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 150).

#### **6** Press the ENTER key while [Save] is selected.

The type of data selected in step **4** will be saved.

## Saving settings to the instrument's internal backup memory

This section describes how to save settings conditions to the instrument's internal backup memory. This functionality is convenient when no storage media (SD Memory Card or USB Drive) is available.

Up to five groups of settings (labeled No. 1 to No. 5) can be stored in the backup memory. The settings can be loaded automatically when the instrument is powered on. However, settings cannot be loaded in the following circumstances:

- When the start state retention function is enabled
- When the startup auto-function is enabled

Settings

>

Measure

SET

• When the setting you attempt to load contains the wireless module configuration different from the one at the time of the shutdown.

lecord				
luto save 🔨	Auto setup <mark>OFF 🔽</mark>			
lanual sav🤈	Settings data list			
Display 🦰	No. 1 Test1	Load	Save C	lear
Settings	No. 2 Test2	Load	Save C	lear
	No. 3 Test3	Load	Save C	lear
	No. 4	Load	Save C	lear
	No. 5 2020-12-02 17:26:38	Load	Save C	lear
	<u>ິ</u>	2	ន	Δ

## **1** Under [Auto setup], select whether to load settings conditions from the internal backup memory when the instrument is powered on.

OFF	Do not load settings automatically.
No. 1 to No. 5	Load the settings conditions with the specified group number.
Select	A dialog box asking the user to select a group (No. 1 to No. 5) will be displayed.

This function takes priority over settings loaded from the SD Memory Card or USB Drive by the auto setup function (p. 163).

If **[Auto setup]** is **[OFF]**, or if no data has been saved in the internal backup memory, the file **[STARTUP.SET]** will be loaded from the SD Memory Card or USB Drive.



## 2 Under [Settings data list], select the desired operation with regard to the internal backup memory.

Up to five groups of settings can be saved.

1	Comment	Changes the comment for groups No. 1 to No. 5. (Up to 20 double-byte or 40 single-byte characters) See "Text entry method" (p. 10). If the comment field is left blank, the title comment (p.66) will be automatically entered when saving the settings. If the title comment is left blank, the time and date at which the settings were saved will be entered as the comment (YYYY- MM-DD hh:mm:ss).
2	Load	Loads settings conditions from the internal backup memory. System settings (environmental settings and external terminals) and communications settings (LAN and USB settings) will not be loaded. Settings will not be loaded if the plug-in unit configuration is not the same as it was when the settings were saved.
3	Save	Saves settings conditions in the internal backup memory.
4	Clear	Deletes settings conditions from the internal backup memory.



## 3.4 Loading Data

This section describes how to load data that has been saved on media (an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive).

The LR8450/LR8450-01 can load the following two types of files saved with itself or other pieces of LR8450/LR8450-01 and CAN settings files (CES) saved by the PC application (CAN Editor).

- Waveform data (binary data)
- Setting conditions

The instrument cannot load waveform data saved in text format.

Settings files can be loaded automatically. See "Auto-setup function" (p. 163).

#### **1** Press the FILE key.

The file list screen will be displayed. The file list screen provides a list of folders and files.

SD	JSB 2			
🗊 42. 2MB / 2. 0GB	(2%) Eject			SELECT key: Menu
Name	Size	Туре	Date Modified	
	· · · ·	Folder	2019-11-22 18:38:30	
		Folder	2019-12-16 17:41:02	ר ה <u>ר</u>
	0001. SET 422. 66KB	SET File	2019-11-26 21:17:46	
🖻 💼 DATA		Folder	2020-01-8 16:54:32	
	EMEN I	Folder	2019-11-27 15:44:24 2019-11-26 21:03:54	
	-			
50 USB 29. 9GB				24 OFF @ 2020-02-07

2 Select the media on which the file you wish to load is stored with the FILE key.

SD ^{III}, USB

**3** Select the folder containing the data you wish to load with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the Right Arrow key.

CONFIG	Folder containing settings files
DATA	Folder containing waveform files

You can return to the previous folder by pressing the Left Arrow key.

**4** Select a file you wish to load with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys, and then press the ENTER key.



## **5** Select the file loading mode on the confirmation window, and press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

Select mode to load file. OVERWRITE mode VIEW mode	OVERWRITE mode	Saves the loaded data by overwriting the existing setting conditions. The instrument's present settings will change. The status bar will remain gray.
Loaded data is used for viewing. After exiting VIEW mode, backed up data will return. OK Cancel	VIEW mode	Loads the data to browse. The instrument's present settings will not change. The status bar will turn green.

#### **6** On the confirmation window, select the check boxes for the loading settings.

You can load the wireless module registration information (LR8450-01 only), system configurations (environments, external terminal), and communications settings (LAN, USB).

When the **[VIEW mode]** is selected, the instrument will load the wireless module registration information. (The check box cannot be selected.)

When loading waveform data, information about the saved waveform data will be displayed.

SD	USB										
🛅 13.3MB /	2.0GB (1%) E	ject				Ex	(it VIE)	N mode	SELECT	key:	Menu
im       13. 3MB /         Name       Image: Second state stat	2.0GB (1%) E File name Trigger tin Data num A Saved Ch Readable da Top of data Scope of da Load settin	ject ne ata num ata read ngs?	WAVE0001. M 2 20-05-27 319 Unit 1 319 2 20-05-27 Wireles System, Communi 6	IEM 13:58:42 1 13:58:42 - s unit info External cations (L/	'20-05-27 ormation AN, USB)	14:04:01		W mode 0 Cance I		key:	Menu
50 2. OGB								24	OFF Tch	2020-	05-28

#### Loading waveform data

The confirmation window will include information such as the trigger time and the channel number the data of which is saved.

If the file being loaded is larger than the capacity of the internal buffer memory, specify the start point of the waveform data to load. The system will load the data containing the number of data points specified in **[Readable data num]** starting at the specified point.

#### **7** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The data will be loaded.



#### **Overwrite mode**

Only when the configuration of the plug-in modules remains the same as that had been applied when the data was saved, the file can be loaded.

Attempting to load a file with the different configuration of the plug-in modules will cause a loading error.

#### View mode

When loading a file in View mode, the instrument will save the present settings in the internal buffer memory.

The setting condition will temporarily change; however, exiting View mode will enable the previous settings to restore.

The instrument cannot start measurement in View mode.

#### How to exit View mode

To exit View mode, execute any one of the following actions:

- Press the ENTER key while [Exit VIEW mode] on the file list screen is selected.
- Press the **START** key. (The instrument will start measurement after restoring the previous setting.)
- Press the **MONITOR** key.
- Load the file in overwrite mode.
- Turn off the instrument. Initialize the instrument. Send the communications command.

#### Auto-setup function

This section describes how to automatically load the setting file on startup.

Save the **[STARTUP.SET]** file in the **[CONFIG]** folder (under **[HIOKI]** > **[LR8450]**). The instrument will automatically load the file.

If both the SD Memory Card and the USB Drive contain the **[STARTUP.SET]** file, the instrument will preferentially load the file on the SD Memory Card.

The instrument can automatically load the settings saved in the instrument's internal backup memory.

See "Saving settings to the instrument's internal backup memory" (p. 159).



## 3.5 Managing Data

This section describes how to manage data stored on an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive that has been inserted into the instrument.

The following operations are available:

- Formatting the SD Memory Card or USB Drive (p. 143)
- Loading files (p. 161)
- Moving between folders (p. 165)
- Deleting data (p. 166)
- Renaming files or folders (p.167)
- Copying data (p. 168)
- Sorting files (p. 169)
- Updating file information (p. 170)

### Switching media (drives)

This section describes how to select the media (SD Memory Card or USB Drive) on which to perform file operations.

If an SD Memory Card is inserted into the instrument, the screen will display a list of files on the SD Memory Card.

If a USB Drive is inserted into the instrument, the screen will display a list of files on the USB Drive.



#### **1** Press the FILE key.

A screen listing the files on the SD Memory Card or USB Drive will be displayed.

#### **2** Press the FILE key.

Each time you press the **FILE** key, the display will switch between the SD Memory Card and the USB Drive.



## Moving between levels (folders)

This section describes how to move within folders or to the next higher level.

05				
SD USB				
📆 14.8MB / 2.0GB (1%) 🗾	ect			SELECT key: Menu
Name	Size	Туре	Date Modified	
	422.66KB Obytes	Folder Folder SET File SET File Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder Folder	2019-11-22 18:38:30 2019-12-16 17:41:02 2019-12-8 21:09:28 2019-11-26 21:17:46 2020-02-7 14:47:13 2020-01-8 16:54:32 2019-12-10 09:14:20 2019-12-16 17:29:00 2019-12-17 18:24:58 2019-12-18 13:32:58 2020-01-8 16:54:46	
	MEM 1.90MB MEM 192bytes	Folder MEM File MEM File Folder Folder	2020-02-7 14:45:32 2020-02-7 14:45:35 2020-02-7 14:53:21 2019-11-27 15:44:24 2019-11-26 21:03:54	
SO) (68) 29. 9GB				240F@ 2020-02-07

**1** Press the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys to select the folder to which you wish to move.

#### **2** Press the Right Arrow key or ENTER key.

The system will move to that folder.

**3** Press the Left Arrow key or ENTER key.

The system will move up one level (so that you exit that folder).

3



Unit

## **Deleting data**

This section describes how to delete a file or folder.

SD LISB						
30 2. 3MB / 1. 9GB (0%) Eject				Exit VIEW	mode SELECT	key: <u>Menu</u>
Name HIOKI CONFIG DATA DATA DATA DATA DATA NUTODOOI. MEM MEASUREMENT DICTURE System Volume Information FileInfo2. dat	Size           AUT00001.           939.68KB           93           2020-11-1           Rename           50 rt	Type Folder Folder MEM 10 10:39:02 Copy Media Format	Date Modifie 2020-09-09 2020-09-23 -17 -10 -10 -10 -23 -17 -20 -23 -17 -10 -23 -17 -10 -23 -17 -20 -23 -17 -10 -23 -17 -20 -23 -21 -20 -23 -21 -20 -23 -21 -20 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23 -23	ed 13:47:50 14:12:56 15:52:09 10:38:44 10:39:02 14:12:56 15:51:04 14:09:20 16:21:14		
50 1. 9GB					@ îr 🎅	2020-11-17

**1** Select the file or folder you wish to delete with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the SELECT key.

The file operations window will be displayed.

**2** Press the ENTER key while [Delete] is selected.

A confirmation window will be displayed.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key.

The file or folder will be deleted.

To prevent data from being inadvertently deleted, files in the [HIOKI], [LR8450], and [DATA] folders cannot be deleted.

Files whose read-only attribute is set cannot be deleted. Those files can be deleted on a computer.



### **Renaming files and folders**

This section describes how to rename a file or folder.

SD USB								
🗊 2.2MB / 1.9GB (0%) Eject				Exit VIEW	mode	SELECT	key:	Menu
Name HIOKI LR8450 DATA DATA 20-11-10 MEASUREMENT FileInfo2. dat	Size AUT00001 93° 38KB 93 20° 2°11- Rename Sort 61	Type Folder Folder MEM 10 10:39:02 Copy Media Format	Date Modif 2020-09-0 2020-09-2 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 -1	ied 9 13:47:50 3 14:12:56 7 15:52:09 0 10:39:04 0 10:39:02 3 14:12:56 7 15:51:04 9 14:09:20 6 16:21:14				
50 1.9GB					eu		2020	-11-17

**1** Select the file or folder you wish to rename with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the SELECT key.

The file operations window will be displayed.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key while [Rename] is selected.

A text entry window will be displayed. See "Text entry method" (p.10).

**3** Enter the new name and press the START key.

The filename will be changed.

You cannot rename the following folders: [HIOKI], [LR8450], and [DATA].

## **Copying data**

This section describes how to copy data and folders between an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive.



**1** Select the file or folder you wish to copy with the Up Arrow and Down Arrow keys and then press the SELECT key.

The file operations window will be displayed.

**2** Press the ENTER key while [Copy] is selected.

The copy destination window will be displayed.

Choose a copy o	destination f	older	
SD	▼	Root	
🖻 🚞 HIOKI			
📋 🚊 🔚 LR8450			
📋 🚊 CON	FIG		
📋 🚊 🚞 DAT.	A		
📋 🛛 🚊 1	19-12-10		
1 😐 🚞 1	19-12-16		
🔶 🚊 1	19-12-17		
1 🗄 🚞 1	19-12-18		
🗎 👘 🧰	20-01-08		
_ <u>⊕</u> = 2	20-02-07		
🗼 🖶 🖿 MEA	SUREMENT		
📥 📥 ріс	TIRE		

**3** Select the copy destination media and folder and press the ENTER key.

A confirmation window will be displayed. See "Moving between levels (folders)" (p. 165). If you select **[Root]**, you can specify the root folder on the media.

#### **4** Press the ENTER key.

The data will be copied.

You can copy folders up to eight levels deep.

Copying is not available if a file with the same name as the copy source exists at the copy destination.



#### **Sorting files**

This section describes how to sort files into ascending or descending order based on their filenames.

SD	USB								
🛅 2.4MB / 1	1.9GB(0%	) Eject				Exit VIEW	mode SE	LECT ke	y: Menu
Name			Size	Туре	Date Modi	fied			
🖨 🚞 HIOKI				Folder	2020-09-0	09 13:47:50			
📋 🖻 🚞 LR8	450			Folder	2020-09-2	23 14:12:56			
	CONFIG		AUT00001	. MEM		7 15:52:09			
	DATA 20-11-1	10	939 68KB			10 10:38:44			
		10 10001 MEM	<b>93</b> 2020–11–	10 10.30.02		0 10:39:04			
	MEASUREME	NT	2020 11	10 10:33:02		23 14:12:56			
	PICTURE		Rename	Сору	Delete -1	7 15:51:04			
🕀 🚞 System	n Volume	Information	Sort	Media Format	Update -(	09 14:09:20			
🛛 🖾 🗋 Filelr	nfo2. dat		61		Close ⁻¹	6 16:21:14			
🗊 1. 9GB							@ 1ch	22	2020-11-17 15:54:05

#### **1** Select media, and press the SELECT key on the file list screen.

The file operations window will be displayed.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key while [Sort] is selected.

A window will be displayed.



#### **3** Select the sort method.

Name ^Ø	Sorts based on filename.
Size	Sorts based on file size.
Туре	Sorts based on file type.
Date modified	Sorts based on the file's creation date.

File sorting also applies to all files stored on the selected media.

#### **4** Select the sort order.

Ascending order [⊠], Descending order

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The files will be sorted.

3

## Updating file information

This section describes how to update the file information.

Name       Size       Type       Date Modified         Image: HIOKI       Folder       2020-09-09       13:47:50         Image: HIOKI       Folder       2020-09-09       13:47:50         Image: HIOKI       Folder       2020-11-17       15:52:09         Image: HIOKI       Folder       2020-11-17       15:52:09         Image: HIOKI       Folder       2020-11-17       15:51:04         Image: HIOKI       Folder       Copy       Delete       -17         Image: HIOKI       Folder       Copy       Delete       11:12:56         Image: HIOKI       Folder       Copy       Delete       -17         Image: HIOKI       Folder       Copy       14:09:20         Image: HIOKI       Folder       Close       16:21:14
Name         Size         Type         Date Modified           HI0KI         Folder         2020-09-09         13:47:50           LR8450         Folder         2020-09-23         14:12:56           DATA         Folder         2020-11-17         15:52:09           DATA         Folder         2020-11-17         15:52:09           PICTURE         Folder         2020-11-17         15:51:04           System Volume Information         Sort         Media Format         Update         17           FileInfo2.dat         61         Sort         Media Format         Update         16:21:14

- **1** Select media, and press the SELECT key on the file list screen. The file operations window will be displayed.
- **2** Press the ENTER key while [Update] is selected. The file information will be updated.



## 3.6 Acquiring Data with a Computer (PC)

This section describes how to use the included USB cable to load data saved on an SD Memory Card inserted in the instrument onto a computer. "Activating USB drive mode" (p. 172) For more information about how to observe data with the Logger Utility, see the "Communications Command User Manual" on the included DVD. (p. 245)

You cannot use the included USB cable to load data stored on a USB Drive inserted in the instrument. Instead, insert the USB Drive into a USB connector on the computer to load the data.

### Connecting the USB cable

Data on an SD Memory Drive can be loaded by computers running the following operating systems: Windows 7, Windows 8, Windows 10, and Windows 11.

## 



Do not eject the SD Memory Card or unplug the USB cable while data is being transferred.

Doing so may prevent the data from being properly transferred.



Ensure the instrument and computer are grounded at the same potential.

Connecting the USB cable while the ground potentials differ between the instrument and computer could cause the instrument to malfunction or damage it.



Insert the USB cable's plug into the instrument's USB cable connector, exercising care to ensure that the plug is oriented properly.

Recognized as a removable disk



# 2 Connect the other end of the USB cable to the computer's USB connector.

The SD Memory Card connected to the instrument will be recognized as a removable disk by the computer.



Saving and Loading Data

## Activating USB drive mode

.

This section describes how to set the instrument to **[USB drive mode]** in order to communicate with a computer via USB.

Unit	Measure Char	nnel Trigger Alarr	m Calculation System
nvironment	_ LAN		
omm	DHCP server	OFF	Wireless LAN settings
xternal	Host name		Command settings
	IP address	192. 168. 1 . 1	FTP/HTTP server settings
	Subnet mask	255. 255. 255. 0	FTP data auto send settings
	Port number	880X	E-mail settings
	Gateway	OFF	NTP settings
	Gateway IP	0.0.0.0	GENNECT Cloud settings
	DNS	OFF	
	DNS IP	0.0.0.0	
		Арріу	
	USB	жµрту 	

**1** Connect the USB cable.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] under [USB drive mode] is selected. The instrument will switch to [USB drive mode].

The instrument cannot be operated while in USB drive mode. In addition, you cannot communicate with the instrument with the Logger Utility.

#### Canceling USB drive mode

See "Canceling USB drive mode" (p. 173).



. . . . .

## Canceling USB drive mode

This section describes how to cancel USB drive mode.



3



Unit

Acquiring Data with a Computer (PC)


# 4 Alarm (Alarm Output)



This chapter describes how to set alarm conditions for each measurement channel.

You can have the instrument sound a tone or output an alarm signal to an external device when measurement data satisfies the set condition.

For example, you can output an alarm when the recorded temperature becomes too high.

The following channels can be set as an alarm source: analog, pulse, logic, waveform calculations, and CAN. The following types of alarms can be set: level, window, slope, slope 2p (amount of change between two points), and pattern. Up to 100 alarm conditions can be set for CAN channels.

Alarm signals can be outputted from the external control terminals to external devices.

See "8 External Control (EXT. I/O)" (p.229).

If an alarm condition is satisfied when measurement starts, the alarm will be output immediately.

4.1 Configuring Alarms	p. 176
Setting shared alarm conditions for all channels	p. 176
Configuring channel-specific alarm settings	p. 179
Configuring CAN settings	p. 184
4.2 Checking Alarms	p. 186

## IMPORTANT

The logger is unable to detect alarm conditions when there is no data due to an interruption in communication with wireless modules. However, it can detect the alarm condition of the wireless module communication interruption.

When communication is reestablished with the wireless modules, the system will recover data and detect alarm conditions.

# 4.1 Configuring Alarms

# Setting shared alarm conditions for all channels

This section describes how to set shared alarm conditions that apply to all channels.

Alarm 1-8 <b>2</b>	larm bold	UN						
		ON						
Jnit 1 🛃 🖌	larm buzzer	ON						
Jnit 2 🔏 E	Event mark	0FF						
Unit 3 📕	larm history	First 100	•					
Unit 4		ALM1 AL	M2 ALM	3 ALM4	ALM	5 ALM	16 ALM	7 AL
Remote 1 💪	Condition	OR 🔻 OR	✓ OR	▼ OR	▼ OR	▼ OR	▼ OR	▼ OR
Pulse	larm							
Wave calc 🚺	Tc Burn out	ON 💌 OFF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF
8	Disconnect	Now 🚽 3min	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF
	Low Battery	ON 🗾 OFF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF	▼ 0FF

**1** Under [Alarm], set the alarm function to [ON].

# OFF ^Ø, ON

2 Under [Alarm hold], select whether to maintain alarm output.

OFF [∅]	Stops alarm output once the alarm condition is no longer satisfied. Use this setting when you wish to output an alarm only while the alarm condition is satisfied.
ON	<ul> <li>Once an alarm is outputted, maintains (continue) the alarm output until you release the alarm manually or stop measurement.</li> <li>Use this setting when you wish to maintain (continue) alarm output even if the alarm condition is no longer satisfied (i.e., even if conditions have returned to normal).</li> <li>If the alarm filter ([Filter]) (p. 178) is set to [OFF] Alarm retention will be applied to judgment results for the alarm sources you wish to monitor.</li> <li>Example: AND logic applied to U1-1 and U1-2 The satisfaction state for alarm conditions will be retained once the U1-1 alarm condition is no longer satisfied. Since the state will continue to be retained even if the U1-1 alarm condition is satisfied.</li> <li>If the alarm filter ([Filter]) (p. 178) is set to a value other than [OFF] Alarm retention will be applied to [ALM1] to [ALM8].</li> <li>Example: AND logic applied to U1-1 and U1-2 Alarm output will be retained only when both the U1-1 and U1-2 conditions are satisfied at the same time.</li> </ul>



# **3** Under [Alarm buzzer], select whether to sound an alarm tone when alarm output occurs.

OFF ^Ø, ON

**4** Under [Event mark], select whether to assign an event mark when an alarm occurs.

OFF ^Ø, ON

See "5.3 Assigning Event Marks When Alarms Occur" (p. 192).

## **5** Under [Alarm history], select an alarm group you wish to keep.

Start 100 [⊠]	Keep Alarms 1 through 100 in the history information. (Alarm 101 and later will be discarded.)
Latest 100	Keeps the latest 100 alarms in the history information. (Alarms older than the 100th older one will be discarded.) Alarm 999,999 and older can be kept in the history information.

Alarms issued during measurement, which started by pressing the **START** key, will be saved in the history. When the trigger setting is used, alarms issued in the trigger standby state will be saved in the history. (Those issued before the instrument started to record waveforms may be included.)

## **6** Under [Condition] for each alarm output ([ALM1] to [ALM8]), select the alarm condition.

OR [⊠]	Outputs an alarm when any of the alarm conditions that have been set for the channels is satisfied.
AND	Outputs an alarm when all of the alarm conditions that have been set for the channels are satisfied.

# 7 Under [Tc Burn out] for each alarm output ([ALM1] to [ALM8]), select whether to output an alarm when a thermocouple wire break is detected.

You can use the wire break detection when [Burn out] is set to [ON].

See "Measuring temperature (with thermocouples)" (p.30).

This type of alarm is output without regard to other alarm conditions (AND/OR logic).

OFF ^Ø, ON

# **8** Under [Disconnect] for each alarm output ([ALM1] to [ALM8]), select whether to output an alarm when communication with the wireless module is interrupted. (LR8450-01 only)

This type of alarm is output without regard to other alarm conditions (AND/OR logic). If communications with a wireless module are disrupted, the disruption event will be kept in the history information regardless of the alarm output setting.

OFF ^Ø	Does not output an alarm, even if communication is interrupted.
Now	Outputs an alarm immediately if communication is interrupted.
3min	Outputs an alarm once communication has been interrupted for 3 min.

# **9** Under [Low Battery] for each alarm output ([ALM1] to [ALM8]), select whether to output an alarm when the instrument battery or a wireless module battery has low remaining charge.

This type of alarm is output without regard to other alarm conditions (AND/OR logic).

OFF ^{III}, ON

SET >	Alarm	ן א	Alarm 1	-8					
	Unit	Measu	<b>1 2</b> h		Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Con	nmon		Filte			Comment			
Ala	arm 1—8	ALM1	2						
Uni	it 1	ALM2	5 _						
Uni	it 2	ALM3	User _	2					
Uni	it 3	ALM4	User	2					
Uni	it 4								
Ren	note 1	ALM7	OFF \						
Ren	note 2	ALM8	0FF						
Pul	se			<u> </u>					
Way	ve calc								
60	576. 4MB							🖗 👰 🧟 1ch 📘 🖬	2020-11-06 14:44:41

Configure each alarm channel ([ALM1] to [ALM8]).

# **1** Select the waveform display color.

× (OFF), 24 colors

# **2** Under [Filter] , select the number of data points.

The system will output an alarm if the alarm state continues for the set number of data points.

OFF ^{III}, 2, 5, 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, User

If alarm sources include a wireless module's channel, no filter may be applied during data recovering processes.

(When [Filter] is set to [User]) Set the number of data points.

2 ^{III} to 1000

**3** Under [Comment], enter a comment (as necessary).

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).



# Configuring channel-specific alarm settings

This section describes how to configure alarm functionality for individual channels.

## SET > Alarm > [Unit n], [Remote n] (n = 1, 2, ...), [Pulse], or [Waveform calculation]

### **Settings list screen**

Unit	Measure	Cha	nnel	Trigger	Alarm	Calcula	ation	System	
Common	Сору								
Alarm 1-8		ALM1	ALM2	ALM3	ALM4	ALM5	ALM6	ALM7	ALM8
Unit 1 🥤	U1-1	Level	Window	Slope	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
Unit 2 🧧	U1-2	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
Unit 3	U1-3	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
Unit 4	U1-4	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
Pulse	U1-5	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
W	U1-6	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
wave calc	U1-7	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-8	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-9	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-10	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-11	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-12	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-13	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-14	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
	U1-15	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF	0FF
50 🔢 29. 9GB								24 OFF @ *	\$ 2020-02-07 \$T 17:19:48

**1** Press the ENTER key while [Un-m], [Rn-m], [Pm], or [Wm] in the channel you wish to observe is selected (m = 1, 2, ...).

A window with channel-specific alarm settings will open.



# Individual settings window

Unit

Alarm type	Setting d	lescription	Operation	Description
OFF [⊠]		-	_	Disables the alarm function.
Level	Slope	↑ [∞] , ↓	Level Alarm Slope	Outputs an alarm when the measurement data is greater than or equal to the specified level.
	Level	Enter a value.	Input waveform	Outputs an alarm when the measurement data is less than the specified level. However, only if the pulse-channel level is specified at zero, an alarm is output when the pulse-channel measurement data is also equal to zero.
Window	Direction	IN [∅] , OUT	Lower limit value	Outputs when the measurement data remain between the lower and upper limits.
	Upper and lower limit values	Enter values.	Lower limit value	Outputs when the measurement data is less than the lower or more than the upper limit. However, only if the pulse- channel upper or lower limit value is specified at zero, an alarm is output when the pulse-channel measurement data is also equal to zero.

**2** Configure alarm settings for each channel you wish to monitor ([ALM1] to [ALM8]).





*1: Integral multiples of the data refresh interval of the module can be set for the time figure.

### *2: Slope example

- With a level of 5°C and a time of 5 s
- 1. With a recording interval of 5 s
- An alarm will be output if the current measured value differs from the previous measured value by more than 5°C.
- Example data: 20°C, 25.1°C
- With a recording interval of 1 s
   An alarm will be output if each current measured value differs from its previous measured value by more than 1°C for five data points in a row.
   Example data: 20°C, 21.1°C, 22.2°C, 23.3°C, 24.4°C, 25.5°C



System

Co	Wave 🔽 10 s 💌	Gauge Channel Unit 1 VI-1	
AI	0. 8		
Un	0.6	ALM Window 4 IN	1.5 5 -1.5 6
Un Pu	0.4	ALM Slope 2p 101	1 [00:00:10 8] (1/0:00:10) 9 2 11 [00:00:01 200ms] 12
Wa	0. 2	UI-4 ALM OFF	
	-0. 2	ALM OFF	
	-0.4	U1-2. U1-5.	
	-0.6		
	-1		
	U1- 1 0. 0035V		
			Close 23
	<b>A A A</b>		• Lovel and time used to judge what

<b>1</b> Al	larm type	9	Level and time used to judge whether alarm
<b>2</b> SI	lope for Alarm [Level]		For the module
<b>3</b> Le	evel for Alarm [Level]*		When the data refresh interval or recording interval is longer than the value set in Box 8
<b>4</b> Di	irection for Alarm [Window]		the data refresh interval or recording interval,
<b>5</b> Up	pper limit value for Alarm <b>[Window]</b> *		<ul> <li>whichever is longer, will be set.</li> <li>For the pulse or waveform calculation</li> </ul>
<b>6</b> Lo	ower limit value for Alarm [Window]*		When the recording interval is longer than
<b>7</b> Le	evel for Alarm [Slope]*		recording interval.
8 Tii Th a v	me for Alarm <b>[Slope]</b> he alarm slope time cannot be set to value that is less than 1 sec.		In both cases, the level is calculated as follows: (Level) = (Value set in Box <b>7</b> ) × {(Time)/(Value set in Box <b>8</b> )}.
		10	Slope for Alarm [Slope 2p]
		11	Level for Alarm [Slope 2p]*
		12	Period for Alarm <b>[Slope 2p]</b> A period of up to less than 24 hours and

*: The instrument expresses strain in terms of micro epsilon (με). You do not need to enter the SI prefix micro (μ).

equivalent of 1000 samples can be set.



# **3** When the input type of the logic channel (P1 to P8) is set to [Logic] (p.45) Press the ENTER key while [Logic] is selected.

Under [Conditions], select the condition for activating the alarm.

OFF	Does not use alarms based on logic signals.
OR	Outputs an alarm when any of the patterns is satisfied.
AND	Outputs an alarm when all of the patterns are satisfied.





Unit

# **Configuring CAN settings**

This section describes how to select CAN channels as alarm conditions. Up to 100 channels can be specified.



1	1 to 100	100 alarm conditions
2	Un-m Rn-m	<ul> <li>(n = 1, 2,), (m = 1, 2,)</li> <li>Displays the CAN Unit numbers and channel numbers that are currently configured.</li> <li>Pressing the ENTER key will open the "Individual settings" window.</li> </ul>
3	Edit	Indicates that the CAN channel is not selected. Pressing the ENTER key will open the "Individual settings" window. See "CAN individual settings window" (p. 185).
4	Comment	Displays the CAN channel's comment.
5	Ch type	Displays the CAN channel's type.
6	ID	Displays the CAN channel's ID.
7	ALM1 to ALM8	Displays the alarm type.



Co	Wave - 10 s - (	Gauge Alarm No	Þ 1					M
A I Un	90	2 - CAN Cha Unit 3	nnel ——	1 Data	a 1h			
Un	80		test1					
Re	70	Alarm —				-		
Re Re	60	ALM1 Leve	el <u>▼</u> dow <del>▼</del>	↑ <u> </u>	0 80	-80		
Pu	50	ALM3 Slop	be 🔽		0	00:00:01	(0/0:00:01)	
Wa	40	ALM4 OFF	•					
CA	30	ALM5 OFF	<u> </u>					
	20	ALMO OFF	<u> </u>					
	10	ALM8 OFF	<b>_</b>					
		U3-6						
	0 <u> </u>	U3-1						
ŝ							Close	³⁸

# CAN individual settings window

- **1** Under [Alarm No], select the trigger number from the 100 alarm conditions.
- **2** Under [CAN Channel], set the CAN unit and channel to specify as the alarm condition. The channel type, ID, and comment for the specified CAN channel will be displayed.
- **3** The channel type, ID, and comment for the specified CAN channel will be displayed.

OFF	Disables the alarm function.
Level	See "Level" (p. 180).
Window	See "Window" (p. 180).
Slope	See "Slope" (p. 181).



Unit

# 4.2 Checking Alarms

This section describes how to check whether any alarms have occurred on the [Alarm] screen.



# **1** Press the WAVE key several times to display the [Alarm] screen.

ALM1 to ALM8	Red: Alarm output; Green: No alarm output
No.	Alarm memory number (assigned in order that alarms occur, starting with 1)
ALM	Alarm number (ALM1 to ALM8), COMM, SYNC
UNIT-CH	Module and channel number
Error	Type of error (thermocouple wire break, disconnect, synchronization error, low battery, sampling correction halt)
Time of occurrence	Time at which the alarm occurred
Time of cancellation	Time at which the alarm was cleared
	ALM1 to ALM8 No. ALM UNIT-CH Error Time of occurrence Time of cancellation

- The alarm memory stores up to 100 alarms.
- Communication disruption errors and synchronization errors (event record) will be logged regardless of the alarm settings.
- · Alarms occurring after the start of measurement are recorded in the log.

**2** Under [Display alarm], select the alarm number for which you wish to display an alarm history.

The history for the selected alarm number ([ALM1] to [ALM8], [COMM], [SYNC]) will be displayed.

ALL ^ℤ, ALM1, ALM2, ALM3, ALM4, ALM5, ALM6, ALM7, ALM8, COMM, SYNC

To display all alarms, select [ALL].

Scroll through the alarm history using the SCROLL/CURSOR keys.

[COMM]: Communications with the wireless module disrupted

[SYNC]: Synchronization with the wireless module failed



# **3** (When you wish to review the waveform from when the alarm occurred)

## Specify the alarm memory number and press the ENTER key while [Jump] is selected.

The waveform starting at the time the specified alarm occurred will be displayed. When you select the alarm history not included in the recorded waveform data, such as those issued in the trigger standby state before the pre-trigger period, no waveforms will be displayed.

## **4** While [Auto scroll] is selected, select whether to scroll the alarm history automatically.

## OFF, ON ^Ø

When you use the SCROLL/CURSOR to scroll the screen, the [Auto scroll] setting will be set to [OFF] automatically.

## **5** (When you wish to manually clear an alarm)

## With [Alarm hold] is set to [ON], press the ENTER key while [Clear] is selected.

Alarms cannot be cleared while the associated alarm conditions remain satisfied.

For more information about the **[Alarm]**, **[Alarm hold]**, and **[Alarm buzzer]** settings, see "4.1 Configuring Alarms" (p. 176).



Checking Alarms



# **5** Marking Functionality



This chapter describes how to assign event marks to waveforms during measurement.

(Up to 1000 marks can be assigned.)

You can also search for event marks and jump to their display positions.

Event marks can be assigned by means of the following four methods:

- Pressing the **START** key during measurement
- Press the ENTER key while [Mark] is selected.
- Input the signal in the I/O 1 to 3 terminals during measurement.
- Previously set the event mark setting so that event marks can be assigned when alarms occur

5.1 Assigning Event Marks during Measurementp. 190
5.2 Assigning Event Marks with an External Signalp. 191
5.3 Assigning Event Marks When Alarms Occurp. 192
5.4 Searching for Event Marksp. 193
5.5 Reviewing Events in CSV Datap.194



# 5.1 Assigning Event Marks during Measurement

Assigning event marks to coincide with operation of the measurement target during measurement can help facilitate later analysis.

You can then review how the waveform changed when the measurement target performed certain operations.

When you press the **START** key during measurement, the **[V]** marks and numbers will appear on the top of the screen. You can assign up to 1000 event marks for a measurement process. When another measurement process starts, the event numbers will be reset.

The following procedure describes how to assign event marks.



# **1** Press the WAVE key to display the [Wave+Set] screen.

# **2** Under [Settings], select [Event].

A number of event mark settings will be displayed.

# **3** Press the ENTER key while [Mark] is selected.

An event mark and number will appear at the top of the screen. Press the **ENTER** key when you wish to assign the event mark.

T	Dis	splay	Wave	+Set	-		Gauge	
	ļ		2		<u> </u>	<mark>4</mark> :	5	
	_							



# 5.2 Assigning Event Marks with an External Signal

You can assign event marks by inputting external signals. This function must be configured before measurement begins.

External

SET

System

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
	2 V	oltage output 1	VOUTPUT 1 OFF		-		
External	3 V	oltage output 2	VOUTPUT 2 OFF				
	22	Alarm output 1	ALM 1	Low			
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low			
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low			
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low			
	27	Alarm output 5	ALM 5	Low			
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low			
	29	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low	2		
	30	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low			
					Start		
	19 <mark>7</mark> E	xternal input 1	I/0 1 Even	t input			
	20 [—] E	xternal input 2	1/0 2 OFF				
	32	xternal input 3	1/0 3 OFF				
	33 E	xternal output	1/0 4 0FF		-		

- **1** Under [External input 1] to [External input 3], select [Event input].
- 2 Under [Start], select the slope at which to assign the event mark.

1	Assigns the event mark at the pulse's rising edge.
$\downarrow$ $\bowtie$	Assigns the event mark at the pulse's falling edge.

**3** Input the pulse to the input terminal (I/O 1 to I/O 3) with the [Event input] setting.

An event mark and number will be assigned at the edge of the entered pulse.



See "External control connections" in the Quick Start Manual and "8 External Control (EXT. I/O)" (p.229).

# 5.3 Assigning Event Marks When Alarms Occur

This section describes how to assign event marks when alarms occur. This function must be configured before measurement begins.



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigg	ge r		Alarm	Calcula	tion	ı Sy	stem			
Common	Alarm	0	N										
Alarm 1-8	Alarm hold	0	N										
Unit 1	Alarm buzzer	0	N										
Unit 2 🥤	Event mark	0	N										
Unit 3		ALM1	ALM2	ALN	13	ALM4	ALM5		ALM6	ALM7		ALM	3
Unit 4	Condition	OR 💌	OR 💌	OR	•	OR 💌	OR	- 0	R 💌	OR	•	OR	•
Pulse	Alarm												
Wave calc	Tc Burn out	ON 💌	0FF 💌	0FF	•	0FF 🚬	0FF	<b>-</b> 0	FF 💌	0FF	•	0FF	•
	Wireless err	Now 💌	0FF 💌	0FF	•	0FF 💌	0FF	• 0	FF 💌	0FF	•	0FF	•
	Low Battery	ON 💌	0FF 💌	0FF	•	0FF 💌	0FF	<b>-</b> 0	FF 🗾	0FF	•	0FF	•
20 OCR										a	*	_ 2020-02-	07

**1** Under [Event mark], select whether to add an event mark when an alarm occurs.

# OFF ^Ø, ON

If you set it to [ON], an event mark and number will be assigned when an alarm occurs.

See "4 Alarm (Alarm Output)" (p. 175).



# 5.4 Searching for Event Marks

This section describes how to search for the desired event mark and jump to its position.



# **1** Press the WAVE key to display the [Wave+Set] screen.

# **2** Under [Settings], select [Event].

A number of event mark settings will be displayed.

- **3** Under [Move No.], specify the number of the event mark to which you wish to jump.
- **4** Press the ENTER key while [Move] is selected.

The display will move to the event mark specified with [Move No.].

# Searching without specifying an event number

- Press the ENTER key while [Prev Evt] is selected.
   The system will search for the event mark with the previous number.
- Press the ENTER key while [Next Evt] is selected. The system will search for the event mark with the next number.

# 5.5 Reviewing Events in CSV Data

When you save waveform data in text (CSV) format with the instrument, event numbers will be included next to the measurement data.

You can review which events were associated with which data values.

### Event no.

File name	AUT 0_191:	V0.9-C06										
Title comm	nent											
Trigger Tin	19-12-09	19:12:18.44	17									
сн	U1 -1	U1-2	U1-3	U1-4	U1-5	U1-6	U1-7	U1-8	U1-9	U1-10		
Mode	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage	Voltage		
Range	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV	100mV		
UnitID												
Comment												
Scaling	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF		
Ratio	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1.00E+00	1	
Offset	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+0(	<b>`</b> —●——	1
Time	U1-1[V]	U1-2[V]	U1-3[V]	U1-4[V]	U1-5[V]	U1-6[V]	U1-7[V]	U1-8[V]	U1-9[V]	U1-10[V]	Event	
0.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-3.08E-03	-2.80E-03	-6.14E-03	-5.00E-04	-7.56E-03	-6.30E-04	-6.16E-03	-3.32E-03	-2.56E-0	0	
1.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-3.67E-03	-2.42E-03	-6.50E-03	-2.85E-04	-7.62E-03	-7.60E-04	-5.71 E-03	-3.73E-03	-2.33E-0	0	
2.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-4.18E-03	-2.08E-03	-6.70E-03	-1.85E-04	-7.48E-03	-1.19E-03	-5.29E-03	-4.21 E-03	-1.82E-0	0	
3.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-4.98E-03	-1.64E-03	-7.10E-03	-1.00E-04	-7.34E-03	-1.37E-03	-4.80E-03	-4.92E-03	-1.54E-0	0	
4.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-5.73E-03	-1.31 E-03	-7.27E-03	-1.85E-04	-7.09E-03	-2.07E-03	-4.28E-03	-5.43E-03	-1.11 E-0	1	
5.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-6.34E-03	-9.55E-04	-7.54E-03	-2.15E-04	-6.89E-03	-2.62E-03	-3.98E-03	-6.09E-03	-8.80E-0	0	
6.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-6.79E-03	-6.40E-04	-7.60E-03	-4.05E-04	-6.41 E-03	-2.99E-03	-3.11 E-03	-6.38E-03	-4.55E-0	0	
7.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-7.27E-03	-3.05E-04	-7.62E-03	-6.00E-04	-6.02E-03	-3.47E-03	-2.56E-03	-6.65E-03	-2.70E-0	2	
8.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-7.50E-03	-1.65E-04	-7.53E-03	-8.40E-04	-5.49E-03	-3.95E-03	-2.14E-03	-6.96E-03	-4.50E-0!	0	
9.00E+00	-2.40E-04	-7.89E-03	-1.50E-05	-7.48E-03	-1.22E-03	-5.11 E-03	-4.41 E-03	-1.74E-03	-7.26E-03	-4.00E-0!	0	
1.00E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.14E-03	-7.00E-05	-7.24E-03	-1.42E-03	-4.59E-03	-5.08E-03	-1.41 E-03	-7.49E-03	4.00E-0!	3	
1.10E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.31 E-03	-3.50E-05	-7.09 E-03	-1.85E-03	-4.26E-03	-5.39E-03	-1.17E-03	-7.59E-03	-4.00E-0!	0	
1.20E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.40E-03	-1.05E-04	-6.75E-03	-2.37E-03	-3.82E-03	-5.85E-03	-8.15E-04	-7.76E-03	-8.50E-0!	4	
1.30E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.47E-03	-2.60E-04	-6.48E-03	-2.78E-03	-3.25E-03	-6.21 E-03	-5.90E-04	-7.88E-03	-3.35E-0	0	
1.40E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.29E-03	-4.85E-04	-6.08E-03	-3.36E-03	-2.53E-03	-6.62E-03	-2.40E-04	-7.86E-03	-5.45E-0	0	
1.50E+01	-2.40E-04	-8.22E-03	-7.40E-04	-5.49E-03	-3.77E-03	-2.13E-03	-6.93E-03	-1.60E-04	-7.80E-03	-8.60E-0	5	
1.60E+01	-2.40E-04	-7.78E-03	-1.19E-03	-4.92E-03	-4.51 E-03	-1.61 E-03	-7.33E-03	0.00E+00	-7.59E-03	-1.27E-0	0	
1.70E+01	-2.40E-04	-7.38E-03	-1.65E-03	-4.35E-03	-5.22E-03	-1.17E-03	-7.58E-03	-3.50E-05	-7.23E-03	-1.93E-0	0	
1.80E+01	-2.40E-04	-6.69E-03	-2.36E-03	-3.68E-03	-5.85E-03	-7.25E-04	-7.82E-03	-1.50E-04	-6.88E-03	-2.49E-0	0	
1.90E+01	-2.35E-04	-6.07E-03	-2.94E-03	-2.77E-03	-6.38E-03	-3.45E-04	-7.81 E-03	-4.60E-04	-6.33E-03	-3.22E-0	0	
2.00E+01	-2.35E-04	-5.03E-03	-3.74E-03	-2.06E-03	-6.82E-03	-3.00E-05	-7.80E-03	-8.30E-04	-5.64E-03	-3.80E-0(	0	
2.10E+01	-2.35E-04	-4.16E-03	-4.51 E-03	-1.49E-03	-7.29E-03	3.00E-05	-7.48E-03	-1.33E-03	-4.82E-03	-4.92E-0	6	
2.20E+01	-2.35E-04	-3.18E-03	-5.33E-03	-9.40E-04	-7.65E-03	3.00E-05	-7.13E-03	-2.09E-03	-4.22E-03	-5.52E-0	0	
2.30E+01	-2.35E-04	-2.22E-03	-6.02E-03	-4.95E-04	-7.75E-03	-2.20E-04	-6.59E-03	-2.89E-03	-3.17E-03	-6.17E-0	0	J

# Numerical and Waveform Calculations



6

The instrument can perform numerical and waveform calculations.

You can use numerical calculations to calculate values such as the maximum value and minimum value for measured waveforms.

Waveform calculation functionality allows you to perform calculations on waveforms, for example by adding or multiplying waveforms from different channels.

# 6.1 Performing Numerical Calculations......p. 196

Configuring numerical calculations	.p.198
Real-time numerical calculations (automatic calculations)	.p.201
Numerical calculations after measurement (manual calculations)	.p.202
Partial numerical calculations	.p.203
Numerical calculation formulas	.p.204

# 6.2 Performing Waveform Calculations......p.206

Configuring calculations on the calculation list screen	p.211
Copying calculation formulas	p.212
Configuring waveform calculation settings at once	p.213



# 6.1 Performing Numerical Calculations

There are two methods for performing numerical calculations:

Performing calculations during measurement (real-time automatic calculations)
 Configure the desired numerical calculations and start measurement. Calculations will then be performed in real time during measurement.
 You can review the most recent numerical calculation results on the [Wave+Value] waveform

You can review the most recent numerical calculation results on the [Wave+Value] waveform screen.

Performing calculations after measurement (manual calculations)

Use the instrument's control keys to start the calculation after measurement has completed.



In the following instances, calculated values and saved data are treated as described in "11.15 Data Handling" (p.444).

- When the waveform significantly exceeds the range's measurement scope (+OVER, -OVER)
- When the instrument detects a thermocouple wire break during temperature measurement (wire break detection)

If data acquired across the calculation target channel includes the **[NO DATA]** points, which resulted from communications disruption or other reasons, the data will be exempted from the calculation target.



If data in the calculation range is occupied by the **[NO DATA]** points, the string **[NO DATA]** is displayed on the instrument's screen, and the numerical calculation result **[1.7976931348623157e+308]** will be saved.



Unit

# **Configuring numerical calculations**



# **1** Under [Numerical calculation], set the numerical calculation function to [ON].

OFF^Ø, ON

# **2** Under [Time split calculation], select the file saving method used for the auto-save.

Disable [⊠]	Performs the numerical calculation using all data acquired from the measurement start to the measurement stop, and then saves the calculation results.
Enable	Segments the data set into those with a length of the set interval beginning from the measurement start*, performs calculations using the segmented data sets, and saves the calculation results by interval basis. *: When the trigger setting is enabled, segments the data set beginning from the start trigger point.
Timed	The first interval length will automatically be adjusted so that calculation values yielded at regular intervals ([Split time]) base on the [Reference time] are saved. (Only the first interval will become shorter than the [Split time].)

If the **[Enable]** or **[Timed]** setting has been selected, calculation results will be saved for each time interval. When the numerical calculation result type for the auto-save is set to **[OFF]**, the **[Time split calculation]** setting is disabled.

See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p.146).

Set the format for numerical calculation results to [Text (CSV)].

# (When **[Time split calculation]** is set to **[Enable]**) **Under [Split time], set the time interval at which to perform the calculation.**

### 0 days 00:01 to 30 days 23:59

For example, if the segment time is set to 10 min., the calculation will be performed, and the calculation results saved, every 10 min.



## (When [Time split calculation] is set to [Enable]) Under [Reference time], set the time to use as the reference when segmenting files

Hour (0 to 23), min. (0 to 59)

### Under [Split time], set the interval at which to segment files.



Calculation results will be saved at the specified interval starting at the reference time.

The initial interval after the start of measurement will be automatically adjusted so that results are saved at the segment time as measured from the reference time.

#### 3 Under [Type], select the type of numerical calculation.

You can set up to 10 numerical calculations at the same time.

Average	Calculates the average value.
P-P	Calculates the difference between the minimum and maximum values (the peak-to-peak value).
Maximum	Calculates the maximum value.
Minimum	Calculates the minimum value.
Time to max	Calculates the time from the start of recording until the maximum value.*
Time to min	Calculates the time from the start of recording until the minimum value.*
Aggregation	Calculates the integrated value.
Integration	Calculates the integral value.
Usage ratio	Calculates the rate at which the measured value is greater than the threshold value.
ON time	Calculates the total time for which the measured value is greater than the threshold value.
OFF time	Calculates the total time for which the measured value is less than the threshold value.
ON count	Calculates the number of times the measured value crosses the threshold value in the rising direction.
OFF count	Calculates the number of times the measured value crosses the threshold value in the falling direction.

*: Calculates the time from the trigger point when the trigger is used.

Only one threshold value can be set for each channel. If you specify the same channel for the ON and OFF time, the same threshold value will be used.

#### 4 Under [Target CH], select the channel for which to perform the numerical calculation.

All CH [⊠]	Performs the numerical calculation using waveforms for all channels. Set the threshold value on the channel screen.
Unit n	Performs the numerical calculation using the waveform for the specified channel only. $(n = 1, 2,)$
Pulse	Performs the numerical calculation for a pulse waveform. (P1 to P8)
Wave calc	Performs the numerical calculation using a waveform generated by a waveform calculation. (W1 to W30)



- 5 (When [Target CH] is set to a value other than [All CH])Set the individual channel for which the calculation is to be performed.
- 6 (When [Type] is set to [Usage ratio], [ON time], [OFF time], [ON count], or [OFF count])
   Under [Threshold], set the reference value.
   See "Value entry method" (p.9).
- 7 (When [Type] is set to [Aggregation] or [Integration]) Select the calculation method.

For information about the calculation methods, see "Numerical calculation formulas" (p.204).

Total ^Ø	Calculates the difference between the integration or area enclosed by the zero position and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is positive and the integration or area enclosed by the zero position and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is negative.
Positive	Calculates the integration or area enclosed by the zero position and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is positive.
Negative	Calculates the integration or area enclosed by the zero position and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is negative.
ABS	Calculates the integration or area enclosed by the zero position and the signal waveform.

SET > Measure > Auto save

Unit	Measu re Channe	l Trigger	A	larm	Calculation	System		
Record								
Auto save	File name	🔲 Add t	itle	comment				
Manual save		🔲 Add t	rigge	Rite/t	ime			
Display	Media SD card	<b>•</b>						
Settings	_ Waveform data ———			⊢ Numeri	ical calculation	results —		
CAN	Format	0FF	•	Format		Text		
	Downsampling	ON		File s	plitting	Single fi	le 🔽	
	Decimation factor		1/2	Time s	plit calculation	on Enable 🔽		
	Save data	Instant		Split	time	0 Days 00:10		
	Deleting	0FF		Text fo	rmat	Setti	ngs	
	Folder splitting	Disable						
	File splitting	Enable	•					
	Split time	0 Days 00:10	D					
							2022-05-17	
SD 2.0GB							12:29:23	

8 (When saving the numerical calculation results)
 Auto saving: Configure the settings in the [Numerical calculation results] area. (See p. 150.)
 Manual saving: Under [Type], select [Calc results]. (See p. 154.)



# Real-time numerical calculations (automatic calculations)

This section describes how to perform numerical calculations while measurement is in progress. It also describes how to review calculation results at a given point in time on the **[Wave+Value]** screen during measurement.

**1** Configure the numerical calculation.

See "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).

**2** Press the START key to start measurement.

Numerical calculations will be performed in real time.

**3** Press the WAVE key to display the [Wave+Value] screen.



# 4 Set the numerical display on the right side of the screen to [Calc].

The numerical calculation results will be displayed, allowing you to review the calculation results at any given point in time.

## **5** Select a numerical calculation of which you wish to display the result.

You can select a numerical calculation of which you wish to display the result from among [Calc 1] through [Calc 10].

6 (When [Time split calculation] is set to [Enable]) Select a numerical calculation of which you wish to display the result.

Normal [⊠]	Displays the values calculated using data from the start of measurement.
Split	Displays the calculated values updated at regular intervals.

When **[Split]** have been selected, the first segmented time (can be changed to the date or number of data points under **[Display horizontal axis]**) will be displayed underneath the calculation results table.

Trigger Alarm

Calculation

System

## 7 Switch the channel using the [<] and [>] keys (as necessary).

Channel

Measure

You can change the channel for which to display calculation results.

# Numerical calculations after measurement (manual calculations)

This section describes how to use the instrument's control keys to perform numerical calculations after measurement.

You can review calculation results by displaying the **[Wave+Value]** screen and then setting the numerical display on the right side of the screen to **[Calc]**.

- **1** Press the START key to start measurement.
- **2** Once measurement completes, configure the numerical calculation.

See "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).

**3** Press the WAVE key to display the [Wave+Value] screen.



# **4** Set the numerical display on the right side of the screen to [Calc].

The numerical calculation's settings will be displayed.

## **5** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] is selected.

The numerical calculation set in step 2 will be performed.

Numerical calculations can also be performed using waveforms that have been loaded from media (an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive). Once the waveform has been loaded, proceed to step **2** above.

Time split calculation cannot be performed manually.



# Partial numerical calculations

If performing manual calculations, you can specify the range over which to perform the calculation. The numerical calculation will be performed after the range has been specified with the A/B cursors (vertical).

#### 1 Specify the range with the A/B cursors.

For information about how to specify the range, see "Specifying a waveform range" (p. 100)



# 2 Set the numerical display on the right side of the screen to [Calc].

The numerical calculation's settings will be displayed.

#### 3 Select the range over which to perform the calculation.

All 🛛	Performs the calculation using the waveforms for the entire recorded length, without regard to the A/B cursors.
A-B	Performs the calculation using the waveforms between the A and B cursors.
Start-A	Performs the calculation using the waveforms from the beginning to the A cursor.
Start-B	Performs the calculation using the waveforms from the beginning to the B cursor.
A-End	Performs the calculation using the waveforms from the A cursor to the end.
B-End	Performs the calculation using the waveforms from the B cursor to the end.

#### 4 Press the ENTER key while [Execute] is selected.

The numerical calculation will be performed over the range specified in step 3.

Unit

# Numerical calculation formulas

The following table provides a detailed description of each numerical calculation.

. . . . .

• • • • • • •

Calculation type	Description
	Calculates the average value of the waveform data.
Average	$AVE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} di$ $AVE:$ Average value n: Number of data points di: <i>i</i> th data point for channel
P-P	Calculates the value between the maximum value and the minimum value (peak-to-peak value). Maximum value Minimum value
Maximum	Calculates the maximum value of the waveform data.
Minimum	Calculates the minimum value of the waveform data.
Time to max	Calculates how long (s) it took for the waveform to reach the maximum value from the start of recording.* If the maximum value occurs at 2 or more points, the first time the waveform targeted by the calculation reaches the maximum value.
Time to min	Calculates how long (s) it took for the waveform to reach the minimum value from the start of recording.* If the minimum value occurs at 2 or more points, the first time the waveform targeted by the calculation reaches the minimum value.
	Calculates the integrated value for the measurement data.
Aggregation (Total)	$SUM = \sum_{i=1}^{n} di$ $SUM: Integrated value$ $n: Total number of data points$ $di: ith data point for channel$
Aggregation (Positive)	Calculates the integrated value for positive measurement data. $SUM = \sum_{i=1, di>0}^{n} \frac{SUM}{di}$ Integrated value Total number of data points <i>i</i> th data point for channel
	Calculates the integrated value for negative measurement data.
Aggregation (Negative)	$SUM = \sum_{i=1, di < 0}^{n} \frac{SUM}{di}:$ Integrated value n: Total number of data points di: <i>i</i> th data point for channel
	Calculates the integrated value for the absolute value of measurement data.
Aggregation (ABS)	$SUM = \sum_{i=1}^{n}  di $ $SUM: Integrated value$ $n: Total number of data points$ $di: ith data point for channel$

*: Calculates the time from the trigger point when the trigger is used.



Calculation type	Description	
Integration (Total)	Calculates the difference between the area (V·s) enclosed by the zero position (0 V position) and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is positive and the area (V·s) enclosed by the zero position (0 V position) and the part of the signal waveform where its amplitude is negative. Calculates the integration between the cursors when performing the calculation over a specific range (selected using the A/B cursors). $S = \sum_{i=1}^{n} di \times \Delta t \qquad \begin{array}{c} S: & \text{Integral value} \\ n: & \text{Total number of data points} \\ di: & ith data point for channel \\ \Delta t: & \text{Sampling period} \end{array}$	$S_1$ A cursor $S = S_1 - S_2$ B cursor
Integration (Positive)	Calculates the area (V·s) enclosed by the zero position (0 V position) and the area where the signal waveform's amplitude is positive. When performing the calculation over a specific range (selected using the A/B cursors), calculates the integration between the cursors. $S = \sum_{i=1, di > 0}^{n} \frac{S:}{n:} \text{ Integral value}$ $S: \text{ Integral value}$ $\frac{S:}{i = 1, di > 0} \text{ Total number of data points}$ $\frac{J:}{\Delta t:} \text{ Sampling period}$	Only the area where the amplitude is positive $S_1$ A cursor $S = S_1$
Integration (Negative)	Calculates the area (V·s) enclosed by the zero position (0 V position) and the area where the signal waveform's amplitude is negative. When performing the calculation over a specific range (selected using the A/B cursors), calculates the integration between the cursors. $S = \sum_{i=1, di < 0}^{n} \frac{S:}{it tegral value}$ $S = \sum_{i=1, di < 0}^{n} \frac{S:}{di:} Integral value}{di:} Total number of data points}$ $\frac{Jt:}{\Delta t:} Sampling period$	Only the area where the amplitude is negative A cursor $S_2$ $S_2$ $B$ cursor $S = -S_2$
Integration (ABS)	Calculates the area (V·s) enclosed by the zero position (0 V position) and the signal waveform. When performing the calculation over a specific range (selected using the A/B cursors), calculates the integration between the cursors. $S = \sum_{i=1}^{n}  di  \times \Delta t  \begin{array}{l} S:  \text{Integral value} \\ n:  \text{Total number of data points} \\ di:  i\text{th data point for channel} \\ \Delta t:  \text{Sampling period} \end{array}$	$S_1$ A cursor $S = S_1 + S_2$ B cursor

Unit

# 6.2 Performing Waveform Calculations

This section describes how to perform basic arithmetic operations between channels and how to calculate values such as a moving average. (Up to 30 calculations can be performed.) The following types of calculations are available: basic arithmetic operations, integration, simple average, moving average, and integral.

Calculations are performed in real time while measurement continues, and post-calculation waveforms are displayed.

Waveform calculations cannot be performed after measurement.

Waveform calculation results are displayed in the calculation channels ([W1] to [W30]).

Unit	Measur	e	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Numerical	Сору		Formula	<b>•</b>				
Waveform 2	16-30>		]		Formu	la		
	<u>W1</u>		<u>*</u> = =[(100*U1	-1) + (50*U1-	-2)] + [10]			
	W2		<u>*</u> = =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	W3	⊨⊨	<u>x =</u> =[(1*U1−1 ±= =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1) ) + (1*U1-1)	+ [0]			
	W5	==	<u>×</u> = =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)	+ [0]			
	<b>W</b> 6		<u>*</u> = =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	W7		<u>*</u> ==[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	<u>W8</u>		<pre>*= =[(1*U1−1</pre>	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
		⊨ =	x= =[(1*U1−1 t= =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*01-1) ) + (1*11-1)	+ [0]			
	W11	Η-	<u>*</u> = =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)	+ [0]			
	W12		<u>*</u> = =[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	W13		<u>*</u> ==[(1*U1−1	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	W14		<pre>*= =[(1*U1−1</pre>	) + (1*U1-1)]	+ [0]			
	<b>W</b> 15			) + (1*U1-1) <u></u>	+ [0]			
		34	5					
50 2. OGB	1						24 OFF @ *	2020-02

# **1** Select the item to display.

Formula ^{III}, Display, Comment, Numerical calc

Calculation list screen: [Display]



Calculation list screen: [Numerical calc]

Unit								Calculation	
	Сору				Numerical	calc 💌			
	16-30>				Thresho	old			
	W1				2.5				
	W2			*	1. 25				
	W3			+ 1	0				
	W4			*=	0				
	W5			+ - × -	0				
	W6			+ = × =	0				
	W7			+=	0				
	W8			*=	0				
	W9			+ - × -	0				
	W10			* = × =	0				
	W11			*= ×=	0				
	W12			*=	0				
	W13			÷=	0				
	W14			*=	0				
	W15			*=	0				
		_	_	_	_	_	_	 	3020-02-08 -

Calculation list screen: [Comment]





**2** You can cycle through the calculation channel to display.

- Press the ENTER key while [16-30>] is selected to display W16 to W30.
- Press the ENTER key while [1-15>] is selected to display W1 to W15.
- **3** Select the check boxes for the channels for which you wish to perform calculations.
- **4** Select the waveform display color.

× (OFF), 24 colors

Select [x] if you wish to perform the waveform calculation but not to display the waveform on the screen.

## **5** Select a calculation channel and press the ENTER key.

The individual settings window will open.

You can specify the calculation channel, toggle waveform calculation on and off, and set the waveform display color.

	Waveform			- Channe I —					]
l	100			Wave calc 🔽	W1 💌				
	80			– Formula ——					
	60 _		6	=[(100 + (50 + [10]	* U1-1) * U1-2)]				
I	40 _			. [10]					
	20		W1						
I	0 _								
	-20								
	-40		[	- Display ——	Linnar F	100	Lawa	-100	
	-60			Num of decima	l places	100	3 Uni	t V	
	-80								
	-100			Comment		ABCDEFGH	IJKLMNOPORS	TUVWXYZ	
	W1	18. 910V		Numerical thr	reshold	2. 5			
									Close

# **6** Press the ENTER key while [Formula] is selected.

The waveform calculation entry window will open.

Nu	Waveform -	Channel Wave calc 🔽 W1 💌 🔽
Wa	80 <b>7</b> Four	arithmetic
	60 =	[ ( 100 * U1−1 ▼ ) ▼ ( 50 * U1−2 ▼ )
	40	
	20 +	
	0 _	
	-20 _	
	-40	er =100
	-60	OK Cancel it V
	-80	
	-100	Comment ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ
	W1 66. 430V	Numerical threshold 2.5
SD		Close 38

# **7** Set the type of the waveform calculation.

Four arithmetic ^Ø	Performs between channels addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division. This setting allows you to enter channels, coefficients, and constants. (You can also set exponents as constants.) If division by zero is found, the calculation will result in 1.797693e+308.
Aggregation	Adds the measurement data and plot its sum total. Set the channel, <b>[Reset start time]</b> , and <b>[Reset time]</b> .
Simple average	Adds and average all measurement data from the start of measurement and plots the results. Set the channel, <b>[Reset start time]</b> , and <b>[Reset time]</b> .
Moving average	Calculates the average using the specified number of points while moving. Perform averaging processing using the specified number of points for each sampled data point and plots the results. Set the channel, and <b>[Number of points]</b> .
Integration	Adds values obtained by multiplying measurement data by the sampling period and plot the sum total. Set the channel, <b>[Reset start time]</b> , and <b>[Reset time]</b> .

# **8** (When [Four arithmetic] is selected)

## Specify constants, target channels, and operators.

Calculation expression

(A ∗ CHa □ B ∗ CHb □ C ∗ CHc □ D ∗ CHd) ■ E

A, B, C, D, E: User-specified constants

CHa, CHb, CHc, CHd: User-specified measurement channels (up to 4 channels)

- □: Any one operation sign of plus (+), minus (-), multiplication (*), or division(/) or a blank character If entering a blank character, you cannot enter any further terms in the parentheses.
- ■: Any one operation sign of plus (+), minus (-), multiplication (*), division(/), or exponentiation (^) or a blank character

If entering a blank character, you cannot enter a constant.

The operator, caret (^) indicates exponentiation.

Example: To write an expression (A*CH1)², enter (A*CH1)^A2.



You can select a calculation channel as a target channel; however, you cannot select a calculation channel with a number that is larger than the number of the configured calculation channel. Example: You can set **[W1]** through **[W4]** as the calculation channel for **[W5]**.



**9** (When [Type] is set to [Aggregation], [Simple average], or [Integration]) Under [Reset start time], select the reset operation to perform when measurement starts.

	Wayoform			- Channel							1
Nu	100			Wave calc	₩1						
a	80		Integ	ration	-						
l	60	<u> </u>		• -•• •!	U1-1		-				
	40	10	Rese	t start time t time	Timed	position					
	20 _	Î	Refe	rence time t interval	00:00	0 Dave	00:01				
	0		litese	- niterval		U Days					
	-20 _										
l	-40 _										
l	-60						OK Cance		r -100 t V		
l	-80										l
	-100			Comment		AB	CDEFGHIJKLMN	PORST	TUVWXYZ		
	₩1 −0.	. 270V	W16	Numerical 1	threshold	2.	5				
þ										Close	1
OFF [☑]			Does	not reset ca	alculatic	on results.					-
Trigger position		ion	Reset	s calculatic	on result	s when a	trigger activ	vates	S.		

# **10** (When [Type] is set to [Aggregation], [Simple average], or [Integration]) Under [Reset time], select when to perform reset operation.

Disable [∅]	Does not reset calculation results.
Enable	Resets calculation results at the set time intervals.
Timed	Resets calculation results at the set intervals starting at the specified time.

**11** (When [Reset time] is set to [Enable]) Set the [Reset interval].

> (When [Reset time] is set to [Timed]) Set the [Reference time] and [Reset interval].

6



# **12** Configure display settings.

Nu 100	Channel Wave calc VM1 V
<u>80</u> 80 _	
60	+ (50 * U1-2) + (10]
40	
-20	
-40	Display — 100 1 Lower = 100 2
-60	Num of decimal places 3 3 Unit V 4
-100	Comment ABCDEFGHI 5 MNOPORSTUVWXYZ
W1 18. 910V	Numerical threshold 2.5 6
50	Close

1	Upper	Upper limit value when displaying waveform calculation results on the screen
2	Lower	Lower limit value when displaying waveform calculation results on the screen
3	Num of decimal places	Number of decimal places for measured values This setting is not displayed when <b>[Number display format]</b> is set to <b>[Standard]</b> .
4	Unit	Unit for waveform calculation results
5	Comment	Comment for each calculation channel
6	Numerical threshold	Threshold value for numerical calculations (Availability, ON time, OFF time, ON count, OFF count)

Threshold values are used for numerical calculations. For more information, see "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).



Tips
## Configuring calculations on the calculation list screen

This section describes how to review waveform calculation settings on the calculation list screen. It also describes how to configure settings on the screen.

SET > Calculation > Waveform

#### Calculation list screen: [Formula]

Un i t	Measure	Channel	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	ĺ
Numerical	Сору	<b>1</b> Formula	•				
Waveform	16-30>			S Formu	ula		
	W1 🔽	<b>₩</b> =[(100*U	1-1) + (50*U1	-2)] + [10]			
	W2 🔳	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W3 🔲	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W4 🔳	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
	W5 🔳	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
	W6 🔳	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
	W7 🔲	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W8 🔳	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
	<u> W9</u>	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W10	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
	W11	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W12	+ = [ (1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W13	=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W14	+=[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]			
	W15	<u> </u> ‡ <u></u> =[(1*U1−	1) + (1*U1–1)	] + [0]			
30 2. 0GB	n					24 OFF @ 🐐	2020-02-08

#### **1** Set the display item to [Formula].

Formula ^Ø, Display, Comment, Numerical calc

#### 2 You can cycle through the calculation channel to display.

- Press the ENTER key while [16-30>] is selected to display W16 to W30.
- Press the ENTER key while [1-15>] is selected to display W1 to W15.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key while [Formula] is selected.

The waveform calculation entry window will open.



Continue with the procedure described in p.208.

## **Copying calculation formulas**

This section describes how to copy the calculation for calculation channel **[W1]** to the other calculation channels (**[W2]** to **[W30]**).

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System
Numerical 1	Cop	Eormula				
Waveform	16- <b>2</b> Co	ру	3			
AT COMPOSITE		calc 🔽 W1		/e calc W1 W2 W3 W4 W5 W6 W7 W8 W9 W10 W11		
	W14	*= =[(1*01-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]		
	W15	±= =[(1*U1-	1) + (1*U1-1)	] + [0]		

- **1** Press the ENTER key while [Copy...] is selected. The settings window will open.
- **2** Under [Original], select the copy source channel.
- **3** Under [Copy to], select the checkboxes for the channels to which you wish to copy the settings.
- **4** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The calculation formulas will be copied. Press the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to cancel it.



. . . .

## Configuring waveform calculation settings at once

This section describes how to configure the waveform calculation on or off and waveform display color settings for all waveform calculations.

Unit	Measure	7	Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System
	Сору	ĮŻ	Z Formula
Vaveform	16-30>		Formula
	W1 [	-	triangle = [(100*U1−1) + (50*U1−2)] + [10]
	W2		$\frac{1}{10} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$
	W3		$\frac{1}{1} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$
	W4		$\begin{array}{c} \bullet\\ \hline\\ \hline\\$
	W5	╶┼╴	$\frac{1}{2} = \left[ (1^* \cup 1^{-1}) + (1^* \cup 1^{-1}) \right] + \left[ 0 \right]$
	W6	╣╴	$\vec{x}_{1} = \lfloor (1 \wedge U   -1) + (1 \wedge U   -1) \rfloor + \lfloor U \rfloor$
	W8	╡╞	$\frac{1}{2} = \left[ \left( \frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{1} + \frac{1}{1} \right] + \left[ 0 \right]$
		╡┣	$ \begin{array}{c} & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & $
	W10	58	$\begin{array}{l} \begin{array}{c} \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} = \begin{bmatrix} (1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix} \end{array}$
	W11	51	$\frac{+1}{ X ^2} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$
	W12		$\frac{+-}{\times -} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$
	W13		$\frac{+-}{\times =} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$
	W14		$\begin{array}{c} + = \\ \times = \\ \times = \\ \end{array} = \left[ (1 \times U1 - 1) + (1 \times U1 - 1) \right] + \left[ 0 \right]$
	W15		$\frac{+-}{ x =} = [(1*U1-1) + (1*U1-1)] + [0]$

**1** Select the waveform calculation ON/OFF check box and press the ENTER key. Each time you press the ENTER key, all calculation channels will toggle between ON and OFF.

#### **2** Select the measurement display color check box and press the ENTER key.

Each time you press the **ENTER** key, the display setting for all calculation channels will toggle between ON and OFF.

Performing Waveform Calculations



# 7 Configuring System Settings



The system screen provides the functionality described below.

7.1 Configuring Settings	p. 216
7.2 Controlling the System	p.220
Setting the time	p.220 p.221
Initializing (resetting) the system	p.223
System configuration	р.224 р.227

# 7.1 Configuring Settings

This section describes how to configure various system functions.

#### SET > System > Environment



# **1** Under [Start backup], select the operation to perform when the instrument is turned back on (start back up).

When set to **[ON]**, the instrument will automatically resume recording when the power comes back on after being interrupted during measurement, for example due to a power outage.

OFF ^Ø	Does not use the start state retention function.
ON	Uses the start state retention function.

If triggers are being used, the instrument will enter the trigger wait state.

If measurement is resumed while in the start retention state, data that was stored in the instrument's internal buffer memory before the power outage will be deleted.

# **2** Under [Auto start measurement], select the measurement operation to perform when the instrument is turned on.

Setting the function to **[ON]** can automatically start measurement on the startup of the instrument. When the trigger setting is enabled, the instrument will get into the trigger standby state.

OFF [∅]	Disables the startup auto-measurement function.
ON	Enables the startup auto-measurement function.



# **3** Under [Backlight saver], select how long to wait after the last key operation until turning off the LCD backlight.

OFF ^Ø	Disables the backlight saver (leave the backlight on all the time).
30 s, 1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 10 min	Turns off the backlight when no key has been operated for the set amount of time.

You can extend the backlight's service life by choosing a setting other than **[OFF]**. Those settings also reduce power consumption. Press any key to turn the backlight on.

The instrument consumes power even when the backlight is off. It is recommended to turn off the instrument when it is not in use.
 If the screen is not displayed while the instrument is powered on, the backlight saver may be enabled.

Under [Backlight brightness], select the backlight brightness.
1, 2, 3 ^{II}, 4, 5

Larger values indicate higher brightness levels.

Lowering the backlight brightness (dimming the backlight) will allow the instrument to operate longer on battery power.

**5** Under [Localization (language)], set localization (regional) information such as the user interface language.

- 1. Press the ENTER key.
- Configure the settings as desired and then press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected. (A message asking you to restart the instrument will be displayed if you change the [Language] or [Keyboard] setting.)
- 3. If you are asked to restart the instrument, press the **ENTER** key.

The system will restart with the new display language and other settings.

Pressing the **ESC** key or the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected will close the window without changing any settings.

[Language]

4

日本語 (Japanese), English [∅], 简体中文 (Simplified Chinese), 한국어 (Korean), 繁體中文 (Traditional Chinese)

#### [Keyboard]

日本語 (Japanese), English [⊠], 中文 (Chinese), Français, Español, Deutsch, Italiano

#### [Date format]

yyyy MM dd [⋈], MM dd yyyy, dd MM yyyy

#### [Date delimiter]

- (hyphen)[™], / (slash), . (period)

**6** Under [Waveform background color], select the background color for the waveform screen.

Dark ^Ø, Light

Dark



Light





Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System

7 Under [Beep sound], select whether to beep when a warning or error occurs.

ON ^Ø, OFF

**8** Under [Operation error prevention], select whether to display a confirmation window when starting and stopping measurement.

ON ^ℤ	Displays a confirmation window when the <b>START</b> key or <b>STOP</b> key is pressed. Press the <b>ENTER</b> key while <b>[Yes]</b> is selected to start or stop measurement.
OFF	Starts measurement immediately when the <b>START</b> key is pressed. Stops measurement immediately when the <b>STOP</b> key is pressed.

When measurement starts, data in the instrument's internal buffer memory will be deleted, and the instrument will start to record new data.

Select the [ON] setting to prevent waveform data from being inadvertently deleted.

# **9** Under [Power frequency filter], select the power supply frequency in the region where the instrument is being used.

60 Hz [⊠]	Uses the digital filter for 60 Hz regions.
50 Hz	Uses the digital filter for 50 Hz regions.



It is recommended to select the same frequency (50 Hz or 60 Hz) as the power supply frequency in the region where the instrument is being used.

When using the U8550 to U8553 modules and LR8530 to LR8533 modules, power supply noise can be rejected by using the data refresh interval setting.

See "Measurement module data refresh intervals" (p.22).

Configure the low-pass filter for Strain Units (U8554, LR8534) since the power supply frequency filter function is not available for those modules.

See "Measuring strain" (p. 36).



## **10** Converting temperatures in degrees Celsius into Fahrenheit.

Configuring the scaling can carry out Celsius-to-Fahrenheit conversion

Setting	Description
Fahrenheit display	<ul> <li>Configures the scaling to convert temperatures in degrees Celsius into Fahrenheit.</li> <li>Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532</li> <li>Input type: Tc, RTD</li> <li>The Celsius-to-Fahrenheit conversion will apply to channels with the scaling set to OFF only (not alter any existing scaling settings).</li> <li>Scaling: Decimal, Ratio, Slope1.8, Offset 32, Unit °F</li> </ul>
Celsius display	Resets the scaling settings, displaying temperatures in degrees Celsius. • Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532 • Input type: Tc, RTD • Scaling: OFF (Default)

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Environment							
Comm	Start backu	Temperatu	re display		Clock	settings	
External	Auto start	me O Fahrei	nheit display		Init	tialize	
	Backlight s	O Celsiu av	us display				
	Backlight b	ri Configure degrees (	scaling to co °C) to Fahrenh	onvert Celsius neit degree (°I	F).	Кеу	
	Localizatio	n				LCD	
	Waveform ba	ck <mark>⊒Unit 1</mark> Unit 2	Remot	e 1 Remo [.] e 2 Remo [.]	te 5 te 6 RO	M/RAM	
	Beep sound	🔲 Unit 3	Remot	e 3 📃 Remo [.]	te 7		
	Operation e	rr	Remot	Execute	Close	LAN	
	Power frequ	ency III.co	00 112		М	edia	
					ι	Jnit	
	Fah renhe i t	display	Settings				
						er kan de ser kan de s 7 ch	2020-10-28

Unit	Measure	Channel	Trigger	Alarm	Calculatio	n System	
Environment							
Comm	Start backu	Temperatu	re display		loc	k settings	
External	Auto start	me O Fah rer	nheit display			itialize	
		O Celsiu	us display		Sys	tem config	
	Backlight s	av					
	Backlight b	ri Initializ	e scaling to C	elsius degree	es (°C)	Key	
	Localizatio	n		·			
	Wayaform ba	✓Unit 1	<b>√</b> Remote	e 1 📃 Remo	te 5	LOD	
	waveroriii ba	Unit 2	Remote	e 2 📃 Remo	te 6	ROM/RAM	
	Beep sound	Unit 3	Remote	e 3 📃 Remo	te 7		
	Operation e	err Unit 4	Remote	• 4		LAN	
	Power frequ	ien		Execute	Close	Media	
			00 112				
				•		Unit	
	Fah renhe i t	display	Settings				
						6	◎ [秦]2020-10-28

Channel — Trigger — Alarm — Calculation —

System

Unit

SET

- Measure

# 7.2 Controlling the System

This section describes how to set the time and initialize (reset) the instrument. It also describes how to perform a self-check.

#### Setting the time

The instrument has a calendar with automatic leap year detection as well as a 24-hour clock. The clock is displayed in YYYY-MM-DD HH:MM:SS format at the bottom right of the screen. Set the time if the displayed time diverges from the actual time.

The time is used when starting measurement (start trigger time) and in file information.





**1** Press the ENTER key while [Clock settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

- **2** Configure the year, month, day, hour, minute, and second settings.
- **3** Select [Time zone], and then press the ENTER key. Default setting: [GMT+9]
- **4** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The time will be updated to reflect the new settings. Press the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to close the window without changing the time.



### Synchronizing the time

This section describes how to synchronize the instrument's time with an NTP server. The LAN settings must be configured in advance. See "9.3 Configuring and Establishing a LAN Connection" (p.250).

#### IMPORTANT

When using NTP time synchronization, make sure that you set the time zone for the region where the instrument is used.

See "Setting the time" (p.220).

Unit       Measure       Channel       Trigger       Alarm       Calculation       System         Environment       LAN       DHCP server       OFF       Wireless LAN settings       ✓         Host name       Command settings       Command settings       ✓         IP address       192.168.1 .1       FTP/HTTP server settings       ✓         Subnet mask       Port number       OFF       Iata auto send settings       ✓         Gateway       Gateway IP       OFF       OFF       WICT Cloud settings       ✓         DNS       IP       OFF       OFF       Sync timing       ✓       ✓       ✓         ONS       IP       OFF       OFF       OFF       ✓       ✓       ✓         Apply Cancel       OFF       OFF       OFF       ✓       ✓       ✓       ✓	T > Syste	em > Comm
USB USB Execute	Unit Environment Comm External	Measure       Channel       Trigger       Alarm       Calculation       System         LAN       DHCP server       OFF       Wireless LAN settings       Image: Command settings       Image: Command settings         Host name       IP address       192.168.1 .1       FTP/HTTP server settings       Image: Command settings         Subnet mask       NTP settings       NTP client function       OFF       E-mail settings         Gateway       IP       Sampling correction       OFF       Image: NTP settings       Image: NTP settings         DNS       DNS       IP       Sync before start       OFF       Image: NTP cancel         USB       USB       USB       Execute

**1** Press the ENTER key while [NTP settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

- **2** Set the [NTP client function] to [ON].
- **3** Under [Sampling correction] select whether to correct the sampling intervals.

#### IMPORTANT

The instrument has a time accuracy of ±0.2 s per day (at an ambient temperature of 23°C), and errors may occur between the internal time and the actual time after prolonged use. The NTP client function can perform time synchronization and the sampling correction function can correct the sampling during measurement.

OFF ^Ø	Does not correct the sampling intervals.
ON	Corrects the sampling intervals.

The sampling correction function is enabled only during measurement.

When the sampling correction function is set to [ON], [NTP client function], [Sync timing], and [Sync before start] cannot be set to [OFF].

The accuracy of the NTP server used and network conditions may affect the time synchronization accuracy and the amount of sampling correction.

The sampling correction function during measurement will be stopped under the following conditions. If it is stopped, it will not be restarted during that measurement.

- When the amount of correction exceeds 1 minute at a time
- · When synchronization fails before the measurement starts
- · When time synchronization fails continuously for about two days

**4** Under [Sync timing], select when to connect to the NTP server and set the time.

OFF [∅]	Does not set the time.
Every hour	Sets the time once an hour.
Every day	Sets the time once a day.

**5** Under [Sync before start], select whether to connect to the NTP server and set the time before starting measurement.

OFF ^Ø, ON

**6** Under [Server address], set the address of the NTP server.

7 Press the ENTER key while [Sync now] is selected.

Once the settings have been applied, the instrument will connect to the specified NTP server and set the time.

#### **8** Press the ENTER key while [Apply] is selected.

The settings will be applied.

Press the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to close the window without changing any settings.



## Initializing (resetting) the system

This section describes how to reset all settings to their factory defaults.

See "11.10 Settings after Initialization (System Reset)" (p.426).



Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Environment Comm External	Start back Auto start	up measurement	OFF OFF	1	Clock Init System	settings ialize n config	
	Backlight	save r	itialize sett Settings data	ings 1	check ——		
	Backlight I	on (L <mark>2</mark> ia	Wireless unit Waveform data	t information a		Key	
	Waveform b	ackground	Communication	OK Cancel	RO	u/RAM	
	Beep sound Operation	error preventi	ON ON		_	_AN	
	Power freq	uency filter	60 Hz	▣║■	M	edia	
	Fah renhe i t	display	Settings	<b>T</b> L	U	lnit	
50 1. 9GB						🖗 🖗 1ch 🕊	2020-09-24

#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [Initialize...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

#### 2 Select the check boxes for the settings you wish to initialize.

Settings data	Resets all non-LAN settings to their default values.
Wireless unit information	Deletes the wireless module information registered in the instrument. (LR8450-01 only)
Waveform data	Deletes waveform data.
Communication	Resets LAN settings to their default values.

#### **3** Press the ENTER key while [OK] is selected.

The settings will be initialized.

Press the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to close the window without initializing any settings.



If resetting the wireless module registration information and the communications settings, you need to register the wireless modules and configure the LAN setting again. Ordinarily, it is not recommended to initialize them.

# System configuration

This section describes how to check the instrument's firmware version, installed modules, and other system configuration.



Un i t	Measure Channel	Trigger A	Alarm Calculation System
Environment Comm External	Start backup Auto start measurement Backlight saver Backlight brightness Localization (Language) Waveform background color Beep sound Operation error prevention Power frequency filter	OFF OFF 3 Settings Dark ON 60 Hz Settings	Clock settings Initialize System config Self check Key LCD ROM/RAM LAN Unit
50 1. 9GB			€ \$2020-09-24 1ch 1 09:37:00

**1** Press the ENTER key while [System config...] is selected.

A list of system configuration will open.

**2** Select [Main] or [Unit] using the Left Arrow and Right Arrow keys.

Unit Environment Comm External	System configuration Main Woot Serial No. Digital board revision no. Power supply board revision no. Bootloader revision no.	LR8450-01 MEMORY HiLOGGER 191013182 V2.00 3 4	Close	
			Close	
				@ 06-26-2023 8ch 12:22:25

Main	Model	The instrument's model number (LR8450 or LR8450-01)
	Serial No.	The instrument's serial number
	Main version	The instrument's software version The revisions of the digital board, power supply board, and bootloader.



Unit	System co	nfigura	ation				
Environment	Main		Unit				
Comm		Model	Name	Serial No.	Version	Revision	Resend ratio
External	Unit 1	U8551	Universal	100000122	V1. 10	0	
	Unit 2	U8553	High speed voltage	190940609	V1. 10	0	
	Unit 3	U8554	Strain	190942232	V1. 10	0	
	Unit 4	U8550	Voltage/Temp	190937894	V1. 10	0	
	Remote 1	LR8531	Universal	200337762	V1. 01	1	% ( %)
	Remote 2	LR8532	Voltage/Temp	200356223	V1. 01	1	% ( %)
	Remote 3						
	Remote 4						
	Remote 5						
	Remote 6						
	Remote 7						
							Close
ļ	Fahren	heit di	splay Setti	ngs			
50 1. 9GB							n - 1ch

Unit 1 to 4: Plug-in modules; Remote 1 to 7: Wireless modules

Unit	Model	The measurement module's model number
	Name	The measurement module's model name
	Serial No.	The measurement module's serial number
	Version	The measurement module's software version
	Revision	The measurement module's circuit board revision
	Resend ratio	The ratio of retransmission of data communications with the wireless module The more communications state improves, the smaller the value becomes. Example: 12.3% (34.5%) Indicated the resend ratio during the latest one-minute data communications. The number shown in parentheses is the worst in the entire measurement. Starting measurement will reset the resend ratio of the previous measurement.

Remote 6

Remote 7

2.0GB USE Measuring..

 °C]
 - 1m40s

 U1-1
 Start '20-06-01 11:39:45.420

Interval 1 s System configuration · Eject Unit Settings 🔻 Serial No. Unit identifier Resend ratio Model Name U1-1 -100000019 ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOP Unit 1 U8550Voltage/Temp 🖌 Measu re Unit 2 U8551Universal 100000117 Color Unit 3 U8553High speed voltage 100000314 Input 100000422 Unit 4 U8554Strain Tc 0. 1 Remote 1 LR8532Voltage/Temp 100100223 0.0 % (0.0 %) Range 100 °C -Remote 2 Remote 3 -0. 1 Display Remote 4 Position -Remote 5 Zoom

-50s

When you press the **SET** key during measurement, another window will open to display model names, module names, serial numbers, module identifiers, and resend ratios.



x1

Close

Follow

Scr 24 0FF 1 2020-

0s

Zero pos.

0%

#### Performing a self-check

This section describes how to perform a self-check.

The results will be shown on the screen. Contact your authorized Hioki distributor or reseller in the event of an abnormal result.



**1** Select the type of diagnostics you wish to perform in the [Self check] area and press the ENTER key.

The self-check window will open.

**2** Follow the instructions to perform the self-check.

Кеу	Checks key recognition. Additionally, verifies that the LEDs are working properly. The self-check will end once all keys have been checked. You can force-quit the self-check in the event of a malfunction by pressing the <b>ESC</b> key twice.
LCD	Checks the screen display. The screen will cycle through the following colors and then return to the original screen each time you press a key: White $\rightarrow$ black $\rightarrow$ red $\rightarrow$ green $\rightarrow$ blue $\rightarrow$ gradation
ROM/RAM	Checks the instrument's built-in memory (ROM, RAM).
LAN	Checks if the LAN interface operates properly. If a FAIL judgment exhibits, check cable connection and settings including the IP address and firewall. If such a condition cannot be corrected, please contact your authorized Hioki distributor or reseller to have the instrument repaired.
Media	Checks if the SD Memory Card and USB Drive can be detected.
Unit	Displays information about connected modules and checks their status. When you press the <b>ENTER</b> key while <b>[Reference]</b> of the wireless module you wish to confirm is selected, the LED of the wireless module concerned will blink for a few seconds.



Controlling the System



# 8 External Control (EXT. I/O)



This chapter describes how to control the instrument by inputting signals to its external control terminals. Signals corresponding to the instrument's operation are output from the external control terminals. You can configure settings related to the external control terminals on the [System] > [External] settings screen. The external control terminals are not isolated (they use the same ground as the instrument).

For more information about how to connect signals to the external control terminals, see "External Control Connections" in the Quick Start Manual.

8.1 Configuring Voltage Output (VOUTPUT)	p.231
8.2 Configuring Alarm Output (ALARM)	p.232
8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals	p.234
8.4 Configuring External Input/Output (I/O) Terminals	p.236
External trigger input Trigger output Simultaneously starting measurement using external triggers	p.238 p.239 p.241



#### External control terminals list

Pin number	Signal name	Description	Reference page	
1	GND	Ground	_	
2	V OUTPUT 1	Voltage output 1	004	
3	V OUTPUT 2	Voltage output 2	p.231	
4	GND	Ground	_	
5	PULSE 1	Pulse input 1		
6	PULSE 2	Pulse input 2	- 40	
7	PULSE 3	Pulse input 3	p.40	
8	PULSE 4	Pulse input 4		
9	GND	Ground	_	
10	PULSE 5	Pulse input 5		
11	PULSE 6	Pulse input 6	- 40	
12	PULSE 7	Pulse input 7	p.40	
13	PULSE 8	Pulse input 8	-	
14	GND	Ground	_	
15	SYNC.IN	Synchronization input	n 224	
16	SYNC.OUT	Synchronization input	p.234	
17	GND	Ground	-	
18	GND Ground		—	
19	I/O 1	External input 1	n 226	
20	I/O 2	External input 2	p.236	
21	GND	Ground	_	
22	ALARM 1	Alarm output 1		
23	ALARM 2	Alarm output 2	n 000	
24	ALARM 3	Alarm output 3	ρ.232	
25	ALARM 4	Alarm output 4		
26	GND	Ground	_	
27	ALARM 5	Alarm output 5		
28	ALARM 6	Alarm output 6	n 333	
29	ALARM 7	Alarm output 7	p.232	
30	ALARM 8	Alarm output 8		
31	GND	Ground	-	
32	I/O 3	External input 3	n 236	
33	I/O 4	External output	p.200	
34	GND	Ground	-	



# 8.1 Configuring Voltage Output (VOUTPUT)

This section describes how to configure voltage output for use in powering sensors. For more information about how to connect sensors to the voltage output terminals, see "Voltage Output Connections" in the Quick Start Manual.

Environment Comm	• -				Carculation	System
Comm					_	
		oltage output 1	VOUTPUT 1 24	۷		
External	3 V	oltage output 2	VOUTPUT 2 OF	F		
	: 🧉					
	22	Alarm output 1	ALM 1	Low		
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low		
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low		
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low		
	27	Alarm output 5	ALM 5	Low		
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low		
	29	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low		
	30	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low		
	19 E:	xternal input 1	I/0 1 0F	F	<b>•</b>	
	20 E:	xternal input 2	1/0 2 OF	F	<b>•</b>	
	32 E	xternal input 3	1/0 3 OF	F		
	33 E	xternal output	1/0 4 OF	F		

#### **1** Under [Voltage output 1] and [Voltage output 2], select the voltage.

OFF [⊠]	Does not generate voltage output.
5 V	Outputs 5 V DC.
12 V	Outputs 12 V DC.
24 V	Outputs 24 V DC. (Available only under [Voltage output 1])

Select **[12 V]** when providing power to the optional Z2000 Humidity Sensor. The instrument can supply power to up to 120 pieces of the Z2000.

#### Voltage output terminal specifications

Output voltage	OFF, 5 V ±10%, 12 V ±10%, 24 V ±10% (user-selectable)
Supplied current	Max. 100 mA



SET

System

> External

System

> External

SET >

# 8.2 Configuring Alarm Output (ALARM)

This section describes how to set the voltage level for the signal that is output when an alarm condition is satisfied.

For more information about alarms, see "4 Alarm (Alarm Output)" (p. 175).

		Channe I		Alarm	Calculation	System	
Environment							
	2	Voltage output 1	I VOUTPUT 1	FF			
External	3	Voltage output 2	2 VOUTPUT 2 0	FF	<b>v</b>		
		Alarm output 1	ALM 1	High			
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low			
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low			
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low			
	27	Alarm output 5	ALM 5	Low			
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low			
	29	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low			
	30	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low			
	:						
	19	External input 1	I I/0 1 0	FF	V		
	20	External input 2	2 1/0 2 0	FF			
	32	External input 3	3 1/0 3 0	FF	<b>•</b>		
	33	External output	1/0 4 0	FF			

**1** Under [Alarm output 1] to [Alarm output 8], select the voltage level you wish to output when outputting an alarm.

Low [∅]	Outputs the alarm at low level (0 V to 0.5 V).
High	Outputs the alarm at high level (4.0 V to 5.0 V).

#### Alarm output terminal specifications

Output type	Open-drain output (with 5 V voltage output)
Output voltage	High level: 4.0 to 5.0 V; low level: 0 to 0.5 V Switchable between high and low level output
Output response time	<ul> <li>When using the plug-in modules: (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2 + 1 ms</li> <li>+ (analog response time)*</li> <li>When using the wireless modules (LR8450-01 only): (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2</li> <li>+ (wireless response time)*² + (analog response time)*¹</li> <li>*1: Varies with filter setting (U8554: 5 ms, with 120 Hz low-pass filter)</li> <li>*2: Depending on the number of connected modules (3 s when one wireless module is connected).</li> </ul>
Maximum switching capacity	5 V to 30 V DC, 200 mA
Output pulse width	10 ms or greater



#### Alarm output terminal circuit diagram and example connection

Select the relay with the contact configuration to perform the desired operation. The example connection illustrates a circuit in which the relay will operate when the alarm output is low.





# 8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals

This section describes how to perform synchronous operation with multiple instruments. Use SYNC.IN and SYNC.OUT terminals for synchronous operation.

The sampling clocks of multiple instruments can be synchronized (allowing multiple instruments to record data at the same timing).



- **1** Set the type of data to record to [Normal] with the [Recording mode] setting.
- 2 Under [Synchronous operation], select the primary or secondary.

OFF [∅]	Does not perform synchronous operation.
Primary	Uses this instrument as the primary instrument (one instrument only). Synchronization signal is outputted from the SYNC.OUT terminal. Connects the SYNC.OUT terminal of the secondary instrument to the SYNC.IN terminal.
Secondary	Uses this instrument as a secondary instrument. Connects the SYNC.OUT terminal of the primary or other secondary instrument to the SYNC.IN terminal.

#### IMPORTANT

- It is recommended to perform the [Wiring check] of the synchronization signal before starting synchronous operation.
  - See "External connection guide" (p. 110)
- Start and stop measurement from the primary instrument. Measurement cannot be started or stopped from a secondary instrument.
- The secondary unit cannot start/stop measurement by specified time, start/stop measurement by an external input terminal, use of the pre-trigger, or use of the stop trigger.
- Wireless modules do not support synchronous operation. You will not be able to start measurement if a wireless module has been registered.
- To use the start trigger, set the start trigger for all instruments.
- Synchronous operation will stop automatically if a synchronization signal error is detected.



#### Sync input terminal (SYNC.IN) specifications

Input voltage	0 V to 10 V DC
Input level	High level: 2.0 V to 10 V, low level: 0 V to 0.8 V
Response pulse width	High period: 100 μs or greater, low period: 100 μs or greater

#### Sync output terminal (SYNC.OUT) specifications

Output method	CMOS output
Output voltage	High level: 2.3 V to 3.6 V, low level: 0 V to 0.5 V
Output pulse width	High period: 100 µs or greater, low period: 100 µs or greater

#### **Connection example**



# 8.4 Configuring External Input/Output (I/O) Terminals

This section describes how to select functionality for the external I/O terminals. There are four external I/O terminals: I/O 1 to I/O 4.

You can control the instrument to start and stop measurement or input trigger signals. I/O 1 to I/O 3 are input terminals, while I/O 4 is an output terminal.



Unit		Channe I		Alarm	Calculation	System	
Environment							
Comm	2 Vo	oltage output 1	VOUTPUT 1	0FF			
External	3 Vo	oltage output 2	2 VOUTPUT 2	0FF			
	22	Alarm output 1	ALM 1	Low			
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low			
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low			
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low			
	27	larm output 5	ALM 5	Low			
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low			
	29 🖌	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low			
	30 4	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low			
	:				Start Stop		
	1 <b>1</b> E	kternal input 1	I/0 1	Start/Stop 🔄		2	
	20 E>	kternal input 2	2 1/0 2	Event input 🔄	$\downarrow$	_	
	32 E>	kternal input 3	3 1/0 3	Trigger input			
	3 3 E	xternal output	1/0 4	Trigger output 🔄			
50 2. OGB						e	

**1** Under [External input 1], [External input 2], and [External input 3], select the terminal functionality.

OFF [☑]	Disables the terminal.
Start	Starts measurement. (Same operation as the <b>START</b> key) This setting is not available for <b>[External input 3]</b> .
Stop	Stops measurement. (Same operation as the <b>STOP</b> key) This setting is not available for <b>[External input 3]</b> .
Start/Stop	Stops or start measurement when the signal level changes. This setting is not available for <b>[External input 3]</b> .
Trigger input	Activates a trigger. This setting is not available for <b>[External input 1]</b> or <b>[External input 2]</b> .
Event input	Assigns an event mark.

#### **2** Select the edge.

1	Operates at the rising edge when changing from low level to high level.
$\downarrow$	Operates at the falling edge when changing from high level to low level.

#### **3** Under [External output], select the terminal functionality.

OFF ^Ø	Disables the terminal.
Trigger output	Outputs a low-level signal when a trigger activates.



#### External input terminal (I/O 1, I/O 2, I/O 3) input specifications

Input voltage	0 V to 10 V DC High level: 2.5 V to 10 V; low level: 0 V to 0.8 V
Slope	Rising/falling (user-selectable)
Response pulse width	High period: 2.5 ms or greater; low period: 2.5 ms or greater





The function will activate at the rising or falling edge, depending on the edge setting.

#### External output terminal (I/O 4) output specifications

Output type	Open-drain output (with 5 V voltage output)
Output voltage	High level: 4.0 V to 5.0 V; low level: 0 V to 0.5 V
Maximum switching capacity	5 V to 10 V DC, 200 mA
Output pulse width	10 ms or greater (trigger output)



# External trigger input

This section describes how to input a signal from an external source to activate a trigger. You can use a signal from another device to start measurement with the instrument. The external input I/O 3 terminal is used for this functionality.

SET	>	System	>	External

Unit	Measure	Channe I	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System
Environment						
Comm	2 V	oltage output i	I VOUTPUT 1	0FF		
External	3 V	oltage output 2	2 VOUTPUT 2	0FF		
	22	Alarm output 1	ALM 1	Low		
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low		
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low		
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low		
	27	Alarm output 5	ALM 5	Low		
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low		
	29	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low		
	30	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low		
					Start	
	19 E	xternal input i	I I/0 1	0FF	•	
	20 E	xternal input 2	2 1/0 2	OFF		
	32 <mark>1</mark> E	xternal input 3	3 1/0 3	Trigger input		
	33 8	External output	I/0 4	OFF		
🗊 2. OGB 🔢						

- 1 Under [External input 3], set the terminal functionality to [Trigger input]. When [External trigger] is set to [ON], the parameter will be set to [Trigger input]. See "2.6 Applying Triggers Based on External Sources" (p.133).
- 2 Select the edge at which to activate the trigger.

1	Activates the trigger at the rising edge when changing from low level to high level.
$\downarrow^{\bowtie}$	Activates the trigger at the falling edge when changing from high level to low level. The trigger will also activate if the I/O 3 and GND terminals are shorted.



It is recommended to actually input the signal and verify whether the external trigger operates.



## Trigger output

System

External

>

SET

This section describes how to output a low-level signal when a trigger activates. You can use this capability to notify another device that the instrument has started recording. The external output I/O 4 terminal is used for this functionality.

Unit		Channe I		Alarm	Calculation	System	
Environment							
Comm	2	Voltage output 1	VOUTPUT 1 0	FF			
External	3	Voltage output 2	VOUTPUT 2 0	FF			
	22	Alarm output 1	ALM 1	Low			
	23	Alarm output 2	ALM 2	Low			
	24	Alarm output 3	ALM 3	Low			
	25	Alarm output 4	ALM 4	Low			
	27	Alarm output 5	ALM 5	Low			
	28	Alarm output 6	ALM 6	Low			
	29	Alarm output 7	ALM 7	Low			
	30	Alarm output 8	ALM 8	Low			
	19	External input 1	I/0 1 0	FF	-		
	20	External input 2	1/0 2 0	FF	-		
	32	External input 3	1/030	FF	-		
	33 🕤	External output	I/0 4 T	rigger output	-		

**1** Under [External output], set the terminal functionality to [Trigger output]. A low-level signal will be output when a trigger activates.



#### **Trigger output timing**

The timing at which signals appear in trigger output varies with the **[Timing]** setting. See "2.2 Enabling the Trigger Function" (p. 119).

#### Start



- Trigger output will switch to active when the start trigger activates.
- The pulse will be output for at least 10 ms and held while measurement continues.
- Trigger output will switch to non-active when measurement stops.

#### Stop



- Trigger output will switch to active when the stop trigger activates.
- The pulse will be output for at least 10 ms, and then trigger output will switch to non-active.

#### Start & stop



- Trigger output will switch to active when the start trigger activates.
- The pulse will be output for at least 10 ms and held while measurement continues.
- Trigger output will switch to non-active when the stop trigger activates.

# Simultaneously starting measurement using external triggers

This section describes how to synchronize the measurement start time for multiple instruments using trigger input and trigger output.

Since each instrument generates its own sampling clock, data acquisition times will diverge if measurement is continued for an extended period of time.

If you wish to synchronize operation including the sampling clock, use the sync input/output terminals. See "8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234)

There are two methods for synchronizing measurement start times: daisy chain operation and parallel synchronized operation.

#### **Daisy chain operation**

When a trigger activates for any instrument, triggers will also activate for other instruments. When a large number of instruments are connected, divergence among individual devices' trigger times will increase.



#### Parallel synchronized operation

Use one instrument as the primary instrument (trigger monitoring) and the rest as secondary instruments.

When a trigger activates for the primary instrument, triggers will also activate for the secondary instruments.



Divergence in trigger times can be minimized using this method, even when the number of connected instruments increases.

#### **Connection method**

Connect the primary instrument's trigger output (I/O 4) to all secondary instruments' trigger input (I/O 3).

#### **Configuration method**

- Set [Trigger] to [ON] for all the instruments. (p. 119)
- Set [External trigger] to [ON] for all the secondary instruments. (p. 133)
- Set [External input 3] to [Trigger input] and the edge to [] for all the secondary instruments. (p.238)
- Set [External output] to [Trigger output] for the primary instrument. (p.239)



# Communicating with a Computer (PC)



9

This chapter describes how to connect the instrument to a computer.

The instrument and computer must be connected using either a LAN cable or a USB cable.

9.1 Using the Logger Utilityp.245
9.2 Configuring and Establishing a USB Connectionp.246
9.3 Configuring and Establishing a LAN Connectionp.250
9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)p.261
9.5 Performing Remote Operation Using the HTTP Serverp. 265
9.6 Acquiring Data Using the FTP Serverp.273
9.7 Sending Data Using the FTP Clientp.277
9.8 Sending Emailsp.298
9.9 Controlling the Instrument with Communication Commandsp.305
9.10 Sending Measurement Data Using XCP on Ethernetp. 306
9.11 Linking the instrument with GENNECT Cloudp. 308

9

#### Available functionality

✓: Yes; --: No

Description	LAN	USB	Reference page
Real-time measurement through the Logger Utility	~	$\checkmark$	p.245
Remote operation using the HTTP server function	<b>√</b> * ¹ * ²	-	p.265
Manual acquisition of data using the FTP server function	✓	_	p.273
Automatic sending of data using the FTP client function	<b>√</b> * ¹ * ³	_	p.277
Email transmission	~	-	p.298
Measurement using programs written in languages such as Visual Basic	<b>√</b> * ¹ * ⁴	<b>√</b> * ¹	p.305
Linking the instrument with GENNECT Cloud	<b>√</b> * ¹ * ²	_	p.308

*1: Disabled during measurement with the Logger Utility.

*2: Not available during measurement using programs written in languages such as Visual Basic.

- *3: Not available during interconnection with GENNECT Cloud.
- *4: Real-time data cannot be acquired at a recording interval of less than 1 s. In this case, use the Logger Utility. Data can be acquired after measurement has stopped, even when using a recording interval of less than 1 s. For more information about creating measurement programs, see the "Communication Commands User Manual" on the included DVD (application disc).



# 9.1 Using the Logger Utility

A software application called Logger Utility comes with the instrument.

You can configure the instrument's settings, operate the instrument, and observe waveforms through your computer with the Logger Utility installed.

There are the following advantages in using the Logger Utility.

- You can observe data, such as waveforms and values, your computer acquired in real time.
- · You can analyze measurement data.
- You can convert measurement data (from binary format to CSV format).
- · You can transmit waveform data in real time to the Excel file a computer is using.
- You can operate up to five loggers, including legacy models as well as the LR8450/LR8450-01.

#### Supported models

LR8450, LR8450-01, LR8400, LR8401, LR8402, LR8410, LR8416, LR8431, LR8432, LR8101, LR8102, 8423

For more information about how to install and use the Logger Utility, see "Logger Utility User Manual" (PDF file) on the included DVD.



When a recording interval of between 1 ms and 5 ms is set, the system cannot acquire data in realtime.

In addition, when the number of analog channels with measurement enabled reaches 601, the system cannot acquire data in real-time.

If a wireless module cannot send data due to communication disruption, the data may be regarded as **[NO DATA]**. The system cannot recover data even after the wireless communication is restored. CAN Units (U8555/LR8535) cannot collect data in real time. In addition, files saved in the binary format (MEM) by the instrument cannot be opened by the Logger Utility. Files containing CAN Unit data saved in the binary format (MEM) can be opened using GENNECT One.

If measurement is started using the Logger Utility, the instrument's waveform display will be updated only intermittently in order to reduce the workload.

In the following cases, numerical calculation results or waveform calculation results may differ between the instrument and Logger Utility because they handle data differently.

• If values exceed the measurable range significantly (+OVER, -OVER)

- If the communications are temporarily disrupted (NO DATA)
- · If a wire break is detected in a thermocouple during temperature measurement

9

Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System

# 9.2 Configuring and Establishing a USB Connection

This section describes how to connect the instrument to a computer with the accompanying USB cable.

- You can configure the instrument's settings, record waveforms, and observe the recorded waveforms with the Logger Utility. (p.245)
- You can load data from an SD Memory Card to a computer. (p. 172)
- You can control the instrument using communication commands. (p. 305)

Install the USB driver before connecting the instrument to the computer for the first time.

#### Installing the USB driver

Install the USB driver as described below.

**1** Execute an install file of the USB driver.

(Windows 7 or Windows 8)

#### Run [DriverSetupWin7Win8.msi] on the DVD.

If you have already installed the Logger Utility, you can run the file from the following location: [c:\Program Files(x86)\HIOKI\LoggerUtility\Driver\DriverSetupWin7Win8.msi] *

#### (Windows 10 or Windows 11)

#### Run [DriverSetupWin10Win11.msi] on the DVD.

If you have already installed the Logger Utility, you can run the file from the following location: [c:\Program Files(x86)\HIOKI\LoggerUtility\Driver\DriverSetupWin10Win11.msi] *

*: Follow the procedure to install the Logger Utility. It will be installed in the [Program Files(x86)] on the C drive.

HIOKI Logger USB Driver			
Welcome to the HIOKI Logger USB Driver Setu Wizard	р		
The initialer will guide you through the steps required to install HIDKI Logger USI computer.	3 Drive	r on you	z
WARNING. This compose program is protected by copyright law and internation Unauthorized displaysion of diship constrained in the program or criminal penalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum extent possible under the protected of the protect of the maximum extent possible under the protected of the protect of the maximum extent possible under the protected of the protect	al treati esuit in r the la	es. severe w.	civil
Cancel < Back		Next >	

2 Click	[Next]	•
---------	--------	---

To change the installation location (not usually necessary)

Click **[Browse...]** and change the folder into which to install the driver.

. . . . . . . . . . . . .

HIOKI Logger USB Driver	×
Confirm Installation	5
The installer is ready to install HIOKI Logger USB Driver on your computer.	
Click "Next" to start the installation.	
Cancel < Back	Next >



The installation will begin.




#### 

### Windows 7, Windows 8, Windows 10, or Windows 11

A dialog box asking for permission to continue will be displayed. Click **[Yes]** to continue.



B HIOKI Logger USB Driver	
Installation Complete	5
HIDKI Logger USB Driver has been successfully installed.	
Click "Close" to exit.	
Cancel Cancel	Close

# A dialog box asking for permission to install the software will be displayed.

#### Select the [Always trust software from "HIOKI E.E. CORPORATION".] check box and click [Install].

The installation will complete, and a dialog box will be displayed.

### 4 Click [Close].

This completes installation of the USB driver.

9



Unit

# Connecting the instrument to the computer with a USB cable

This section describes how to connect the instrument to a computer with a USB cable.



Do not unplug the USB cable while the instrument is sending or receiving data. Doing so could damage the instrument.

Turn off the instrument and computer before connecting or disconnecting the USB cable.



Failure to do so could cause the instrument to malfunction or damage it.

Ensure the instrument and computer are grounded at the same potential.

Connecting the USB cable while the ground potentials differ between the instrument and computer could cause the instrument to malfunction or damage it.

### Instructions



You cannot use both the Logger Utility and communication commands at the same time over the USB connection. Allow at least 30 s to switch between the Logger Utility and communication commands.



### If USB-communications are disrupted on Windows 10 or Windows 11

Open the Device Manager to check if the instrument is in the following conditions. If so, change the Windows settings in steps 1 to 5 to see if the USB driver is recognized correctly.

- The HIOKI MEMORY HILOGGER LR8450 (COMxx) icon has an exclamation mark (!)
- The error message Windows cannot load the device driver for this hardware. The driver may be corrupted or missing. (Code 39) is displayed.
- **1** Open [Settings] on Windows.
- **2** Click [Update & Security] > [Windows Security].
- **3** Click [Device security].
- **4** Click [Core isolation].
- **5** Set the [Memory integrity] toggle switch to [Off].

9



# 9.3 Configuring and Establishing a LAN Connection

This section describes how to connect the instrument to a computer with a LAN cable.

- You can configure the instrument's settings, record waveforms, and observe the recorded waveforms with the Logger Utility. (p.245)
- You can remotely control the instrument (to configure settings, acquire data, or monitor its screen) using a standard web browser such as Microsoft Edge. (HTTP server) (p.265)
- You can download files from storage media (an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive) to a computer. (FTP server) (p.273)
- You can set up the system so that waveform files stored on instrument media are automatically sent over the network or to the FTP server on a remotely located computer. (FTP client) (p.273)
- You can send data while measurement is in progress to a computer or other device with email capability on the local network or in a remote location via the instrument's SMTP mail server function. (p.298)
- You can control the instrument using communication commands. (p.305)

#### IMPORTANT

Be sure to configure the LAN settings before connecting the instrument to a network. Changing the settings while the instrument is connected to a network could cause the instrument to be assigned the same IP address as another device on the LAN or incorrect address data to be sent to the network.

#### Checking settings before connecting the instrument

Different settings are used depending on whether you wish to connect the instrument to an existing network or to connect the instrument to a single computer.

#### Connecting the instrument to an existing network

You will need to have your network system administrator (department) assign the following settings in advance. Be sure that the instrument is not using the same IP address as any other device on the network.

DHCP server	Whether to use a DHCP server: Use or not use
Host name IP address Subnet mask	Hostname IP address Subnet mask: (The IP address and subnet mask are unnecessary if using the DHCP server.)
Port number	TCP/IP port number to use:X (default setting: 880x) Specify at least the first 3 digits of the 4- or 5-digit port number. The last digit is reserved for use by the instrument. (Last digit 0: Logger Utility, 2: Communication commands, 5: XCP on Ethernet) Specify when the default setting of 8800 to 8809 cannot be used.
Gateway	Gateway: Use or not use IP address (if using): (The setting is not required when using the DHCP server because the gateway will be acquired from the server.)
DNS	DNS: Use or not use IP address (if using): (The setting is not required when using the DHCP server because the gateway will be acquired from the server.)



#### Connecting the instrument to a single computer (local network with no external connections)

The following addresses are recommended if there is no network administrator or if you are responsible for configuring the settings yourself:

Example settings

DHCP server		OFF
Host name		Set as desired (unique setting required).
IP address	Computer	192.168.1.1
	Logger 1	192.168.1.2
	Logger 2	192.168.1.3 (assign sequentially)
	Ļ	$\downarrow$
Subnet mask		255.255.255.0
Port number		880X
Gateway		OFF
DNS		OFF

### **Settings**

Using DHCP server (Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol)	DHCP allows the instrument to automatically acquire and configure its IP address and other settings. When the server and the instrument are on the same network, enabling the DHCP server allows you to automatically acquire and set the IP address, subnet mask, and gateway.
Host name	Indicates the name of the instrument on the network. Be sure that the instrument's hostname is not being used by any other device on the network. Since the instrument does not support dynamic DNS, the set hostname will not be registered in the DNS.
IP address	Indicates the address used to distinguish individual devices connected to the network. Be sure that the instrument's IP address is not being used by any other device on the network. The server will automatically set the IP address when the DHCP server is enabled.
Subnet mask	Divides the IP address into one part that indicates the network and another that indicates the instrument. Use the same setting as other devices that are connected to the same network. The server will automatically set the subnet mask when the DHCP server is enabled.
Gateway IP address	<ul> <li>Connecting the instrument to a network If the computer (communications device) is connected to a different network than the instrument, set to [ON] and specify the device that will serve as the gateway. If the computer is on the same network, the same setting as the default gateway in the computer's settings can generally be used.</li> <li>Connecting the instrument to a single computer If connecting the instrument to the same hub, set to [OFF]. The gateway IP address will be acquired from the server when the DHCP server is enabled.</li> </ul>
DNS (Domain Name System)	When DNS is enabled, you can specify the device you wish to communicate with by name instead of IP address. (IP addresses consist of a series of numbers and are difficult to remember. Devices can be specified using names instead of IP addresses to make the setup process more intuitive.) If a server that can convert names to IP addresses is operating on the network, IP addresses can be checked based on names by querying the server. The name will be acquired from the server when the DHCP server is enabled.

Unit

### Username and password for authentication purposes

You can impose limitations on connections when you log into the FTP of the instrument and use a web browser of a computer.

See "FTP server connection limitations (FTP authentication)" (p.275).



# Configuring the computer's network settings

These settings are configured in the same way, regardless of whether you are connecting the instrument to one computer or multiple instruments to a single computer via a hub.

This explanation envisions the following network:

- IP address: 192.168.1.0/24 (network address)
- or 192.168.1.1 (private IP address*)
- Subnet mask: 255.255.255.0
- *: The IP address can be set as desired, but use of a private IP address is recommended.

#### Windows 7, Windows 8, Windows 10, or Windows 11

culenter	oriopen	lies						
etworking	Sharing							
Connect u	sing:							
🚽 Inte	(R)82574	L Gigab	it Networl	Connec	tion			
This c <u>o</u> nne	ction uses	s the fo	llowing ite	ms:		Confi	gure	
🗹 驔 c	ient for Mi	crosoft	Network	5				~
🗹 👰 Fi	le and Prin	ter Sha	aring for N	licrosoft l	Vetwo	orks		
🗖 🚛 o	oS Packet	Sched	iuler					
	ternet Pro	otocol N	Version 4	(TOP/IPv	4)			)_
Ш 🔔 М	crosoπ IN	etwork	Adapter N	iu πipie xor	Prot	0001		
M . M	crosoft LL	DP Pro	otocol Dri	ver				×
								_
	all		Uninstal	i i		Prope	rties	
l <u>n</u> st								
I <u>n</u> st Descripti	on							

Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/IPv4)	) Properties	$\times$
General		
You can get IP settings assigned autor this capability. Otherwise, you need to for the appropriate IP settings.	matically if your network supports o ask your network administrator	
ODbtain an IP address automatica	lly	
- • Use the following IP address:		
IP address:	192.168.1.1	
S <u>u</u> bnet mask:	255.255.255.0	
Default gateway:		
Obtain DNS server address autor	matically	
• Use the following DNS server add	dresses:	
Preferred DNS server:		
Alternate DNS server:		
Validate settings upon exit	Ad <u>v</u> anced	
	OK Cancel	

- 1 Under [Control Panel] > [Network and Sharing Center] > [Change adapter settings], display the computer's network connections.
- 2 Right-click the network adapter icon (with a name such as [Local area connection] or [Ethernet]) and select [Properties].
- **3** Select [Internet Protocol Version 4 (TCP/ IPv4)] and click [Properties].

4 Enter the [IP address] and [Subnet mask] and click [OK].

# Configuring the instrument's LAN settings

SET > Syste	em > Comm		
Unit Environma Comm External	Measure Chann LAN DHCP server Host name IP address Subnet mask Port number Gateway Gateway DNS DNS DNS IP 23 USB USB	Trigger         Ala           0FF         1           192.168.1.1         1           255.255.255.0         880X           0FF         0           0.0.0.0         0           0FF         0           0.0.0.0         0           0FF         0           0.0.0.0         0           0FF         0           0.0.0.0         0	rm Calculation System
			♥ 06-26-2023 8ch 12:23:13

# **1** Configure the settings.

See "Configuring LAN settings" (p.256).

# **2** Press the ENTER key while [Apply] is selected.

The LAN connection will be enabled (the USB connection may be interrupted).





#### LAN configuration process

9

Unit Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System

### **Configuring LAN settings**

To communicate with the instrument over the LAN, configure the following settings:

#### • [DHCP server]

If [DHCP server] is set to [ON], the instrument will automatically acquire the IP address and subnet mask.

OFF ^Ø	Disables the DHCP function.
ON	Enables the DHCP function.

#### • [Host name]

Specify the instrument's hostname.

String of up to 12 single-byte characters (example: LOGGER)

#### • [IP address]

Set the instrument's IP address.

If the wireless LAN is set to **[Wireless unit connection]** mode, *192.168.255.XXX/24* and *192.168.254.XXX/24*, wireless modules use, cannot be set. (LR8450-01 only).

If the wireless LAN is set to **[Access point]** mode or **[Station]** mode, Assign an IP address of the access point or station, the network part of which does not conflict with others. (LR8450-01 only)

____ (_: 0 to 255) (example: **192.168.1.2**)

[Subnet mask]

____ (_: 0 to 255) (example: 255.255.255.0)

#### • [Port number]

Set the number of the TCP/IP port used by the instrument. The last digit cannot be set as it is used by the instrument's firmware.

(Last digit 0: Logger Utility, 2: Communication commands, 5: XCP on Ethernet)

__ (_: 0 to 9) (example: **880X**)

• [Gateway]

If [DHCP server] is set to [ON], the gateway will be set automatically.

OFF ^{II}, ON

• [Gateway IP]

If [Gateway] is set to [ON], set the IP address of the device that will serve as the gateway.

_.___ (_: 0 to 255)

• [DNS]

Select whether to use DNS.

OFF ^{II}, ON

• [DNS IP]

If [DNS] is set to [ON], set the DNS server's IP address.

_._. (_: 0 to 255)



#### **Example settings**

• Connecting the instrument to a single computer

DHCP server	OFF
Host name	LOGGER
IP address	192.168.1.2
Subnet mask	255.255.255.0
Port number	880X
Gateway	OFF
DNS	OFF

· Connecting multiple instruments to a computer via a hub

This section describes how to connect the instrument to a local network without any external connections.

It is recommended to use a private IP address.

Configure the settings as follows so that only one device uses a given hostname and IP address. Device 1

Host name	LOGGER
IP address	192.168.1.2

Device 2

Host name	LOGGER2
IP address	192.168.1.3

Device 3

Host name	LOGGER3
IP address	192.168.1.4

#### Shared settings

DHCP server	OFF
Subnet mask	255.255.255.0
Port number	880X
Gateway	OFF

9

Unit

# Connecting the instrument to a computer with a LAN cable

This section describes how to connect the instrument to a computer with a LAN cable.



#### LAN connector on the instrument



The LINK LED will light up when the instrument has connected to the network, indicating that the connection can be used. If the LED fails to illuminate, there may be a malfunction of the instrument or connected device or a wire break in the LAN cable.



### Connecting the instrument to a single computer

You will need: 9642 LAN Cable (×1)



### Connecting multiple instruments to a computer via a hub

You will need: 9642 LAN Cable (×2), hub



9

Unit

### **Troubleshooting LAN connections**

#### Are the cables connected properly?

- There may be a faulty contact in the connector. Disconnect and reconnect the cable.
- The LINK LED on the instrument's LAN connector will light up once a connection has been established.

#### Has the computer's IP address been set properly?

- Check the IP address, subnet mask, and gateway address set for the computer's network interface.
  - Press the Windows key and the R key at the same time. The [Run...] dialog box will be displayed.
  - 2 Enter *CMD* and press the ENTER key.

The [CMD.exe] window will open.

**3** When the cursor starts flashing, enter *ipconfig/all* and press the ENTER key.

#### Can the instrument and computer communicate?

- If the instrument and computer's IP addresses have been set properly, you can check whether the computer can communicate with the instrument using the ping protocol.
  - **1** Press the Windows key and the R key at the same time.

The [Run...] dialog box will be displayed.

**2** Enter *CMD* and press the ENTER key.

The [CMD.exe] window will open.

**3** Once the cursor starts flashing, enter *ping XXX.XXX.X.X* (using the IP address you wish to verify) and press the ENTER key.

If the DNS works, you may also enter the hostname. For example, if the instrument's IP address is 192.168.1.2, enter *ping 192.168.1.2*.

**4** Check the computer's display.

Output like the following indicates normal connectivity. The expression *time* indicates the amount of time required for the operation to complete.

Pinging 192.168.1.2 with 32 bytes of data:

Reply from 192.168.1.2: bytes=32 time<10ms TTL=32

Reply from 192.168.1.2: bytes=32 time<10ms TTL=32

- Reply from 192.168.1.2: bytes=32 time<10ms TTL=32
- Reply from 192.168.1.2: bytes=32 time=1ms TTL=32

Output such as the following indicates a connectivity issue. Check the cable connection. Pinging 192.168.1.2 with 32 bytes of data:

Reply from 192.168.1.2: Host is down.



# 9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)

# **Configuring and Establishing a Wireless LAN Connection**

The LR8450-01 is equipped with various features that take advantage of wireless LAN communications.

When you select the access point or station function, the following functions will be enabled:

- · Setting configuration and recording control using communication commands
- Manual data acquisition using the FTP server
- Automatic data sending using FTP (FTP client)
- Remote operation using the HTTP server
- NTP client function

Selecting the wireless module connection function will enable the instrument to perform measurement using wireless modules. Up to 330-analog channel measurement with a combination of plug-in modules and wireless module is available.

The LR8450-01 accommodates, for measurement, up to seven wireless modules.

The access point function, station function and wireless module measurement function can not be used together.

Unit	Measure Chann	nel Trigger	Alarm	Calculation System	
	LAN — DHCP server	OFF	1	Wireless LAN settings	R
External	Host name		i "	Command settings	
	IP address	192. 168. 1 . 1	i	FTP/HTTP server settings	
	Subnet mask	255. 255. 255. 0		FTP data auto send settings	I
	Port number	880X		E-mail settings	k
	Gateway	0FF		NTP settings	I
	Gateway IP	172. 19 . 113. 1			
	DNS	0FF			
	DNS IP	172.20.12.15			
		Apply			

#### Press the ENTER key while [Wireless LAN settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

**2** Select the [Use wireless function] check box.



#### **3** Under [Mode], select a setting.

Station	Works as a terminal that can connect to an access point in the wireless LAN.
Access point	Works as an access point.
Connect wireless unit [∅]	Performs measurement establishing LAN-connection with the wireless modules. Use this mode to perform measurement with the wireless modules.

# When setting [Mode] to [Station]

Unit	Harris Alama Alam Astronom Anno	
Environment	Wireless LAN settings	
Comm	✓Use wireless function	
External	Mode Station	
	SSID xh157-mother DHCP server ON	
	Z Security WPA2-PSK (AES) 🔽 IP address 192.168.255.1 🔤 ngs	
	3 Password Subnet mask 255. 255. 0	
	5 Connect 5 Search Port 880X	
	Gateway OFF	
(2)	Auto connect Execute Gateway IP 0. 0. 0. 0	
	Mode Push button V DNS OFF	
	DNS IP 0. 0. 0	
	MAC address: d4:ca:6e:92:ee:bf Apply Cancel	
,	USB	
	USB drive mode Execute	
30 2. OGB		28

#### (1) Manual connection

#### **1** Under [SSID], set an identification name for an access point.

Press the **ENTER** key while **[Search]** is selected to search wireless equipment close to the instrument for their SSIDs. Choose the SSID you wish to connect to.

# **2** Under [Security], select an encryption protocol.

Off	Does not encrypt data.	
WPA-PSK (TKIP) ^{III}	Encrypts data with WPA.	
WPA2-PSK (AES)	Encrypts data using WPA2.	

**3** When encryption is enabled, set a password to connect to the access point.

### **4** Configure each setting.

See "Configuring LAN settings" (p.256).

5 Press the ENTER key while [Connect] or [Disconnect] is selected.You can manually connect the instrument to or disconnect it from the access point.

#### (2) Automatic connection

#### Press the ENTER key while [Execute] under [Auto connect] is selected.

The WPS function of a commercially available access point will be used to establish connection (push-button type).



Unit Environment Comm External	Wireless LAN settings Use wireless function Mode Access point	7
	SSID 00000 Security WPA-PSK (TKIP) V Password	IP address         192.168.10.100            Subnet mask         255.255.255.0             ings         ⊥
	Channel 1ch Inspecting communication Execute environment Stealth OFF	DHCP server ON Connected units
	MAC address: d4:ca:6e:92:ee:bf	Apply Cancel
50 2. OGB	USB drive mode Execute	24 00 1 m 2020-05-28

### When setting [Mode] to [Access point]

- Under [SSID], set an identification name for an access point.
   The SSID is initially set to the string [LR8450#xxxxxxx] (the letters xxxxxxx represent the serial number of the instrument). You can change to any SSID.
- 2 Under [Security], select an encryption protocol.

OFF	Does not encrypt data.	
WPA-PSK (TKIP) ^{III}	Encrypts data with WPA.	
WPA2-PSK (AES)	Encrypts data using WPA2.	

- **3** When encryption is enabled, set a password to connect to the access point. The default password is [password]. Change to any password with at least eight characters.
- **4** Under [Channel], set the frequency band channel for use in the wireless LAN.

#### 1ch ^{II} to 11ch

When using multiple pieces of LR8450-01, make sure that they are not using the same channel.

**5** Press the ENTER key while [Execute] under [Inspecting communication environment] is selected.

The communications environment around the instrument will be displayed. The instrument will indicate the communications congestion level with colors (green, yellow, red).

**6** Under [Stealth], select whether other terminal devices can search for the instrument.

Off ^Ø, On

7 Set the IP address, subnet mask, and DHCP server.

See "Configuring LAN settings" (p.256).

The **[Connected units]** box shows the number of the stations presently connected to the instrument.

9

Unit Environment Comm External	Wireless LAN se Use wireless Mode Connect w	ttings function ireless unit v	A 1	Antonination	•••••	35
2	Channel Inspecting communication environment	1ch Execute				 ngs
	MAC address: d4	l:ca:6e:92:ee:bf		Apply	Cancel	
	USB USB drive mc	de Execute				
50 2. OGB					24 OFF 1	n 2020-05-28 20:17:42

### When setting [Mode] to [Connect wireless unit]

**1** Under [Channel], set the frequency band channel for use in the wireless LAN.

1ch ^{II} to 11ch

When using multiple pieces of LR8450-01, make sure that they are not using the same channel.

When you wish to check the surrounding communications environment)
 Press the ENTER key while [Execute] under [Inspecting communication environment] is selected.



The communications environment around the instrument.

The instrument will indicate the communications congestion level with colors (green, yellow, red). The channel numbers represent [Channel] with the wireless LAN [Mode] setting set to [Wireless unit connection].

# 9.5 Performing Remote Operation Using the HTTP Server

This section describes how to use the instrument's HTTP server function to control it remotely using a computer.

You can configure the instrument's settings, acquire measurement data, and monitor the display through a commonly used web browser, including Microsoft Edge.

To perform remote measurement using the HTTP server function, you must configure LAN settings and use a LAN connection.

When accessing the HTTP server, the communication command setting header will be set to OFF. You cannot perform the remote operation through the HTTP server during measurement using the Logger Utility or programs, including those created with Visual Basic.

Some browsers may be unable to connect to the HTTP server if the FTP/HTTP authentication setting is enabled. In this case, either use a different browser or disable the FTP/HTTP authentication setting.

After updating the instrument's firmware, the remote operation function may open the page from the previous version or otherwise fail to function properly. In this case, delete your browser's cache and connect again.

If you attempt to set the time during HTTP-server-communications, the communications may be disrupted.

# **Connecting to the HTTP server**

This section describes how to connect to the HTTP server using a computer.



- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).

**3** (When the instrument's [FTP/HTTP authentication settings] setting is [ON])

#### Enter the username and password to log in.

Set a username and password to prevent inadvertent operation of the HTTP function by other users.

If you plan to access the instrument frequently from multiple computers, set the **[FTP/HTTP authentication settings]** setting to **[OFF]**. See "FTP server connection limitations (FTP authentication)" (p.275).

It is recommended to use Microsoft Edge.



#### **4** Select the mode.

Control Mode	Allows you to control and configure the instrument from a browser. Only one connection is supported.
Browsing Mode	You can view the instrument's screen and information about its status from a browser. Up to four simultaneous connections are supported.

#### If nothing appears on the HTTP screen

After following the procedure below, check whether the computer can communicate with the instrument over the LAN connection.

See "Troubleshooting LAN connections" (p.260).

#### Windows 7 and Windows 8

- **1** Open [Control Panel], and click [Network and Internet] > [Internet Options].
- **2** On the [Advanced] tab, enable [Use HTTP1.1] and disable [Use HTTP1.1 through proxy connections].
- **3** On the [Connections] tab, click [LAN settings], and disable the [Proxy server] setting.

#### Windows 10 and Windows 11

- **1** Open [Settings] of Windows, and click [Network and Internet] > [Proxy].
- 2 If [Manual proxy setup] > [Use a proxy server] is set to [On], switch it to [Off]. If it is set to [On], the computer may not be able to communicate with the instrument.



# Remote control using a browser

This section describes how to display the instrument's screen in a browser.

You can control the instrument remotely by clicking keys shown in the browser. However, power key operation and attempts to engage the key lock (pressing and holding the **ESC** key) are ignored. The mouse connected to the instrument cannot be used while it is being controlled remotely. By holding down the Ctrl key and clicking the right button, you can perform the same operation as a right click when a mouse is connected to the instrument.

2 II http://192.168.1.1/index	Control.htm - 🗸 Search	- ロ × ふ☆☺♡
HIOKI LR8450/LR8450-01 H × 📑		
LR8450/LR8450-01 HTTF	SERVER	
START/STOP REMOTI	CONTROL	
INSTANT DATA DISP	I: 1s	
DATA GET BY FTP	4 Screen refresh interval	
3 MENT SET	Calculation System	
REMOTE CONTROL	Model         CH         Name         Serial No.         Status         Update         Filter         Unit identifier           Unit         1         U8552         30cHvoltsge/Temp         100340500         Auto         20.6 kHz           Unit         2         156Hvoltsge/Temp         200300000         Auto         20.8 kHz	WAVE SET FILE
UPDATE	Unit 3 U8555 5cHigh speed voltage 190940028 Auto 9 50 kHz Unit 4 U855550ch-20N 21092388 Auto 9	ITOR QUICK SET
MAIN PAGE	Renote 2	
MANUAL	Renote 7	SS 3 Mec SELECT ESC SCROLL/CURSOR
		STOP START
FULL SCREET	I MODE	

- 1 Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).

#### **3** Click [REMOTE CONTROL].

The instrument screen will be displayed. The keys provided by the instrument will be shown on the screen.

Click settings on the screen to control the instrument.

You can click the keys for operation.

The power key is disabled.

**4** Under [Refresh Interval], select the interval at which to refresh the screen.

#### 250 ms, 1 s, 10 s, 30 s

When **[Refresh Interval]** is set to 250 ms, the image quality will be degraded to keep up with the screen refreshment.

Instead of updating the screen, the instrument will display the message **[Loading . . .]** while being busy, such as performing a search, making numerical calculations, loading files, or saving files.

9



# Starting and stopping measurement

This section describes how to start and stop measurement from a browser.

(-2) I http://19	92.168.1.1/indexControl.htm		- 🖒 Search	- □ × ₽- în ☆ ☺ ☺		
HIOKI LR8450/LR8450-01 H × 📑						
LR8450/LR8450	-01 HTTP SERVER					
3						
START/STOP	START/STOP					
INSTANT DATA DISP	CURRENT STATUS 5					
DATA GET BY FTP	Idle					
COMMENT SET	STOP					
REMOTE CONTROL	MEMORY STATUS:NO DATA					
UPDATE		MEMORY DATA TOP	TRIGGER DATA	MEMORY DATA END		
	POSITION	-	-	-		
MAIN PAGE	TIME	-	-	-		
MANUAL	DATE	-	-	-		

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).

### **3** Click [START/STOP].

The [START/STOP] screen will be displayed.

4 Click [START].

Measurement will start.

#### **5** Click [CURRENT STATUS] (as necessary).

The status of measurement on the instrument will be displayed.

### **6** Click [STOP].

Measurement will stop.

# **Displaying measured values**

You can check current measured values in a browser.

	92.168.1.1/ 0-01 H ×	/indexControl.htm	1			- Q -	Search		_ } - ۹	- 
LR8450/LR8450	0-01 H	TTP SERVI	ER							
3 RT/STOP	INST	ANT DATA I	DISP							
INSTANT DATA DISP	SELECT	UNIT : U	JNIT1:U8552	~ 4	1					
DATA GET BY FTP	REFRES	H INTERVAL :	1 s 🗸	5	5					
COMMENT SET	'21-11-2	22 12:36:36								
	Ch	Waveform color	Data	Comment	Ch	Waveform color	Data	Comment		
REMOTE CONTROL	U1-1		+2.74200E-03V		U1-2		-990.000E-06V			
UPDATE	U1-3		+24.1000E+00°C		U1-4		-1.39850E-03V			
	U1-5		-1.61100E-03V		U1-6		-1.02200E-03V			
MAIN PAGE	U1-7		-722.000E-06V		U1-8		-142.000E-06V			
MANUAL	U1-9		+225.500E-06V		U1-10		+817.000E-06V			
	U1-11		+734.000E-06V		U1-12		+1.36500E-03V			
	U1-13		+1.71850E-03V		U1-14		+1.60100E-03V			
	U1-15		+1.79750E-03V		U1-16		+1.53050E-03V			
	U1-17		+2.13700E-03V		U1-18		+1.93400E-03V			
	U1-19		+1.18100E-03V		U1-20		+568.000E-06V			
	U1-21		+749.500E-06V		U1-22		+30.0000E-06V			
	U1-23		-210.500E-06V		U1-24		-878.500E-06V			
	U1-25		-1.05150E-03V		U1-26		-1.42950E-03V			
	U1-27		-1.49400E-03V		U1-28		-2.14250E-03V			
	U1-29		-1.67350E-03V		U1-30		-2.61900E-03V			

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2)
- **3** Click [INSTANT DATA DISP].

Current measured values will be displayed.

**4** Under [SELECT UNIT], select the unit whose values you wish to display.

Measured values for each of the selected unit's channels will be displayed.

- Depending on communications conditions, it may take 2 to 3 s to acquire data.
- Values are not shown for channels whose display has been disabled.
- When measurement is stopped, the instantaneous data being input to each channel will be displayed.
- **5** Under [REFRESH INTERVAL], set the refresh time for the screen.

OFF ^Ø, 1 s, 5 s, 10 s, 30 s

9

SET

# **Entering comments**

This section describes how to enter title and channel comments from a browser.

2	
	92.168.1.1/indexControl.htm · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
HIOKI LK8450/LK845	0-01 H X
LR8450/LR8450	D-01 HTTP SERVER
START/STOP	COMMENT
INSTANT DATA DISP	• TITLE COMMENT(up to 40 characters)
2.4 000 00000	TITLE COMMENT SET
J'AGEL BY FIP	· UNIT IDENTIFIER(up to 16 characters) and CHANNEL COMMENT(up to 40 characters)
COMMENT SET	
REMOTE CONTROL	
OPDATE	CH2-2
	CH2-4
MAIN PAGE	CH2-5 CH2-6
MANUAL	CH2-7
	CH2-9
	CH2-10
	CH2-12
	CH2-13 CH2-14
	CH2-15
	CHANNEL COMMENT SET
	Comments cannot be set during measurement. Entry of the special characters is as follows: (Characters other than the following are replaced by spaces.) <b>HITP</b> $\begin{vmatrix} r_2 & r_3 & -u & -o &   -e &   -c &   -r_1 & -r_1 &   -r_1 &   -r_2 &   $
	$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).

#### **3** Click [COMMENT SET].

Entered comments will be applied to the instrument.

- 4 Enter a title comment and click [TITLE COMMENT SET]. The title comment entered in the browser will be applied to the instrument.
- **5** Select the module for which to display comments.

The module identifier and the channel comments for the selected module will be displayed.

- **6** Enter a module identifier and each channel comment.
- **7** Click [CHANNEL COMMENT SET].

The module identifier and the channel comments will be applied to the instrument.

- The instrument's comments cannot be changed while measurement is in progress.
- ASCII characters will be displayed properly on the instrument. Other characters may not be displayed properly on the instrument.



# Remote version update

You can update the instrument and modules through a web browser.

When the instrument and modules need to be updated, Hioki will release the updating files and version update procedure on the company's website.

To update the instrument and modules remotely, download a compressed folder from the website and extract it in advance.

Neither an SD Memory Card nor a USB Drive is required.

(2 ■ http://1	92.168.1.1/indexControl.ht	m	- Č	earch	- ロ × ア・ 습☆ 袋 🤤
HIOKI LR8450/LR845	0-01 H × 📑				
LR8450/LR8450	0-01 HTTP SERV	<b>ER</b>			
START/STOP	UPDATE				
INSTANT DATA DISP	Select a file and press the Measured waveforms will b Setting may be initialized.	Update Button to update the fi e cleared. If necessary, save to if necessary, save to the media	rmware of the instrument. media before updating. before updating.		
DATA GET BY FTP	The update is only possible Version cannot be updated	e when the battery status icon i I during measurement, etc.	is 🛄 👢 🔍 or NO ICON.		
COMMENT SET	<b>4</b> B	rowse Update	5		
3 DTE CONTROL	0%				
UPDATE	Unit No.	Model	Serial No.	Version	Battery Status
	ніокі	LR8450-01	100000000	V0.5-A25	( <b>*</b> )
MAIN PAGE	UNIT1	U8552	190940500	V 110	-
MANUAL	UNIT2	U8550	200000000	V 110	-
	UNIT3	U8553	190940626	V 020	-
	UNIT4	U8555	21 0923388	V 022	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	-	_	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-
	*Battery1 is displayed on t	he left side and battery2 is disp	played on the right side.		

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).
- **3** Click [UPDATE].
- 4 Click [Browse...]. Select the update files you downloaded (The .UPG file and .PRG file is used for the instrument and the modules, respectively).
- **5** Click [Update].

Executing the update of the instrument will automatically perform a restart, interrupting communications.

For more information about cautions and an after-update checklist, see the procedure.

9



# Instruction manual

This section describes how to browse the instruction manual (this document, pdf) on a browser.

	92.168.1.1/indexControl.htm  C Search	- □ × ♪ îì ☆ ☺ ಲ
LR8450/LR8450	-01 HTTP SERVER	
START/STOP	MANUAL	
INSTANT DATA DISP	You can open the instruction manual from the link below.	
DATA GET BY FTP	Manual 4	
COMMENT SET		
REMOTE CONTROL		
UPDATE		
MAIN PAGE		
MANUAL		
3		

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2)
- **3** Click [MANUAL].

The instruction manual screen is displayed.

# **4** Click [Manual].

The PDF file of the instruction manual is displayed.



# 9.6 Acquiring Data Using the FTP Server

This section describes how to use the instrument's FTP server function to acquire files from the instrument using a computer.

The file transfer protocol (FTP) is a protocol for sending files over a network.

You can use an FTP client on a computer to download files from an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive connected to the instrument.

You will connect to the HTTP server from a computer.

<ul> <li><a>2</a>) ■ http://19</li> <li>HIOKI LR8450/LR8450</li> </ul>	- □ × 92.168.1.1/indexControl.htm • ♂ Search
LR8450/LR8450	-01 HTTP SERVER
START/STOP	FTP SERVER
3 TANT DATA DEP	• FTP DATA GET FROM SD CARD & USB FLASH DRIVE
DATA GET BY FTP	In this case, use another FTP client program. On a Windows, enter the IP address of the LR8450 in the Explorer address field as shown below ftp://192.168.1.1
COMMENT SET	
REMOTE CONTROL	
UPDATE	
MAIN PAGE	
MANUAL	

- **1** Launch a web browser on the computer.
- 2 Enter the instrument's address into the address bar (for example, http://192.168.1.2).
- **3** Click [DATA GET BY FTP].

### **4** Click [FTP DATA GET FROM SD CARD & USB FLASH DRIVE].

A list of folders on the SD Memory Drive and USB Drive connected to the instrument will be displayed.



9

Unit

**5** Click the type of data you wish to download.

👰   🛃 🔚 🖛   192.168.1.1	1		_	×
File Home Share	View			~ 🕐
← → ~ ↑ Ϋ > The	e Internet > 192.168.1.1 >	~ Ū	Search 192.168.1.1	Q
🗸 📌 Quick access	sdcard			
📃 Desktop 📌				
👆 Downloads 🛛 🖈				
🔮 Documents 🖈				

sdcard	SD Memory Card
usb	USB Drive

The folder will open.

6	Right-click a filename and click [Copy	/ To Folder].	

📙   🛃 📄 ╤   20-0	)2-10					_	×
File Home	Share	View					~ 🕐
← → • ↑ <mark> </mark>	« 192.	.168.1.1 > sdcard >	HIOKI > LR8450 > DA	ATA > 20-02-10	ٽ ~	Search 20-02-10	Q
	_	AUTO0001.CSV					
A Quick access		AUTO0002.CSV	Open				
Desktop	R	AUTO0003.CSV	Conv To Folder				
Downloads	*	AUTO0004.CSV	сору ю гонает				
Documents	*	AUTO0005.CSV	Сору				

The file will be copied.

#### IMPORTANT

Depending on the computer's FTP client and browser, some software may delete a file or folder that is being moved if the operation is canceled while still in progress. Exercise care when moving files and folders.

It is recommended to copy the data and then delete the file or folder in question, instead of moving it.

• If [ON] is selected under the instrument's [FTP/HTTP authentication settings] setting, enter a username and password to log in.

Set a username and password to prevent files from being inadvertently deleted by other users. See "FTP server connection limitations (FTP authentication)" (p.275).

- The instrument's FTP server only supports one connection. You cannot access it from multiple computers at the same time.
- The FTP connection will be closed if no commands are sent for one minute or more. If this happens, open a new FTP connection.
- You may be unable to open a new FTP connection immediately after an FTP connection is closed. If this happens, wait about one minute and then open a new connection.
- Close the FTP connection when switching the SD Memory Card or USB Drive.
- You can externally access the instrument's SD Memory Card or USB Drive using the FTP function. Do not attempt to manipulate files simultaneously using FTP and the instrument. Doing so may result in unintended operation.
- File modification times and dates shown in Internet Explorer may not match those shown on the instrument.



- Internet Explorer may not acquire the most recent data if older data from the last access has been stored in temporary Internet files. If the instrument's data has been updated, use FTP after relaunching Internet Explorer. (Shareware software such as FFFTP may be used instead of Internet Explorer.)
- The instrument may not be able to access FTP depending on the type and version of an HTTP browser. In this case, use another FTP client program, such as FFFTP.
- Operating or transmitting files through the FTP during auto-saving will reduce the auto-save speed.

#### FTP server connection limitations (FTP authentication)

This section describes how to impose limitations on FTP/HTTP server connections. Ordinarily, all devices on the network can access the instrument's FTP server because it uses anonymous authentication.

To restrict connections to the FTP server, set **[FTP/HTTP authentication settings]** to **[ON]** and set a username and password.

It is recommended to set a username and password to prevent files from being inadvertently deleted by other users.





**1** Press the ENTER key while [FTP/HTTP server settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

**2** Under [FTP/HTTP authentication settings], select whether to restrict FTP/HTTP connections.

OFF ^Ø, ON

9

SET

### **3** (When [FTP/HTTP authentication settings] is set to [ON])

Configure the following settings:

See "Text entry method" (p. 10).

• [User name]

Username used when connecting to the instrument from an FTP client or HTTP user agent

String of up to 12 single-byte characters

#### • [Password]

Password used when connecting to the instrument from an FTP client or HTTP user agent

String of up to 12 single-byte characters

The password will be displayed as [•••••].

**4** Under [Time difference correction], select the difference between the computer's time and instrument's time.

-12 h to 12 h; Default setting: 0 h ^{III}

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [Apply] is selected.

The entered settings will be applied, and the settings window will close. Press the **ENTER** key while **[Cancel]** is selected to close the window without changing any settings.



# 9.7 Sending Data Using the FTP Client

This section describes how to send files saved automatically on instrument media (SD Memory Card and USB Drive) to an FTP server on a computer.

To do so, specify the IP address of a computer on which an FTP server is running.

You will need to register the instrument's username and password with the FTP server. For more information, see the Windows FTP server's help file.

You can use the Windows FTP server or another server.

Apart from the Windows FTP server, you can use shareware such as FILEZILLA (trademark of another company) Server.

- Set [Measure] > [Auto save] > [Waveform] > [Format] to any setting other than "OFF."
- To send data at a regular interval, set the segmentation method to [Enable] or [Timed] under the auto saving [File splitting] setting.
- To continue sending data even if the SD Memory Card runs out of space, set the processing method to use when the media runs out of space to [ON] under [Deleting].
   See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 146).
- **1** Configure the LAN settings and establish a LAN connection. (p.250)
- 2 Configure the FTP server on the computer. (p.278)
- **3** Enable automatic sending of files via FTP on the instrument. (p.293)
- **4** Configure auto saving on the instrument. (p.146)
- **5** Start measurement on the instrument.

When data is automatically saved by the instrument, the file will be automatically sent to the computer's FTP server.

**6** Check the communications. (p. 297)



# Example computer FTP server settings

Settings vary with the operating system and software being used. Consult the FTP server's help file and your network administrator.

### Enabling FTP (Windows 7)



**1** Click [Control Panel] > [Programs].



# 2 Click [Turn Windows features on or off].

The **[Windows Features]** dialog box will be displayed.



**3** Click [+] on the left side of [Internet Information Services] to expand the view.

Click [+] on the left side of [FTP Server] to expand the view and select [FTP Service].

Click [+] on the left side of [Web Management Tools] to expand the view and select [IIS Management Console].

Click [OK].

This completes the FTP installation process.

Once the server has been installed, a folder named **[inetpub]** will be created in drive C's root folder.





### Configuring FTP (Windows 7)



Organize 🔻				8== <b>•</b>		0
🔆 Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		
Desktop	R Component Services	7/13/2009 9:46 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
Downloads	R Computer Management	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
📃 Recent Places	Data Sources (ODBC)	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	Fvent Viewer	7/13/2009 9:42 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
🥞 Libraries	🕅 Internet Information Services (IIS) Manager	i/23/2014 4:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
Documents	RE ISCSI Initiator	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
J Music	Local Security Policy	6/23/2014 3:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
Pictures	Performance Monitor	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
😸 Videos	🝘 Print Management	6/23/2014 3:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	Services	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
🝓 Homegroup	🚮 System Configuration	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	🛞 Task Scheduler	7/13/2009 9:42 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
👰 Computer	😭 Windows Firewall with Advanced Security	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	📷 Windows Memory Diagnostic	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
年 Network	😹 Windows PowerShell Modules	7/13/2009 9:52 PM	Shortcut		3 KB	
📬 Network	🔝 Windows PowerShell Modules	7/13/2009 9:52 PM	Shortcut		3 KB	

1 Click [Control Panel] > [System and Security].

**2** Click [Administrative Tools].

**3** Double-click [Internet Information Services (IIS) Manager].

9





Add FTP Site	?
Site Information	
FTD rite name:	
Content Directory Diversity early	
c\inetpub\ftproot	
Previous Einish Cance	el

Add FTP Site	? ×
Binding and SSL Settings	
Binding	
All Unassigned v 21	
Enable Virtual Host Names:	
⊻irtual Host (example: ftp.contoso.com):	
Start FTP site automatically	
No <u>S</u> SL	
C Allow SSL	
© <u>R</u> equire SSL	
SSL <u>C</u> ertificate: Not Selected View	
Previous Next Einish C	ancel

4 Right-click the item displayed under [Connections] on the left pane and click [Add FTP Site...] on the shortcut menu.

> Communications may be blocked depending on how any security software (for example, a firewall) has been configured.

5 Enter the [FTP site name]. Example: ftp

> In [Physical path] under [Content Directory], specify the location where data from FTP clients should be saved. Example: C:\inetpub\ftproot

Click [Next].

**6** Set [Binding] and [SSL] as follows:

[IP Address]	[All Unassigned]
[Port]	[21]
[Start FTP site automatically]	Select.
[SSL]	[No_SSL]

Click [Next].



Add FTP Site	? 💌
Authentication and Authorization Information	
Authentication  Anonymous  Sasic  Authorization  Allow agcess to:  All users  Permissions  V Read  W the	
Previous Next	Einish Cancel

7 Set [Authentication and Authorization Information] as follows:

[Authentication]	Select [Basic].
[Authorization]	[All users]
[Permissions]	Select both [Read] and [Write].

Click [Finish].

9



Unit

# Enabling FTP traffic with the firewall (Windows 7)







1 Click [Control Panel] > [System and Security].

#### **2** Click [Windows Firewall].

**3** Click [Advanced settings].


4 Click [Inbound Rules] on the left pane, right-click [FTP server (FTP Traffic-In)], and click [Properties] in the shortcut menu.

- • **·**×

Actions

Inboun

New Rule...Filter by Profile

Filter by State

Filter by Group View

Refresh 🔒 Export List..

P Help FTP Server (FTP Tra... 
C Enable Rule

of Cut Properties

🛛 Help

Group

File and Printer Sharin

File and Printer Shar

Netlogon Service

×

Network Disco

File and Printer Sharing (Spooler Service -... File and Printer Sharin File and Printer Sharing (Spooler Service -... File and Printer Sharing)

״נ

 FTP Server
 FTP Server

 FTP Server
 FTP Server

 FTP Server
 FTP Server

 HomeGroup In
 FTP Server

 HomeGroup In
 HomeGroup

 ISCSI Service (TCP-In)
 ISCSI Service

 ISCSI Service (TCP-In)
 ISCSI Service

 Media Center Extenders - Media Streamin...
 Media Center Extenders - Media Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - Media Streamin...
 Media Center Extenders - Media Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - Media Streamin...
 Media Center Extenders - Multi Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - MUP-IN)
 Media Center Extenders - Multi Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - MUP-IN)
 Media Center Extenders - Multi Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - WIDDH-IN/DIR...
 Media Center Extenders - Multi Streamin...

 Media Center Extenders - VWDDH-IN/DIR...
 Media Center Extenders - WIDDH-IN/DIR...

 Media Center Extenders - VWDDH-IN/DIR...
 Media Center Extenders - WIDDH-IN/DIR...

 Media Center Extenders - VXPP (TCP-In)
 Media Center Extenders - VXDDH-IN/DIR...

 Media Center Extenders - VXPP (TCP-In)
 Media Center Extenders - VXDDH-IN/DIR...

 Media Center Extenders - VXPP (TCP-In)
 Media Center Extenders - VXDDH-IN/DIR....

</tr

#### The [FTP Server (FTP Traffic-In) Properties] dialog box will be displayed.

#### 5 Select [Enabled] on the [General] tab and then click [OK].

- 6
- Verify that [FTP Server (FTP Traffic-In)] is enabled and click [x] (the [Close] button).

	be modified.	
Genera		
	Name:	
	FTP Server (FTP Traffic-In)	
	Description:	
	An inbound rule to allow FTP traffic for Internet	
	Information Services (IIS) [TCP 21]	
	☑ Enabled	
Action		
-	Allow the connection	
	Allow the connection if it is secure	
	Customize	
	Cuatomize	
	Block the connection	
<u>Leam mo</u>	re about these settings	
	OK Cancel	Ap

ndows Firewall with Advanced Sec

nd R

Netlogon Service (NP-In)

Protocols and Ports Scope Advanced Users General Programs and Services Computer

Programs and Services

Network Discovery (LLMNR-UDP-In)

**C**FTP

e Action <u>V</u>iew <u>H</u>elp

nnection Security Rule

FTP Server (FTP Traffic-In) Properties

Inbound Rules

Eile Act

i.

ile <u>A</u> ction <u>V</u> iew <u>H</u> elp					
• 🔿 🔰 📰 🔜 🛛 📰					
Windows Firewall with Advance	Inbound Rules			Actions	-
Inbound Rules	Name	Group	^	Inbound Rules	-
Connection Security Rules	🕑 File and Printer Sharing (Spooler Service	File and Printer Sharing		🗱 New Rule	
Nonitoring	File and Printer Sharing (Spooler Service	File and Printer Sharing		Filter by Profile	1
		File and Printer Sharing		The system	Ĵ
	FTP Server (FTP Traffic-In)	FTP Server		Y Filter by State	'
	······································	FTP Server		Filter by Group	)
	FTP Server Secure (FTP SSL Traffic-In)	FTP Server		View	J
	🕑 HomeGroup In	HomeGroup	=	Refresh	
	🕑 HomeGroup In (PNRP)	HomeGroup		<ul> <li>Denset Link</li> </ul>	
	iscsI Service (TCP-In)	iSCSI Service		Export List	
	iSCSI Service (TCP-In)	iSCSI Service		? Help	
	Media Center Extenders - HTTP Streamin	Media Center Extenders		ETP Server (ETP Tra	
	Media Center Extenders - Media Streami	Media Center Extenders		<ul> <li>Disable Bala</li> </ul>	
	Media Center Extenders - qWave (TCP-In)	Media Center Extenders		Disable Kule	
	Media Center Extenders - qWave (UDP-In)	Media Center Extenders		of Cut	
	Madia Center Extenders - RTSP (TCP-In)	Media Center Extenders		🖹 Сору	
	Madia Center Extenders - SSDP (ODP-In)	Media Center Extenders		🗙 Delete	
	Media Center Extenders - VSD (TCD In)	Media Center Extenders		Desertion	
	Netlogon Senice (NP-In)	Netlogon Service		roperties	
	Alational Discourse (LLMAND LIDD Is)	Netrogen Service	-	Help	

SET

Unit

#### Configuring accessing users (Windows 7)



						×
🕞 🕞 - 🗟 🕨 Control P	anel	ols 👻 🐓	Search Administr	ative Tools		P
Organize 💌				988 <b>v</b>		0
🔆 Favorites	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		
Mesktop	R Component Services	7/13/2009 9:46 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
鷆 Downloads	Computer Management	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
📃 Recent Places	Nata sources (UDDC)	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	🔝 Event Viewer	7/13/2009 9:42 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
🥞 Libraries	💦 Internet Information Services (IIS) Manager	6/23/2014 4:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
Documents	🚮 iSCSI Initiator	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
J Music	Local Security Policy	6/23/2014 3:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
Pictures	Performance Monitor	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
😸 Videos	📾 Print Management	6/23/2014 3:51 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	Services	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
🜏 Homegroup	🚮 System Configuration	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	🛞 Task Scheduler	7/13/2009 9:42 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
💵 Computer	🕼 Windows Firewall with Advanced Security	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
	Windows Memory Diagnostic	7/13/2009 9:41 PM	Shortcut		2 KB	
年 Network	😹 Windows PowerShell Modules	7/13/2009 9:52 PM	Shortcut		3 KB	
15 items						

🔚 Computer Management				- •				
File Action View Help								
Computer Management (Local     Sorten Tools     Sorten Tools     Computer Management (Local     Sorten Tools     Sorten     Sorten Tools     Sorten Tools     Sorte	Administrator & Administrator & Guest > HomeGroup	Full Name	Description Built-in account for admir Built-in account for guest Built-in account for home	Actions Users Actions				
< >	•		ł					
Creates a new Local User account.								

1 Click [Control Panel] > [System and Security] > [Administrative Tools].

**2** Double-click [Computer Management].

**3** Right-click [Users] under [Local Users and Groups] and select [New User...] from the shortcut menu.



4	Enter the username in the [User
	name] and [Full name] fields and
	the password in the [Password] and
	[Confirm password] fields.

Select the [Password never expires] check box.

Click [Create].

**5** Verify that the set username has been registered and click [×] (the [Close] button).

New User
User name:     logger       Full name:     logger       Description:
Password:       ••••••••         Confirm password:       ••••••••         User must change password at next logon         User cannot change password         Password never expires         Account is disabled
Help Create Close



#### Enabling access to the FTP folder (Windows 7)





🗼 Permissions for ftproot		×
Security		
Object name: C:\inetpub\ftproc	ıt	
Group or user names:		
& CREATOR OWNER		
SYSTEM		
& Administrators		
at I rusted installer		
	A <u>d</u> d	<u>R</u> emove
Permissions for Users	Allow	Deny
Full control	<b>_</b>	
Modify	3 🔽	
Read & execute	1	
List folder contents	$\checkmark$	
Read	1	
Learn about access control and p	emissions	
3к	Cancel	Apply

1 Right-click the folder specified in [Physical path] under [Content Directory] in the FTP site settings and select [Properties].
Example: C:\inetpub\ftproot

The **[ftproot Properties]** dialog box will open.

2 Select [Users] under [Group or user names] on the [Security] tab and click [Edit...].

The **[Permissions for ftproot]** dialog box will open.

3 Select [Allow] for [Full control] under [Permisisons for Users] and click [OK]. The [Permissions for ftproot] dialog box will close.

#### **4** Click [OK].

The **[ftproot Properties]** dialog box will close.



#### **Restarting the FTP server**

```
Restart Microsoft FTP Service under
[Control Panel] > [System and Security] > [Administrative Tools] > [Services].
```

This completes the FTP configuration process for Windows 7.

#### **Enabling FTP (Windows 10)**



This completes the FTP installation process.

Once the server has been installed, a folder named **[inetpub]** will be created in drive C's root folder.

9

Unit

## Configuring FTP (Windows 10)



System and Security				- [
🗧 🔶 👻 🛧 🍆 > Control Par	> System and Securi	ty >	v 0	Search Control Par
Control Panel Home  System and Security	Security an Review your of Troubleshoot	d Maintenance omputer's status and resolve issues   🎯 Change common computer problems	User Account Cor	ntrol settings
Network and Internet Hardware and Sound Programs	Windows F Check firewall	irewall status   Allow an app through Windows Firewall		
User Accounts Appearance and Personalization	System View amount See the name	of RAM and processor speed   😻 Allow remote a of this computer	ccess   Launch	remote assistance
Clock, Language, and Region Ease of Access	Power Opti Change batter	ons y settings   Change what the power buttons do	Change when	the computer sleeps
	File History Save backup c	/ opies of your files with File History   Restore you	r files with File His	story
	Backup and Re	d Restore (Windows 7) estore (Windows 7)   Restore files from backup		
	BitLocker E Manage BitLo	Drive Encryption _{Cker}		
	Storage Sp Manage Stora	aces ge Spaces		
	Work Folde	Folders		
	Administra	tive Tools	Create and form	nat hard disk partitior

🛃 🔜 🗢   Adı	minist	rative Tools					-		>
lle Home	Share	View							$\sim$
→ 丶 ↑ 襠	> Ci	ontrol Panel > System and Security > Administ	rative Tools		~ Ö	Search	Admini	strative	,c
· Ouick accore		Name	Date modified	Туре	Size				
Developed		② Component Services	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
- Downloads	×	🔝 Computer Management	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
Desktop	*	heragment and Optimize Drives	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
😭 Documents	*	🚟 Disk Cleanup	3/19/2017 5:58 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
E Pictures	*	400 a	2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
		Nanager	3/19 017 5:59 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
OneDrive			2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
This PC		Local Security Policy	3/19/2017 5:59 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			
Deskton		To ODBC Data Sources (32-bit)	3/19/2017 5:58 AM	Shortcut		2 KB			



- 1 Click [System and Security] under [Control Panel].
- **2** Click [Administrative Tools].

**3** Double-click [Internet Information Services (IIS) Manager].

4 Right-click the item displayed under [Connections] on the left side of the screen and click [Add FTP Site...] on the shortcut menu.

> Communications may be blocked depending on how any security software (for example, a firewall) has been configured.



Add FTP Site	? ×
Site Information	
FTP site name:	
Content Directory	
Physical path: C:¥LOGGER	
Previous	Next Finish Cancel

dd FTP Site	?	×
Binding and SSL Settings		
Binding		
IP Address: Port:		
All Unassigned V 21		
Enable Virtual Host Names:     Virtual Host (example: ftp.contoso.com):		
✓ Start FTP site automatically		
SSL		
O Allow SSL		
O Require SSL		
SSL Certificate:		
Not Selected V Select V	/iew	
		_
Previous Next Finish	Cance	1

Add FTP Site	?	×
Authentication and Authorization Information		
Authentication Anonymous Basic		
Authorization Allow access to:		
Permissions ☑ Read ☑ Write		
Previous Next Finish	Cance	

5 Enter [Site Information].
 Example:
 [FTP site name]: LOGGER
 In [Physical path] under [Content
 Directory], specify the location where
 data from FTP clients should be saved.

Click [Next].

#### **6** Set [Binding] and [SSL] as follows:

[IP Address]	[All Unassigned]
[Port]	[21]
[Start FTP site automatically]	Select.
[SSL]	[No SSL]

Click [Next].

# 7 Set [Authentication and Authorization Information] as follows:

[Authentication]	Select [Basic].		
[Authorization]	[All users]		
[Permissions]	Select both [Read] and [Write].		

Click [Finish].

9

Unit

#### Configuring accessing users (Windows 10)

Enter the username and password for using FTP. Enter the username and password set here in the **[User name]** and **[Password]** fields on the instrument's setting screen for the auto-FTP transmission. See "2 Configure the settings." (p.294).

🛃 📕 🖛   Adı	minis	trative Tools				
le Home	Shar	e View				~
→ 丶 个 襠	» (	Control Panel > System and Security > Ad	ministrative Tools		✓ Ö Search	Administrative ,0
10.11		Name	Date modified	Туре	Size	
Quick access		A Component Services	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
Downloads	Я	Computer Management	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
Desktop	#	Magnetic and Optimize prives	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
😭 Documents	*	🔚 Disk Cleanup	3/19/2017 5:58 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
Pictures	*	🛃 Event Viewer	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
		States (IIS) Mathematical Services (IIS) Mathematical Serv	nager 3/19/2017 5:59 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
OneDrive		👧 iSCSI Initiator	3/19/2017 5:57 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
This PC		📠 Local Security Policy	3/19/2017 5:59 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	
Deskton		DDBC Data Sources (32-bit)	3/19/2017 5:58 AM	Shortcut	2 KB	

E Computer Management File Action View Help 🗢 🔿 📶 🖬 🚺 🖬 🜆 Computer Management (Local Name Full Name 🜉 1ka > 🕑 Task Scheduler Administrator > 🚼 Event Viewer 🜆 DefaultAcco... > 👸 Shared Folders 🛃 Guest ✓ ▲ Local Users and Groups 📋 Users New User... 📑 G > 🔊 Perfo View > 🛔 Devic 🗸 🚰 Storage Refresh 📅 Disk I Export List... > 🚡 Services i Help

New User	?	×
User name: LOGGER		
Full name:		
Description:		
Password:		
Confirm password:		
User must change password at next logon		
User cannot change password		
Password never expires		
	<u>م</u>	
Help	Clo	se

- Select [Computer Management] from [Administrative Tools] in Step 2 (p.288).
- 2 Right-click [Users] under [Local Users and Groups] and select [New User...] from the shortcut menu.

3 Enter the username in the [User name] field and the password in the [Password] and [Confirm password] fields and select the [Password never expires] check box.

Click [Create].



#### Configuring the firewall (Windows 10)



Allowed apps	- 🗆	
> - 🕆 🍘 « Windows Firewall > Allowed apps 🛛 🗸 🖑	Search Control Panel	_
Allow apps to communicate through Windows Firewall		
To add, change, or remove allowed apps and ports, click Change settings.		
What are the risks of allowing an app to communicate?	Cha <u>n</u> ge settings	
Allowed apps and features:		]
Name	Private Public ^	
☑ DIAL protocol server		
Distributed Transaction Coordinator		
Email and accounts		
□ File and Printer Sharing		
FTP Server		
E der omce		
✓ Get started		
□ HomeGroup		
iSCSI Service		
Key Management Service		
✓ Mail and Calendar		
Media Center Extenders		
	Details Remove	
	Allow another app	1

#### 4 Click [Allow an app through Windows Firewall] under [System and Security] in step 1 (p.288).

#### **5** Select [FTP Server].

Select whether you are using a private or public connection to the instrument.



#### Enabling access to the FTP folder (Windows 10)



📕 ftpro	ot Prope	rties			×
General	Sharing	Security	Previous Versions	Customize	
Object	name:	C:¥inetpub¥	ftproot		
Group o	oruserna	mes:	2		
St Ac	Iministrato	w< (HI∩KI¥,	Administrators		~
SR.Us	ers (HIOK	(I¥Users)			
<				:	>
To char	nge permis	sions, click	Edit. <b>2</b>	<u>E</u> dit	
Permiss	sions for U	lsers	Alloy	v Den	٧
Fullo	control				^
Modi	fy				
Read	& execut	e.	$\checkmark$		
List	folder cont	tents			
Head MARA					
write			<b>v</b>		*
<ul> <li>FOR SDP</li> </ul>	cial permis	sions or ad	vanced settings,	Advance	d
click Ad	ivan ced.				
click Ad	lvanced.				

ecurity		
Object name: C:¥inetnub¥f	toroot	
_		
Group or user names:		
STREATOR OWNER		
SYSTEM		
🎎 Administrators (HIOKI¥A	dministrators)	
👢 Users (HIOKI¥Users)		
🕵 Trustedinstaller		
	Add	Remove
Permissions for Users	3 Allow	Deny
Full control		
Modify		
Read & execute	2	
List folder contents	2	
Read	⊻	
		Ť

1 Right-click the folder specified in [Physical path] under [Content Directory] in the FTP site settings and select [Properties].
Example: C:\inetpub\ftproot

The **[ftproot Properties]** dialog box will open.

2 Select [Users] under [Group or user names] on the [Security] tab and click [Edit...].

The **[Permissions for ftproot]** dialog box will open.

3 Select [Allow] for [Full control] under [Permisisons for Users] and click [OK]. The [Permissions for ftproot] dialog box will close.

#### **4** Click [OK].

The **[ftproot Properties]** dialog box will close.

#### **Restarting the FTP server**

Restart Microsoft FTP Service under [Control Panel] > [System and Security] > [Administrative Tools] > [Service].

This completes the FTP configuration process for Windows 10.



...

# Configuring automatic sending of data

This section describes how to send files saved automatically on instrument media to an FTP server on a computer.

#### Instructions

This examples describes how to send data to an FTP server with the IP address 192.168.1.1.

Ins (Example	trument : 192.168.	1.2)	Computer FTP server (Example: 192.168.1.1)
> Syste	em > C	comm	
Unit Environment Comm External	LAN DHCP serv Host name IP addres Subnet ma Port numb Gateway Gateway DNS DNS IP	FTP data auto send FTP data auto send FTP server name Connection security Verify certificate Port number User name Password Save directory Passive mode Delete sent file Filename identifie Filename identifie IP address Time	(FTP client setting)       System         ON       d settings         None       ✓         Yes       ✓         21       o send settings         0 send settings       ✓         settings       ✓         /SampleFolder       OFF         OFF       OFF         OFF       O         Failed       0

# **1** Press the ENTER key while [FTP data auto send settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

9

Unit

#### **2** Configure the settings.

- Under [FTP data auto send], set the function to [ON].
- [FTP server name]

Set the hostname or IP address of the FTP server. See "Configuring the computer's network settings" (p.253).

String of up to 45 single-byte characters (examples: LOGGER, 192.168.1.1)

#### • [Connection security]

Set the protection method compatible with the FTP server.

None [⊠]	Leaves communications unprotected.		
Explicit FTP over TLS	Protects communications using Explicit FTP over TLS.		
Implicit FTP over TLS	Protects communications using Implicit FTP over TLS		

• [Verify certificate]

Yes [⊠]	Verifies the authenticity of the certificate provided by the server. If the certificate is not found to be authentic, files will not be transferred.
Νο	Sends files using encrypted communications but does not verify the authenticity of the certificate provided by the server.

#### • [Port number]

Set the FTP server's port number.

1 to 65535; Default setting: 21 [☑]

When the [Connection security] is [Implicit FTP over TLS], the default setting is [990].

#### • [User name]

Set the username to use when logging in to the FTP server. Set to the instrument's username that was registered with the computer's FTP server.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters (example: LOGGER)

#### • [Password]

Set the password to use when logging in to the FTP server. Set to the instrument's password that was registered with the computer's FTP server.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters (example: LOGGER)

The password will be displayed as [•••••].

#### • [Save directory]

Specify the directory on the FTP server in which to save data. (Default setting: serial number of the instrument)

String of up to 45 single-byte characters (example: data)

• [Passive mode]

Select whether to use Passive mode when sending data.

OFF ^{II}, ON

• [Delete sent file]

OFF [⊠], ON



#### • [Filename identifier]

Select the identifier(s) to add to filenames by selecting the desired check box(es).

Host name, IP address, Time				
Example:				
Hostname	LOGGER			
IP address	192.168.1.2			
Time	'20-01-10 08:30:05			
Auto save filename	AUTO0001.MEM			

According to the above settings, the filename when the [Host name], [IP address], and [Time] check boxes have all been selected will be [LOGGER_192-168-1-2_200110-083005_AUTO0001.MEM]. This functionality helps identify files when using multiple loggers.

#### **3** Once you're finished configuring the FTP settings, send a test file.

See "Sending a test file" (p.296).

#### **4** Press the ENTER key while [Close] is selected.

The settings window will close.



# Sending a test file

This section describes how to check whether the instrument can send a file using FTP.

Unit	Measure	FTP data auto send			System
Environment	– LAN –	(FTP client setting	3)		
Comm	DHCP ser	FTP data auto send	ON		s LAN settings
External	Host nam	FTP server name			nd settings
	IP add re	Port number		2	1 server settings
	Subnet m	User name			uto send settings
	Port num	Password			il settings
	Gateway	Save directory	/SampleFolder		settings
	Gateway	Passive mode	OFF		
	DNS	Delete sent file	OFF		
	DNS IP	Filename identifi	er FTP commun	nication status	
		Host name	Total	0	
		✓ IP address	Sent	0	
			Failed	0	
			Unsent	0	
				Clear	

#### **1** Press the ENTER key while [FTP data auto send settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

The identifiers whose check boxes are selected under [Filename identifier] will be added to the filename.

#### 2 Press the ENTER key while [Send test] is selected.

The test file [FTP_TEST.TXT] will be transmitted to the specified folder*.

*: The folder specified in "[Save directory]" (p.294) under [Physical path:], described in the step "Enter [Site Information]." (p.289). (Example: C:\LOGGER\data).



If you are unable to send the test file, check the instrument's automatic send settings and the computer's FTP settings.

If you find no issues when sending the test file, start measurement.

Measured waveform data will be automatically sent to the computer's FTP server.



. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

#### Data transmission times

Transfer time (s) = File size (KB) / transfer speed (KB/s) + transfer preparation time (s) For more information about file sizes, see "11.9 File Size" (p.425). Use 4 MB/s as a rough transfer speed and 3 s as a rough transfer preparation time. Example: For a 40 MB file

Transfer time = 40 MB/4 (MB/s) + 3 (s) = 10 + 3 (s) = 13 (s)

# **Checking FTP communications status**

This section describes how to check the FTP communications status. You can display the number of files sent by FTP, the number of transmission errors, and other statistics.

	SET	>	System	>	Comm
--	-----	---	--------	---	------



# **1** Press the ENTER key while [FTP data auto send settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

**2** Under [FTP communication status], check the file counters.

Total, Sent, Failed, Unsent

The counters will be reset to 0 under the following circumstances:

Press the ENTER key while [Clear] is selected.



Unit

# 9.8 Sending Emails

This section describes how to send email messages from the instrument to computers and mobile handsets with email functionality. You can register up to three recipient addresses.

- The instrument can send emails when the following events occur during measurement:
- · Wireless module communications errors
- Battery exhaustion of the instrument or wireless modules
- Start trigger activations
- Stop trigger activations
- Alarms
- Power outage recoveries
- Internal memory full alerts
- Media full alerts

The instrument can also send emails at a regular interval via an SMTP mail server.

If alarms occur frequently, emails will also be sent frequently.

If you enable the alarm retention setting, only the first alarm for each alarm channel will be sent. For more information about alarm retention, see "Setting shared alarm conditions for all channels" (p. 176).

#### Workflow

- **1** Configure the LAN settings and establish a LAN connection. (p.250)
- 2 Enable email transmission on the instrument. (p.299)
- **3** Send a test email. (p.302)
- 4 Start measurement on the instrument.

Emails will be sent via the mail server when a trigger is activated or when an alarm occurs on the instrument.

**5** Check the email transmission status.



# Configuring email transmission

This section describes how to configure the instrument to send emails.

This example configures how to configure the instrument (logger@xyz.xx.xx) to send email to a computer or mobile phone (abc@xyz.xx.xx) via an SMTP mail server (192.168.1.100).



**1** Press the ENTER key while [E-mail settings...] is selected. The settings window will open.

Unit

#### **2** Configure the settings on the [General] tab.

- Select the address(es) to which you wish to send emails with the [Destination 1] to [Destination 3] check boxes.
- Enter the address(es) to which you wish to send emails in the [Destination 1] to [Destination 3] text fields.

String of up to 45 single-byte characters (example: abc@xyz.xx.xx)

• Enter either the [Mail server name] or [IP address] as specified by your network system administrator or Internet provider.

SMTP mail server's name

String of up to 45 single-byte characters

SMTP mail server's IP address

____ (_: 0 to 255) (example: **192.168.1.100**)

#### • [Connection security]

Set the method to use to secure communications with the SMTP server. Set as instructed by your network administrator or Internet provider.

None [⊠]	Leaves communications unprotected.	
STARTTLS	Protects communications using STARTTLS.	
SMTPS	Protects communications using SMTPS.	

#### • [Port number]

Set the mail server's port number.

If the mail server uses a port other than the standard port (25), set that port number.

1 to 25 ^{III} to 65535

• [Sender address]

Set the sender's IP address.

String of up to 45 single-byte characters (example: logger@xyz.xx.xx)

• [Sender name]

Set the sender's name.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters (example: LOGGER)

• [Add Data] (If the send condition is a start trigger, stop trigger, alarm, or regular transmission) Select whether to attach instantaneous value data to the email.

OFF [⊠], ON

[Attach display image]

Select whether to attach a screenshot (PNG format) of the waveform screen to the email.

OFF ^Ø, ON



#### **3** Configure the settings on the [Advanced] tab.

External H   Message   Send conditions   Start trigger   Stop trigger   Alarm   Power fail recovery   Memory full   Storage media full   Disconnect   Low battery   Scheduled send   Regular intervals 30 min relation     Clear	Unit Environment Comm	E-mail settings General Advanced Subject	Auth.		stem
	External H I S P G G D D	Message	Mail send s Total Sent Failed Unsent	tatus 0 0 0 0 Clear Send test Close	tings

#### [Subject]

Set the email subject.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters (example: LOGGER_mail)

#### • [Message]

Set the email body text.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters (example: Message from LOGGER)

#### [Send conditions]

Select the conditions that you wish to have trigger an email using the check boxes.

Stop trigger	When a start trigger is activated		
Stop trigger	When a stop trigger is activated		
Alarm	When an alarm occurs		
Power fail recovery	When the instrument recovers from a power outage		
Memory full	When there is no longer any available space left in the instrument's internal buffer memory (first occurrence only)		
Storage media full	When there is no longer any available space left on storage media (SD Memory Card or USB Drive)		
Disconnect	When the instrument is unable to communicate with a wireless unit during measurement, or when the instrument is no longer receiving data		
Low battery	When the instrument or a wireless unit's battery runs low on power		
Scheduled send	When you wish to have the instrument periodically send information about its measurement state Under <b>[Regular intervals]</b> , set the interval at which you wish to have the instrument send emails.		
	30 min [⊠] , 1 h, 12 h, 1 d		

#### • [Mail send status]

See "Checking the email transmission status" (p.303).

#### **4** Sending a test mail.

See "Sending a test email" (p.302).

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [Close] is selected.

The settings window will close.



# Sending a test email

This section describes how to check whether the product can send an email.

Unit       Me       E-mail settings       stem         Environment       U       General       Advanced       Auth.         Subject       Subject       settings       tings         External       Ho       Send conditions       settings       tings         Subject       Send conditions       Settings       tings       settings         Subject       Start trigger       Stop trigger       Id settings       tings         Stop trigger       Alarm       Power fail recovery       Mail send status       mgs       mgs         DN       N       Storage media full       Disconnect       Low battery       Sent       0         Low battery       Scheduled send       Regular intervals       30 min       Clear       clear	SET > Syste	em > Comm	
	Unit Environment Comm External	Message General Advanced Auth. General Advanced Auth. Subject Message Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Start trigger Stop trigger Ga Alarm DN DN DN DN DN Disconnect Low battery Scheduled send Regular intervals 30 min V Subject Auth. Mail se Total Sent Failed Unsent Subject Subject Mail se Total Sent Subject Mail se Total Sent Failed Subject Mail se Total Sent Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subject Subj	stem settings settings settings settings settings ind settings ind settings ngs 2 Send test Close

## **1** Press the ENTER key while [E-mail settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key while [Send test] is selected on the [Advanced] tab.

The instrument will send a test email.

It takes about 1 second to send an email.

If you are unable to send an email, check the instrument's email transmission settings. If you find no issues when sending the test email, start measurement.



## Checking the email transmission status

This section describes how to check the instrument's email transmission status. You can display information such as the number of emails that have been sent and the number of emails that remain unsent.

SET	>	System	>	Comm	



**1** Press the ENTER key while [E-mail settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

**2** Check the number of emails under [Mail send status] on the [Advanced] tab.

Total, Sent, Failed, Unsent

The counters are reset to 0 under the following circumstances:

• Press the ENTER key while [Clear] is selected.

If more than 30 emails remain unsent, the instrument will conclude that the oldest message cannot be sent and stop trying to send it.

Starting measurement causes unsent emails to be deleted.

# **Email authentication**

The instrument supports POP authentication (POP before SMTP) and SMTP authentication for email.

Configure the settings as necessary.





**1** Press the ENTER key while [E-mail settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

2 Select the authentication method to use for email under [Mail authentication] on the [Auth.] tab.

OFF ^{III}	Do not authenticate.
РОР	Use POP authentication (POP before SMTP). Set the server name, port number, account name, and password.
SMTP	Use SMTP encryption. Set the account name, authentication method, and password.

**3** Enter the POP3 server's name or IP address in the [Server name] field.

String of up to 45 single-byte characters

**4** Enter the POP3 server's port number in the [Port number] field.

1 to 110 ^{III} to 65535

5 Enter the authentication user account in the [Account name] field.

String of up to 45 single-byte characters

**6** Select the method supported by the SMTP server under [Authentication method].

LOGIN ^{III}, PLAIN, CRAM-MD5

7 Enter the authentication password in the [Password] field.

String of up to 32 single-byte characters

The password field will be displayed as [••••••••].



# 9.9 Controlling the Instrument with Communication Commands

This section describes how to control and communicate with the instrument by sending communication commands from a computer.

The instrument and computer must be connected using either a USB cable or a LAN cable. See "" (p.250).

See "Connecting the instrument to a computer with a LAN cable" (p.258).

The instrument must be configured in order to control it using communication commands.





**1** Press the ENTER key while [Command settings...] is selected.

The settings window will open.

**2** Under [Delimiter], select the communication command line feed code.

LF, CR+LF ^{II}

**3** Under [Header], select whether to add a header to command responses.

OFF ^Ø, ON

4 Press the ENTER key while [Close] is selected.

The settings window will close.

For more information about communication commands, see the "Communication Command User Manual" on the included DVD.



# 9.10 Sending Measurement Data Using XCP on Ethernet

The instrument supports XCP on Ethernet measurement mode only, allowing it to be connected to an ASAM standard-compliant upstream tool.

LAN configuration and connectivity are required in order to send measurement data using XCP on Ethernet.

To make an XCP connection, use the LR8450 to create a unique settings file (A2L).

If you change the instrument's settings after creating the A2L file, create a new A2L file and use the most recent A2L file.

Measurement data acquired using CAN Units cannot be sent using XCP.

The instrument does not support uploading of measurement data asynchronously in response to polling from an ECU measurement and calibration software.

The instrument can only send measurement data to the ECU measurement and calibration software when the ECU measurement and calibration software sends commands to the instrument.

## **Configuring input channels**

See "1.4 Configuring Input Channels" (p.25).

#### Creating an A2L file

This section describes how to create an A2L file when **[Selective save]** is selected as the **[SAVE key setting]**.

#### **1** Press the SAVE key.

A window will be displayed.



- **2** Enter the filename in the [File name] field (up to 8 single-byte characters). See "Text entry method" (p. 10).
- **3** Under [Media], select the media on which to save data.

#### **4** Under [Type], select [A2L file].

#### **5** Press the ENTER key while [Save] is selected.

The A2L file will be saved on the save destination media. Only information for channels for which measurement is enabled in the instrument's settings will be included in the A2L file.

# Configuring the ECU measurement and calibration software

#### Setting measurement channels

Before measurement, initialize and generate a DAQ list on the ECU measurement and calibration software and configure an ODT entry with measurement channel information. DAQ list initialization and generation cannot be performed while the instrument is performing measurement.



# 9.11 Linking the instrument with GENNECT Cloud

GENNECT Cloud is a cloud service provided by Hioki.

Linking the LR8450 with GENNECT Cloud can have the instrument upload measured values and measurement files onto the cloud server, allowing you to monitor or operate the instrument remotely.

To link the instrument with GENNECT Cloud, you need the following preparations:

1. Internet connection

- 2. Mail reception setting
- 3. Account creation

For details, visit the GENNET Cloud website.

#### 1. Internet connection

Outbound communications using the TCP 443 port are enabled for the following URLs: *1, *2

- When using the instrument outside China cloud.gennect.net [HTTPS]
- When using the instrument in China gennect.cn [HTTPS]
- (1) To upload measured values

Outbound communications using the TCP 443 port and communications using TLS intercommunications are enabled for the following URLs:  $^{\star 1}$ 

- TSL decoding is not performed on paths the following URLs: *3
- When using the instrument outside China iot.cloud.gennect.net [MQTTS]
- When using the instrument in China iot.cloud.gennect.cn [MQTTS]

#### (2) To control the instrument remotely

Outbound communications using the TCP 443 port are enabled for the following URLs: *1

- When using the instrument outside China cloud-relay.gennect.net [SSH]
- When using the instrument in China cloud-relay.gennect.cn [SSH]

#### 2. Mail reception setting

Enable email reception from the following domain:

- · When using the instrument outside China: mail.gennect.net
- · When using the instrument in China: mail.gennect.cn
- *1: If some software, such as filtering software, imposes access restrictions, permit access to this domain.
- *2: If download/upload of files are restricted, permit download/upload of files from/to this domain.
- *3: If traffic is detected using TLS decoding on the network paths, enable communications without TLS decoding for this domain. Use of authorization rules by server name indication (SNI) is recommended.

#### 3. Account creation

For details, visit the GENNET Cloud website.

Four GENNECT Cloud plans are available: Free, Standard, Pro, and Trial plans.

- Free plan You can use this plan for free of charge.
- Standard plan, Pro plan

Purchase of GENNECT Cloud Standard License Card (SF4181-01, SF4181-03, SF4181-12) or GENNECT Cloud Pro License Card (SF4182-01, SF4182-03, SF4182-12), both of which are sold separately, or a subscription agreement by credit card payment is required.

Trial plan

This plan does not support the LR8450.

For details about each plan, visit the License management site of the GENNET Cloud.

Access GENNECT Cloud website to create your account.

GENNECT Cloud has two different login screens: one for use outside China and the other for use in China.

For details, see the GENNET Cloud online help.



# Logging in to your GENNECT Cloud account

SET	>	System	>	Comn



**1** Press the ENTER key while [GENNECT Cloud Settings. . .] is selected.

The settings window will open.

- **2** Set [GENNECT Cloud collaboration] to [ON].
- **3** Fill in [Account ID], [User ID], and [Password].
- **4** Press the ENTER key while [Apply] is selected.

The settings window will close.

After successful authentication, the message **[Authentication succeeded.]** is displayed. If two-step certification has already been set, the screen for entering the certification code is displayed.

- When two-step authentication using email has been set Enter the authentication code sent to the registered mail address, and click [Authentication].
- When two-step authentication using the apps has been set Enter the authentication code displayed for the two-step authentication application you are using, such as Authy, and click [Authentication].

For details about the two-factor authentication, see the GENNET Cloud online help.

· Set up two-step certification for users (advanced)

# Uploading measured values

# The instrument with **[GENNECT Cloud collaboration]** set to **[ON]** sends measured values onto GENNECT Cloud every one minute after a measurement starts. Use GENNECT Cloud to select channels of which you want to acquire data. The number of

channels that can be selected differs depending on the plan.

Free plan:30 channelsStandard plan:150 channelsPro plan:1000 channels

Use GENNECT Cloud to select high-speed monitor mode, allowing the instrument to upload measured values every or 5 s for 10 minutes.

For details, see the Monitor section of the GENNET Cloud online help.



#### If no channel information is displayed

- Start measurement and wait for one minute.
- If the time of the instrument is out of sync, measured values may not be uploaded. Please adjust the time accordingly. (p.220)

# Remotely controlling the instrument

Using remote control needs Standard or Pro plan.

You can use the HTTP server function of the instrument to operate the instrument safely from a remote location.

For details, see the *Console* section of the online help of GENNET Cloud.

# Uploading measurement files

The instrument with the **[File upload]** check box, under **[GENNECT Cloud settings]**, selected uploads automatically saved files onto GENNECT Cloud.

Two file upload modes are available: automatic and manual.

You can use GENNECT Cloud to switch modes.

For details, see *Monitor > Configuring measurement group settings* of the GENNECT Cloud Online Help.

Automatic file uploads

Yes (automatic uploads)

Files including contents are uploaded onto GENNECT Cloud.

· No (manual uploads)

Only metadata of files is uploaded onto GENNECT Cloud. Use GENNECT Cloud to upload contents of the files.

You can use the media screen to upload measurement files. Files with the following extensions can be uploaded: .SET, .MEM, .CSV, .TXT, .M4F, .PNG, and .A2L.



#### 1 Select files or folders you wish to upload, and the press the SELECT key.

The menu will be displayed.

When you select a folder, the files in the selected folder are uploaded.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key while [Upload] is selected.

With the automatic file uploads set to **[Yes]** (automatic file uploads) Upload of the files including contents will starts.

With the automatic file uploads set to [No] (manual file uploads)

Upload of the metadata of the files will starts.

The instrument with the **[Delete sent file]** check box, under **[GENNECT Cloud settings]**, selected deletes files stored on the storage media of the instrument upon completion of uploads. For details to check files, see the *Drive* section of the GENNET Cloud online help.



# Setting the clock

If the [Set each instrument's clock using an NTP server daily] check box under [Set instrument time] is selected in the GENNECT Cloud configuration, [NTP settings...] of the instrument is automatically set.

For details, see *Monitor > Configuring measurement group settings* of the GENNECT Cloud Online Help.

When using the time adjusting function, make sure that you set the time zone for the region where the instrument is used.

See "Setting the time" (p.220).

# Downloading the version-up file

You can download the latest version-up file of the instrument from GENNECT Cloud. For details, see the GENNET Cloud online help.



Linking the instrument with GENNECT Cloud



**10** Specifications

# **10.1 Basic Specifications**

# LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger

#### 1. General specifications

#### -1. Basic specifications

Product warranty duration	3 years		
Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year		
Maximum number of connectable modules	4 plug-in modules + 7 *: LR8450-01 only Up to a total of four U8	wireless modules* 8555/LR8535 modules can be connected.	
Connectable modules (Plug-in modules)	U8550 Voltage/Temp Unit U8551 Universal Unit U8552 Voltage/Temp Unit U8553 High Speed Voltage Unit U8554 Strain Unit U8555 CAN Unit U8556 Current Module		
Connectable modules (Wireless modules) (LR8450-01 only)	LR8530 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit LR8531 Wireless Universal Unit LR8532 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit LR8533 Wireless High Speed Voltage Unit LR8534 Wireless Strain Unit LR8535 Wireless CAN Unit LR8536 Wireless Current Module		
Internal buffer memory	Volatile memory, 256 I	Mwords	
Clock functionality	Auto-calendar, automa	atic leap year recognition, 24-hour clock	
Clock precision (Precision of clock displayed by instrument as well as start/stop times)	±1.0 s/day (at 23°C) Time can be synchronized with an NTP server to which instrument is connected.		
Time axis accuracy	±0.2 s/day (at 23°C) Connecting to an NTP server can automatically correct sampling interval deviations.		
Backup battery service life	At least 10 years for clock (reference value at 23°C)		
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)		
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)		
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)		
Dimensions	Without any modules:	272W × 145H × 43D mm (10.72"W × 5.71"H × 1.69"D)	
	With 2 modules:	(excluding protrusions) 272W × 198H × 63D mm (10.71"W × 7.8"H × 2.78"D) (excluding protrusions)	
	With 4 modules:	272W × 252H × 63D mm (10.71"W × 9.92"H × 2.48"D) (excluding protruding parts)	

Weight	Approx. 1.1 kg (38.8 oz.)		
Standards	Safety EN 61010		
	EMC	EN 61326 Class A	
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])		

#### -2. Display

Display	7-inch TFT color LCD (WVGA 800 × 480 dots)
Display resolution (with waveform display selected)	Max. 20 divisions (horizontal axis) × 10 divisions (vertical axis) (1 division = 36 dots [horizontal axis] × 36 dots [vertical axis])
Display language	Japanese/English/Simplified Chinese/Traditional Chinese/Korean (user-selectable)
Backlight service life	Approx. 100,000 h (reference value at 23°C)
Backlight saver	Turns off backlight when no key is operated for a set amount of time. (Choose from Off, 30 s, 1 min., 2 min., 5 min., 10 min.)
Backlight brightness	5 levels (user-selectable)
Waveform background color	Dark/light (user-selectable)

#### -3. Power supply

Power supply	AC adapter	Z1014 AC Adapter (12 V DC ±10%) AC Adapter rated supply voltage 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming voltage fluctuation of ±10%) AC Adapter Rated power-supply frequency 50 Hz/60 Hz				
	Battery	The instrument accommodates two batteries. Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with AC Adapter, AC Adapter has priority.)				
	External power supply	10 V to 30 V DC				
Power consumption	Normal power consumption	Using Z1014 AC Adapter or 12 V DC external power supply, without Battery Pack With LCD at maximum brightness: 8.5 VA (instrument only) With LCD backlight off: 7 VA (instrument only)				
	Maximum rated power	<ul> <li>When using the Z1014 AC Adapter 95 VA (including AC Adapter)</li> <li>When using a 30 V DC external power supply 28 VA (while charging battery with LCD at maximum brightness)</li> <li>When using the Z1007 Battery Pack 20 VA (with LCD at maximum brightness)</li> </ul>				
Continuous operating time	Battery	With one Z1007 Battery Pack: Approx. 2 h (reference value at 23°C) With two Z1007 Battery Packs: Approx. 4 h (reference value at 23°C) Conditions: With one U8551 Universal Unit connected, backlight				
		on, voltage output off, and Z4006 connected				
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and the AC Adapter is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)					

#### -4. Interface specifications

The LAN interface and USB interface (function) cannot be used at the same time.

LAN interface	LAN	IEEE 802.3 Ethernet, automatic 100Base-TX/1000Base-T detection Auto MDI-X, DHCP, DNS support
	Connector	RJ-45
	LAN functionality	Acquiring data and setting recording conditions with the Logger Utility
		Configuring settings and controlling recording using communications commands
		Manually acquiring data using the FTP server Acquiring files from a connected SD Memory Card or USB Drive Supported protocol: FTP
		Automatically sending data via FTP (FTP client) Transferring files saved on a connected SD Memory Card or USB Drive While measurement is in progress: Waveform files (binary, text,
		MDF) After measurement has finished: Waveform files (binary, text, MDF), numerical calculation result files
		Supported protocol: FTP, FTPS
		<ul> <li>HTTP server function</li> <li>Control mode (one instrument)</li> <li>Displaying screen and remotely controlling instrument and modules, displaying current measured values, starting/ stopping measurement, acquiring data via FTP, configuring comment, updating instrument and modules</li> <li>Browsing mode (up to four instruments)</li> <li>Displaying screen, current measured values, measurement status, and comments</li> </ul>
		Email transmission The instrument will send emails at a regular interval and at the following events: start trigger, stop trigger, alarm, power outage recovery, internal buffer memory full, media full, wireless unit communications interruption, and battery low. Attachment of instantaneous value data can be enabled or disabled. Emails can be sent regularly at the following intervals: 30 min., 1 h, 12 h, 1 day. Authentication protocol SMTP authentication (LOGIN, PLAIN, CRAM-MD5), POP authentication, no authentication Encryption SSL/TLS, STARTTLS, no encryption
		XCP on Ethernet Support limited to measurement mode for ECU measurement and calibration software ASAM e.V. MCD-1 XCP v 1.5.0 compliant
		NTP client function Time synchronization with an NTP server Regular synchronization intervals: 1 h, 1 day Pre-measurement synchronization function

GENN	IECT Cloud collaboration function	
Real-t	ime monitor	
	Measured values can be uploaded onto the cloud server every minute.	
Remote control		
	The screen of the instrument can be displayed and the instrument can be remotely operated via the cloud server.	
File transfer		
	Waveform data saved in real time can be uploaded onto the cloud server.	
	Target file: waveform file (binary, text, MDF)	
Wireless LAN		
------------------	--	
interface		
(LR8450-01 only)		

Wireless LAN	IEEE 802.11b/g/n Communications range: 30 m, line of sight Encryption function: WPA-PSK/WPA2-PSK, TKIP/AES Available channels: between 1 and 11 Auto-connect function Wireless LAN function can be toggled on and off.		
Supporting mode	Access point, station, wireless module connection		
Connectable devices	Wireless modules and computer / tablet computer Wireless modules and computer / tablet computer are mutually exclusive.		
Wireless LAN functionality	Configuring settings and controlling communications commands	g recording using	
	Manually acquiring data using the Acquiring files from a connected S Supported protocol: FTP	FTP server D Memory Card or USB Drive	
	Automatically sending data via FTF Transferring files saved on a conne USB Drive	P (FTP client) ected SD Memory Card or	
	While measurement is in progress:	: Waveform files (binary, text,	
	After measurement has finished:	Waveform files (binary, text, MDF), numerical calculation result files	
	Supported protocol: FTP, FTPS		
	<ul> <li>HTTP server function</li> <li>Control mode (one instrument)</li> <li>Displaying screen and remotely controlling instrument and modules, displaying current measured values, starting/ stopping measurement, acquiring data via FTP, configuring comment, updating instrument and modules</li> <li>Browsing mode (up to four instruments)</li> <li>Displaying screen, current measured values, measurement status, and comments</li> </ul>		
	<ul> <li>Email transmission</li> <li>The instrument will send emails at a regular interval and at the following events: start trigger, stop trigger, alarm, power outage recovery, internal buffer memory full, media full, wireless unit communications interruption, and battery low.</li> <li>Attachment of instantaneous value data can be enabled or disabled.</li> <li>Emails can be sent regularly at the following intervals: 30 min., 1 h, 12 h, 1 day.</li> <li>Authentication protocol SMTP authentication (LOGIN, PLAIN, CRAM-MD5), POP authentication, no authentication</li> <li>Encryption SSL/TLS, STARTTLS, no encryption</li> </ul>		
	XCP on Ethernet Support limited to measurement mode for ECU measurement and calibration software ASAM e.V. MCD-1 XCP v 1.5.0 compliant		
	NTP client function Time synchronization with an NTP Regular synchronization intervals: Pre-measurement synchronization	server 1 h, 1 day function	

		GENNECT Cloud collaboration function Real-time monitor Measured values can be uploaded onto the cloud server every minute. Remote control The screen of the instrument can be displayed and the instrument can be remotely operated via the cloud server. File transfer Waveform data saved in real time can be uploaded onto the cloud server. Target file: waveform file (binary, text, MDF)
USB interface (host)	Standard compliance	USB 2.0 compliant
	Connectors	Series A receptacle ×2
	Guaranteed-operation options	Z4006 USB Drive (16 GB) File system: FAT16, FAT32
	Connectable devices	Keyboard, mouse, hub (1 layer), USB Drive (1 port only)
USB interface	USB standard	USB 2.0 compliant
(function)	Connector	Series mini-B receptacle
	USB functionality	Acquiring data and setting recording conditions with the Logger Utility
		Configuring settings and controlling recording using communications commands
		USB drive mode: Transferring data from a connected SD Memory Card to a computer
SD card slot	Standard compliance	SD standard-compliant slot × 1 (with SD Memory Card/SDHC Memory Card support)
	Guaranteed-operation options	Z4001 (2 GB), Z4003 (8 GB) File system: FAT16, FAT32

#### -5. External control terminals

Terminal block	Push-button type terminal block See "External control terminals list" (p.230).	
Synchronization input	Input voltage	0 V to 10 V DC High level: 2.0 V to 10 V; low level: 0 V to 0.8 V
	Response pulse width	High period: 100 $\mu$ s or greater; low period: 100 $\mu$ s or greater
	Number of terminals	1 Non-isolated (common GND with instrument)
	Functionality	Synchronization control (SYNC.IN)
Synchronization output	Output format	CMOS output
	Output voltage	High level: 2.3 V to 3.6 V; low level: 0 V to 0.5 V
	Output pulse width	High period: 100 $\mu$ s or greater; low period: 100 $\mu$ s or greater
	Number of terminals	1 Non-isolated (common GND with instrument)
	Functionality	Synchronization control (SYNC.OUT)

Extern	al I/O			
	Number of terminals	4 Non-isolated (common GND with instrument)		
	Input	Input voltage	0 V to 10 V DC High level: 2.5 V to 10 V; low level: 0 V to 0.8 V	
		Slope	Rising/falling (user-selectable)	
		Response pulse width	High period: 2.5 ms or greater; low period: 2.5 ms or greater	
		Functionality	Choose from off, start, stop, start/stop, trigger input, event input.	
	Output	Output format	Open-drain output (with 5 V voltage output)	
		Output voltage	High level: 4.0 V to 5.0 V; low level: 0 V to 0.5 V	
		Maximum switching capacity	5 V to 10 V DC, 200 mA	
	Output pulse width (Trigger output)	10 ms or greater		
		Functionality	Trigger output	
Alarm	output	Output format	Open-drain output (with 5 V voltage output)	
	Output voltage	High level: 4.0 V to 5.0 V; low level: 0 V to 0.5 V Triggered by alarm High output/low output (user-selectable)		
		Maximum switching capacity	5 V to 30 V DC, 200 mA	
		Output pulse width	10 ms or greater	
		Number of terminals	8 Non-isolated (common GND with instrument)	
Voltage output	Output voltage	Off, 5 V ±10%, 12 V ±10%, 24 V* ±10% (user-selectable) Supply current: Max. 100 mA each *: 24 V output can be selected for the VOUTPUT1 terminal only.		
		Number of terminals	2 Non-isolated (common GND with instrument)	
GND te	erminal	Number of terminals	10 (common GND)	

## 2. Recording

Recording mode	Normal	
Recording intervals	1 ms*, 2 ms*, 5 ms*, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s, 20 s, 30 s, 1 min., 2 min., 5 min., 10 min., 20 min., 30 min., 1 h *: Setting available only when using a module with data refresh intervals including 1 ms.	
Data refresh interval	Automatically- or user-selected value per moduleAutomatically-selected value:The optimal data refresh interval is automatically selected based on the recording interval setting.User-selected value:Available settings depend on module specifications.	
Repeat recording	<ul> <li>Off/On (user-selectable)</li> <li>On: Recording resumes after recording stops (due to stop trigger conditions or the completion of measurement for the set recording time). Recording repeats until the <b>STOP</b> key is pressed.</li> <li>Off: Recording is performed once until it stops.</li> </ul>	

Specified time/ continuous	Specified time	The recording time is set in days, hours, minutes, and seconds. The time can be set up to the maximum capacity of the internal buffer memory (total of 256 M).
	Continuous	Recording is performed once until it is stopped. If the maximum capacity of the internal buffer memory is exceeded, the memory will be overwritten.
Waveform recording	The last 256 M data points (when recording 1 analog channel; if recording <i>n</i> 256 M/ <i>n</i> data points) are saved in the internal buffer memory. The user can scroll through and view data stored in the internal buffer memory. The user can scroll through and view data stored in the internal buffer memory. Alarm source data recording can be toggled on and off. ^{*1} The numerical expression of the number of channels ( <i>n</i> ) <i>n</i> = (Number of analog channels) + (number of pulse channels) × 2 + (number of logic channels) × 1 + (number of waveform calculation channels) × 4 + (number of CAN channels ^{*2} ) + 26 ^{*3} *1: CAN channel alarm source data cannot be recorded. *2: Calculated as 2 channels when using 32 bits or 4 channels when using	
Backup of recorded	*3: Added when th None	ne alarm source setting is enabled.

Sheet function	Can switch among display sheets for all channels and individual units (for CAN Units, up to 4 sub sheets with 125 channels each). Maximum number of measurement channels on all-channel display sheet : 120 Analog/CAN channels, 30 waveform calculation channels, 8 pulse/logic channels, 8 alarm channels	
Waveform display screen	Time-axis waveform display	Simultaneous display of gages and settings (channel representative settings and display settings)
	Simultaneous display of time-axis waveforms and values	Instantaneous values, cursor values, or numerical calculation values (user-switchable)
	Numerical display	Simultaneous display of instantaneous values and statistical values
	Alarm display	Display of alarm status and alarm history
Display format	Time-axis waveform dis X-Y waveform display:	play: 1 screen 1 screen
X-Y composite	Composite up to 8 waveforms.	
Numerical display format	SI units, decimal, or exponent (user-selectable) When decimal is selected, the number of decimal places to display can be set (values will then be rounded to the set number of places).	
Waveform colors	24 colors	
Zooming in and out on the waveform display	Horizontal axis	2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s, 20 s, 30 s, 1 min., 2 min., 5 min., 10 min., 20 min., 30 min., 1 h, 2 h, 5 h, 10 h, 12 h, 1 day/division
	Vertical axis	<ul> <li>Number of divisions per screen: 10</li> <li>Setting method</li> <li>Select position or upper and lower limits for each channel.</li> <li>(Waveform calculation channels: upper and lower limits only)</li> <li>When setting by position: Set zoom factor and zero position.</li> <li>Zoom factor: 1/2×, 1×, 2×, 5×, 10×, 20×, 50×, 100×</li> <li>Zero position: -50% to 150% (with a zoom factor of 1×)</li> <li>When setting by upper/lower limit: Set the upper and lower limit.</li> </ul>
Waveform scrolling	The display can be scrolled left and right both during recording and while recording is stopped (during waveform rendering only).	
Monitor display	The user can check instantaneous values and waveforms without recording data to memory (the monitor of the trigger standby state is available).	
Wireless module status indication (LR8450-01 only)	Indicates the battery remaining and the radio-wave strength, in the four levels, of the wirelessly connected modules.	

# 3. Display

## 4. Files

Save destinations	SD Memory Card/USB Drive (user-selectable)	
Filenames	Up to 8 single-byte characters Automatic numbering, adding date and/or title comment (user-selectable)	
Auto saving	Waveform data (real-ti Off, binary form Numerical calculation Off or text form When text form in one file or to	me saving) nat, text format, or MDF format (user-selectable) results (saved after recording) at (user-selectable) nat is selected, the user can choose whether to save all calculations save each calculation in its own file.
	Priority save destination	SD Memory Card/USB Drive (user-selectable) The user can choose whether to give priority to the SD Memory Card or the USB Drive for saving data when both are inserted.
	Delete and save	<ul> <li>On/Off (user-selectable)</li> <li>Off: The system will stop saving data when the SD Memory Card or USB Drive starts to run out of available space.</li> <li>On: When the SD Memory Card or USB Drive starts to run out of available space, the system will delete the oldest waveform file (binary, text, or MDF) and then continue saving data. When both an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive are inserted, the system will perform delete and save on the media that has been set as the priority save destination only.</li> </ul>
	Folder splitting	Disabled, 1 day, 1 week, or 1 month (user-selectable)
	File splitting	<ul> <li>Disabled, enabled, or timed (user-selectable)</li> <li>Disabled: Data for each recording session is saved in its own file.</li> <li>Enabled: Data for each set period of time is saved in its own file, starting with the start of measurement.</li> <li>Split time: Day, hour, or minute (user-selectable)</li> <li>Timed: Data will be segmented at intervals of the segment time based on the previously set reference time and saved in separate files.</li> <li>Reference time: Set in hours and minutes.</li> <li>Split time: 1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 15 min, 20 min, 30 min, 1 h, 2 h, 3 h, 4 h, 6 h, 8 h, 12 h, 1 d</li> </ul>
	External media eject (SD Memory Card/ USB Drive)	<ul> <li>External media can be ejected during real-time saving by activating a button on the screen and confirming a message.</li> <li>When both an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive are inserted and the media set as the priority save destination is ejected, the system will continue to save data on the other media.</li> <li>When either an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive is inserted and the media set as the priority save destination is ejected, the system will stop saving data. If external media is reinserted under these conditions, the system will continue saving data remaining in the internal buffer memory to a different file.</li> </ul>
	Data protection	Yes (valid only when the Z1007 Battery Pack is installed) If the remaining battery life declines during real-time saving, the system will close the file and stop saving data (although measurement operation will continue).

Manual saving	Data is saved when the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed. The user can choose either selective save or immediate save as the operation to perform when the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed.		
	Selective save	The user will be prompted to choose what to save: settings, waveform data (binary format), waveform data (text format), waveform data (MDF format), A2L file, numerical calculation results (all calculations in one file or each calculation in its own file), display image (PNG format).	
	Immediate save	Data will be saved immediately when the <b>SAVE</b> key is pressed. The type of data to save is set in advance along with the format and range. Filenames can be entered when saving data.	
Decimation	Decimate and save	Off or a value from 1/2 to 1/100,000 (user-selectable)	
(text format only)	Saved data	Select from instantaneous values and statistical values. When statistical values are selected: Instantaneous values, maximum values, minimum values, and average values will be saved for the thinning interval.	

## -2. Loading data

Loading saved data	The user can specify a position and then load up to 256 M data points of previously saved text-format data (when recording 1 analog channel; if recording <i>n</i> channels, 256 M/ <i>n</i> data points).
Setting conditions	<ul> <li>Setting conditions files saved with the instrumen can be loaded.*</li> <li>Loadable items:         <ul> <li>Measurement setting, communication setting, system setting, wireless module configuration</li> <li>*: Available only when the module configuration is the same as those at the time when the setting condition was saved.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

## 5. Calculations

Numerical calculations	Number of calculations	Up to 10 calculations simultaneously
	Calculation content	Average value, peak-to-peak value, maximum value, maximum value time, minimum value, minimum value time, integral* ¹ , integration* ¹ , moving average* ² , on time* ² , off time* ² , on count* ² , off count* ² *1: Total, positive, negative, or absolute value (user-selectable) *2: Threshold values can be set for individual channels.
	Calculation range	During recording: Calculations performed for all data during recording After recording has stopped: Calculations performed for all data in the internal buffer memory, or for data in a calculation range specified by the A/B cursors (on the vertical axis)
	Time split calculation	<ul> <li>Disabled, enabled, or timed (user-selectable)</li> <li>Disabled: Calculations performed for all data during recording</li> <li>Enabled: Data for each segment of time, starting with the start of measurement</li> <li>Split time: Set DD HH:MM format</li> <li>Timed: Calculations will be made at intervals of the segment time based on the previously set reference time.</li> <li>Reference time: Set in hours and minutes.</li> <li>Split time: 1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 10 min, 15 min, 20 min, 30 min, 1 h, 2 h, 3 h, 4 h, 6 h, 8 h, 12 h, 1 d</li> </ul>

Waveform calculations	Calculation content	<ul> <li>The following calculations can be set:</li> <li>Four arithmetic operations* among channels</li> <li>Moving average, simple average, integral, and integration of any channel</li> <li>Calculated values are recorded as data for the calculation channels (W1 through W30). (Calculations are performed at the same time as measurement. Values cannot be recalculated after measurement.)</li> <li>*: Calculation expression <ul> <li>(A*CHa □ B*CHb □ C*CHc □ D*CHd) ■ E</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>where</li> <li>A, B, C, D, E: User-specified constants</li> <li>CHa, CHb, CHc, CHd: User-specified measurement channels</li> <li>□: Plus (+), minus (-), multiplication (*), or division(/) (one operation)</li> <li>■: Plus (+), minus (-), multiplication (*), division(/), or exponentiation (^) (one operation)</li> </ul>

# 6. Triggers

Trigger method	Digital comparison method		
Trigger timing	Start, stop, or start & stop		
Trigger conditions	AND/OR operation perfo When triggers are disab	ormed on trigger source, interval trigger, or external trigger led, free run	
Trigger sources	Analog, pulse, logic, way	veform calculations, CAN (up to 100)	
Trigger types	Analog, pulse, waveform calculations, CAN	Level triggers Trigger activated by rising or falling edge at set level Window triggers Set by trigger level upper limit and lower limit Trigger activated when value leaves area or when value enters area	
	Logic, CAN	Trigger activated when patterns of 1/0/X match (where "X" indicates either)	
Interval triggers	Trigger activated for set	recording interval after setting days/hours/minutes/seconds	
External triggers	Trigger activated by rising or falling edge at set level in external input signal Rising/falling (user-selectable)		
Trigger response time	With plug-in module(s): (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2 + 1 ms + (analog response time)* ¹		
	When using the wireless modules (LR8450-01 only): (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2 + (wireless response time)* ² + (analog response time)* ¹		
	<ul> <li>*1: Depending on filter settings (U8554 with a data refresh interval of 5 ms and low-pass filter of 120 Hz).</li> <li>*2: When the radio-wave state is in good condition, 1s.</li> </ul>		
Trigger level resolution	Analog	0.1% f.s. (f.s. = 10 divisions) The trigger level can be set in units of the measurement resolution for the U8556 Current Module and the LR8536 Wireless Current Module.	
	Pulse	Integration 1 <i>c</i> , rotational speed $1/n$ (where $n =$ pulse count per rotation setting)	
Pre-triggers	re-triggers Set day/hours/minutes/seconds. Can be set during real-time saving.		

## 7. Alarms

Alarm conditions	Set separately for ALM1 to ALM8 The system will output an alarm when any of the following conditions are satisfied: • AND/OR operation performed on alarm sources • Low battery • Thermocouple wire break • Disruption of communications with wireless modules (LR8450-01 only)			
Alarm sources	Analog, pulse, logic, waveform calculations, CAN (up to 100)			
Disruption of communications with wireless modules (LR8450-01 only)	If communicates with a Off/Now/3 min. (user-se Now: Outputs an alarm 3 min.: Outputs an alarm	If communicates with a wireless module are disrupted Off/Now/3 min. (user-selectable) Now: Outputs an alarm upon a communications disruption 3 min.: Outputs an alarm if a communication disruption continues for 3 minutes.		
Low remaining battery life	The system will output a wireless module decline	an alarm when the remaining battery life of the instruments or a e.		
Thermocouple wire break	The system will output a thermocouple wire brea	an alarm when a thermocouple wire break occurs (when the k detection setting is enabled).		
Types of alarms	Analog, pulse, waveform calculations, CAN	Level The system will output an alarm following a rising or falling edge at set level.		
		Window Set upper limit and lower limit. The system will output an alarm when value exits area or when value enters area.		
		Slope Set a level and a time interval The system will output an alarm when the rate of change (level per unit time) continues to exceed the specified change rate during the set time interval.		
		Slope 2p (Amount in change) Set a level, a time interval, and a slope. The system will output an alarm when the amount of change in the set time interval is greater than or less than the set level value.		
	Logic	The system will output an alarm when patterns of 1, 0, and X match (where "X" indicates either).		
Alarm filter	Apply a filter to the results of AND/OR operations performed on alarm sources. Set based on sample count (Off, 2 to 1000). The system will output an alarm if the alarm state continues for the set number of samples			
Alarm setting	Analog	0.1% f.s. (f.s. = 10 divisions)		
resolution	Pulse	Integration 1 <i>c</i> , rotational speed $1/n$ (where <i>n</i> = pulse count per rotation setting)		
Alarm retention	On/Off (user-selectable) Clear alarms: When alarm retention is On, alarms will be cleared without stopping recording.			
Alarm tone	On/Off (user-selectable	On/Off (user-selectable)		
Alarm output response time	When using the plug-in modules (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2 + 1 ms + (analog response time)* ¹			
	When using the wireless modules (LR8450-01 only) (Recording interval or data refresh interval, whichever is longer) × 2 + (wireless response time)*² + (analog response time)*1			
	<ul> <li>*1: Depending on filter settings (U8554 with a data refresh interval of 5 ms and low-pass filter of 120 Hz).</li> <li>*2: When the radio-wave state is in good condition, 1s.</li> </ul>			

Instrument synchronization	<ul> <li>Start/stop, triggers, and sampling are synchronized among multiple instruments (using the SYNC.OUT and SYNC.IN terminals).</li> <li>Trigger synchronization time: Within (recording interval × 2) samples</li> <li>Can not be used with wireless modules</li> </ul>
Number of instruments that can be synchronized	5 (Up to four secondary instruments can operate in synchronization with one primary instrument.)
Configurable recording interval	No limitations (can be set from 1 ms)

# 8. Synchronous operation

# 9. Other functionality

Even mark function	Even mark entry method	<ul> <li>Assigns event marks when one of the following events occurs.</li> <li>(1) Pressing the START key</li> <li>(2) With [Mark] chosen on the screen, pressing the ENTER key.</li> <li>(3) Inputting a signal to an external input terminal</li> <li>(4) If an alarm is outputted (can be toggled between on and off).</li> </ul>	
	Number of inputs	Up to 1000 inputs per measurement	
Waveform search	Search waveforms and o	lisplay target location in the center of the waveform screen.	
function	Search conditions	Search by choosing level, window, maximum value, minimum value, local maximum value, or local minimum value.	
	Search range	All data in the internal buffer memory or data between the A/B cursors (on the vertical axis)	
	Search targets	Analog, pulse, logic, waveform calculations	
Jump function	Specify the event mark, A/B cursor position, trigger point, or waveform display position to display in the center of the waveform screen.		
Cursor measurement function	Cursor display	All channels or specified channels (user-selectable)	
	Cursor movement	A, B, or simultaneous (user-selectable)	
	Types of cursors	<ul> <li>Vertical or horizontal (user-selectable)</li> <li>Vertical</li> <li>Display of the following values: <ul> <li>Times at the A and B cursors</li> <li>Measured values at the A and B cursors</li> <li>Time lag between the A and B cursors</li> <li>Reciprocals of the time lags (frequencies) between any two points selected from among the trigger point, A cursor, and B cursor</li> <li>Differences in measured values between the A and B cursors</li> </ul> </li> <li>Horizontal <ul> <li>Display of the following values acquired across the selected channels: <ul> <li>Values at the A and B cursor</li> <li>Difference between values at the A and B cursors</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>	

Scaling function	Scaling settings can be configured separately for each channel.			
	Analog	Set by conversion rate, by 2 points, by strain gage rating (Strain Unit only), or by sensitivity (user-selectable)		
	Pulse (integration)	Set by physical value per pulse or number of pulses per physical value (user-selectable)		
	Pulse (rotational speed)	Set by conversion rate or by 2 points (user-selectable)		
	Temperature display in degrees Fahrenheit	When display language is set to English, Fahrenheit temperature scaling is available.		
Comment entry function	Enter titles and channel- symbols).	Enter titles and channel-specific comments (values, alphabetical characters, and symbols).		
Start state retention function	On/Off (user-selectable) When enabled, the system will enter the re-start state and automatically start recording if the power is turned off during recording and then turned back on (or the trigger standby state if using a trigger).			
Startup auto- measurement function	On/off (user-selectable) When the function is enabled, the instrument will automatically start measurement on startup (get into the trigger standby state when the trigger setting is enabled)			
Functionality for saving setting conditions	Up to five groups of setting conditions can be saved in the instrument's internal backup memory.			
Auto-setup function	Setting conditions saved in the instrument's memory or on an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive can be automatically loaded when the instrument is powered on. If there are setting conditions stored in the instrument's memory as well as on an SD Memory Card and a USB Drive, setting conditions have the following precedence: instrument memory, SD Memory Card, and USB Drive.			
Prevention of inadvertent START/ STOP key operation	When the <b>START</b> or <b>STOP</b> key is pressed, the system will display a message asking whether the user wishes to start or stop measurement. Confirmation message: Enable/disable (user-selectable)			
Key lock function	Disables operation keys (enabled/disabled by pressing and holding the <b>ESC</b> key for 3 s or more).			
Beep tone	On/Off (user-selectable)			
Self-check function	Can check keys, LCD, ROM/RAM, LAN, media, and modules.			
Display of horizontal axis (time values)	Horizontal axis (time val Setting is applied when t	ue) display can be set to time, date, or data point count. text data is saved.		
Measurement start/stop time specification function	Measurement start and s Specified date •Start and stop times (ye	stop conditions can be set. ear, month, day, hour, and minute) can be set.		
Configuration navigation (Quick Set) function	Wireless module registra communication failure (L external terminals), load	ation guide (LR8450-01 only), countermeasures against wireless R8450-01 only), connection diagram display (strain gage, ing setting conditions		
Power supply frequency filter function	50 Hz/60 Hz selection			

# 10. Input

Pulse/logic input	Number of channels	8 channels (common GND, non-isolated) Exclusive setting for pulse/logic input for individual channels
	Terminal block	Push-button type terminal block
	Adaptive input format	Non-voltage contact, open collector (PNP open collector requires external resistor), or voltage input
	Maximum input voltage	0 V to 42 V DC
	Input resistance	1.1 MΩ ±5%
	Detection level	2 levels (user-selectable) High: 1.0 V or greater; low: 0 to 0.5 V High: 4.0 V or greater; low: 0 to 1.5 V

Pulse input Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, measurement accuracy

Measurement target	Range (f.s.	)	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy		
Integration	1000 M counts	5	1 count	0 to 1000 M counts	±1 count		
Rotational	5000/ <i>n</i> (r/s)		1/ <i>n</i> (r/s)	0 to 5000/ <i>n</i> (r/s)	±1/n (r/s)		
speed	300,000/ <i>n</i> (r/m	in.)	60/ <i>t</i> ₀• <i>n</i> (r/min.)	0 to 300,000/ <i>n</i> (r/min.)	±60/ <i>t</i> ₀ • <i>n</i> (r/min)		
	<i>n</i> : Number of p $t_0$ : Smoothing s	oulses setting	per rotation (1 to (1 to 60 s)	o 1000)			
		With	200 μs or grea interval) filter on: 100 ms or gre interval)	ater (100 µs or greater du ater (50 ms or greater du	rring high and low		
Slope	Slope		Set rising/falling for each channel.				
Measure	Measurement mode		Integration (addition, instantaneous), rotational speed				
Integratio	Integration		<ul> <li>Addition: Counts the number of pulses input from start of measurement.</li> <li>Instantaneous: Counts the number of pulses input within each recording interval (integrated value is reset for each rotational interval).</li> </ul>				
Rotation	al speed	r/s: r/min.	Counts the n calculates the Counts the n calculates the	umber of input pulses du e rotational speed. umber of input pulses du e rotational speed.	ring 1 s and ring 1 min. and		
Smoothin	Smoothing function		Select value from 1 s to 60 s (valid only when set to rotational speed and r/min.).				
Chatter p	prevention filter	Set to	On/Off for eacl	h channel.			
out Measure	surement mode Records 1 or 0 for each recording interval.						

# 11. Accessories and options

Accessories	See "Accessories" in the Quick Start Manual.	
Options	See "Options (sold separately)" in the Quick Start Manual.	

# **10.2 Plug-in Module Specifications**

# U8550 Voltage/Temp Unit

## 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326, Class A
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 345 g (12.2 oz.)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws × 2
Options	Z2000 Humidity Sensor

### 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

15 (Set voltage, thermocouple, or humidity for each channel.)
M3 screw-type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C) Humidity (using the Z2000 Humidity Sensor)
Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
16 bits
±100 V DC
300 V DC
300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, -) and the instrument (LR8450/LR8450-01) or between any two modules Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V

Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range, humidity range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 k $\Omega$ or less
Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: $5 \ \mu A \pm 20\%$ No current flows while acquiring measurement data. (Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms.)
Data refresh interval	10 ms*, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s *: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled.
Digital filters	The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval, Wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire break detection setting	Data refresh interval									
supply frequency filter setting		10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50

Unit: Hz

### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year			
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less			
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after connecting to the LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger and turning on the instrument			
	The conditions have been specified with after zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p.332]).				

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Voltage	_	10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±10 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±20 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±50 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±100 μV
		1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±500 μV
		2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±1 mV
		10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±5 mV
		20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±10 mV
		100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±50 mV
		1-5 V f.s.	500 µV	1 V to 5 V	±5 mV
Thermocouple (Not including	к	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

10

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to $-200^{\circ}$ C and less than $-100^{\circ}$ C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Т	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
	N	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
(Not including accuracy of reference		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 400°C and less than 600°C	±5.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 600°C and less than 1000°C	±3.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 1000°C and less than or equal to 1800°C	±2.4°C
	С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±1.7°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	0°C to 500°C	±1.7°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	0°C to 2000°C	±1.7°C

10

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range			Measurement accuracy
	Humidity	-	100% RH f.s.	0.1% RH	tH 5.0% RH to 95.0% F		I	As per measurement accuracy of the Z2000 Humidity Sensor
			Humidity accu	racy table 100				
				(HX 95	±10% RH	±8% RH	±10% RH	
				8) 00 ≩ 60 □	±8% RH	±6% RH	±8% RH	
				Relative humidi or	±6% RH	±5% RH	±6% RH	
							)	50
			Each boundar	f accuracy gi y line is inclu	uarantee rang ded in the be	erature ( C ge tter measu	rement acci	uracy area.
Accur refere comp	racy of ence junction ensation	±0.5°C ( Referen	with input termi ce junction com	nal temperati pensation: A to	ure balancing dd thermocou <i>internal</i> .	) Iple meast	urement acc	uracy when set
Temp chara	erature cteristics	Add (me humidity	easurement acc , see humidity a	uracy × 0.1) j accuracy table	per degree to e).	the measu	urement acc	uracy figure (for
Norm reject	al-mode ion ratio	50 dB o ( ii ( ii (	r greater With 50 Hz inpu nterval of 5 s) With 60 Hz inpu nterval of 5 s) With thermocou	t, power sup t, power sup ple wire brea	oly frequency oly frequency k detection d	filter of 50 filter of 60 isabled)	) Hz, and a ( ) Hz, and a (	data refresh data refresh
Comr reject	non-mode ion ratio	Signal s 100 dB ( 140 dB ( ii ( ii ( (	<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms)</li> <li>140 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With the moccouple wire break detection disabled)</li> </ul>					
Effect radio electr	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. range)	(80 MHz to 1 G	GHz: 10 V/m;	1 GHz to 6 G	Hz: 3 V/m	) (in the 10 \	/ f.s. voltage
Effect radio- electr	of conducted frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s.	at 10 V (in the	10 V f.s. volta	age range)			

...

# U8551 Universal Unit

## 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326, Class A
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013 Resistance temperature detector (Pt100, Pt1000): JIS C1604:2013, IEC 60751:2008 Resistance temperature detector (JPt100): JIS C1604:1989
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 318 g (11.2 oz.)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws × 2
Options	Z2000 Humidity Sensor

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

Number of input channels	15 (Set voltage, thermocouple, humidity, resistance temperature detector, or resistor for each channel.)
Input terminals	Push-button type terminal block (4 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C) Humidity (using the Z2000 Humidity Sensor) Resistance temperature detector (Pt100, Jpt100, Pt1000) (Connection: 3-wire/4-wire) (Measurement current: 1 mA ±5% [Pt100 and Jpt100 measurement]; 0.1 mA ±5% [Pt1000 measurement]) (During Pt1000 measurement, setting available when the data refresh interval is greater than 100 ms.) Resistor (connection: 4-wire; measurement current: 1 mA ±5%)
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated (The SoL terminals used to connect resistance temperature detectors and resistors are not isolated as they are shorted for all channels internally.)
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC (The SoL terminals used to connect resistance temperature detectors and resistors are not isolated as they are shorted for all channels internally.)

Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (SoH, SoL, +, -) and the instrument (LR8450/LR8450-01) or between any two modules Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges, all resistance temperature detector and resistor ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range, humidity range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 k $\Omega$ or less
Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: 5 $\mu$ A ±20% (No current flows while acquiring measurement data.) (Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms.)
Data refresh interval	<ul> <li>10 ms*¹, 20 ms*², 50 ms*², 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s</li> <li>*1: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and not set for Pt1000 measurement.</li> <li>*2: Setting available when not set for Pt1000 measurement.</li> </ul>
Digital filters	The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval, Wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire break detection setting	Data refresh interval									
supply frequency filter setting		10 ms* ³	20 ms* ³	50 ms* ³	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60
	On	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50

Unit: Hz

*3: Setting not available when mixed with Pt1000 measurement.

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year			
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less			
	Warm-up timeAt least 30 minutes after connecting to the LR8450/LR845Memory HiLogger and turning on the instrument				
	The conditions have been specified with zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p. 338]).				

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Voltage	-	10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±10 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±20 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±50 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±100 μV
		1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±500 μV
		2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±1 mV
		10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±5 mV
		20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±10 mV
		100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±50 mV
		1-5 V f.s.	500 µV	1 V to 5 V	±5 mV
Thermocouple (Not including	К	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
reference junction				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference iunction				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Т	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
	N	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
(Not including accuracy of reference		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 400°C and less than 600°C	±5.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 600°C and less than 1000°C	±3.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 1000°C and less than or equal to 1800°C	±2.4°C
	С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±1.7°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	0°C to 500°C	±1.7°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	0°C to 2000°C	±1.7°C

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measur	able ran	ge	Measurement accuracy			
	Humidity	_	100% RH f.s.	0.1% RH	5.0% RH to 95.0% RH			As per accura Humid	measurement cy of the Z2000 ity Sensor		
			Humidity acc	lumidity accuracy table							
				- ¹⁰⁰							
				HR 80	±10% RH	±8% RH	±10% R	H			
				dity (%	±8% RH	±6% RH	±8% R	H			
				Relative humi	±6% RH	±5% RH	±6% R	H			
				00	2	0 3	0	5	0		
				of accuracy	Tempe	erature (°	C)				
			Each bounda	ary line is inc	luded in the bett	e ter meas	urement ac	curac	y area.		
	Resistance	Pt100	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	-100°C to 100	°C		±0.5°	С		
	temperature detector		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	-200°C to 500°C			±0.7°C			
			2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	-200°C to 800°C			±0.9°	С		
		JPt100	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	-100°C to 100°C			±0.5°	С		
			500°C f.s.	0.05°C	-200°C to 500°C			±0.7°	С		
			2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	-200°C to 500°C			±0.9°	С		
		Pt1000	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	-100°C to 100°C			±0.5°	С		
			500°C f.s.	0.05°C	-200°C to 500°C			±0.7°	С		
			2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	-200°C to 800	°C		±0.9°	С		
	Resistance	-	10 Ω f.s.	0.5 mΩ	0 Ω to 10 Ω			±10 r	nΩ		
			20 Ω f.s.	1 mΩ	0 Ω to 20 Ω			±20 n	nΩ		
			100 Ω f.s.	5 mΩ	0 Ω to 100 Ω			±100	mΩ		
			200 Ω f.s.	10 mΩ	0 $\Omega$ to 200 $\Omega$			±200	mΩ		
Accui refere comp	racy of ence junction ensation	±0.5°C ( Referen	with input terr ce junction co	ninal temper mpensation:	ature balancing) Add thermocou to <i>internal</i> .	ple meas	surement a	ccurac	y when set		
Temp chara	erature cteristics	Add (me humidity	easurement ac , see humidity	ccuracy × 0.1 / accuracy ta	) per degree to ble).	the meas	surement a	ccurac	cy figure (for		
Norm reject	rmal-mode 50 c ection ratio		or greater (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)								
Comn reject	mmon-mode Signa ection ratio 100 d 140 d		with thermocouple wire break detection disabled) source resistance of 100 Ω or less or greater (With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms) or greater (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range) (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh								

interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range) (With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)

Effect of radiated radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±5% f.s. (80 MHz to 1 GHz: 10 V/m; 1 GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (Pt100 resistance temperature detector, 100°C f.s. range, 4-wire connection)
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field	$\pm 5\%$ f.s. at 10 V (Pt100 resistance temperature detector, 100°C f.s. range, 4-wire setup)

# U8552 Voltage/Temp Unit

## 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326, Class A
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 319 g (11.3 oz.)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws × 2
Options	Z2000 Humidity Sensor

. . . . . . . . .

• • • • • • • • • • • •

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

Number of input channels	30 (Set voltage, thermocouple, or humidity for each channel.)
Input terminals	Push-button type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C) Humidity (using the Z2000 Humidity Sensor)
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, -) and the instrument (LR8450/LR8450-01) or between any two modules Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range, humidity range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 k $\Omega$ or less

Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: 5 $\mu$ A ±20% (No current flows while acquiring measurement data.) Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms. Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 20 ms and 16 or more channels are being used.
Data refresh interval	<ul> <li>10 ms*¹, 20 ms*², 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s</li> <li>*1: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and the number of channels in use ranges from 1 to 15.</li> <li>*2: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and the number of channels in use ranges from 16 to 30. Alternatively, setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is enabled and the number of channels in use ranges from 16 to 30. Alternatively, setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is enabled and the number of channels in use ranges from 16 to 30. Alternatively, setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is enabled and the number of channels in use ranges from 1 to 15.</li> </ul>
Digital filters	The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the number of channels in use, data refresh interval, Wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

(1) When the number of channels in use is 15 or less

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire break detection setting	Data refresh interval										
supply frequency filter setting		10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s	
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60	
	On	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50	
	On	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	

(2) When the number of channels in use is 16 to 30

-: Setting not available

Unit: Hz

Power	Wire	Data refresh interval										
supply frequency filter setting	break detection setting	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s	
60 Hz	Off	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	
	On	_	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	
50 Hz	Off	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	
	On	_	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	

Unit: Hz

Specifications

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year				
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less				
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after connecting to the LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger and turning on the instrument				
	The conditions have been specified with zero-adjustment finished and cutoff frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p. 345]).					

Measurement	Туре	Range	Maximum	Measurable range	Measurement
		10 m\/fs	500 pV	-10  m/(10  m)/(10  m)	
voltage		20 mV f s	1 11/	-20  mV to $20  mV$	±10 μV
		100 mV f s	5 μV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±20 μV
		200 mV f s	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±00 µV
		200 mV 1.3.	50 μV		±100 µV
		2 V f s	100 µV	$-2 \vee to 2 \vee$	±300 µV
		2 V 1.3.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±1 mV
		20 V f s	1 m\/	-20 V to 20 V	±3 mV
		20 V 1.3.	5 m\/	-100 V to 100 V	±10 mV
		1_5 \/ f s	500\/	1 V to 5 V	±50 mV
Thormosouplo	K	1-0 V 1.5.	0.01°C	$1 \times 10 \times 100$	±0.7°C
(Not including	n	100 C I.S.	0.01 C	and less than 0°C	±0.7 C
reference				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
compensation)		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to $-100^{\circ}$ C and less than $0^{\circ}$ C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Т	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
	N	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
(Not including accuracy of reference		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 400°C and less than 600°C	±5.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 600°C and less than 1000°C	±3.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 1000°C and less than or equal to 1800°C	±2.4°C
	С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±1.7°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	0°C to 500°C	±1.7°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	0°C to 2000°C	±1.7°C

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measu	rable rang	ge	Mea ac	surement curacy
	Humidity	-	100% RH f.s.	0.1% RH	5.0% RH to 9	5.0% RH		As pe measu accura Z2000 Senso	r urement acy of the ) Humidity or
			Humidity acc	curacy table	I				
						1 1			
				80 -	±10% RH	±8% RH	±10% R	H	
				- 00 dity	±8% RH	±6% RH	±8% R	H	
				Relative humi	±6% RH	±5% RH	±6% R	H	
				Õ O		20 30	)	50	)
				t of a course of	Temp	erature (°(	C)		
			Each bounda	ary line is inc	luded in the be	je tter measi	irement ad	curacy	area.
Accur refere comp	racy of ence junction ensation	±0.5°C ( Referen	with input terr ce junction co	minal temperation:	ature balancing Add thermocou to <i>internal</i> .	) uple meas	urement a	ccuracy	/ when set
Temp chara	erature cteristics	Add (me humidity	easurement ac v, see humidity	ccuracy × 0.1 / accuracy ta	) per degree to ble).	the meas	urement a	ccurac	y figure (for
Norm reject	al-mode ion ratio	50 dB o ( ii ( ii ( u	<ul> <li>50 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)</li> <li>(With thermocouple wire break detection disabled and 15 or fewer channels in use)</li> </ul>						
Comr reject	non-mode ion ratio	Signal s 100 dB ( ( 140 dB ( ( in ( in ( t	<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms)</li> </ul> </li> <li>140 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With thermocouple wire break detection disabled and 15 or fewer channels in use)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>						
Effect radio- electr	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. range)	(80 MHz to 1	GHz: 10 V/n	n; 1 GHz to 6 G	iHz: 3 V/m	) (in the 1	0 V f.s.	voltage
Effect radio- electr	of conducted frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s.	at 10 V (in th	e 10 V f.s. vo	ltage range)				

# U8553 High Speed Voltage Unit

## 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326, Class A
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 237 g (8.4 oz.)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws × 2

. . . . . .

• • • • • • • • •

## 2. Input and measurement specifications

Number of input channels	5 (voltage only)
Input terminals	M3 screw-type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, -) and the instrument (LR8450/LR8450-01) or between any two modules Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	1 MΩ ±5%
Allowable signal source resistance	100 Ω or less
Data refresh interval	1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s

# **Digital filters** The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval and power supply frequency filter setting:

Power supply		Data refresh interval											
filter setting	1 ms	2 ms	5 ms	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	50 k	5.4 k	2.6 k	1.0 k	400	200	100	60	60	10	5	5	5
50 Hz	50 k	5.4 k	2.6 k	1.0 k	400	200	100	50	50	10	5	5	5

Unit: Hz

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year					
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less					
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after connecting to the LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger and turning on the instrument					
	The conditions have been specified with zero-adjustment finished and cutoff frequency set to 5 Hz, 10 Hz, 50 Hz, or 60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p.351]).						

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy			
	Voltage	_	100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±100 μV			
			200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±200 μV			
			1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±1 mV			
			2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±2 mV			
			10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±10 mV			
			20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±20 mV			
			100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±100 mV			
			1-5 V f.s.	500 µV	1 V to 5 V	±10 mV			
chara Norm reject	cteristics al-mode ion ratio	cs 50 dB or greater (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)							
Comn reject	non-mode ion ratio	Signal sc 100 dB o (V 140 dB o (V in (V in	<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 1 ms)</li> </ul> </li> <li>140 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 100 mV f.s. range)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 100 mV f.s. range)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>						
Effect radio- electr	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. range)	(80 MHz to 1 GI	Hz: 10 V/m; 1	GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (in the 1	I0 V f.s. voltage			
Effect radio- electr	of conducted frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. at 10 V (in the 10 V f.s. voltage range)							

10

# U8554 Strain Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326, Class A
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 236 g (8.3 oz.)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws × 2 Connection confirmation label

•••••

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

Number of input channels	5 (Set voltage o	r strain for each channel.)
Input terminals	Push-button typ cover Set DIP switche	e terminal block (5 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block es according to measurement target.
Measurement target		
	Strain	Strain gage-type converter Strain gage 1-gage method (2-wire setup), 1-gage method (3-wire setup), 2-gage method (adjacent sides), 4-gage method
Adaptive gage resistance	1-gage method, 4-gage method:	2-gage method: 120 $\Omega$ (external bridge box required for 350 $\Omega)$ : 120 $\Omega$ to 1 $k\Omega$
Gage factor	Fixed to 2.0	
Bridge voltage	2 V ±0.05 V DC	
Balance adjustment	Method	Electronic auto-balancing
	Range	Voltage: ±20 mV or less (1 mV f.s. to 20 mV f.s. ranges), ±200 mV or less (50 mV f.s. to 200 mV f.s. ranges) Strain: ±20,000 με or less (1000 με f.s. to 20,000 με f.s. ranges), ±200,000 με or less (50,000 με f.s. to 200,000 με f.s. ranges)
Input type	Balanced differe	ential input, non-isolated channels, simultaneous sampling of all channels
A/D resolution	16 bits	
Maximum input voltage	±0.5 V DC	

Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	Non-isolated (all channels share common GND)
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	30 V rms AC or 60 V DC (between analog input channels and the instrument [LR8450/ LR8450-01]) Anticipated transient overvoltage: 330 V
Input resistance	2 MΩ ±5%
Data refresh interval	1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s
Low-pass filter	Cutoff frequency -3 dB ±30%
	Auto, 120, 60, 30, 15, 8, 4 (Hz)

Auto: The low-pass filter's cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table based on the set data refresh interval:

	Data refresh interval											
1 ms	2 ms	5 ms	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
120 Hz	60 Hz	30 Hz	15 Hz	8 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz

Attenuation 5th-order Butterworth filter, -30 dB/oct characteristics

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Accuracy guarantee duration	1 year					
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less					
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after connecting to the LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger and turning on the instrument					
	The conditions have been specified with auto-balance finished and the low-pass filter set to 4 kHz.						

	Measurement target	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy*
	Voltage	1 mV f.s.	50 nV	-1 mV to 1 mV	±9 μV
		2 mV f.s.	100 nV	-2 mV to 2 mV	±10 μV
		5 mV f.s.	250 nV	-5 mV to 5 mV	±25 μV
		10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±50 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±100 μV
		50 mV f.s.	2.5 µV	-50 mV to 50 mV	±250 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±500 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±1 mV
	Strain	1,000 με f.s.	0.05 με	–1,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 1,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±9 με
		2,000 με f.s.	0.1 με	−2,000 με to 2,000 με	±10 με
		5,000 με f.s.	0.25 με	−5,000 με to 5,000 με	±25 με
		10,000 με f.s.	0.5 με	–10,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 10,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±50 με
		20,000 με f.s.	1 με	–20,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 20,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±100 με
		50,000 με f.s.	2.5 με	-50,000 με to 50,000 με	±250 με
		100,000 με f.s.	5 με	–100,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 100,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±500 με
		200,000 με f.s.	10 με	–200,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 200,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±1000 με
Temperature characteristics*		Gain ±0.05% f.s. per °C Zero position Voltage: ±1.5 μV per °C Strain: ±1.5 με per °C			
Built-in bridge resistance precision		Tolerance: ±0.01% Temperature characteristics: ±2 ppm per °C			
Comn reject	non-mode ion ratio	100 dB or greater with a signal source resistance of 300 $\Omega$ or less (for 50 Hz/60 Hz input)			
Effect of radiated radio-frequency electromagnetic field		±50% f.s. (80 MHz to 1 GHz: 10 V/m; 1 GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (in the 5000 μ $_{\rm E}$ f.s. strain range with low-pass filter enabled at 4 Hz)			
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field		$\pm 5\%$ f.s. at 10 V (in the 5000 $\mu\epsilon$ f.s. strain range with low-pass filter enabled at 4 Hz)			

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

*: Does not include built-in bridge resistance tolerance and temperature characteristics.
••

# U8555 CAN Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger	
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)	
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)	
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)	
Standards	Safety: EN 61010 EMC: EN 61326 Class A	
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s2 [4.6 G])	
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 54D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.13"D) (not including protruding parts)	
Weight	Approx. 235 g (8.3 oz.)	
Product warranty duration	3 years	
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws ×2	
Options	9713-01 CAN Cable SP7001-95 Non-Contact CAN Sensor	

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

## -1. Basic specifications

Number	of	CAN	ports	2	ports
Number	<b>U</b> I		ports	~	ports

Input terminals

D-sub 9-pin male ×2

$\bigcirc$	$ \begin{array}{c} 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 \\ 6 \end{array} $	3 4 0 0 0 0 0 7 8	5 0 9	$\bigcirc$
•	6	/ 8	9	•

Pin	Assignment	Functionality
1	N.C.	Unused
2	CAN_L	CAN_L communications line
3	GND	Ground
4	N.C.	Unused
5	N.C.	Unused
6	N.C.	Unused
7	CAN_H	CAN_H communications line
8	N.C.	Unused
9	N.C.	Unused

Interface	Supported protocols	CAN (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant) CAN FD (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant) CAN FD (non-ISO)	
	Physical layer	ISO 11898 (High Speed)	
Terminator	Can be enabled/disabled for each port. Resistance value: 120 $\Omega$ ±10 $\Omega$		
ACT LED	Displays the CAN bus operating status.		
TERM LED	Illuminates when the terminator is enabled.		
Data refresh interval	10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s		
Baud rate	CAN, CAN FD (arbitration) : 50k, 62.5k, 83.3k, 100k, 125k, 250k, 500k, 800k, 1000k [Baud] CAN FD (data): 0.5M, 1M, 2M, 2.5M, 4M, 5M [Baud]		
Sampling point	CAN, CAN FD (arbitration): 50.0% to 95.0% CAN FD (data): 50.0% to 95.0%		
ACK	The ACK response when receiving CAN data can be enabled/disabled.		
Operating mode	Can switch between receive mode and measured value output mode.		

## -2. Receive mode specifications

Number of channels	Data refresh interval 10 ms: Up to 50 channels (up to 50 signals) Data refresh interval 20 ms: Up to 100 channels (up to 100 signals) Data refresh interval 50 ms: Up to 250 channels (up to 250 signals) Data refresh interval 100 ms or longer: Up to 500 channels (up to 500 signals)		
Receive ID count	Function for recording the number of times a target ID is received during a data refresh interval		
User frame	Overview	Sends user CAN frames while operating in receive mode.	
transmission	Number of sets of conditions that can be set	8 conditions per unit	

## -3. Measured value output mode specifications

Overview	Converts LR8450 measured values into CAN frames and outputs them.
Output target	Measurement data from plug-in modules (other than CAN Units) Measurement time
Output data refresh period	Varies with the data refresh interval for the units whose data is being output (as short as 1 ms).
Response	(Data refresh interval) × 2 + 1 ms + (analog response time*) *: Varies with filter settings (U8554: 5 ms, with 120 Hz low-pass filter).

...

# U8556 Current Module

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger		
Operating environment	Indoors, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)		
Operating temperature and humidity range	−10°C to 50°C (14°F to 122°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)		
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)		
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A		
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s² [4.6 G])		
Dimensions	Approx. 134W × 70H × 63D mm (5.28"W × 2.76"H × 2.48"D) (excluding protrusion)		
Weight	Approx. 256 g (9.0 oz.)		
Product warranty period	3 years		
Accessories	Instruction Manual Installation screws ×2 Caps ×5		
Options	L0220-01 Extension Cable (2 m) L0220-02 Extension Cable (5 m) L0220-03 Extension Cable (10 m)		

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

## -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	5 channels		
Measurement target	Current (using optional current sensors)		
Input type	Isolated input by current sensor, simultaneous sampling of all channels		
Input terminals	Dedicated connector (Hioki PL14)		
Applicable current sensors	CT7812 CT7822 CT7126 CT7131 CT7136 CT7044 CT7045 CT7046 CT7731 CT7736 CT7742 CT7116	AC/DC Current Sensor (rated current: 2 A) AC/DC Current Sensor (rated current: 20 A) AC Current Sensor (rated current: 60 A) AC Current Sensor (rated current: 100 A) AC Current Sensor (rated current: 600 A) AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 100 mm) AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 180 mm) AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 254 mm) AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 100 A) AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 100 A) AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 600 A) AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 2000 A) AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 600 A)	

Measurement range	200 mA, 2 A (CT7812) 500 mA, 5 A (CT7116) 2 A, 20 A (CT7822) 5 A, 50 A (CT7126) 100 A (CT7131, CT7731)
	50 A, 500 A (CT7136, CT7736) 200 A, 2000 A (CT7742) 50 A, 500 A, 5000 A (CT7044, CT7045, CT7046)
Response time for instantaneous values	150 μs (step input, 90% of final value, design value)
Frequency characteristics for RMS values	DC to 5 kHz (-3 dB)
Response time for RMS values	0.8 s (step input, time required for a measured value to fall within the accuracy specification range, design value)
A/D resolution	16 bits
Input resistance	1 MΩ ±10%
Power for current sensors	+5 V ±0.25 V, -5 V ±0.25 V
Maximum measurable current	130% of each range or the maximum measurable current of a current sensor to be connected, whichever is less
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	Not isolated
Data refresh interval	1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s
Measurement item	Instantaneous value, RMS value (switchable)
RMS value measuring method	The RMS-value IC calculates real RMS values according to measured AC+DC values.
Low-pass filter	OFF, 220 Hz (−3 dB) Available for measurement of instantaneous values and RMS values

## -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Product warranty period	1 years
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes
	After zero adjustment DC input for instantaneo	us values, sine wave input for RMS values
	Extendable length	Up to 10 m
Accuracy guarantee range	Instantaneous values ±120% of each range or the upper limit of the accuracy guarantee range of a current sensor to be connected, whichever is narrower RMS values 5% to 100% of each range	

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7812 AC/DC Current Sensor Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
2.0000 A	0.0002 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.0037 A
200.0 mA	0.1 mA	±0.38% rdg ±2.4 mA

RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
2.0000 A	0.0002 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.0125 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.0125 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.0125 A
200.0 mA	0.1 mA	±1.1% rdg ±11.4 mA	±1.3% rdg ±11.4 mA	±2.1% rdg ±11.4 mA

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7822 AC/DC Current Sensor Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values		
20.000 A	0.002 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.037 A		
2.000 A	0.001 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.024 A		

RMS value

Range Res	Desclution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
20.000 A	0.002 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.046 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.04 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.046 A
2.000 A	0.001 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.035 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.029 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.035 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

## Combinational accuracy with CT7731 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor

Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.08% rdg ±0.58 A

RMS value

Banga	Decolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
Range Resolu	Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	
100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.8% rdg ±2.16 A	±3% rdg ±2.16 A (I ≤ 80 A) ±3.5% rdg ±2.16 A (80 A < I ≤ 100 A)	

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7736 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.08% rdg ±3.6 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.08% rdg ±3.06 A

#### RMS value

Range Resolution	Decolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.8% rdg ±4.8 A	±4% rdg ±4.8 A	±4.6% rdg ±4.8 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.8% rdg ±4.16 A	±4% rdg ±4.16 A	±4.6% rdg ±4.16 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7742 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor Instantaneous values

# RangeResolutionCombinational accuracy<br/>for instantaneous values2000.0 A0.2 A±1.58% rdg ±11.7 A200.0 A0.1 A±1.58% rdg ±10.4 A

#### RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values			
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
2000.0 A	0.2 A	±2.8% rdg ±18.7 A	$\pm 3.5\%$ rdg $\pm 28.7$ A (I $\leq 1800$ A) $\pm 4.0\%$ rdg $\pm 28.7$ A (1800 A< I $\leq 2000$ A)	±4.1% rdg ±28.7 A	
200.0 A	0.1 A	±2.3% rdg ±17.6 A	±3.5% rdg ±27.6 A	±4.1% rdg ±27.6 A	

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

## Combinational accuracy with CT7126 AC Current Sensor

RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
50.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.09 A	±2% rdg ±0.09 A	±2.6% rdg ±0.09 A
5.000 A	0.001 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.022 A	±2% rdg ±0.022 A	±2.6% rdg ±0.022 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

## Combinational accuracy with CT7131 AC Current Sensor

RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.18 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.18 A	±2.4% rdg ±0.18 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7136 AC Current Sensor RMS value

Range R	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
500.0 A	0.1 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.9 A	±1.8% rdg ±1 A	±2.4% rdg ±1 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.22 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.28 A	±2.4% rdg ±0.28 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

# Combinational accuracy with CT7044/CT7045/CT7046 AC Flexible Current Sensor RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values
Ū		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz
5000 A	1 A	±2.3% rdg ±33 A
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.3% rdg ±3.3 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.3% rdg ±2.66 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7116 AC Leakage Current Sensor RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values					
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz			
5.000 A	0.001 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.011 A	±4% rdg ±0.014 A	±4.6% rdg ±0.014 A			
500.0 mA	0.1 mA	±1.8% rdg ±4.6 mA	±4% rdg ±7.6 mA	±4.6% rdg ±7.6 mA			

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Accuracy of the module only

Range	Measurement accuracy for instantaneous values
1	±0.08% of reading ±8 dgt
2-L (×5)	±0.08% of reading ±17 dgt
2-H (×10)	±0.08% of reading ±4 dgt
5-L (×1)	±0.08% of reading ±6 dgt
5-H (×10)	±0.08% of reading ±6 dgt

	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range							
Range	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 100 Hz	100 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz					
	Measurement accuracy for RMS values							
1	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					
2-L (×5)	±0.8% of reading ±27 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±27 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±27 dgt					
2-H (×10)	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					
5-L (×1)	±0.8% of reading ±8 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±8 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±8 dgt					
5-H (×10)	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					

• Accuracy is not guaranteed for a measurement signal frequency of 1 kHz or more.

• The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

Temperature characteristics	When the instrument is used at temperatures outside the accuracy guarantee temperature range, add the following value to the measurement accuracy. Measurement accuracy for instantaneous values: $\Delta T \times 0.1 \times (measurement accuracy of each range)$ Measurement accuracy for RMS values: $\Delta T \times 0.1 \times (measurement accuracy of each range, depending on the frequency)$ $\Delta T$ : Temperature difference between the operating temperature and the upper or lower limit of the accuracy guarantee temperature range (°C)
Effect of radiated radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±25% f.s. (Test level: 10 V/m for a frequency range of 80 MHz to 1 GHz, 3 V/m for a frequency range of 1 GHz to 6 GHz) Add the influence value of the sensor if the specification of the sensor lists it.
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±5% f.s. (Test level: 10 V) Add the influence value of the sensor if the specification of the sensor lists it.

# 3. Interface specifications

Connector	Dedicated interface (Hioki PL14)

# **10.3 Wireless Module Specifications**

# LR8530 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit

## 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Standards	SafetyEN 61010EMCEN 61326 Class A
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])
Power supply	<ul> <li>21008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with the AC Adapter, the AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 1.5 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 9 h (all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 106H × 57D mm (6.06"W × 4.17"H × 2.24"D) (including cover)
Weight	Approx. 423 g (14.9 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)
Product warranty duration	3 years
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for the mounting plate)

Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion) C1012 Carrying Case
---------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

# 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

# -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	15 channels (Set voltage or thermocouple for each channel.)
Input terminals	M3 screw-type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C)
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, −) and the enclosure Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 k $\Omega$ or less
Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: $5 \ \mu A \pm 20\%$ No current flows while acquiring measurement data. (Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms.)
Data refresh interval	10 ms*, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s *: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled.

#### Digital filters

The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval, wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire	Data refresh interval									
supply frequency filter setting	break detection setting	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60
	On	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50
	On	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50
											Init: Uz

Unit: Hz

### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee	Product warranty duration	1 year		
conditions	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less		
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after turning on the module		
	The conditions have been specified frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see a	with after zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p.365]).		

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Voltage	-	10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±10 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±20 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±50 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±100 μV
		1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±500 μV
		2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±1 mV
		10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±5 mV
		20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±10 mV
		100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±50 mV
		1-5 V f.s.	500 µV	1 V to 5 V	±5 mV

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	К	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s. (	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Т	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C

Specifications

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	N	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
compensation		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C
	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy	
	Thermocouple (Not including accuracy of reference junction compensation)	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 400°C and less than 600°C	±5.4°C	
					Greater than or equal to 600°C and less than 1000°C	±3.7°C	
					Greater than or equal to 1000°C and less than or equal to 1800°C	±2.4°C	
		С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±1.7°C	
			500°C f.s.	0.05°C	0°C to 500°C	±1.7°C	
			2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	0°C to 2000°C	±1.7°C	
Reference junction compensation±0.5°C (with input terminal temperature balancing) Reference junction compensation: Add thermocouple measurement accuracy when internal.					ccuracy when set to		
Tempo chara	erature cteristics	Add (mea	surement accur	acy × 0.1) pe	r degree to the measurement a	ccuracy figure.	
Norma reject	ormal-mode       50 dB or greater         sjection ratio       (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)         (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)         (With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)					a data refresh a data refresh	
Comn reject	non-mode ion ratio	<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms)</li> <li>140 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)</li> </ul>					
Effect radio- electr	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. (80 MHz to 1 GHz: 10 V/m, 1 GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (in the 10 V f.s. voltage range)					
Effect radio- electr	of conducted frequency omagnetic field	<b>d</b> ±5% f.s. at 10 V (in the 10 V f.s. voltage range)					

# 3. Functionality specifications

LED indication	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	Auto, reset
Auto-connect function	Yes

# LR8531 Wireless Universal Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger						
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.						
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.						
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)						
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)						
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)						
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A						
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013						
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G]						
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 3 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with the AC Adapter, the AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 2 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 3 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>						
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 7 h (all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)						
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)						
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 106H × 57D mm (6.06"W × 4.17"H × 2.24"D) (including cover)						
Weight	Approx. 386 g (13.6 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)						
Product warranty duration	3 years						
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for the mounting plate)						

. . . . . . . . .

.

. . . . . . . . . . .

Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion) C1012 Carrying Case Z2000 Humidity Sensor
---------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

# 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

## -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	15 channels (Set voltage, thermocouple, humidity, resistance temperature detector, and resistor for each channel.)
Input terminals	Push-button type terminal block (4 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Output terminals	M3 screw-type terminal block (1 output, 2 terminals per channel, power supply dedicated to Z2000 Humidity Sensor, 15 pieces of Z2000 Humidity Sensor can be powered at the same time)
Measurement target	Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C) Humidity (with Z2000 Humidity Sensor) Resistance temperature detectors (Pt100, JPt100, Pt1000) (Connection: 3-wire setup/4-wire setup) (Measurement current: 1 mA ±5% [Pt100 and Jpt100 measurement] 0.1 mA ±5% [Pt1000 measurement]) (During Pt1000 measurement, setting available when the data refresh interval is set to 100 ms or longer) Resistance (connection: 4-wire; measurement current: 1 mA ±5%)
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated (The SoL terminals used to connect resistance temperature detectors and resistors are not isolated as they are shorted for all channels internally.)
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC (The SoL terminals used to connect resistance temperature detectors and resistors are not isolated as they are shorted for all channels internally.)
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (SoH, SoL, +, −) and the enclosure Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges, all resistance temperature detector ranges, and all resistor ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range, humidity range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 kΩ or less
Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: 5 $\mu$ A ±20% No current flows while acquiring measurement data. (Setting not available when the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms.)
Data refresh interval	<ul> <li>10 ms*¹, 20 ms*², 50 ms*², 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s</li> <li>*1: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and no Pt1000 measurement setting is involved.</li> <li>*2: Setting available when no Pt1000 measurement setting is involved.</li> </ul>

### **Digital filters**

The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval, wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire	Data refresh interval									
supply frequency filter setting	break detection setting	10 ms* ³	20 ms* ³	50 ms* ³	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50

Unit: Hz

*3: Not available when measurement with Pt1000 is involved.

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee	Product warranty duration	1 year			
conditions	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less			
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after turning on the module			
	The conditions have been specified with after zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p. 372]).				

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Voltage	_	10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±10 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±20 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±50 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±100 μV
		1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±500 μV
		2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±1 mV
		10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±5 mV
		20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±10 mV
		100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±50 mV
		1-5 V f.s.	500 nV	1 V to 5 V	±5 mV

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	К	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Τ	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	Ν	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
1 ,		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C
	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximur resolutio	n on	Measu	urable rai	nge	Meas ac	surer cura						
Thermocouple (Not including	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C		Greater tha 400°C and	an or equa less than	al to 600°C	±5.4°C	;						
reference junction					Greater tha 600°C and	al to 1000°C	±3.7°C	;							
compensation)				-		an or equa d less tha 800°C	al to n or	±2.4°C	,						
	С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C		0°C to 100	°C		±1.7°C	;						
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C		0°C to 500	°C		±1.7°C	;						
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C		0°C to 200	0°C		±1.7°C	;						
Humidity	_	100% RH f.s.	0.1% RH		5.0% RH to 95.0% RH		As per measu accura Z2000 Senso	reme cy of Hum r							
		Humidity accu	racy table												
			¹⁰⁰ / ₉₅ [●] [●] ⁹⁵												
			09 HI (% RH		±10% RH	±8% RH	±10%	RH							
					±8% RH	±6% RH	±8%	RH							
										Relative hum	_	±6% RH	±5% RH	±6%	±6% RH
		0 20 30 50 Temperature (°C) : Out of accuracy guarantee range													
		Each boundar	y line is inc	lude	ed in the be	tter meas	urement	accurac	y are						
Resistance temperature	Pt100	100°C f.s.	0.01°C		-100°C to 100°C			±0.5°C							
detector		500°C f.s.	0.05°C		-200°C to 500°C			±0.7°C	;						
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C		-200°C to 800°C			±0.9°C	;						
	JPt100	100°C f.s.	0.01°C		-100°C to 100°C			±0.5°C	;						
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C		-200°C to	500°C		±0.7°C	;						
	Ditago	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C		-200°C to	500°C		±0.9°C	;						
	Pt1000	100°C f.s.	0.01°C		-100°C to	100°C		±0.5°C	;						
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C		-200°C to 500°C		±0.7°C	;							
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C		-200°C to	800°C		±0.9°C	;						
Resistance	-	10 Ω f.s.	0.5 mΩ		0 Ω to 10 Ω	2		±10 m	Ω						
		20 Ω f.s.	1 mΩ		0 Ω to 20 Ω	2		±20 m	Ω						
		100 Ω f.s.	5 mΩ		0 Ω to 100	Ω		±100 n	nΩ						
		200 Ω f.s.	10 mΩ		0 $\Omega$ to 200	Ω		±200 n	nΩ						

-	internal.
Temperature	Add (me

Add (measurement accuracy × 0.1) per degree to the measurement accuracy figure (for information about the humidity accuracy, see the humidity accuracy table).

characteristics

Normal-mode rejection ratio	<ul> <li>50 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)</li> <li>(With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)</li> </ul>
Common-mode rejection ratio	<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms)</li> <li>140 dB or greater</li> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(With thermocouple wire break detection disabled)</li> </ul>
Effect of radiated radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±5% f.s. (80 MHz to 1 GHz: 10 V/m, 1 GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (Pt100 resistance temperature detector, 100°C f.s. range, 4-wire connection)
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field	5% f.s. At 10 V (Pt100 resistance temperature detector, 100°C f.s. range, 4-wire connection)

# 3. Functionality specifications

LED indication	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	Auto, reset
Auto-connect function	Yes

# LR8532 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger						
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.						
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.						
Operating environment	ndoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)						
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)						
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)						
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A						
Standard compliance	Thermocouples: JIS C1602:2015, IEC 60584-1:2013						
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])						
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with AC Adapter, AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 1.5 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>						
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 9 h (all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)						
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)						
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 106H × 57D mm (6.06"W × 4.17"H × 2.24"D) (including cover)						
Weight	Approx. 388 g (13.7 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)						
Product warranty duration	3 years						
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for the mounting plate)						

•••••

• • • • • • • • • • • • •

Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion)
	C1012 Carrying Case

# 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

## -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	30 channels (Set voltage or thermocouple for each channel.)
Input terminals	Push-button type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage Thermocouples (K, J, E, T, N, R, S, B, C)
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, -) and the enclosure Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	10 M $\Omega$ or greater (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. voltage ranges, all thermocouple ranges) 1 M $\Omega$ ±5% (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. voltage ranges, 1-5 V f.s. voltage range)
Allowable signal source resistance	1 k $\Omega$ or less
Reference junction compensation	Internal/external (user-selectable) (during thermocouple measurement)
Thermocouple wire break detection	The system will check for wire breaks at the date refresh intervals during thermocouple measurement. On/Off (user-selectable) (set for entire module) Detection current: $5 \ \mu A \pm 20\%$ No current flows while acquiring measurement data. (When the data refresh interval is set to 10 ms, the setting is not available. When the data refresh interval is set to 20 ms and 16 channels or more are used, the setting is not available.)
Data refresh interval	<ul> <li>10 ms*¹, 20 ms*², 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s</li> <li>*1: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and between 1 and 15 channels are used.</li> <li>*2: Setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and between 16 and 30 channels are used. Alternatively, setting available when thermocouple wire break detection is enabled and between 1 and 15 channels are used.</li> </ul>

#### **Digital filters**

The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the number of channels used, the data refresh interval, wire break detection setting, and power supply frequency filter setting:

(1) When 15 or fewer channels are used

-: Setting not available

Power	Wire			Data refresh interval							
supply frequency filter setting	break detection setting	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60	60
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50	50
	On	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50

Unit: Hz

-: Setting not available

(2) When between 16 and 30 channels are used

Power	Wire			Data refresh interval							
supply frequency filter setting	break detection setting	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	Off	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60	60
	On	-	_	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	60	60	60
50 Hz	Off	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50	50
	On	-	-	20.8 k	6.94 k	2.98 k	2.37 k	739	50	50	50

Unit: Hz

#### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee	Product warranty duration	1 year			
conditions	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less			
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after turning on the module			
	The conditions have been specified with after zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff frequency set to 50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p. 380]).				

Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Voltage	_	10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±10 μV
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±20 μV
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±50 μV
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±100 μV
		1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±500 μV
		2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±1 mV
		10 V f.s.	500 µV	-10 V to 10 V	±5 mV
		20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±10 mV
		100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±50 mV
		1-5 V f.s.	500 µV	1 V to 5 V	±5 mV

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	К	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 500°C	±0.5°C
				Greater than or equal to 500°C and less than or equal to 1350°C	±0.7°C
	J	100°C f.s. 500°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
			0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1200°C	±0.5°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	E	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±0.9°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1000°C	±0.5°C
	Τ	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.5°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±1.4°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±0.7°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 400°C	±0.5°C

Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
Thermocouple (Not including	Ν	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
accuracy of reference junction compensation)				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 100°C	±0.9°C
, , ,		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±0.9°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to −200°C and less than −100°C	±2.1°C
				Greater than or equal to −100°C and less than 0°C	±1.1°C
				Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than or equal to 1300°C	±0.9°C
	R	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C
	S	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±4.4°C
		500°C f.s.	0.05°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 500°C	±2.2°C
		2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 0°C and less than 100°C	±4.4°C
				Greater than or equal to 100°C and less than 300°C	±2.9°C
				Greater than or equal to 300°C and less than or equal to 1700°C	±2.2°C

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy			
	Thermocouple (Not including accuracy of reference junction compensation)	В	2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	Greater than or equal to 400°C and less than 600°C	±5.4°C			
					Greater than or equal to 600°C and less than 1000°C	±3.7°C			
					Greater than or equal to 1000°C and less than or equal to 1800°C	±2.4°C			
		С	100°C f.s.	0.01°C	0°C to 100°C	±1.7°C			
			500°C f.s.	0.05°C	0°C to 500°C	±1.7°C			
			2000°C f.s.	0.1°C	0°C to 2000°C	±1.7°C			
Reference junction compensation		±0.5°C (with input terminal temperature balancing) Reference junction compensation: Add thermocouple measurement accuracy when set to <i>internal</i> .							
Temper charac	rature teristics	Add (measurement accuracy × 0.1) per degree to the measurement accuracy figure.							
Normal-mode rejection ratio		50 dB or greater (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (when thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and 15 or fewer channels are used)							
Common-mode rejection ratio		<ul> <li>Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less</li> <li>100 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 10 ms)</li> </ul> </li> <li>140 dB or greater <ul> <li>(With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 10 mV f.s.)</li> <li>(When thermocouple wire break detection is disabled and 15 or fewer channels are used)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>							
Effect of radio-free electro	of radiated requency magnetic field	±5% f.s. (8 range)	0 MHz to 1 GHz	:: 10 V/m, 1 G	Hz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (in the 10	V f.s. voltage			
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field		±5% f.s. at 10 V (in the 10 V f.s. voltage range)							

# 3. Functionality specifications

LED indication	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	Auto, reset
Auto-connect function	Yes

••

# LR8533 Wireless High Speed Voltage Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger							
Communication means for control	Nith the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.							
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.							
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)							
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)							
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)							
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A							
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])							
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with AC Adapter, AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 2 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 2.5 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>							
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 9 h (all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)							
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)							
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 106H × 57D mm (6.06"W × 4.17"H × 2.24"D) (including cover)							
Weight	Approx. 370 g (13.1 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)							
Product warranty duration	3 years							
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for the mounting plate)							
Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion) C1012 Carrying Case							

# 2. Input and measurement specifications

## -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	5 channels (voltage only)
Input terminals	M3 screw-type terminal block (2 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover
Measurement target	Voltage
Input type	Scanning by semiconductor relays, floating unbalanced input All channels isolated
A/D resolution	16 bits
Maximum input voltage	±100 V DC
Maximum channel-to- channel voltage	300 V DC
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	300 V AC, DC (Measurement Category II) Between any input channel (+, −) and the enclosure Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V
Input resistance	1 MΩ ±5%
Allowable signal source resistance	100 $\Omega$ or less
Data refresh interval	1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s
Digital filters	The digital filter cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table according to the data refresh interval, and power supply frequency filter setting:

Power						Data re	fresh inte	rval					
supply frequency filter setting	1 ms	2 ms	5 ms	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
60 Hz	50 k	5.4 k	2.6 k	1.0 k	400	200	100	60	60	10	5	5	5
50 Hz	50 k	5.4 k	2.6 k	1.0 k	400	200	100	50	50	10	5	5	5

Unit: Hz

## -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee	Product warranty duration	1 year			
conditions	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less			
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after turning on the module			
	The conditions have been specified with after zero-adjustment finished and the cutoff frequency set to 5 Hz/10 Hz/50 Hz/60 Hz (see cutoff frequency table in "Digital filters" [p.386]).				

	Measurement target	Туре	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy
	Voltage	-	100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±100 μV
			200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±200 μV
			1 V f.s.	50 µV	-1 V to 1 V	±1 mV
			2 V f.s.	100 µV	-2 V to 2 V	±2 mV
			10 V f.s.	500 μV	-10 V to 10 V	±10 mV
			20 V f.s.	1 mV	-20 V to 20 V	±20 mV
			100 V f.s.	5 mV	-100 V to 100 V	±100 mV
			1-5 V f.s.	500 μV	1 V to 5 V	±10 mV
Tempo chara	Temperature characteristics       Add (measurement accuracy × 0.1) per degree to the measurement accuracy figure.					ccuracy figure.
Norma reject	ormal-mode 50 dB or greater (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s) (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s)				a data refresh a data refresh	
Comn reject	common-mode       Signal source resistance of 100 Ω or less         ajection ratio       100 dB or greater         (With 50 Hz/60 Hz input and a data refresh interval of 1 ms)         140 dB or greater         (With 50 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 50 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 100 mV f.s.)         (With 60 Hz input, power supply frequency filter of 60 Hz, and a data refresh interval of 5 s in the 100 mV f.s.)					a data refresh a data refresh
Effect radio- electr	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. ( range)	80 MHz to 1 GH	łz: 10 V/m, 1	GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m) (in the 1	0 V f.s. voltage
Effect radio- electr	of conducted frequency omagnetic field	±5% f.s. a	at 10 V (in the 10	) V f.s. voltage	e range)	

## Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

# 3. Functionality specifications

LED indication	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	Auto, reset
Auto-connect function	Yes

# LR8534 Wireless Strain Unit

# 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger					
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.					
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.					
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)					
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)					
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)					
Standards	SafetyEN 61010EMCEN 61326 Class A					
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])					
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 4.0 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with AC Adapter, AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 3.5 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 4.0 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>					
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 5 h (all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)					
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)					
Dimensions	Approx. 154 W × 106H × 57D mm (6.06"W × 4.17"H × 2.24"D) (including cover)					
Weight	Approx. 372 g (13.1 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)					
Product warranty duration	3 years					
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for mounting plate) Connection confirmation label					

. . . . . . . . . . .

• • • • • • • • • • • •

•

.

Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion)
	C1012 Carrying Case

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

-1. Basic specifications

Number of channels	of input	5 0	5 channels (Set voltage or strain for each channel.)									
Input terr	ninals	M3 Se	M3 screw-type terminal block (5 terminals per channel), outfitted with terminal block cover Set DIP switches according to the measurement target.									
Measure	ment targ	<b>jet</b> Vo	Voltage									
			Strain gage-type converter Strain gage 1-gage method (2-wire setup), 1-gage method (3-wire setup), 2-gage method (adjacent sides), 4-gage method									
Adaptive resistanc	gage e	1-( 4-(	1-gage method, 2-gage method: 120 $\Omega$ (external bridge box required for 350 $\Omega)$ 4-gage method: 120 $\Omega$ to 1 k $\Omega$									
Gage fac	tor Fixed to 2.0											
Bridge vo	oltage	2 \	/ DC ±0.0	)5 V								
Balance	adjustme	nt Inp	Input type Method									
			$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Range} & \mbox{Voltage: } \pm 20 \mbox{ mV or less (1 mV f.s. to 20 mV f.s. ranges),} \\ & \pm 200 \mbox{ mV or less (50 mV f.s. to 200 mV f.s. ranges)} \\ \mbox{Strain: } & \pm 20,000  \mu \epsilon \mbox{ or less (1000 } \mu \epsilon \mbox{ f.s. to 20,000 } \mu \epsilon \mbox{ f.s. ranges),} \\ & \pm 200,000  \mu \epsilon \mbox{ or less (50,000 } \mu \epsilon \mbox{ f.s. to 200,000 } \mu \epsilon \mbox{ f.s. ranges)} \\ \end{array} $									
Input typ	e	Ba	lanced di	fferential	input, no	n-isolated	channels	, simultai	neous s	ampling	of all cl	nannels
A/D reso	ution	16	bits									
Maximun voltage	n input	±0	±0.5 V DC									
Maximun channel	Maximum channel-to- Non-isolated (all channels share common GND) channel voltage											
Maximun to-groun	Maximum rated line- so-ground voltage30 V rms AC or 60 V DC (between each analog input channel and the enclosure)Anticipated transient overvoltage: 330 V											
Input res	Input resistance 2 MΩ ±5%											
Data refr	esh inter	<b>val</b> 1 m	ns, 2 ms,	5 ms, 10	ms, 20 n	ns, 50 ms	, 100 ms,	200 ms,	500 ms	1 s, 2 s	s, 5 s, 1	0 s
Low-pass filter Cutoff frequency -3 dB ±30% Auto, 120, 60, 30, 15, 8, 4 (Hz) Auto: The low-pass filter's cutoff frequency is automatically set as described in the following table based on the set data refresh interval:												
Data refresh interval												
1 ms	2 ms	5 ms	10 ms	20 ms	50 ms	100 ms	200 ms	500 ms	1 s	2 s	5 s	10 s
120 Hz	60 Hz	30 Hz	15 Hz	8 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz	4 Hz
Attenuation 5th-order Butterworth filter, -30 dB/oct characteristics												

## -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee	Product warranty duration	1 year				
conditions	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less				
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes after turning on the module				
	The conditions have been specified with auto-balance finished and the low-pass filter set to 4 kHz.					

#### Measurement range, maximum resolution, measurable range, and measurement accuracy figures

	Measurement target	Range	Maximum resolution	Measurable range	Measurement accuracy*		
	Voltage	1 mV f.s.	50 nV	−1 mV to 1 mV	±9 μV		
		2 mV f.s.	100 nV	-2 mV to 2 mV	±10 μV		
		5 mV f.s.	250 nV	−5 mV to 5 mV	±25 μV		
		10 mV f.s.	500 nV	-10 mV to 10 mV	±50 μV		
		20 mV f.s.	1 µV	-20 mV to 20 mV	±100 μV		
		50 mV f.s.	2.5 μV	−50 mV to 50 mV	±250 μV		
		100 mV f.s.	5 µV	-100 mV to 100 mV	±500 μV		
		200 mV f.s.	10 µV	-200 mV to 200 mV	±1 mV		
	Strain	1,000 με f.s.	0.05 με	−1,000 με to 1,000 με	±9 με		
		2,000 με f.s.	0.1 με	−2,000 με to 2,000 με	±10 με		
		5,000 με f.s.	0.25 με	−5,000 με to 5,000 με	<b>±25</b> με		
		10,000 με f.s.	0.5 με	−10,000 με to 10,000 με	±50 με		
		20,000 με f.s.	1 με	−20,000 με to 20,000 με	±100 με		
		50,000 με f.s.	2.5 με	−50,000 με to 50,000 με	±250 με		
		100,000 με f.s.	5 με	-100,000 με to 100,000 με	±500 με		
		200,000 με f.s.	10 με	–200,000 $\mu\epsilon$ to 200,000 $\mu\epsilon$	±1000 με		
Tempe charae	erature cteristics*	Gain ±0.05% f.s./°C Zero position Voltage: ±1.5 μV/°C Strain: ±1.5 με/°C					
Built-i resista	n bridge ance accuracy	Tolerance: ±0.01% <b>cy</b> Temperature characteristics: ±2 ppm/°C					
Comn rejecti	<b>mmon-mode</b> 100 dB or greater with a signal source resistance of 300 $\Omega$ or less (for 50 Hz/60 H ection ratio				r 50 Hz/60 Hz input)		
Effect radio- electro	of radiated frequency omagnetic field	$\pm$ 50% f.s. (80 MHz to 1 GHz: 10 V/m; 1 GHz to 6 GHz: 3 V/m, in the 5000 $\mu_{\epsilon}$ f.s. strain range with the low-pass filter enabled at 4 Hz)					
Effect	of conducted	±5% f.s. at 10 V					

(in the 5000  $\mu\epsilon$  f.s. strain range with the low-pass filter enabled at 4 Hz)

*: Does not include built-in bridge resistance tolerance and temperature characteristics.

radio-frequency

electromagnetic field
LED indication	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	Auto, reset
Auto-connect function	Yes

## 3. Functionality specifications

## LR8535 Wireless CAN Unit

### 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger			
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, wirelessly communicate to the LR8450-01.			
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.			
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)			
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)			
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)			
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A			
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])			
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming ±10% voltage fluctuation of the rated supply voltage) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 28 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 4.0 VA (instrument only, with the battery removed)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with AC Adapter, AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power: 3.5 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (external power supply 30 V DC, while charging battery) Normal power consumption: 4.0 VA (external power supply 12 V DC, with the battery removed)</li> </ul>			
Continuous operating time	When using the Z1007 Battery Pack Approx. 10 h (when not using any Non-Contact CAN Sensors, all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C) Approx. 5 h (when using two Non-Contact CAN Sensors, all data refresh intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)			
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is attached and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)			
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 106H × 48D mm (6.06″W × 4.17″H × 1.89″D) (not including protruding parts)			
Weight	Approx. 355 g (12.5 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)			
Product warranty duration	3 years			
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for mounting plate)			

. . . . . . . . . . .

• • • • • • • • • • • •

•

.

Options	9713-01 CAN Cable
	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter
	Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter
	Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord)
	Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion)
	C1012 Carrying Case
	SP7001-95 Non-Contact CAN Sensor

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

### -1. Basic specifications

Number of CAN ports	2 ports			
Input terminal	D-sub 9-pin male ×2			
	$\bigcirc \left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			
		Pin Assignment Functionality		
		1	N.C.	Unused
		2	CAN_L	CAN_L communications line
		3	GND	Ground
		4	N.C.	Unused
		5	N.C.	Unused
		6	N.C.	Unused
		7	CAN_H	CAN_H communications line
		8	N.C.	Unused
		9	N.C.	Unused
Power supply receptacle	USB port (Series A receptacle) ×2 For exclusively supplying power to Hioki Non-Contact CAN Sensor			
Interface	Supported protocols CAN (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant) CAN FD (ISO 11898-1:2015 compliant) CAN FD (non-ISO)			
	Physical layer ISO 11898 (High Speed)			
Terminator	Can be enabled/disabled for each port. Resistance value: 120 $\Omega$ ±10 $\Omega$			
ACT LED	Displays the CAN bus operating status.			
TERM LED	Illuminates when the terminator is enabled.			
Data refresh interval	10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s			
Baud rate	CAN, CAN FD (arbitration)			
	CAN F	: 50k, D (data): 0.5M	oz.ək, 83.3K, 100K, 1 , 1M, 2M, 2.5M, 4M,	2οκ, 2ουκ, ουυκ, αυυκ, 1000κ [Baud] 5M [Baud]
Sampling point	CAN, CAN FD (arbitration): 50.0% to 95.0% CAN FD (data): 50.0% to 95.0%			
ACK	The ACK response when receiving CAN data can be enabled/disabled.			
Operating mode	Only receive mode is supported.			

### -2. Receive mode specifications

Number of channels	Data refresh interval 10 ms: Up to 50 channels (up to 50 signals) Data refresh interval 20 ms: Up to 100 channels (up to 100 signals) Data refresh interval 50 ms: Up to 250 channels (up to 250 signals) Data refresh interval 100 ms or longer: Up to 500 channels (up to 500 signals)
Receive ID count	Function for recording the number of times a target ID is received during a data refresh interval

## 3. Functionality specifications

Wireless status LED indicators	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter- / external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status		
Operation keys	Auto, reset		
Auto-connect function	Yes		

...

## LR8536 Wireless Current Module

### 1. General specifications

Compatible logger	LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger		
Communication means for control	With the Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter (accessory) attached, while wirelessly communicating to the LR8450-01.		
Communication buffer memory	4 Mwords (volatile memory) If a communication error occurs, data can be retained. The retained data will be resent after the communications recover.		
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)		
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing) (Charging temperature range: 5°C to 35°C)		
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)		
Standards	Safety EN 61010 EMC EN 61326 Class A		
Vibration resistance	JIS D 1601:1995 5.3 (1) Class 1: Passenger vehicles; conditions: Class A equivalent (4 h along X-axis and 2 h along Y- and Z-axes at a vibration acceleration of 45 m/s ² [4.6 G])		
Power supply	<ul> <li>Z1008 AC Adapter (12 V DC) Rated supply voltage: 100 V to 240 V AC (assuming voltage fluctuation of ±10%) Rated power-supply frequency: 50 Hz/60 Hz Anticipated transient overvoltage: 2500 V Maximum rated power: 25 VA (including AC Adapter) Normal power consumption: 2.9 W (with the CT7822 connected to all channels, measuring a current of 10 A rms, with no battery inserted)</li> <li>Z1007 Battery Pack (When used with the AC Adapter, the AC Adapter has priority.) Maximum rated power. 3.5 VA</li> <li>External power supply Rated supply voltage: 10 V to 30 V DC Maximum rated power: 8 VA (a voltage of 30 V DC supplied externally, while charing battery)</li> <li>Normal power consumption: 2.4 VA (with the CT7822 connected to all channels, measuring a current of 10 A rms, with no battery inserted)</li> </ul>		
Continuous operating time	When Z1007 Battery Pack is used Approx. 5 h (when refreshing all data at the regular intervals, communications in good condition, reference value at 23°C)		
Charging functionality	Charging is available when the Z1007 Battery Pack is inserted and either the AC Adapter or an external power supply (10 V to 30 V DC) is connected. Charging time: Approx. 7 h (reference value at 23°C)		
Dimensions	Approx. 154W × 115H × 48D mm (6.06"W × 4.53"H × 1.89"D) (excluding protrusion)		
Weight	Approx. 377 g (13.3 oz., including Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter)		
Product warranty period	3 years		
Accessories	Z3230/Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Instruction Manual Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Mounting plate M3×4 screws ×2 (for mounting plate) Caps ×5		

Options	Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter Z1008 AC Adapter (3-prong grounded-type [2-pole] power cord) Z1007 Battery Pack (Li-ion) C1012 Carrying Case L0220-01 Extension Cable (2 m) L0220-02 Extension Cable (5 m) L0220-03 Extension Cable (10 m)
---------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

## 2. Input, output, and measurement specifications

### -1. Basic specifications

Number of input channels	5 channels			
Measurement target	Current (using optional current sensors)			
Input type	Isolated input by current sensor, simultaneous sampling of all channels			
Input terminals	Dedicated connector (Hioki PL14)			
Applicable current sensors	CT7812AC/DC Current Sensor (rated current: 2 A)CT7822AC/DC Current Sensor (rated current: 20 A)CT7126AC Current Sensor (rated current: 60 A)CT7131AC Current Sensor (rated current: 100 A)CT7136AC Current Sensor (rated current: 600 A)CT7044AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 100 mm)CT7045AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 180 mm)CT7046AC Flexible Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A, diameter: 254 mm)CT7731AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 100 A)CT7736AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 6000 A)CT7742AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor (rated current: 2000 A)CT7746AC Leakage Current Sensor (rated current: 600 A)			
Measurement range	200 mA, 2 A (CT7812) 500 mA, 5 A (CT7116) 2 A, 20 A (CT7822) 5 A, 50 A (CT7126) 100 A (CT7131, CT7731) 50 A, 500 A (CT7136, CT7736) 200 A, 2000 A (CT7742) 50 A, 500 A, 5000 A (CT7044, CT7045, CT7046)			
Response time for instantaneous values	150 μs (step input, 90% of final value, design value)			
Frequency characteristics for RMS values	DC to 5 kHz (-3 dB)			
Response time for RMS values	0.8 s (step input, time required for a measured value to fall within the accuracy specification range, design value)			
A/D resolution	16 bits			
Input resistance	1 MΩ ±10%			
Power for current sensors	+5 V ±0.25 V, -5 V ±0.25 V			
Maximum measurable current	130% of each range or the maximum measurable current of a current sensor to be connected, whichever is less			
Maximum rated line- to-ground voltage	Not isolated			
Data refresh interval	1 ms, 2 ms, 5 ms, 10 ms, 20 ms, 50 ms, 100 ms, 200 ms, 500 ms, 1 s, 2 s, 5 s, 10 s			
Measurement items	Instantaneous value, RMS value (switchable)			

RMS value measuring method	The RMS-value IC calculates real RMS values according to measured AC+DC values.
Low-pass filter	OFF, 220 Hz (−3 dB) Available for measurement of instantaneous values and RMS values

### -2. Accuracy specifications

Accuracy guarantee conditions	Product warranty period	1 years		
	Accuracy guarantee temperature and humidity range	23°C ±5°C (73°F ±9°F), 80% RH or less		
	Warm-up time	At least 30 minutes		
	After zero adjustment DC input for instantaneous values, sine wave input for RMS values			
	Extendable length	Up to 10 m		
Accuracy guarantee range	Instantaneous values ±120% of each range or the upper limit of the accuracy guarantee range of a current sensor to be connected, whichever is narrower RMS value 5% to 100% of each range			

### Combinational accuracy with CT7812 AC/DC Current Sensor

Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
2.0000 A	0.0002 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.0037 A
200.0 mA	0.1 mA	±0.38% rdg ±2.4 mA

RMS value

Range Resolution	Pasalution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
2.0000 A	0.0002 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.0125 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.0125 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.0125 A
200.0 mA	0.1 mA	±1.1% rdg ±11.4 mA	±1.3% rdg ±11.4 mA	±2.1% rdg ±11.4 mA

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7822 AC/DC Current Sensor

Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
20.000 A	0.002 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.037 A
2.000 A	0.001 A	±0.38% rdg ±0.024 A

RMS value

Range Resolution	Pasalution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
20.000 A	0.002 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.046 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.04 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.046 A
2.000 A	0.001 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.035 A	±1.3% rdg ±0.029 A	±2.1% rdg ±0.035 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

10

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7731 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.08% rdg ±0.58 A

#### RMS value

	Danga	Pasalution	Combi	national accuracy for RMS values
Range Resolution		Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz
	100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.8% rdg ±2.16 A	±3% rdg ±2.16 A (I ≤ 80 A) ±3.5% rdg ±2.16 A (80 A < I ≤ 100 A)

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

### Combinational accuracy with CT7736 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor

Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.08% rdg ±3.6 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.08% rdg ±3.06 A

#### RMS value

Range Resolution	Peoplution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.8% rdg ±4.8 A	±4% rdg ±4.8 A	±4.6% rdg ±4.8 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.8% rdg ±4.16 A	±4% rdg ±4.16 A	±4.6% rdg ±4.16 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7742 AC/DC Auto-Zero Current Sensor Instantaneous values

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for instantaneous values	
2000.0 A	0.2 A	±1.58% rdg ±11.7 A	
200.0 A	0.1 A	±1.58% rdg ±10.4 A	

### RMS value

Range Resolution	Pasalution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values			
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz		
2000.0 A	0.2 A	±2.8% rdg ±18.7 A	$\pm 3.5\%$ rdg $\pm 28.7$ A (I $\leq 1800$ A) $\pm 4.0\%$ rdg $\pm 28.7$ A (1800 A $<$ I $\leq 2000$ A)	±4.1% rdg ±28.7 A	
200.0 A	0.1 A	±2.3% rdg ±17.6 A	±3.5% rdg ±27.6 A	±4.1% rdg ±27.6 A	

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7126 AC Current Sensor

RMS value

Banga	Peoplution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
Range Resolutio	Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
50.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.09 A	±2% rdg ±0.09 A	±2.6% rdg ±0.09 A
5.000 A	0.001 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.022 A	±2% rdg ±0.022 A	±2.6% rdg ±0.022 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

#### Combinational accuracy with CT7131 AC Current Sensor RMS value

Range	Posolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz
100.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.18 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.18 A	±2.4% rdg ±0.18 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

### Combinational accuracy with CT7136 AC Current Sensor

RMS value

Range Resolution	Decolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values		
	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz	
500.0 A	0.1 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.9 A	±1.8% rdg ±1 A	±2.4% rdg ±1 A
50.00 A	0.01 A	±1.1% rdg ±0.22 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.28 A	±2.4% rdg ±0.28 A

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

### Combinational accuracy with CT7044/CT7045/CT7046 AC Flexible Current Sensor RMS value

Range	Resolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values	
		45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	
5000 A	1 A	±2.3% rdg ±33 A	
500.0 A	0.1 A	±2.3% rdg ±3.3 A	
50.00 A	0.01 A	±2.3% rdg ±2.66 A	

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

### Combinational accuracy with CT7116 AC Leakage Current Sensor

RMS value

Banga	Decolution	Combinational accuracy for RMS values				
Range	Resolution	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 66 Hz	66 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz		
5.000 A	0.001 A	±1.8% rdg ±0.011 A	±4% rdg ±0.014 A	±4.6% rdg ±0.014 A		
500.0 mA	0.1 mA	±1.8% rdg ±4.6 mA	±4% rdg ±7.6 mA	±4.6% rdg ±7.6 mA		

The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

10

### Accuracy of the module only

Range	Measurement accuracy for instantaneous values	
1	±0.08% of reading ±8 dgt	
2-L (×5)	±0.08% of reading ±17 dgt	
2-H (×10)	±0.08% of reading ±4 dgt	
5-L (×1)	±0.08% of reading ±6 dgt	
5-H (×10)	±0.08% of reading ±6 dgt	

	Accuracy guarantee frequency range							
Range	45 Hz ≤ f ≤ 100 Hz	100 Hz < f ≤ 500 Hz	500 Hz < f ≤ 1 kHz					
	Measurement accuracy for RMS values							
1	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					
2-L (×5)	±0.8% of reading ±27 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±27 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±27 dgt					
2-H (×10)	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					
5-L (×1)	±0.8% of reading ±8 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±8 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±8 dgt					
5-H (×10)	±0.8% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.0% of reading ±16 dgt	±1.6% of reading ±16 dgt					

Accuracy is not guaranteed for a measurement signal frequency of 1 kHz or more.
The symbol f in the above table denotes the measurement signal frequency.

Temperature characteristics	When the instrument is used at temperatures outside the accuracy guarantee temperature range, add the following value to the measurement accuracy. Measurement accuracy for instantaneous values: $\Delta T \times 0.1 \times (measurement accuracy of each range)$ Measurement accuracy for RMS values: $\Delta T \times 0.1 \times (measurement accuracy of each range, depending on the frequency)$ $\Delta T$ : Temperature difference between the operating temperature and the upper or lower limit of the accuracy guarantee temperature range (°C)
Effect of radiated radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±25% f.s. (Test level: 10 V/m for a frequency range of 80 MHz to 1 GHz, 3 V/m for a frequency range of 1 GHz to 6 GHz) Add the influence value of the sensor if the specification of the sensor lists it.
Effect of conducted radio-frequency electromagnetic field	±5% f.s. (Test level: 10 V) Add the influence value of the sensor if the specification of the sensor lists it.

### 3. Functionality specifications

LED indicators	Wireless connection, measurement status, error status, AC Adapter-/external power supply-powered operation, battery-powered operation, battery-charging status
Operation keys	AUTO, RESET
Auto-connect function	Yes

### 4. Interface specifications

Connector	Dedicated interface (Hioki PL14)
-----------	----------------------------------

. . . .

# **10.4 Specifications of Other Options**

## Z3230 Wireless LAN Adapter, Z3231 Wireless LAN Adapter

Product warranty duration	3 years
Applicable modules	LR8530 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit LR8531 Wireless Universal Unit LR8532 Wireless Voltage/Temp Unit LR8533 Wireless High Speed Voltage Unit LR8534 Wireless Strain Unit LR8535 Wireless CAN Unit LR8536 Wireless Current Module
Wireless specifications	Wireless LAN (IEEE802.11b/g/n) Communication distance: 30 m (line-of-sight) Encryption functionality: WPA-PSK/WPA2-PSK, TKIP/AES Available channels: between 1 and 11
Operating environment	Indoor use, pollution degree 2, altitude up to 2000 m (6562 ft.)
Operating temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 55°C (−4°F to 131°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 60°C (−4°F to 140°F), 80% RH or less (non-condensing)
Dimensions	Approx. 34W × 38H × 15D mm (1.34"W × 1.5"H × 0.59"D) (including connector)
Weight	Approx. 13 g (0.5 oz.)
Standards	SafetyEN 61010EMCEN 61326Class A
Accessories	Instruction Manual

## Z5040 Fixed Stand

Product warranty duration	3 years
Applicable logger	LR8450/LR8450-01 Memory HiLogger
Dimensions	Approx. 312W × 145H × 45D mm (12.28"W × 5.71"H × 1.77"D)
Weight	Approx. 560 g (19.8 oz.)
Accessories	Instruction Manual Binding head screws (M3×5) ×2

10

## Z2000 Humidity Sensor

	36	1150	)  •••••					
Product warranty duration	1 yea	ar						
Accuracy guarantee duration	1 yea	ar						
Accuracy guarantee range	5.0% RH to 95.0% RH							
Measurement accuracy	As po appli	As per the following humidity accuracy table. (Including the measurement accuracy of applicable models)						
	Ω -	95	100/ DU		100/ DU	9		
	ч К	80	±10% RH	±0% KH	±10% RH	-		
	ity (9	60	±8% RH	±6% RH	±8% RH			
	Relative humid	5	±6% RH	±5% RH	±6% RH			
			) "	20 30	) 5	<b>1</b> 50		
		Temperature (°C)						
	Each boundary line is included in the better measurement accuracy area.					rement accuracy area.		
Operating temperature and humidity range	0°C to 50°C (32°F to 122°F), 100% RH or less (non-condensing)							
Storage temperature and humidity range	−20°C to 70°C (−4°F to 158°F), 90% RH or less (non-condensing)							
Cord	Approx. 3 m							
Dimensions	Approx. 44.0W × 19.5H × 10.1D mm (1.73"W × 0.77"H × 0.40"D) (including connector)							
Weight	Appr	ох. 5	5.0 g (1.9 oz, in	cluding 3	m-long cord)			

## **11.1 Measuring Temperature**

This section provides precautionary information related to thermocouples, which are widely used to measure temperature.

### Choosing the right thermocouple

The following thermocouples can be used with the instrument:

Thermocouple	Temper for which defined b IEC 60	rature h tole by JIS 0584-	e range rance is 5 C 1602, 1 (°C)	Characteristics
К	-40	to	1200	Has a linear relationship between temperature and thermal electromotive force; the most widely used in industrial applications.
J	-40	to	750	Has the second-highest electromotive force per degree of temperature, after E thermocouples.
E	-40	to	900	Has the highest thermal electromotive force per degree of temperature, which allows effects of noise to be reduced.
Т	-40	to	350	Has high electromotive force in the low-temperature domain (-40°C to 350°C). Is used to make precise measurements in the low-temperature domain.
N	-40	to	1200	Exhibits stable thermal electromotive force from low to high temperatures. Is used to make measurements in the high-temperature domain at low cost.
R	0	0 to 1600		Is used to make measurements in the high-temperature domain.
S				Offers excellent oxidation and chemical resistance, but at high cost.
В	600	to	1700	Is used to make measurements in higher temperature domains than R and S thermocouples. Cannot make measurements in the low- and medium-temperature domain due to its extremely low electromotive force.
С	426	to	2315	Can make measurements at the highest temperatures.

K and E thermocouples exhibit a physical phenomenon known as short range ordering in which thermal electromotive force increases gradually from 250°C to 600°C, producing a large error in a comparatively short period of time (1 h or less). This unavoidable phenomenon is caused by the device's physical characteristics. Once a thermocouple's thermal electromotive force has increased, it will not return to its normal value, even if the temperature falls. In order to return to the original thermal electromotive force curve, the temperature must rise to at least 650°C. Choose the appropriate thermocouple after checking with the manufacturer.

### Error caused by thermocouple heat dissipation

When a thermocouple is applied to a surface, heat dissipates (is conducted) from the measurement target via the thermocouple. If heat under measurement is excessively conducted through a thermocouple, the measured value will not reflect the actual temperature.

Of K and T thermocouples, the latter is characterized by higher heat dissipation due to its superior thermal conductivity.

The larger the thermocouple's diameter, the greater its heat dissipation.

When measuring the temperature of small components, it is recommended to use a small-diameter K thermocouple.

### Ensuring the thermocouple is securely affixed to the measurement target

To measure temperature with a high degree of precision, ensure that the tip of the thermocouple is securely affixed to the measurement target.

If the thermocouple junction is insufficiently placed into contact with a measurement target, the heat cannot conduct to the thermocouple, with the result that the measured value will not reflect the actual temperature.

When measuring a large measurement target, you can reduce the amount of heat dissipated from the thermocouple by ensuring that more than just the tip of the thermocouple is in contact with the measurement target.

## **11.2 Measuring Strain**

For information about the connection of strain gages see "Connecting a strain gage or converter" in the Quick Start Manual. .

. . . . . . . . . . .

### Tension and compression on a single axis

Gage method	Bridge circuit diagram	Connection to U8554 or LR8534
1-gage method (2-wire)* ¹	Rg Output voltage e Applied voltage E $e = \varepsilon$ ( $\varepsilon$ : Strain)	This is the most typical connection method Rg DIP switch OFF ON ON 1 2 3
1-gage method (3-wire)* ¹	$e = \varepsilon (\varepsilon: Strain)$	This connection method cancels the effects of temperature on the strain gage wiring. Rg DIP switch OFF ON OFF 1 2 3
2-gage method (adjacent side) (active dummy method)* ¹ Active gage Rg, Dummy gage	$e = \varepsilon (\varepsilon: \text{Strain})$	In this connection method, a reference strain gage is affixed to a specimen made of the same material as the measurement target that is not being subjected to stress. Apparent strain resulting from temperature changes is measured using the reference gage and canceled out. $Rg_1 \longrightarrow Rg_2 \longrightarrow DIP \text{ switch} \\ \hline ON & ON & OFF \\ \hline 1 & 2 & 3 \\ \hline \end{bmatrix}$

*1: Must be corrected using (1,000,000 × measured value) / (1,000,000 - measured value). The scaling function cannot be used to perform correction. Instead, perform correction using the waveform calculation function.

Example: True strain value if the instrument measures a strain value of 50,000  $\mu\epsilon$  while using the 1-gage/2-wire method

$$\varepsilon_{i} = \frac{(1,000,000 \times \varepsilon)}{(1,000,000 - \varepsilon)} = \frac{(1,000,000 \times 50,000)}{(1,000,000 - 50,000)} = \frac{50,000 \times 10^{6}}{950,000} \approx 52632 \ (\mu\epsilon)$$

 $\epsilon_i$ : True strain value

 $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$  : Strain value measured by instrument



*2: Must be corrected using (2,000,000 × measured value) / (4,000,000 - 2 × measured value). The scaling function cannot be used to perform correction. Instead, perform correction using the waveform calculation function.

Example: True strain value if the instrument measures a strain value of 100,000  $\mu\epsilon$  while using the active dummy (4-wire) method

$$\epsilon_{i} = \frac{(2,000,000 \times \epsilon)}{(4,000,000 - 2 \times \epsilon)} = \frac{(2,000,000 \times 100,000)}{(4,000,000 - 2 \times 100,000)} = \frac{200,000 \times 10^{6}}{3,800,000} \approx 52632 \ (\mu\epsilon)$$

 $\epsilon_i$ : True strain value

 $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$  : Strain value measured by instrument

### Example waveform calculation settings

For footnote *1 W1 = (-1 * U1-1) + 1MW2 = (1M * U1-1) / (1 * W1)W2 indicates the calculation result. The above calculations cannot be combined into a single setting.

## **Bending stress**

Gage method	Bridge circuit diagram	Connection to U8554 or LR8534
2-gage method (adjacent sides) (bending strain)	$R_{g_1}$ $R_{g_2}$ $R_{g_2}$ $Contraction Contraction Contractio$	In this connection method, the strain gage is affixed to the top and bottom surfaces. This approach makes it possible to measure bending strain alone, without the effects of tension or compression strain. Use a scaling conversion ratio slope of 1/2. $Rg_1 \prod_{T} Rg_2 $
4-gage method (bending strain)	$e = 4\varepsilon$	This connection method is not affected by temperature changes of the measurement target or tension/compression strain. Use a scaling conversion ratio slope of 1/4. $Rg_{4}$ $Rg_{1}$ $Rg_{2}$ $Rg_{3}$ $DIP \text{ switch}$ $ON \text{ OFF OFF}$ $1 \text{ 2 3}$

## **Torsional stress**

Gage method	Bridge circuit diagram	Remarks
2-gage method (adjacent side) (torsion strain)	$e = 2\varepsilon$	When measuring strain in the rotational direction, two strain gages are offset so that they intersect at an angle of 90°. Use a scaling conversion ratio slope of 1/2. $Rg_1 \qquad Rg_2 \qquad DIP \text{ switch} \\ \hline ON  ON  OFF \\ \hline 1  2  3 \\ \hline \end{bmatrix}$
4-gage method (torsion strain)	$e = 4\varepsilon$	This connection method is not affected by temperature changes of the measurement target or tension/compression/bending strain. Use a scaling conversion ratio slope of 1/4. $Rg_4$ $Rg_4$ $Rg_2$ $Rg_3$ $DIP \text{ switch}$ $ON  OFF  OFF$ $1  2  3$

**Tips** Even in measurements that are affected by temperature, you can compensate for temperature by using a self-temperature-compensated strain gage. Longer wires are more susceptible to the effects of temperature. Long wiring runs make lead wires susceptible to the effects of temperature. You can make measurements with a high degree of precision by using wireless modules to shorten wiring lengths.

For information about self temperature-compensated strain gages, contact your strain gage's manufacturer.

### Converting values to stress

Multiply Young's modulus by the measured value.

 $\sigma$  (stress) = E (Young's modulus) ×  $\epsilon$  (measured value)

### Example: When measuring compression stress

For an aluminum measurement target being measured using the 1-gage method, the following table indicates a Young's modulus value of 73 (GPa).

. . . . . . . . .

 $\sigma$  = 73 × 10⁹ × measured value × 10⁻⁶ (measured value unit:  $\mu$ _E)

= 73 × measured value (unit: kPa)

= 7.44* × measured value (unit: gf/mm²)

*: 1 Pa =  $1.01971621 \times 10^{-7} \text{ kgf/mm}^2$ 

Conversion ratio = 7.44; unit: gf/mm² Set the scaling conversion ratio's slope to this value. See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).

### Mechanical properties of industrial materials

Material	Longitudinal elasticity modulus (Young's modulus) E (GPa)	Poisson's ratio
Carbon copper (C 0.1% to 0.25%)	205	0.28 to 0.3
Carbon copper (C >0.25%)	206	0.28 to 0.3
Spring steel (tempered)	206 to 211	0.28 to 0.3
Nickel steel	205	0.28 to 0.3
Cast iron	98	0.2 to 0.29
Brass (cast)	78	0.34
Phosphor bronze	118	0.38
Aluminum	73	0.34
Concrete	20 to 29	0.1

See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).

### Auto-balancing

You can execute auto-balance (correcting the input at zero) for strain gage channels. See p.37.

### Correcting for wiring resistance

When using long strain gage wires, measurement is affected by their wiring resistance. True strain values and strain values measured by the instrument are related as shown below. You can use the scaling function to correct strain values. Set the conversion ratio slope to (R + rL) / R.

$$\varepsilon_i = \frac{R + rL}{R} \times \varepsilon$$

- $\varepsilon_i$ : True strain value
- ε: Strain value measured by instrument
- *R*: Strain gage resistance value ( $\Omega$ )
- *r*: Round-trip resistance value per 1 m of wire  $(\Omega/m)$ For 3-wire setup, one-way resistance value  $(\Omega/m)$
- *L*: Wire length (m)

### **Example settings**

Tips

If using a strain gage with a wiring length of 5 m and a round-trip resistance value of 0.07  $\Omega$  per meter (with a gage resistance of 120  $\Omega$  and a gage ratio of 2.00) with a 1-gage method/2-wire connection

$$\varepsilon_{i} = \frac{120 + 0.07 \times 5}{120} \times \varepsilon = \frac{120.35}{120} \times \varepsilon \qquad \begin{array}{c} \varepsilon_{i}: & \text{True strain value} \\ \varepsilon: & \text{Strain value measured by instrument} \\ \approx 1.003 \times \varepsilon \end{array}$$

Set the scaling conversion ratio's slope to 1.003. See "1.7 Using the Scaling Function" (p.60).

If the instrument (LR8450, -01) and measurement target are located far apart, necessitating long wiring, you can reduce error caused by wiring resistance by placing a Wireless Strain Module (LR8534) close to the measurement target to minimize wiring length.

## Correcting for gage factor

### If using a strain gage with a gage factor other than 2.0

The U8554 and LR8534 measure strain with a gage factor of 2.0. If using a strain gage with a gage factor other than 2.0, perform the following conversion to set the

$$\varepsilon_{i} = \frac{2.00}{K_{a}} \times \varepsilon$$

$$\varepsilon_{i}: \text{True strain value}$$

$$\varepsilon: \text{Strain value measured by instrument}$$

$$K_{a}: \text{ Gage factor of strain gage being used}$$

### **Example settings**

If using a strain gage with a gage factor of 2.10

scaling function's conversion ratio slope:

$$\varepsilon_i = \frac{2.00}{K_a} \times \varepsilon = \frac{2.00}{2.10} \times \varepsilon = 0.952 \times \varepsilon$$

Set the scaling conversion ratio's slope to 0.952.

11

## **11.3 Wireless Module Communications Range**

The communications range between the LR8450-01 and wireless modules is about 30 m (line of sight).

If there are obstructions between the two devices (for example, walls, metal shielding, etc.), communications may become unstable, and the communications range may be reduced. Devices exhibit variability in radio field intensity (as shown by the antenna indicator), even in the same environment.

Placing the LR8450-01 and its wireless modules on the floor or ground will reduce the communications range.

The communications range can be extended by moving the devices away from the floor or ground, for example by placing them on a workbench or stand.



## **11.4 Digital filter characteristics**

The U8550, U8551, U8552, U8553, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532, and LR8533 have a digital filter. The cutoff frequency is set automatically based on the measurement module type, number of channels in use, data refresh interval, power supply frequency filter, and wire break detection setting.

If you need to reject the power supply's line frequency, you can obtain a high level of noise rejection performance by setting the cutoff frequency so that it matches the power supply's line frequency. For more information about the cutoff frequency, see the sections about individual modules' digital filters in "10.2 Plug-in Module Specifications" (p.331).

The following figures offer a typical example of the digital filter characteristics for the U8550 Voltage/Temp Module when using a data refresh interval of 10 s:

#### 0 -20 -40 -60 -80 Gain (dB) -100 -120 -140 -160 -180 -200 50 0 100 150 200 250 300 Frequency (Hz)

### Cutoff frequency: 50 Hz





Knowledge and Information

## **11.5 Noise Countermeasures**

This section describes how to deal with a noisy environment.

### Noise contamination mechanisms

### **Noise sources**

Manufacturing plants use large currents at 50 Hz/60 Hz as a source of power. Many loads are characterized by an inductive load, for example motors and solenoids. Equipment such as inverters and high-frequency induction furnaces uses capacitor input-type switching power supplies that carry large pulsed currents. Fundamental frequency component leakage currents, harmonic currents, and other components flow together on ground lines.

### Noise propagation routes

- Routes by which common-mode voltage between the measurement target and instrument ground leaks to input signal lines
- Routes by which an alternating field is coupled to a loop in the input signal line by the power supply line current
- Routes created by coupling due to capacitance between the input signal lines and power supply lines

### Common-mode noise

Noise occurring between the instrument's positive and negative input terminals and ground

### Normal-mode noise

Line noise occurring between the instrument's positive and negative input terminals

### Example of a connection that is susceptible to the effects of noise



When measuring temperature with a thermocouple, the circuit will be susceptible to noise unless both the device under measurement and the measurement module have been grounded. This is not an issue when powering the measurement module with the battery, but ground the measurement module if using the AC Adapter.

### Equivalent circuit for a noise contamination route

Noise such as the following directly affects measured values as normal-mode voltage.

- Electromagnetic induction noise that occurs when an alternating field generated by an inverter or commercial power line is coupled with an instrument's input line loop
- Electrostatic induction noise caused by capacitive coupling between wires



that flows due to difference in grounding potentials

Common-mode noise is caused by ground impedance that is interposed between the ground points of the device under measurement and the measurement module and capacitive coupling between ground lines and noise sources.

Common-mode noise is converted into a normal-mode voltage (Enm) between the instrument's positive and negative input terminals when noise currents  $(i_1, i_2)$  flow to coupled impedances  $(Z_1, Z_2)$  between the measurement module's positive and negative input terminals and the ground. Since the voltage occurs between the input terminals, measured values are directly affected.

## Example noise countermeasures

### Ensuring devices are grounded reliably

- Ground the instrument and wireless modules reliably. You can ground the chassis by connecting the AC Adapter's two-prong grounded-type (2-pole) power cord to an outlet with a grounding electrode.
- Ensure the measurement target's chassis is grounded reliably. Ensure the measurement target's chassis is reliably connected to a suitable ground.



• Power the instrument and wireless modules with batteries.

You can reduce the effects of common-mode noise by powering the devices with batteries (without connecting their AC Adapters) so that the earth current loop is eliminated.

### Common-mode noise countermeasures



Connect the chassis GND on the signal side to a suitable ground with adequately low grounding resistance.

Either connect to a ground line with low resistance or bypass the grounding electrodes. This will limit the common-mode voltage and reduce noise current  $(i_1, i_2)$ . The effect on measured values will be reduced since normal-mode voltage is limited.

### Blocking external noise

Keep signal lines away from noise sources.
 Keep input signal lines (thermocouples) away

Keep input signal lines (thermocouples) away from wires that could serve as sources of noise (power lines, etc.).

Alternatively, install devices so that wires are kept as far apart as possible, for example by running wires through separate ducts.

• Use shielded twisted-pair wire.

One effective way to counteract common-mode noise is to use shielded twisted-pair wires for input signal lines (thermocouples).

Twisted-pair wires prevent electromagnetic induction, while shielded wires prevent electrostatic induction.

Ground shielded wires at the signal source.

For more information about shielded twisted-pair wires for thermocouples, contact the thermocouple manufacturer.

### Normal-mode noise countermeasures



Keep signal lines (thermocouples) away from wires that could serve as sources of noise (power supply lines, etc.). Furthermore, you can block capacitive coupling by shielding and grounding signal lines.

Isolate circuits from sources of noise (measure temperature using thermocouples).
 Input channels are isolated from the enclosure and from each other. You can measure a conductor with a potential by directly affixing a thermocouple, up to the maximum rated line-to-ground voltage.

Effective methods for dealing with the effects of noise include wrapping the thermocouple in highheat-resistance tape to insulate it or isolating input lines with non-grounded thermocouples.

• Use a filter.

You can reject noise that has contaminated input signals by using the power supply frequency filter.

It is recommended to select the same frequency (50 Hz or 60 Hz) as the power supply frequency in the region where the instrument is being used.

See "7.1 Configuring Settings" (p.216).

The U8554 and LR8534 provide a low-pass filter. Set the low-pass filter's cutoff frequency so that it's lower than the power supply frequency.

### Adding capacitors to signal lines

An effective way to address noise caused by superposed signal sources or high-frequency pulses is to insert a capacitor between the positive and negative input terminals. The capacitor will keep the noise out of the device's internal circuitry.

Use a capacitor whose rated voltage is greater than the voltage being input.

Since the filter is applied before channels are scanned, there are no limitations on the data refresh interval.



## 11.6 Scan Timing

The following modules acquire data by using relays to switch and scan input channels:

- U8550 Voltage/Temp Module
- U8551 Universal Module
- U8552 Voltage/Temp Module
- U8553 High Speed Voltage Unit
- LR8530 Wireless Voltage/Temp Module
- LR8531 Wireless Universal Module
- LR8532 Wireless Voltage/Temp Module
- LR8533 Wireless High Speed Voltage Module

All input channels are scanned within the set data refresh interval.

Scanning starts with CH1 and then proceeds in order through all channels for which measurement is enabled (CH1  $\rightarrow$  CH2  $\rightarrow$  CH 3, etc.). Once the next data refresh interval has elapsed, sampling starts with CH1 again.

The scan duration per channel varies with the measurement module type, number of channels in use, data refresh interval, power supply frequency filter, and wire break detection setting.

## U8550, U8551, LR8530, and LR8531

The following diagrams provide examples of typical scan timing for the U8550, U8551, LR8530, and LR8531.

# Example: Data refresh interval of 10 ms, measurement on for all 15 channels, wire break detection off

Channels 1 to 15 are scanned for approximately 0.5 ms per channel. The scan starts again with CH1 after the data refresh interval of 10 ms has elapsed.



# Example: Data refresh interval of 10 ms; measurement on for CH1, CH5, and CH15; wire break detection off

Only channels for which measurement is enabled are scanned; channels for which measurement is disabled are not scanned.



# Example: Data refresh interval of 5 s, measurement on for all 15 channels, wire break detection off

Channels 1 to 15 are scanned for approximately 160 ms or 180 ms per channel, depending on the power supply frequency filter setting.



### U8552 and LR8532

The following diagrams provide examples of typical scan timing for the U8552 and LR8532 when using from 16 to 30 channels. If the number of channels in use is 15 or less, the scan timing is the same as for the U8550, U8551, LR8530, and LR8531.

# Example: Data refresh interval of 20 ms, measurement on for all 30 channels, wire break detection off

Channels 1 to 30 are scanned for approximately 0.5 ms per channel.



# Example: Data refresh interval of 20 ms; measurement on for CH1 to CH10 and CH21 to CH30; wire break detection off

Only channels for which measurement is enabled are scanned; channels for which measurement is disabled are not scanned.



# Example: Data refresh interval of 5 s, measurement on for all 30 channels, wire break detection off

Channels 1 to 30 are scanned for approximately 90 ms or 105 ms per channel, depending on the power supply frequency filter setting.



### U8553 and LR8533

The following diagrams provide examples of typical scan timing for the U8553 and LR8533.

### Example: Data refresh interval of 1 ms, measurement on for all 5 channels

Channels 1 to 5 are scanned for approximately 0.18 ms per channel.



### Example: Data refresh interval of 1 ms, measurement on for CH1 and CH5

Only channels for which measurement is enabled are scanned; channels for which measurement is disabled are not scanned.



### Example: Data refresh interval of 5 s, measurement on for all 5 channels

Channels 1 to 5 are scanned for approximately 900 ms per channel.



## **11.7 Filenames**

Filenames consist of the following parts:

### WAVE0001.MEM

1 2 3

No.	Item
1	File type
2	Automatic numbering
3	Extension

Data type	Folder	File type	Automatic numbering	Extension
Setting conditions	CONFIG	CONF	Starting at 0001	.SET
Waveform data	DATA *1	WAVE * ² AUTO * ³	Starting at 0001	.MEM .CSV * ⁴ .MF4
Numerical calculation results: Without segmentation	MEASUREMENT /ALL	MEAS * ² AUTO * ³	Starting at 0001* ⁵	.CSV *4
Numerical calculation results: With segmentation	MEASUREMENT /PART	MEAS * ² AUTO * ³	Starting at 0001* ⁵	.CSV *4
Screen images	PICTURE	SCR	Starting at 00001	.PNG
A2L	A2L	ХСРТ	Starting at 0001	.A2L

*1: Dated folders are created automatically. In delete-and-save operation, the oldest waveform files are deleted first.

Once all of the waveform files in the dated folder have been deleted, the folder will be automatically renamed.

Example: 19-12-26 (before update)  $\rightarrow$  19_12_26_191230_101113 (after update: date_date of update_time)

Hyphens ("-") are changed to underscores ("_"), and the date on which the folder was renamed is added to the end of the name.

(Updated at 10:11:13 am on December 30, 2019)

- *2: If saved manually.
- *3: If saved automatically. If a filename has been specified, that filename will be used.
- *4: If [Delimiter] is set to a setting other than [Comma], the extension will be [.TXT].
- *5: If [File splitting] under [Numerical calculation results] is set to [Individual calc], the number (starting at 0001) will be followed by an underscore ("_") and the calculation number.

## 11.8 Text Format

Files saved in the text format consist of header and data sections. The header includes the following information:

- (1) Filename and version number
- (2) Title comment
- (3) Trigger time
- (4) Channel number for each column*1
- (5) Measurement*²
- (6) Range
- (7) Module identifier
- (8) Comments
- (9) Scaling setting
- (10) Scaling conversion ratio
- (11) Scaling offset
- (12) Channel number*1 and module for each row
- (13) Data*³

"File name","AUTO0001.CSV","V 1.00"	(1)
"Title comment"	(2)
"Trigger Time","19-12-26 10:15:32"	(3)
"CH","U1-1","ALM1","ALM2"," ALM-SOURCE-1-U1"," ALM-SOURCE-2-U1","W1",	(4)
"Mode", "Voltage", "Alarm", "Alarm", "Alarm Source", "Alarm Source", "Calculation",	(5)
"Range","1V","","","","","",	(6)
"UnitID", "", "", "", "", "", "", "", ""	(7)
"Comment", "", "", "", "", "", "", "",	(8)
"Scaling","OFF",	(9)
"Ratio","1.00000E+00",(1	0)
"Offset","0.00000E+00",	11)
"Time","U1-1[V]","ALM1","ALM2"," ALM-SOURCE-1-U1","ALM-SOURCE-2-U1","W1[V]",	
"CAN-INVL-FLAG","Event",	2)
0.00000000E+00, -3.3250000000E-02,0,0, "","", -6.650000000E-02,00H,0,(1	3)
1.00000000E-01, 2.850000000E-02,1,0, "80000000H","", 5.700000000E-02,00H,0,	
2.00000000E-01, 9.600000000E-03,0,0, "","", 1.920000000E-02,00H,0,	
3.00000000E-01, -2.560000000E-02,0,0, "", "", -5.120000000E-02,00H,0,	
4.00000000E-01, 4.560000000E-02,1,1, "80000000H ","80000000H", 9.1200000000E-02,00H,0,	

*1: Channel numbers are outputted on a data type by data type basis as follows: Analog plug-in (Uxa-xx), Analog wireless (Rxb-xx), pulse (Py), logic (Ly), alarm (ALMy), alarm source (ALM-SOURCE y-z), and waveform calculation (Wxx). (xa: 1 to 4, xb: 1 to 7, xx: 1 to 30, y: 1 to 8, z: U1 to U4 / R1 to R7 / P/L/W/OTHER) If statistical values have been selected as the saved data, columns for the average value (ave), maximum value (max), and minimum value (min) will be added for each parameter. However, no average value will be provided for data that triggered an alarm. *2: Outputted according to the measurement target as follows:

Voltage (Voltage), thermocouple (Tc), resistance temperature detector (Rtd), humidity (Humidity), resistance (Resistance), strain (Strain), current (Current), count (Count), revolving speed (Revolve), logic (Logic), alarm (Alarm), alarm source (Alarm Source), waveform calculation (Calculation), and CAN.

Data type	Output format		
Analog	Exponential notation (six significant figures)		
Pulse, waveform calculation	Exponential notation (10 significant figures)		
CAN	Exponential notation (10 significant figures)		
Logic	0: Low, 1: High		
Alarm	0: Not issued, 1: Issued		
Alarm source	Hexadecimal notation (blank character when no alarm is issued)*4		
CAN disabled flag	Hexadecimal notation 00H: Normal 01H: Unit 1 data error 02H: Unit 2 data error 04H :Unit 3 data error 08H: Unit 4 data error 10H: Remote 1 data error 20H: Remote 2 data error 40H: Remote 4 data error 80H: Remote 5 data error 100H: Remote 6 data error 200H: Remote 7 data error		
Event mark	0: No mark assigned, 1 or greater: Marks assigned		

*3: Outputted according to the measured data type as follows.

### *4: Varies depending on the data type

Data type	Description		
Analog, pulse, waveform calculation	Alarm onset statuses are outputted with channels assigned to each bit. (CH1 is assigned to the most significant bit [MSB].) An analog output and waveform calculation output are represented by eight characters (32 bits); pulse output and logic output are represented by two characters (8 bits). The letter H is added at the end. Example: When U1-1 issues an alarm, the alarm source output is represented by		
Lesie			
Logic	represented by 0. No letter is added at the end.		
	Example: When a logic channel issues an alarm, the output is represented by 1.		
Break in thermocouple, communication error, low battery	An alarm source output is represented by 12 characters (11 modules and a spare bit), in which a character (4 bits) is assigned to each module with an alarm status incorporated. A break in a thermocouple, communication error, and low battery state are in order beginning from the MSB (for plug-in modules, broken thermocouple only). The letter H is added at the end.		
	Example: When broken thermocouples are found in U2 and U4, the output is represented by 0x08080000000H.		

Knowledge and Information

## 11.9 File Size

This section describes how to calculate the size of binary waveform files (MEM). Unit: bytes

#### File size

Header size + data size

#### Header size

Shared header size + text header size + binary header size

### Shared header size

1000 + number of measurement module channels × 680 + number of pulse channels × 650 + number of logic channels × 240 + number of waveform calculation channels × 450 + number of alarm channels × 256

(The size, which may vary according to the settings, should be used for reference only)

#### Text header size

 $512 \times (10 + \text{number of measurement module channels} \times 5 + \text{number of pulse channels} \times 5 + \text{number of logic channels} \times 4 + \text{number of waveform calculation channels} \times 7 + \text{number of CAN channels} \times 5 + \text{number of alarm headers}^{1}$ *1: If alarms are enabled, 16; if not, 0.

#### Binary header size

512 × (1788 + number of alarm headers^{*2}) *2: If alarms are enabled, 176; if not, 0.

#### Data size

(Number of measurement module channels^{*3} × 2 + CAN channel data size^{*4} + number of pulse channels × 4 + number of waveform calculation channels × 8 + Logic data size^{*5} + alarm data size^{*6}) × number of data points

- *3: Except CAN.
- *4: Number of CAN channels carrying 2-byte data × 2 + number of CAN channels carrying 4-byte data × 4 + number of CAN channels carrying 8-byte data × 8
- *5: If any logic channel is enabled, 2; if not, 0.
- *6: If alarms are enabled and alarm source data recording is enabled, 450; if alarms are enabled but alarm source data recording is disabled, 2; if alarms are off, 0.

# 11.10 Settings after Initialization (System Reset)

This section describes the settings (for the U8550) at the time of shipment from the factory and following initialization (system reset).

Screen		Setting			
Main	Sub	Setting	Default setting		
Measure	Record	Start	Manual		
		Stop	Manual		
		Recording mode	Normal		
		Recording interval	10 ms		
		Repetitive recording	OFF		
		Recording time	Continuous		
		Alarm source	OFF		
		Synchronous operation	OFF		
	Auto save	File name	_		
			Add title comment	(OFF)	
			Add trigger date/time	(OFF)	
		Media	SD card	1	
		Waveform data	Format	OFF	
			Downsampling	OFF	
			Deleting	OFF	
			Folder splitting	Disable	
			File splitting	Disable	
		Numerical calculation results	Format	OFF	
			File splitting	Single file	
		Text format	Decimal symbol*	Period	
			Delimiter*	Comma	
			Date format	yy-MM-dd hh:mm:ss.0	
	Manual save	SAVE key settings	Select & Save		
		File name	_		
			Add trigger date/time	(OFF)	
		Media	SD card		
		Туре	Waveform		
		Format	Binary		
		Range	All		
		Downsampling	OFF		
	Display	Horizontal axis	10 s		
		Display horizontal axis	Time		
		Number display format	Standard		
	Settings	Auto-setup*	OFF		
		Setting condition list*	None saved		

*: Not included in initialization (factory default setting).
Screen		Setting			
Main	Sub	Setting	Default setting		
Measure	CAN	Unit	Operating mode	Receive mode	
		Title	-		
		Port settings	Interface	CAN FD	
			Terminator	(OFF)	
			ACK		
		CAN/	Baud rate	500 kBaud	
		CAN FD (arbitration)	Sampling point	80.0%	
		CAN FD (data)	Baud rate	2.0 MBaud	
			Sampling point	80.0%	
		User frame transmission			
Channel	Individual	Channel	Measurement	(ON)	
		Input	Input type	Voltage	
			Range	10 mV	
		Display	Position		
			Zoom	×1	
			Zero position	50%	
		Scaling	OFF		
		Comment	-		
		Numerical threshold	0		
	UNIT (CAN)	Measure	OFF		
Trigger	Common	Trigger	OFF		
		Timing	Start		
		Pre-trigger	Time	0 Days 00:00:00	
		Condition	Start	OR	
		External trigger	OFF		
		Interval trigger	OFF		
	Unit n	Туре	Start	OFF	
	(n = 1, 2,)		Stop	OFF	
	CAN	Register	OFF		
Alarm	Common	Alarm	OFF		
		Alarm hold	OFF		
		Alarm buzzer	OFF		
		Event mark	OFF		
		Alarm history	Start 100		
	Alarm 1-8	ALM1 to ALM8	Filter	OFF	
			Comment	-	
	Unit	ALM	OFF		
	CAN	Register	OFF		

Screen		Setting		
Main	Sub	Setting Default setting		
Calculation	Numerical	Numerical calculation	OFF	
	Waveform	Waveform calculation	OFF	
	X-Y Composite	X-Y Composite	OFF	
System	Environment	Start backup	OFF	
		Auto start measurement	OFF	
		Backlight saver	OFF	
		Backlight brightness	3	
		Language*	English	
		Keyboard*	English	
		Waveform background color	Dark	
		Beep sound	ON	
		Operation error prevention	ON	
		Power frequency filter	60 Hz	
	External	Voltage output 1, 2	OFF	
		Alarm output 1 to 8	Low	
		External input 1 to 3	OFF	
		External output	OFF	

*: Not included in initialization (factory default setting).

## 11.11 Maximum Recording Times

The maximum amount of time during which data can be stored in the instrument's internal buffer memory or on its storage media can be calculated as shown below.

If saving data in binary format, the maximum recording time can be calculated using the following formula:

Maximum recording time = Recording capacity*1 × recording interval (s) / data size*2

*1: For the instrument's internal buffer memory (256 Mwords), 512 × 1024 × 1024.

*2: Data size as described in "11.9 File Size" (p.425).

#### Maximum recording times (rough estimates)

Example: Measuring 30 analog channels with 2 modules (no alarm output, no waveform calculations)

Reduce the times shown in the following table by approx. 10% since they do not take into account the size of waveform file headers. The fewer channels are recorded, the greater the maximum recording time.

Recording interval	Internal buffer memory (512 MB)	Z4001 (2 GB)
100 ms	10 d 8 h	38 d 18 h
200 ms	20 d 17 h	77 d 12 h
500 ms	51 d 18 h	193 d 19 h
1 s	103 d 13 h	387 d 15 h
5 s	500 d	1162 d 21 h
10 s	500 d	3876 d 8 h

11

## 11.12 Application Measurement

### Recording instrumentation signals (4-20 mA)

This section introduces a method for recording current output (4-20 mA) from instrumentation devices.

Average values for each minute can also be recorded using numerical calculations.

- Applicable modules: U8550, U8551, U8552, U8553, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532, LR8533
- You will need: an input cable and a 250  $\Omega$  shunt resistor

#### Instructions

**1** Connect the input cable and the 250  $\Omega$  shunt resistor to the channel being measured. Connect the shunt resistor between the positive and negative input terminals. See "Connecting voltage cables and thermocouples" in the Quick Start Manual.

2 Connect the input cable to the instrumentation device's current output (4-20 mA) terminal.

**3** On the [Unit] screen, set the data refresh interval to [Auto].



Unit	Measure Channel Trigger Alarm Calculation System
Record	
Auto save	Title comment
Manual save	
Display	Start Manual 🚽
Settings	Stop Manual 🔽
CAN 43 43	Record       Approx. saveable time         Recording mode       Normal         Recording interval       5 s         Repetitive recording       OFF         Recording time       Specified time         Operation       01:00:00
	Max 500 Days 00:00:00
	Number of data points 721
	Alarm source OFF
	Synchronous operation OFF
50 2. OGB	2022-04-26 18:28:01

**4** Configure the settings as follows:

Recording interval	5 s
Recording time	Specified time, 1 hour (0 Days 01:00;00)



#### **5** Configure the settings as follows:

Media	SD card
Format (Waveform data)	Binary
Format (Numerical calculation results)	Text

SET > Calculation > Numerical

#### **6** Configure the settings as follows:

Numerical calculation	ON
Time split calculation	Enable
Split time	1 minute (0 Days 00:01)
Туре	Average



#### 7 Configure the settings as follows in the [Input] area for the channel being measured:

1	Input type	Voltage
2	Range	1-5 V

Since a 250  $\Omega$  resistor has been connected to the input terminals, 4 mA will be recorded as 1 V, and 20 mA will be recorded as 5 V.

The 1-5 V range is a range in which the 10 V range's display range lower and upper limits are set to 1 V and 5 V, respectively.

If you wish to change the upper and lower limit values, use 10 V range.



#### 8 Press the START key to start measurement.

Data will be recorded at a 5 s interval for one hour.

In addition, the average value numerical calculation will be performed every minute and the results saved to the SD Memory Card.

Recording will stop 1 h after it starts.

If you wish to end recording sooner, press the STOP key.

### Measuring power consumption using pulse output from a watt-hour meter

This section introduces a method for measuring pulses from a watt-hour meter and converting them to power consumption.

The method involves measuring the pulse output from a watt-hour meter (50,000 pulses per kWh) and recording the power consumption every 30 min. and every month (30 days) on the SD Memory Card.

· You will need: an input cable

#### Instructions

1 Connect the pulse output from the watt-hour meter to the instrument's PULSE1 pulse input terminal.



#### 2 Configure the settings as follows:

50 2. OGB

Alarm source

Synchronous operation OFF

Recording interval         30 min	
Recording time	Specified time, 30 days (30 Days 00:00:00)

-

2022-04-26

SET <mark>&gt; Meas</mark>	ure > Auto s	ave			
Unit Record Auto save Manual save Display Settings CAN	Measure C File name Media SD c Waveform data Format Downsampling Deleting Folder splittir	Channel Trigger	Alarm title comment trigger date/ Form File	Calculation time trical calculati at splitting split calculat	System on results OFF Single file ion Disable
<b>30</b> 2. OGB	File splitting	Disable	App 1 7074:	ormat ox. saveable ti 98 Days 11 Hours	2022-04-18 277:44:42

Configure the settings as follows:

Media	SD card
Format	Binary

Unit	Measure	Channel	Trigger	Alarm	Calculation	System	
Individual	Waveform		Channel —			_	
Unit 1	50M		Pulse	• P1 •	Measurement		
Unit 2	45M		_ Input	Count	1 🔽 Slope	↑ <b>3</b>	
	40M		Range	1000 Mc	Th reshold 1	v • 4	
Pulse	35M		Count mode Timing	Addition Start	2 ▼ Filter ▼ Reset	ON 5	
	30M		_ Display —				
	25M_		Upper/Lowe Num of deci	r <mark>▼</mark> Upper t mal places	50M Low	er 0	
	20M		Sealing				
	15M		6 Decimal		Unit <mark>kWh</mark>		
	10M		1 pulse 1 kl	e = 200µ   h= 5k	kWh Pulse		
	5M						
	0	P1	Comment Numerical t	hreshold 0			
🖻 o ooo 🖉	P1 0. 0	00kWh				24 000	02020-02-08

## **4** Under [P1] in [Pulse], configure the settings as follows:

1	Input type	Count
2	Count mode	Addition
3	Slope	$\uparrow$ (depends on the specifications of watt-meter)
4	Threshold	1 V (depends on the specifications of watt-meter)
5	Filter	ON *
6	Scaling	Decimal, 1 kWh = 5000 (5 k), Unit: kWh

*: To prevent false counting caused by chatter.

You can use the scaling function to convert the pulse count to energy (kWh).



SET

Channel

> Pulse

#### **5** Press the START key to start measurement.

Data will be recorded at a 30 min. interval for 30 days, and waveform data will be saved on the SD Memory Card.

Recording will stop 30 days after it starts.

If you wish to end recording sooner, press the **STOP** key.

11

## **11.13 Input Circuit Schematics**

This section provides input circuit schematics for the instrument.

#### Analog input circuit: U8550, U8551, U8552, LR8530, LR8531, LR8532

• Voltage (10 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. ranges), thermocouple



• Voltage (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. ranges, 1-5 V f.s. range), humidity



• Resistance temperature detector (4-wire), resistance





• Resistance temperature detector (3-wire)



### Analog input circuit: U8553, LR8533

• Voltage (100 mV f.s. to 2 V f.s. ranges)



• Voltage (10 V f.s. to 100 V f.s. ranges)



#### Analog input circuits: U8554, LR8534



#### **CAN** input circuit



#### Pulse input circuit



*: If the chatter prevention filter is on, 0.047  $\mu$ F.

## 11.14 Data Handling During Communications Disruption

Waveform display and data handling during communications disruption



The instrument will halt waveform drawing during disruption of communications between the instrument and the wireless modules and data recovering processes.

A modules' icon with the red frame indicates that the module retains measurement data that includes NO DATA parts.

See "Screen and icons" in the Quick Start Manual,

The instrument will draw the horizontal lines along the screen upper end for the parts of waveforms that cannot be acquired from wireless modules.

These parts are regarded as [NO DATA], handled as described in "11.15 Data Handling" (p.444).

The white lines, indicating the NO DATA parts, will be drawn at the topmost end of the graph area. (When **[Waveform background color]** is set to **[Light]**, the black lines will be drawn.)

isplay Wa	ve+	Set	•	(	Gauge		All	СН	•
				0					R1-1
								•	
		Waveform White line					•		

Knowledge and Information

# Synchronization and time lag in acquired data (During Communications Disruption)

The instrument communicates with wireless modules to synchronize each module's time with its time.

If communications disruption occurs, the instrument cannot perform synchronization, shifting the times of the instrument and each module from one another.

When the communications between the instrument and the wireless modules recover from disruption, the number of sampled data points can differ between the instrument and each wireless module.

If the numbers of the data points or data sampling times differ between the instrument and each wireless module, the system will recover the data using the number of the data points the instrument sampled and the times when the instrument sampled the data points.

## When the number of data points the instrument sampled and that the wireless module sampled are the same

When the communications recover, the instrument will acquire the data left in the wireless modules.

The data may become discontinuous at the synchronization points (communications recover points).



## When the number of data points the wireless module sampled is less than that the instrument sampled

When the communications recover, the instrument will acquire the data left in the wireless modules.

The instrument will bridge the data point gaps using each of the immediately preceding data points.



## When the number of data points the wireless module sampled is greater than the that the instrument sampled

When the communications recover, the instrument will acquire the data left in the wireless modules.

The instrument will discard the redundant data points in the wireless module.



### Triggers

If communications are disrupted, the instrument cannot acquire data from wireless modules. In that case, the instrument will not check whether the trigger conditions are satisfied for the channels of such modules.

After the communications recover, the system will recover data and check whether the trigger conditions are satisfied.

Data points acquired after the point when the stop trigger condition was satisfied will be regarded as NO DATA.

The pre-trigger function will be disabled for data recovered after communications recovered.

#### Example: stop trigger (slope: [[↑]], trigger condition: [AND])



11

#### When the stop trigger conditions are satisfied during the data recovery

No.	Description
1	Starts recording from the start trigger point.
2	Recovers all data retained in Module 1.
3	Recovers data retained in Module 2.
4	Stops the recovery and measurement because the stop trigger was satisfied while recovering data retained in Module 2.

#### Alarms

If communications are disrupted, the instrument cannot acquire data from wireless modules. In that case, the instrument will not check whether the alarm conditions are satisfied for the channels of such modules. (The alarm of the communications disruption will be outputted.) After the communications recover, restoring data, the instrument will check whether the alarm conditions are satisfied.

## Saving data onto the storage media

When data has been save in the binary form (.MEM), the system will also recover data being saved upon completion of data recovery. However, the system cannot recover files that have already been saved after segmented.

When data has been save in the text form, the instrument will save only the recovery data in files under the new name with the characters **[_R]** added to the end of the auto-save filename.

If the media has been replaced with another, the system cannot recover retained data because the media presently inserted contains no data to be recovered.

### Numerical calculation

If data is regarded as NO DATA, which resulted from communications disruption, the data will be exempted from the calculation target. If the instrument makes numerical calculation using data absolutely occupied by the NO DATA points, it will calculate the average, maximum and minimum values using the values in the NO DATA column of the table in "11.15 Data Handling" (p.444) instead.

Other calculations will use zero instead.

Time-segmented calculation will not made again when the communications recovers.

### Waveform calculations

If the communications between the instrument and the wireless modules are disrupted, calculation results will remain each immediately proceeding value, excepting four arithmetic operations. If no calculation results exist before the immediately proceeding point, calculation results will be regarded as NO DATA.

If the data sets of calculation target channels are regarded as NO DATA, the instrument will yield four-arithmetic-operations results, for waveform calculations as well, regarded as NO DATA. When the communications recover, the instrument will make calculations using the recovered data; however, the NO DATA parts will be excluded to calculate. The moving average calculation will resume after resetting the calculation results when a NO DATA point is yielded.

#### Waveform examples of multiplication, simple average, moving average, or integration



### **Resetting waveform calculations**

Even if attempting to reset the waveform calculation with the reset time setting included, the instrument will not reset the calculation with data that includes a NO DATA point. The reset will be performed at the next reset occasion.



In addition, no reset will be performed when the calculation has already progressed beyond the trigger point upon the recovery. The reset will be performed at the point when the next reset condition is satisfied for the first time since the trigger has activated.

### Logger Utility

If the communications between the instrument and the wireless modules are disrupted, the data transmitted to the Logger Utility cannot be recovered. After stopping measurement, load the waveform data recovered with the instrument into the Logger Utility. See "9.1 Using the Logger Utility" (p.245).

## 11.15 Data Handling

In the following circumstances, calculated values and saved data are treated as shown in the table below:

- When the waveform significantly exceeds the range's measurable range (+OVER, -OVER)
- When communications are temporarily interrupted (NO DATA)
- When the instrument detects a thermocouple wire break during temperature measurement (wire break detection)

Input type	Input range	+OVER	-OVER	NO DATA	Wire break detection
Voltage	1 mV	0.00163835	- 0.0016384	0.00163825	_
	2 mV	0.0032767	- 0.0032768	0.0032765	_
	5 mV	0.00819175	- 0.008192	0.00819125	_
	10 mV	0.0163835	- 0.016384	0.0163825	_
	20 mV	0.032767	- 0.032768	0.032765	-
	50 mV	0.0819175	- 0.08192	0.0819125	-
	100 mV	0.163835	- 0.16384	0.163825	-
	200 mV	0.32767	- 0.32768	0.32765	-
	1 V	1.63835	- 1.6384	1.63825	-
	2 V	3.2767	- 3.2768	3.2765	-
	10 V	16.3835	- 16.384	16.3825	_
	20 V	32.767	- 32.768	32.765	_
	100 V	163.835	- 163.84	163.825	-
	1-5 V	16.3835	- 16.384	16.3825	-
Thermocouple	100°C	327.67	- 327.68	327.65	327.66
	500°C	1638.35	- 1638.4	1638.25	1638.3
	2000°C	3276.7	- 3276.8	3276.5	3276.6
Resistance	100°C	327.67	- 327.68	327.65	-
temperature detector	500°C	1638.35	- 1638.4	1638.25	-
	2000°C	3276.7	- 3276.8	3276.5	-
Humidity	100% RH	3276.7	- 3276.8	3276.5	-
Resistance	10 Ω	16.3835	- 16.384	16.3825	-
	20 Ω	32.767	- 32.768	32.765	-
	100 Ω	163.835	- 163.84	163.825	-
	200 Ω	327.67	- 327.68	327.65	-
Strain	1000 με	1638.35	- 1638.4	1638.25	-
	2000 με	3276.7	- 3276.8	3276.5	-
	5000 με	8191.75	- 8192	8191.25	-
	10000 με	16383.5	-16384	16382.5	-
	20000 με	32767	-32768	32765	-
	50000 με	81917.5	-81920	81912.5	_
	100000 με	163835	-163840	163825	_
	200000 με	327670	-327680	327650	_

Input	t type	Input range	+OVER	-OVER	NO DATA	Wire break detection
Current	CT7126	50 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
		5 A	32.767	-32.768	32.765	_
	CT7131	100 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
	CT7116	5 A	32.767	-32.768	32.765	_
		500 mA	3.2767	-3.2768	3.2765	_
	CT7136	500 A	3276.7	-3276.8	3276.5	_
		50 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
	CT7044	5000 A	32767	-32768	32765	_
	CT7045 CT7046	500 A	3276.7	-3276.8	3276.5	_
		50 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
	CT7742	2000 A	6553.4	-6553.6	6553.0	_
		200 A	3276.7	-3276.8	3276.5	_
	CT7736	500 A	3276.7	-3276.8	3276.5	_
		50 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
	CT7731	100 A	327.67	-327.68	327.65	_
	CT7822	20 A	65.534	-65.536	65.530	_
		2 A	32.767	-32.768	32.765	_
	CT7812	2 A	6.5534	-6.5536	6.5530	_
		200 mA	3.2767	-3.2768	3.2765	_
Integratio	on	1000 Mc	2147483647	_	_	_
Rotation	al speed	5000 r/s	2147483647	_	_	-
		300000 r/min	2147483647	_	-	_
Wavefor calculation	m ons	-	_	-	1.7976931348623157e+308	-

#### CAN Unit

INF*	-INF*	nan*	NO DATA
1.7976931348623157e+308	-1.7976931348623157e+308	1.7976931348623157e+308	1.7976931348623157e+308

*: For IEEE float and IEEE double data types.

When performing calculations, the values in the table above are treated as follows:

✓: Included in calculation; –: Not included in calculation

Calculation type	+OVER	-OVER	NO DATA	Wire break detection
Numerical calculations	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	-	~
Waveform calculations	✓	$\checkmark$	_	~
Waveform screen (numerical value display)	√*	√*	_	-

*: Not included in average value calculations.

#### CAN Unit (during calculations)

Calculation type	INF*	−INF*	nan*	NO DATA
Numerical calculations	$\checkmark$	~	_	_
Waveform calculations	~	~	_	_
Waveform screen (numerical value display)	_	_	_	_

*: For IEEE float and IEEE double data types.

## 11.16 Displaying the Certification Number

This section describes how to display certification numbers, such as wireless certification numbers (LR8450-01 only) and KC Mark.

#### Instructions

#### **1** Press and hold the QUICK SET key for at least 3 s and release.

The certification numbers of all kinds will be displayed. The instrument cannot display the certification screen during measurement.

#### **2** Press the ENTER key.

The display will close.

## 11.17 Mouse Operation on the Waveform Screen

You can change display settings, scroll waveforms, and control cursors on the waveform screen by connecting a mouse to the instrument's USB connector.

Some functionality may not be available or may operate in an unintended manner depending on the type of mouse.

#### Changing display settings

You can change the display setting for a channel by operating the mouse on the gage.

Wheel operation	If the display setting is <b>[Position]</b> , the wheel varies the zoom factor. If the display setting is <b>[Up/Low Lim]</b> , the wheel varies the upper and lower limit value width.
Drag operation	Dragging the mouse while holding down the left button changes the waveform's display position (1 gage graduation at a time).

#### Waveform scrolling

Left click	Left-clicking the mouse on a waveform switches the <b>SCROLL/CURSOR</b> keys to scroll mode (displaying the scroll icon).
Wheel operation	The wheel scrolls the waveform being controlled (if the <b>SCROLL/CURSOR</b> keys are in scroll mode).

You can also jump to a desired location by left-clicking the scroll bar at the bottom of the waveform screen.

#### Moving the cursor

Left click	Left-clicking a cursor on a waveform switches the <b>SCROLL/CURSOR</b> keys to cursor mode (displaying the cursor icon). You can also select the A/B cursors.
Right click	You can select both cursors by right-clicking one while the other is selected. Right- clicking an area other than a cursor will display a menu allowing you to move the cursor to the desired position or change the cursor type (vertical/horizontal). (The menu is not displayed on the X-Y waveform screen.)
Wheel operation	The wheel moves the cursor (if the SCROLL/CURSOR keys are in cursor mode).
Drag operation	Dragging the mouse while holding down the left button moves the cursor.

## 11.18 Error Messages and FAQ

#### **Error messages**

There are two types of error message: errors and warnings. Errors encountered by the instrument are displayed on the screen. Use the tables shown below to check the nature of the error and review suggested solutions.

#### **Error messages**

No.	Message	Solutions		
ERR_SY01	Program failure. Repair required.	Turn off the instrument and have it repaired.		
ERR_SY02	Unit connection error. Current unit configuration is not valid. Please review the connection.	Verify that the measurement module is properly connected.		
ERR_SY03	The battery has been removed.	Check the Battery Pack connection.		
ERR_SY04	Clock correction circuit error. Repair required.	Turn off the instrument and have it repaired.		
ERR_SY05	Update failed	Turn off the instrument and repeat the update. If the update fails again, have the instrument repaired.		
ERR_SY06	Internal temperature of the instrument is abnormal.	Check the operating temperature environment and verify that the fan is operating. If this message is displayed while using the instrument within the operating temperature range, have it repaired.		
ERR_SY07	Unit error. Unit no	The instrument cannot correctly detect modules (Units). The instrument may be damaged. Have it repaired.		
ERR_SY08	The unit's CAN controller has encountered an error. Unit no	The unit's CAN controller has encountered an error. Restart the instrument and unit.		
ERR_SY09	Hardware error detected.	Turn off the instrument and have it repaired.		
ERR_SY10	Measurement stopped due to sync signal interruption.	Check connections of the primary and secondary instruments. See "8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234).		
ERR_FL01	File processing error	While the instrument is handling files stored on the SD Memory Card or USB Drive, an anomaly has unexpectedly occurred. Switch media or turn off the instrument.		
ERR_FL02	Waveform data not found	Acquire waveform data.		
ERR_FL03	Numerical calculation data not found	Execute numerical calculation.		
ERR_FL04	Cannot load this file	<ul> <li>The selected file may be in one of the following situations:</li> <li>Not a file associated with this instrument</li> <li>In a format that cannot be loaded into this instrument</li> <li>Corrupted</li> <li>Load an appropriate file.</li> </ul>		

No.	Message	Solutions	
ERR_FL05	Insufficient storage memory	The file cannot be stored because the media starts to run out of space. Delete unnecessary files to free up space. Alternatively, switch media.	
ERR_FL06	Media is full or cannot delete oldest wave file	The file was not able to be stored because the SD Memory Card or the USB Drive starts to run out of space. Delete unnecessary files to free up space. Alternatively, switch media.	
ERR_FL07	This folder cannot be deleted or renamed on the instrument.	This message is displayed to prevent accidental deletion of data folders. Use a computer to delete or rename folders.	
ERR_FL08	Confirm the A-B cursor position	The A/B cursors are inappropriately placed (for example, outside the waveform range). Check the positions of the A/B cursors.	
ERR_FL09	File is damaged	The file cannot be loaded because the information in it is damaged. Load an appropriate file.	
ERR_FL10	Duplicate name.	Enter a unique file name.	
ERR_FL11	This folder/file is protected.	Folders and files with the read-only attribute cannot be deleted using the instrument. Use a computer to delete.	
ERR_FL12	This file cannot be loaded because the model configuration of the current wireless unit is different from that of the loaded file.	The instrument can load automatic setup files only containing the wireless module configuration identical to the one at the time of the shutdown. To load a file manually, select the <b>[Wireless unit information]</b> check box, and then load it. See "3.4 Loading Data" (p. 161).	
ERR_FL13	Cannot read because the names of the direct connection unit and that on the file are different.	In OVERWRITE mode, the instrument can load data only when the configuration of the plug-in modules remains the same as that applied when the data was saved. Check the module configuration in VIEW mode.	
ERR_FL14	The version cannot be downgraded. • Delete an LR8535 registration. • Set the display language to a setting other than [繁體中文].	<ul> <li>Delete the LR8535 Wireless CAN Unit's registration.</li> <li>See "1.2 Registering Wireless Modules" (p. 14).</li> <li>Set the display language to a setting other than [繁體中文] (Traditional Chinese).</li> <li>See "7.1 Configuring Settings" (p.216).</li> </ul>	
ERR_FL15	Cannot load the selected file because the data was saved by LR8450-01.	The LR8450 cannot load waveform files saved by the LR8450-01. Use the LR8450- 01 to load such files	
ERR_FL16	Cannot load the selected file due to a different version.	Load the appropriate file. Alternatively, update the instrument by installing the latest firmware version.	

No.	Message	Solutions
ERR_SU01	Could not start measurement. The setting conditions when the recording interval is 1 ms are as follows. • Measurement ON channel: 150CH or less • Alarm source data recording: OFF	<ul> <li>Change either one of the settings as follows.</li> <li>Set the longer [Recording interval].</li> <li>Reduce the number of channels.</li> <li>Set [Alarm source] to off. See "1.3 Setting Measurement Conditions" (p. 18).</li> </ul>
ERR_WLAN01	Failed to restart the wireless interface. Restart the instrument.	Cycle the instrument.

### Warning messages

Press any key to clear the display.

No.	Message	Solutions	
WARN_SY01	Battery low. Connect the AC adapter to the instrument, or shut down and replace the battery.	Connect the AC Adapter to the instrument. See "2.3 Connecting the AC Adapter" in the Quick Start Manual.	
WARN_SY02	Battery low. Connect the AC adapter to the wireless unit.	Connect the AC Adapter to the wireless module. See "2.3 Connecting the AC Adapter" in the Quick Start Manual.	
WARN_SY03	Internal temperature of the instrument has risen. Check the operating environment.	Check the conditions under which the instrument has been installed. See "Installing the instrument" in the "Operating Precautions" section in the Quick Start Manual.	
WARN_SY04	Internal temperature of the instrument has risen. Stopping external power output. Check the operating environment.	Check the conditions under which the instrument has been installed. See "Installing the instrument" in the "Operating Precautions" section in the Quick Start Manual. When voltage output stops, configure the setting again as necessary. See "8.1 Configuring Voltage Output (VOUTPUT)" (p.231).	
WARN_SY05	No channel selected for measurement.	The measurement preferences of all channels are set to Off. Set one or more of them to On before starting measurement.	
WARN_SY06	Battery low. Stopping auto save. Connect the AC adapter to the instrument, or shut down and replace the battery.	The battery starts to run out. Provide power to the instrument using the AC adapter or an external power supply. Alternatively, turn off the instrument, and then replace the batteries.	
WARN_SY07	Failed to initialize.	Initialize the system again. Key operation during the initialization of the instrument may cause an error. Do not operate any keys during the initialization.	
WARN_SY08	System error (SY08). Restart the instrument.	Cycling the wireless interface is required. Cycle the instrument.	
WARN_SY09	System error (SY09). Restart the instrument.	Cycling the wireless interface is required. Cycle the instrument.	
WARN_SY10	System error (SY10). Restart the instrument.	Cycling the wireless interface is required. Cycle the instrument.	
WARN_SY11	Some wireless units failed to start due to unstable communication conditions.	See [Action during communication error] in the configuration navigation.	

No.	Message	Solutions	
WARN_SY12	Improper wiring detected. Check connections of the primary and secondary instruments.	Check connections of the primary and secondary instruments. See "8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234).	
WARN_SY15	The sampling correction function stopped because the correction limit was exceeded.	The instrument failed to communicate with the NTP server. Check the communications environments.	
WARN_SY16	The sampling correction function stopped because NTP time synchronization before measurement start failed.	The instrument failed to communicate with the NTP server. Check the communications environments.	
WARN_SY17	The sampling correction function stopped because NTP time synchronization failed.	The instrument failed to communicate with the NTP server. Check the communication environment.	
WARN_FL01	Storage media not found.	Insert an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive.	
WARN_FL02	Firmware update not possible due to low battery. Connect the AC adapter and try again.	Updating the instrument is prohibited if the battery starts to run out. Provide power to the instrument using the AC adapter or an external power supply. Alternatively, charge the battery sufficiently.	
WARN_FL03	Firmware update not possible due to weak signal conditions. Improve the communication environment and try again.	Check if the wireless modules are on. Check the state of communications with the wireless modules. If the communications are disrupted, move the equipment to improve the communications state.	
WARN_FL04	The firmware cannot be updated because the battery of the wireless unit is low. Connect the AC adapter and try again.	Updating the instrument is prohibited if the battery of the wireless modules starts to run out. Connect the AC adapter before updating the instrument.	
WARN_FL06	Insert SD memory card or USB flash drive.	Insert an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive.	
WARN_FL07	Storage media is almost full	The media starts to run out of space. Switch media.	
WARN_FL08	Unsaved data will be deleted shortly. Please insert storage media.	This message is displayed when data occupies half the internal buffer memory space or more after the start of the real- time save operation with no media inserted. Insert an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive.	
WARN_FL09	Unsaved data present.	An SD Memory Card or a USB Drive is not inserted. Alternatively, available space may start to run out. Insert an SD Memory Card or a USB Drive, and then manually save necessary data.	
WARN_FL10	File name including the folder is too long - file operation unsuccessful.	The path name entered consists of too many characters. Use a computer to rename the folder stored on the SD Memory Card or the USB Drive so that the folder name becomes shorter than the limit.	
WARN_FL11	Busy	Wait for the completion of the process.	
WARN_FL12	Battery low	Plug the AC Adapter to the instrument. See "2.3 Connecting the AC Adapter" in the Quick Start Manual.	

11

No.	Message	Solutions	
WARN_SU01	SSID not entered	Enter the <b>[SSID]</b> for the access point in the wireless LAN settings. See "9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)" (p.261).	
WARN_SU02	Select a channel to execute auto balance.	Choose channels for which you want to execute auto-balance.	
WARN_SU03	Text contains invalid characters.	Check whether any special symbols have been entered.	
WARN_SU04	User name has not been entered.	When <b>[FTP/HTTP authentication settings]</b> is set to <b>[ON]</b> , enter the user name. See "9.6 Acquiring Data Using the FTP Server" (p.273).	
WARN_SU05	<ul><li>The setting conditions when the recording interval is 1 ms are as follows.</li><li>Measurement ON channel: 150CH or less</li><li>Alarm source data recording: OFF</li></ul>	Change either one of the settings as follows. • Set the longer <b>[Recording interval]</b> . • Reduce the number of channels. • Set <b>[Alarm source]</b> to off.	
WARN_SU06	Some channels could not be copied because the copy source W channel is larger than the copy destination W channel.	Check the calculation channel settings for the channels used in the waveform calculation.	
WARN_SU07	Only up to 4 CAN units can be registered.	Use a maximum of four U8555 and LR853 units.	
WARN_SU08	Up to 4 CAN units can be used. 5 or more are registered.	Use a maximum of four U8555 and LR8535 units.	
WARN_SU09	Unable to start measurement with the current settings. Optimize the settings listed below. For more information, see the User's Guide. • Recording interval • Number of measurement-enabled channels • Auto save format • Recording of data that triggers a warning	The number of channels that can be used will be restricted based on the recording interval and auto save settings as well as whether any CAN Units are connected. See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 146).	
WARN_SU10	Registered wireless unit hinders sync operation.	Disable the synchronous operation or deregister the wireless modules. See "8.3 Configuring Sync Input/Output (SYNC) Terminals" (p.234) and "1.2 Registering Wireless Modules" (p.14).	
WARN_SU11	Unable to start measurement due to different current sensor configurations.	Check the current sensor configuration.	
WARN_SU12	Select a channel to execute zero adjustment (CT).	Select a channel.	
WARN_COM01	Wireless unit cannot be searched because wireless LAN setting is OFF or the wireless LAN is in a mode other than unit connection mode	Set the wireless LAN mode to On. Switch the wireless LAN mode over to [Connect wireless unit].	
WARN_COM02	USB drive mode cannot be used because it is connected from an FTP client.	Following the completion of the FTP communications, switch over USB drive mode.	
WARN_FTP01	Failed to connect to FTP server	Check the setting and connection of the FTP data auto-transmission.	

No.	Message	Solutions	
WARN_FTP02	FTP data transfer failed. File not found.	Manually obtain files that have not transferred from the instrument with the FTP. Alternatively, load files from the media set as the destination location.	
WARN_ML01	The mail server name is invalid.	Check the mail server's name setting.	
WARN_ML02	Failed to connect to the mail server.	Check the mail server settings and connection.	
WARN_ML03	Unable to find the mail server, or DNS failure.	Check the mail server settings, DNS IP address, and connection.	
WARN_ML04	The POP server name is invalid.	Check the POP server's name setting.	
WARN_ML05	Failed to connect to the POP server.	Check the POP server settings and connection.	
WARN_ML06	Unable to find the POP server, or DNS failure.	Check the DNS IP address and connection.	
WARN_ML07	Unable to find the mail address.	Check the destination's mail address.	
WARN_WLAN01	This wireless unit has already been added to the registration list.	Check the list of the modules to be registered. See "1.2 Registering Wireless Modules" (p. 14).	
WARN_WLAN02	Maximum number of units that can be registered has been exceeded.	You can register up to seven wireless modules. Deregister the unwanted wireless modules.	
WARN_WLAN03	Searching for a new wireless unit failed. See [Action during communication error] in QUICK SET.	See <b>[Action during communication error]</b> in the configuration navigation. See "1.16 Configuration Navigator (Quick	
WARN_WLAN04	Some wireless units have failed to register.	Set)" (p. 108).	
WARN_WLAN05	Failed to re-initialize wireless LAN.		
WARN_WLAN06	Some wireless units have failed to reconnect.		
WARN_WLAN07	When setting security, set the password to at least 8 characters.	When communicating data through the wireless LAN after encryption, set a password with at least eight characters. See "9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)" (p.261).	
WARN_WLAN08	Invalid IP address has been entered.	<ul> <li>Check the following points:</li> <li>Is the IP address the same as that of the wireless LAN?</li> <li>Is the address the same as the subnet mask?</li> <li>Is the broadband address mistakenly entered?</li> </ul>	
WARN_WLAN09	The communication environment cannot be inspected because the wireless LAN setting is turned OFF.	Set the wireless LAN mode to ON. "9.4 Using Wireless Modules (LR8450-01 Only)" (p.261)	
WARN_WLAN10	New wireless unit not found. The wireless interface of the instrument may be busy. Please try again.	Search for wireless modules again. If not remedied, see [Action during communication error] in the configuration navigation. See "1.16 Configuration Navigator (Quick Set)" (p.108).	

No.	Message	Solutions
WARN_WLAN11	This wireless unit is not connected to the instrument. See [Action during communication error] in QUICK SET.	See <b>[Action during communication error]</b> in the configuration navigation. See "1.16 Configuration Navigator (Quick Set)" (p. 108).
MSG_SU07	Settings for recording interval has been optimized. (Recording time, file division time, pre-trigger, horizontal axis, etc.)	Check the following settings, which may have changed: • [Recording interval] • [Split time] under [File splitting] • [Pre-trigger] • [Horizontal axis] (time per division) • Measurement module data update interval (changed to optimal interval during auto operation) • [Split time] in [Time split calculation] under [Numerical calculation]
MSG_SU15	User-specified frame transmission is disabled due to the ACK OFF state.	Set the CAN Unit's ACK port setting to ON.

When a warning occurs, a message will be displayed for several seconds.

No.	Message	Solutions
-	NTP client disabled	Set the NTP client function in the NTP settings to <b>[ON]</b> . See "Synchronizing the time" (p.221).
-	No server address entered	Enter the server address in the NTP settings. See "Synchronizing the time" (p.221).
-	Invalid key	The pressed key is disabled, for example because measurement is in progress. Press the key after the operation completes.
-	Modification not available while measuring	Press the <b>STOP</b> key to stop measurement and then change the setting.
-	Settable range exceeded	The entered value does not fall within the valid setting range. Enter an appropriate value.
-	Pre-trigger time and settings modified	Changing the recording interval or recording time may shorten the time that can be set for the pre-trigger. Check the updated pre-trigger settings.
_	Trigger or alarm setting value of this channel modified	The trigger or alarm settings have changed. Check the updated settings. See "2.2 Enabling the Trigger Function" (p. 119) and "4.1 Configuring Alarms" (p. 176).
_	Burn-out settings modified	The wire break detection function has been set to <b>[OFF]</b> . To use the wire break detection function, either increase the recording interval or reduce the number of channels being measured. See "1.3 Setting Measurement Conditions" (p. 18).

No.	Message	Solutions	
_	Cannot activate Burn Out (broken-wire) detection. Set the unit update interval to automatic or a rate slower than current settings.	The user-specified setting does not support the wire break detection. Set the data refresh interval to <b>[Auto]</b> or an interval longer than that presently set. See "1.3 Setting Measurement Conditions" (p.18).	
-	File partition period modified	Changing the recording interval will cause the segment time to change. Check if the settings are appropriate.	
_	Recording interval modified	The measurement preferences of all channels of the High Speed Voltage Unit and Strain Unit have been set to off (check boxes have been cleared), forcing the recording interval setting to change. Check the updated recording interval.	
-	Settings for external I/O3 modified to external trigger	The <b>[External input 3]</b> terminal was set to <b>[Trigger input]</b> because the external trigger was set to <b>[ON]</b> . Check if the settings are appropriate. See "2.6 Applying Triggers Based on External Sources" (p. 133).	
_	Horizontal axis modified	The horizontal axis (time per division) was changed because the recording interval was changed. The time per division cannot be set to a value that is shorter than the recording interval. Check if the settings are appropriate. See "Other display settings" (p.58).	
_	Division time for numerical calculation modified	The <b>[Split time]</b> setting under <b>[Numerical</b> <b>calculation]</b> was changed because the recording interval was changed. Check if the settings are appropriate. See "Configuring numerical calculations" (p. 198).	
-	Recording time settings modified	The recording time was changed because the recording interval was changed. Check if the settings are appropriate. See "1.3 Setting Measurement Conditions" (p. 18).	
-	File rename failed	The filename cannot be changed. Check whether there's another file with the same name.	
-	Copy file failed	The file cannot be copied. Check whether there's another file with the same name.	
-	Delete file failed	The file cannot be deleted. Verify that the media's write protect switch has been disengaged.	
-	Format media failed	The media cannot be formatted (initialized). Verify that the media's write protect switch has been disengaged.	
_	Invalid file name	The filename is incorrect. Check the characters used in the filename. In addition, verify that there is not another file with the same name.	

No.	Message	Solutions
-	Settings data normalized	Changing a specific setting can force some other settings to change under measurement constraints. Check if appropriate settings have been set before starting measurement.
_	Measurement will start with backed up settings data	The connected plug-in modules do not match the plug-in modules configuration saved in the loaded setting data. Check the configuration of the connected plug-in modules.
_	Unit update interval modified	There are some conditions where changing a specific setting can force the data refresh interval to change. Check if an appropriate data refresh rate of the module has been set.
-	Failed to eject SD card.	Any attempts to eject the SD Memory Card in the middle of internal processing may fail. Wait for a while or cycle the instrument. After that, eject it.
-	Failed to eject USB flash drive.	Any attempts to eject the USB Drive in the middle of internal processing may fail. Wait for a while or cycle the instrument. After that, eject it.
-	Aborted.	Any attempts to interrupt a manual-saving process may cause this message to appear. If it was unintentional, perform saving again.
-	Scaling conversion error.	Any attempts to configure a disabled scaling setting may cause this message to appear. (Example: Attempting to set the scaling slope at zero) Set an appropriate figure.
-	Cannot set to text format. Set the recording interval to [20 ms] or more.	The user-specified setting does not support text-format saving of waveform data. Set the recording interval at <b>[20 ms]</b> or longer.
-	Cannot set to text format. Set the recording interval to [10 ms] or more.	The user-specified setting does not support text-format saving of waveform data. Set the recording interval at <b>[10 ms]</b> or longer.
_	Recording interval cannot be changed. Set waveform data storage format to binary format.	The user-specified setting does not support a recording interval of less than <b>[10 ms]</b> . Set the saving format to binary. Alternatively, reduce the number of measurement channels.
_	Waveform data storage format has been changed to binary format.	The number of channels to be measured exceeds the upper limit supported by the user-defined recording interval. To save data in text format, use the longer recording length, or reduce the number of channels to be measured.
-	Out of data range.	No event marks or jump data points of the warning history can be found.
-	Flashing LED failed.	The connection to the wireless module has failed. See <b>[Action during communication error]</b> in the configuration navigation.

No.	Message	Solutions
_	Repetitive recording turned ON.	The interval trigger is available only when the <b>[Repetitive recording]</b> is set to <b>[ON]</b> . <b>[Repetitive recording]</b> is switched over to <b>[ON]</b> . Confirm the settings.
_	Interval trigger turned OFF.	The interval trigger is available only when the <b>[Repetitive recording]</b> is set to <b>[ON]</b> . The interval trigger is switched over to <b>[OFF]</b> because <b>[Repetitive recording]</b> is set to <b>[OFF]</b> . Confirm the settings.
-	Measurement cannot be turned on. Set the recording interval to [2 ms] or more.	Set <b>[Recording interval]</b> to <b>[2 ms]</b> or longer.
-	The recording interval cannot be set to [1 ms] because the number of measurement channels exceeds 151.	Reduce the number of channels.
-	The frame cannot be changed. Set the send ID to a value of [7FF] or less.	Set the send ID to [7FF] or less.
-	This combination of baud rate and sampling point settings cannot be used.	Check the combination of baud rate and sampling point settings for CAN FD (arbitration) and CAN FD (data).
-	The baud rate and sampling point settings have been initialized.	Changing the interface from CAN to CAN FD invalidated the baud rate and sampling settings and caused them to be initialized.
-	The recording interval cannot be changed. Optimize the number of measurement- enabled channels and the save format.	Auto save operation is subject to restrictions. Change the settings to values for which auto save is supported.
-	The save format cannot be changed. Optimize the recording interval and number of measurement-enabled channels.	See "Auto save (real-time save)" (p. 146).
-	The measurement on setting cannot be changed. Optimize the recording interval and save format.	
-	The combination of recording interval [1 ms] and alarm source [ON] cannot be set.	Set the <b>[Recording interval]</b> to <b>[2 ms]</b> or longer or set <b>[Alarm source]</b> to <b>[OFF]</b> .
-	Invalid key. Operate the primary instrument.	In the secondary instrument, the key pressed is ignored. Use the primary instrument.
-	Authentication fail.	The entered account information is incorrect. Check the account information.
-	Could not connect.	The instrument was not able to communicate with GENNECT Cloud. Check the internet connection.
-	Failed to create an app.	Too many applications have been registered on your GENNECT Cloud account. Unregister some of them.
-	Failed to create a connection.	Creating connection for MQTT communications is failed. Check the internet connection.

## FAQ (Frequently Asked Questions)

### Installation and measurement operation

Question	Answer	Reference page
How long can the instrument operate on battery power?	The instrument can operate for about 2 hours on one fully charged Z1007 Battery Pack, or for about 4 hours on two fully charged Battery Packs. (Reference value at 23°C) The wireless modules can work for five to nine hours (depending on the model type) with the Battery Pack fully charged. (Reference value at 23°C)	"Continuous operating time on Battery Pack power" in the "2.2 Installing a Battery Pack" section in the Quick Start Manual.
How much power do plug-in modules use?	Plug-in module power consumption when using the AC adapter or a 12 V DC external power supply (23°C reference values) • U8550: 0.9 VA • U8551: 1.5 VA • U8552: 0.9 VA • U8552: 0.9 VA • U8553: 1.1 VA • U8554: 2.0 VA • U8555: 1.9 VA • U8556: 1.8 VA* *: Power consumption of the U8556 varies depending on the current sensor used and current to be measured.	_
What will happen to data if the power goes out during measurement?	No measurement data will remain. If electric power to only a wireless module is interrupted, the instrument will continue the measurement. However, against a power failure, using the Z1007 Battery Pack is recommended.	"2.2 Installing a Battery Pack" in the Quick Start Manual
Can I resume recording once the power comes back on?	Recording can be resumed when the power comes back on by using the start state retention function.	"7.1 Configuring Settings" (p.216)
Why does temperature error increase immediately after the instrument is moved to a location with a significantly different temperature?	When measuring temperature with a thermocouple, the terminal temperature is measured by an internal temperature sensor and used to perform reference junction compensation. When the ambient temperature changes abruptly, the thermal balance between the terminal block and the temperature sensor is interrupted, causing temperature error. When moving the instrument to a location with a significantly different temperature, allow the instrument to sit for at least 60 minutes before performing measurement.	"Installing the Instrument" in the "Operating Precautions" section in the Quick Start Manual
How can I correct for differences in the zero position of different inputs?	The zero-adjustment function can be used to correct for such differences. The zero-adjustment function is disabled for the Strain Units (U8554, LR8534). You can correct the zero position of the Strain Unit using the auto-balance.	"1.10 Performing Zero Adjustment" (p.78) "Measuring strain" (p.36)
I'm seeing waveforms for unconnected channels even though I'm only providing input for channel 1.	If the input terminals are left open, the instrument may display waveforms that have been affected by other channels. Either disable the channels with open inputs or short the positive and negative terminals.	_
Displayed values are fluctuated even when no voltage is applied.	Displayed values can frequently fluctuate due to induction potential even when no voltage is applied. This, however, is not a malfunction.	_

•••••

• • • • • • • • • • • • •

. . . . . . .

Question	Answer	Reference page
Can I assign a mark during measurement and search for it later?	You can assign event marks in waveforms. You can jump to event mark locations on the display.	"5.1 Assigning Event Marks during Measurement" (p. 190)
When using wireless units, there will appear to be differences in sampling timing between units.	The difference will be about 20 ms with robust wireless communications and more when the networking signal is weak.	"1.17 Measurement Data" (p.113)
The instrument is displaying the message <b>[Waiting for trigger]</b> , and it won't make measurements.	When a trigger has been set, recording will not start until the trigger conditions are satisfied. You can forcibly activate the trigger.	"2.8 Forcibly Activating the Trigger" (p.136)

## Settings

Question	Answer	Reference page
How can I hide unnecessary channels?	Set the waveform display color to [×] (off).	"1.4 Configuring Input Channels" (p.25)
Can I measure temperature when there's a voltage?	You can measure temperature as long as the voltage does not exceed the maximum channel- to-channel voltage or the maximum channel- to-ground voltage. If the voltage exceeds either of those values, avoid applying the voltage to the input terminals, for example by using a non- grounded thermocouple.	"Measurement precautions" in the Operating Precautions section in the Quick Start Manual
Should I set reference junction compensation to [EXT] or [INT]? What is the accuracy?	Use the <b>[INT]</b> (internal) setting when connecting the thermocouple to the module's terminal block. The measurement accuracy is determined by adding the temperature measurement accuracy to the reference junction compensation accuracy. Example: When measuring a temperature within the range of 0°C to 100°C with a K thermocouple The accuracy is obtained by adding the reference contact correction accuracy of $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C to the temperature measurement accuracy of $\pm 0.5C^{\circ}$ , yielding a value of $\pm 1.0^{\circ}$ C.	"Measuring temperature (with thermocouples)" (p.30)

## Saving data

Question	Answer	Reference page
Can I use any commercially available SD memory card or USB drive?	Use only Hioki optional SD Memory Cards or USB Drives. Proper operation is not guaranteed when using commercially available SD memory cards and USB drives.	"2.7 SD Memory Card and USB Drive" in the Quick Start Manual
	USB drives with security functions such as fingerprint authentication cannot be used.	
Can I replace media while auto save is in progress?	Choose <b>[Eject]</b> on the top right of the waveform screen and press the <b>ENTER</b> key.	"Replacing (ejecting) media during real- time save operation" (p. 152)
For how many days can the instrument record?	Available recording length settings are determined by the number of channels and the recording interval. Example: For a recording interval of 1 s with 15 channels and 1 GB media, you can record for about 400 days.	"11.9 File Size" (p.425)

Question	Answer	Reference page
Can I view waveform data in Excel?	You can convert automatically saved waveform (binary) data into text format (CSV) data with the Logger Utility. You can load CSV files with Excel.	"9.1 Using the Logger Utility" (p.245)
Can I view time values in waveform data (CSV format) as absolute rather than relative times?	<ul> <li>Set [Display horizontal axis] to [Date].</li> <li>Time: Time elapsed since the start of measurement</li> <li>Date: Actual time (time and date)</li> <li>Data points: Number of data points since the start of measurement</li> </ul>	"Other display settings" (p.58).
What is the difference between the ".MEM" and ".LUW" extensions?	<ul> <li>".MEM": Binary waveform data that can be loaded by the instrument or the Logger Utility</li> <li>".LUW": Logger Utility waveform data that cannot be loaded by the instrument</li> </ul>	"3.1 Data That Can Be Saved and Loaded" (p.140)

## Index

"Quick" indicates the Quick Start Manual.

<u>A</u>	
A/B cursors	
Accessories	Quick
Access points	263
Action during communication error	111
Aggregation (numerical calculation)	
ABS	204
Negative	204
Positive	204
Total	204
Aggregation (waveform calculation)	208
Alarm	175
Confirmation	186
Alarm output	232
Alarm source	20
Aligning zero positions	
Auto-balancing	37
Auto connect method	16
Automatic calculations	201
Auto save	145, 146
Auto setup	159
Auto-setup	163
Average	204

#### В

Backlight brightness	217
Backlight saver	217
Battery pack 142, C	uick
Beep sound	218
Binary format	146

### С

Calculation formula	204
CAN	38, 47
Alarm	184
Trigger	130
Channel comments	67
Channel list	69
Chatter prevention filter	41
Comments	66
Communication commands	305
Configuration navigator	108
Configuring settings	216
Connecting a LAN cable	258
Connecting a USB cable	171, 248
Connect wireless unit	
Continuous	20
Controlling the system	220
Сору	74, 168, 212
Copying calculation formulas	212
Copying data	168
Copving settings	
Current	
-	

Current sensor connections	Quick
Cursor icon	83

#### D

Data protection	147
Data refresh interval	22
Date format	151
Decimal symbol	151
Delete	
Deleting data	
Deleting (delete and save)	149
Delimiter	150, 151
Digital filter characteristics	411
Display colors	
Downsampling (decimation)	149, 154, 157

## <u>E</u>_____

Ejecting media	152
Email transmission	298
Event marks	190
Searching	193
External control	229
External control connections	. 110, Quick
External trigger input	238
External triggers	133
EXT. I/O	229

## F_____

FILE key	143,	161,	164
File list screen		143,	161
File loading mode			162
Filenames			422
File size			425
File splitting	150,	155,	158
Filters			. 29
Folder splitting			149
Forced triggers			136
Formatting media			143
Four arithmetic			208
FTP client			277
FTP server			273

#### G

Gage (scale)	. 88
GENNECT Cloud	308

#### н

Horizontal axis cursors	98
Horizontal axis display	58

HTTP server	265
Humidity	. 34

#### 1

Immediate save	145,	153
Individual settings screen		. 26
Individual settings window	27,	179
Initialization	223,	426
Input channels		. 25
Input circuits		436
Input/output terminals	234,	236
Integrating pulses		. 40
Integration (numerical calculation)		
ABS		205
Negative		205
Positive		205
Total		205
Integration (waveform calculation)		208
Interval triggers		134

### J

Jump	97
Junction compensation	31

## K

К	
KC Mark	446
Key lock	. 8, 329, Quick

#### L

Language	217
LAN settings	
Computer	250
LR8450 (-01)	254
Level triggers	. 117, 124
List method	15
Loading data	139, 161
Localization	217
Logger Utility	245
Logic signals	45
Logic triggers	128

#### Μ

Manual calculations	20	)2
Manual save	15	53
Marking	18	39
Maximum	20	)4
Measurement data	11	13
Measurement operation	8	31
Measuring strain	3	36
Measuring voltage	2	28
Media (priority save destination)	148, 15	53

Minimum	204
Module identifiers	68
Monitor	80
MONITOR key	80
Moving average	208
Moving between folders	165
Moving waveforms	92

#### Ν

Network settings	253
Noise countermeasures	412
NTP client function	221
Numerical calculation formulas	204
Numerical calculations	196
Numerical value display	. 89
Numerical value display format	. 59

#### 0

Observing waveforms	82
Operation	8
Operation error prevention	218
Options	Quick
Other display settings	58
Overwrite mode	163

## P

Partial numerical calculations	203
Part names and functions, screens	Quick
Pattern triggers	117, 128
Plug-in modules	331, Quick
Position	54
Power frequency filter	218
P-P (peak-to-peak value)	204
Prefix	
Pre-trigger	119
Pulses	40

### Q

QUICK SET 108	QUICK SET	10	)8
---------------	-----------	----	----

#### R

Range	38
Ranges	
Range specification	100
Real-time numerical calculations	201
Real-time save	146
Replacing (ejecting) media	152
Recording interval	20, 23
Recording mode	20
Recording time	20
Reference junction compensation (RJC)	31
Refresh interval	22
---------------------------------------	-----
Registering wireless modules	14
Remote operation	267
Rename	167
Repetitive recording	20
Replacing media (ejecting media)	152
Resetting the system	223
Resistance	35
Resistance temperature detector (RTD)	33
Rotational speed	42

# <u>S</u>_____

Save	139
Auto save	145, 146
Immediate save	145, 153
Selective save	145, 156
Saving data	145
Scale	88
Scaling	60
Scanning	418
Scroll bar	94
SCROLL/CURSOR key	92
Scroll icon	83
Scrolling	92
Search	14, 95, 193
Searching waveforms	95
Selective save	145, 156
SELECT key	93, 166
Self-check.	227
Serial No	. 224, Quick
Setting measurement conditions	
Settings at once	75, 213
Settings list screen	27, 179
Setting the clock	313
Setting the time	220
Simple average	208
Simultaneously starting measurement	241
SI prefixes	
Smoothing	43
Sorting files	169
Specifications	315
Plug-in modules	331
Wireless modules	363
Specified time	20
Start	81
Start back up	216
Start backup (start state retention)	216
Station	262
Stop	81
Śtrain	404
Strain gage connection	. 109, Quick
Switching media	
Synchronizing the time	221
Synchronous operation	21, 234
System	215
System configuration	224
System reset (initializing the system)	223, 426
	, -

#### т

Temperature measurement	403
Temperature (resistance temperature detector)	. 33
Temperature (thermocouple)	. 30
Text entry	. 10
Text format 146,	423
Thermocouple connections C	) uick
Thermocouple (Tc)	. 30
Time split calculation	198
Time values	
Time to max	204
Time to min	204
Time zone	220
Timing (Trigger timing)	119
Title comments	. 66
Trigger function	115
Trigger output	239
Trigger output timing	240
Trigger points	115

## <u>U</u>_____

Updating file information	170
Upper and lower limits	. 57
USB drive mode	172
USB driver	246
USB settings	246
User frame transmission	. 50

## V

Value entry	9
Vertical axis cursors	98
Vertical axis display	54
View mode	163
Voltage cable connections	Quick
Voltage output connections	Quick
Voltage output setting	231

#### W

Warning messages	450
Waveform background color	217
Waveform calculations	206
Waveform display	54, 84
Waveform display colors	28, 30, 38
Waveform screen	82, 447
WAVE key	82
Window triggers	117, 127
Wire break detection (Burn out)	31
Wireless module registration guide	108
Wireless modules	363
Wiring method	33

## x

X-Y compositing	101

#### <u>Z</u>

Zero adjustment	78
Zero position	55
Zoom	54



www.hioki.com/ **HIOKI E.E. CORPORATION** 81 Koizumi, Ueda, Nagano 386-1192 Japan



All regional contact information

Printed in Japan

2402 EN

Edited and published by HIOKI E.E. CORPORATION •Contents subject to change without notice.

This document contains copyrighted content.
It is prohibited to copy, reproduce, or modify the content of this document without permission.
Company names, product names, etc. mentioned in this document are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

Europe only

•EU declaration of conformity can be downloaded from our website. •Contact in Europe: HIOKI EUROPE GmbH

Helfmann-Park 2, 65760 Eschborn, Germany

hioki@hioki.eu